
 

Page 1 of 447 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JANUARY 06, 2020 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of December 16, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 
Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published December 20, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for 
the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. 

4. Public hearing on proposed Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published December 19, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

5. Resolution determining an area of the City to be an economic and blighted area, and that the 
rehabilitation, conservation, redevelopment, development or a combination thereof, of such area is 
necessary in the interest of the public health, safety or welfare of the residents of the City; 
designating such area as appropriate for urban renewal projects; and adopting the Amendment No. 1 
to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. 

6. Public hearing on proposed rezoning from R-1, Residence District, to C-1, Commercial District, of 
property located at 4911 University Avenue. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published December 27, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

7. Pass an ordinance amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at 4911 University Avenue from the R-1, Residence District, and placing the same in the C-1, 

1



 

Page 2 of 447 

Commercial District, pursuant to provisions of a conditional zoning agreement, upon its first 
consideration. 

Old Business 

8. Pass Ordinance #2960, recreating the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 
(SSMID), upon its second consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

9. Receive and file the resignation of Robert M. Green as Cedar Falls City Council Member At Large. 

10. Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the Mayor Pro Tempore. 

11. Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the Administration, Public 
Works and Community Relations and Planning Committees. 

12. Receive and file the City Council Goal Setting Report of December 9, 2019 and December 10, 2019. 

13. Receive and file the Abstract of Votes for the November 5, 2019 Municipal Election and the 
December 3, 2019 Municipal Runoff Election. 

14. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of November 2019. 

15. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
a) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & outdoor service - change 
in ownership. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution approving the recommendation of the Director of Public Safety Services and City 
Administrator by appointing Craig Berte as Acting Police Chief. 

17. Resolution approving and adopting certain revised Personnel Policies. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Contracted Education Proposal with Black 
Hawk County Conservation/Hartman Reserve Nature Center and the cities of Elk Run Heights, 
Evansdale, Hudson, Raymond and Waterloo relative to providing public outreach and educational 
programs related to improving water quality and stormwater runoff. 

19. Resolution approving and accepting completion of public improvements in Sands Addition. 

20. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Minturn, Inc. for the 
2019 Bridge Maintenance Project. 

21. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of S.M. Hentges & Sons 
Inc. for the Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer Improvements Project, Phase 2. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with AECOM 
Technical Services, Inc. for the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

23. Resolution approving and accepting a Temporary Easement from CF Gateway Park, Inc., in 
conjunction with Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 

24. Resolution approving and accepting a Temporary Easement from Shri Mahaganapati and 
Hanumanta, Inc., in conjunction with Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 

2



 

Page 3 of 447 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a First Amendment to Developmental Procedures 
Agreement with CF Gateway Park, Inc. relative to Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 

26. Resolution approving and accepting completion of public improvements in Gateway Business Park at 
Cedar Falls I. (contingent upon approval of related First Amendment to Developmental Procedures 
Agreement) 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Ferrell Madden, LLC for the College Hill Area Study 
Amendment relative to the Cedar Falls Visioning & Zoning Code Update Project. 

28. Resolution setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing on the proposed FY2020-FY2025 
Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 

29. Resolution setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a 
proposed Agreement for Private Development with SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. 

30. Resolution setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a 
proposed Second Agreement for Private Development with Standard Distribution Co. 

31. Resolution setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a 
proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development with Owen 5, L.L.C. 

Ordinances 

32. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown and College Hill parking studies, upon its first consideration. 

Fill Council Vacancy 

33. Resolution approving the filling of the At-Large City Council vacancy by appointment, directing 
publication of notice of the same, and establishing the application filing deadline and date of 
appointment. 

OR 

Resolution calling for a special election to fill the At-Large City Council vacancy. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

34. Allow Bills and Payroll of January 6, 2020. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, DECEMBER 16, 2019 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Absent: None. 

 
52585 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of December 2, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52586 - Human Rights Commission members Susan Langan and Andrew Morse 

commented on the work of the Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission.  
 
 Public Safety Services Director Olson provided an introduction and Mayor Brown 

proceeded with the Administration of Oath to new Public Safety Officer Ethan 
Schultzen. 

 
52587 - Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

6, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to take 
action on a petition requesting the recreation of the College Hill Self-Supported 
Municipal Improvement District (SSMID). It was then moved by Blanford and 
seconded by Kruse that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received 
and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52588 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

petition. Upon being advised that there were no written communications on file, 
the Mayor then called for oral comments. Community Services Manager Howard 
commented on the petition. There being no one else present wishing to speak 
about the petition, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next 
order of business. 

 
52589 -  It was moved by Blanford and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2960, 

recreating the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 
(SSMID), be passed upon its first consideration. Following due consideration by 
the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52590 - Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

6, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed 
Agreement for Private Development with Prestige WW, L.L.C. It was then moved 
by Miller and seconded by Darrah that the proof of publication of notice of 
hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

52591 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

4

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

proposed Agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief explanation on the proposed 
Agreement. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed Agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
52592 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,801, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development 
with Prestige WW, L.L.C., be adopted. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,801 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52593 - Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

6, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed 
Agreement for Private Development with River Place Properties II, L.C. It was 
then moved by Wieland and seconded by deBuhr that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52594 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed Agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief explanation on the proposed 
Agreement. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed Agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
52595 -  It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Blanford that Resolution #21,802, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development 
and a Minimum Assessment Agreement with River Place Properties II, L.C., be 
adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,802 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
52596 - Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

6, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed 
Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of certain city-owned 
property to The Vault LLC. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr 
that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52597 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed Agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief explanation on the proposed 

5

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Agreement. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed Agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
52598 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,803, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development 
and a Minimum Assessment Agreement with The Vault LLC, and approving and 
authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain city-owned 
real estate to The Vault LLC., be adopted. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,803 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52599 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions:  
a) Susan deBuhr, Board of Appeals, Boards of Electrical, Mechanical & Plumbing 

Appeals, terms ending 12/31/2020.  
b) Jerry Bjerke, Board of Electrical Appeals, term ending 12/31/2023.  
c) Julie Gardner, Board of Mechanical Appeals, term ending 12/31/2023.  
d) Thomas Frazier, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2021.  
e) Melissa Heston, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2021.  
f)  Patrick Phalen, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2021.  
g) Gary Winterhof, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2021. 
 
Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of December 2, 2019 
relative to the following items:  
a) Grow Cedar Valley Update.  
b) Naming City Streets.  
c) Bills & Payroll. 
 
Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a 
certified list for the position of Maintenance Worker. 
 
Receive and file the FY19 Annual Report of the Cedar Falls Human Rights 
Commission. 
 
Receive and file the Recreation and Fitness Center, Operations and Facility 
Needs Assessment Study. 

 
Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
a) Huhot Mongolian Grill, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 

renewal.  
b) Rancho Chico, 618 Brandilynn Boulevard #104, Class C Liquor - renewal.  
c) The Brown Bottle, 1111 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 

renewal.  

6

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

d) Wild Hare American Bar and Grill, 2512 Whitetail Drive, Class C liquor & 
outdoor service - renewal.  

e) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal.  
f)  Hy-Vee Clubroom, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - change in 

ownership.  
g) Gourmet Garden, 5907 University Ave, Special Class C liquor - new. 
 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52600 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,804, establishing the 2020 pay for City of Cedar Falls elected 
officials, in compliance with the City's Code of Ordinances. 
 
Resolution #21,805, approving and adopting Summary Plan Descriptions for the 
City of Cedar Falls Employee Health Benefit Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,806, approving and adopting Summary Plan Description for the 
City of Cedar Falls Employee Dental Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,807, designating authorized signatories for financial accounts and 
vehicles of the City. 
 
Resolution #21,808, approving and adopting payment standards for the City's 
Section 8 Rental Assistance Program for 2020. 
 
Resolution #21,809, approving and adopting the recommendation of the Parks & 
Recreation Commission relative to a Recreation Fee Schedule to become 
effective April 28, 2020. 
 
Resolution #21,810, approving and authorizing expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a leaf vacuum truck. 
 
Resolution #21,811, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Aerial Services, Inc. relative to 2020 Aerial Photography 
Acquisition. 
 
Resolution #21,812, approving and authorizing execution of a Supplement to 
Agreement for Private Development with Standard Distribution Co., and 
approving and accepting a Warranty Deed from Standard Distribution Co. 
conveying title to certain real estate to the City. 
 
Resolution #21,813, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. relative to the Union Road 
Recreation Trail - 12th Street to 27th Street Project. 
 
Resolution #21,814, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 1B to the Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 

7

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Associates, Inc. relative to the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction 
Project. 
 
Resolution #21,815, approving and authorizing expenditure of funds to order 
brick pavers for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,816, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Greenhill Village Senior Living, LLC 
relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan for Lot 1 of Greenhill 
Village Estates. 
 
Resolution #21,817, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract for 
Completion of Improvements with Greenhill Village Residential, LLC relative to 
the final plat of Greenhill Village Estates. 
 
Resolution #21,818, approving the preliminary plat of Greenhill Village Estates. 
 
Resolution #21,819, approving the final plat of Greenhill Village Estates. 
 
Resolution #21,820, approving a Mixed Use (MU) Residential Zoning District site 
plan for construction of a senior living facility to be located on Lot 1 of Greenhill 
Village Estates. 
 
Resolution #21,821, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Terraces at West Glen, L.L.C. relative 
to a post-construction stormwater management plan for Terraces at West Glen 
First Addition. 
 
Resolution #21,822, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract for 
Completion of Improvements with Terraces at West Glen, L.L.C. relative to the 
final plat of Terraces at West Glen First Addition. 
 
Resolution #21,823, approving the final plat of Terraces at West Glen First 
Addition. 

 
Resolution #21,824, approving and authorizing execution of a R-P, Planned 
Residence Zoning District Developmental Procedures Agreement with Terraces 
at West Glen, L.L.C. relative to a residential retirement community development 
generally located at the southeast corner of Union Road and West 12th Street. 
 
Resolution #21,825, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Nagle Signs Inc. relative to the Cedar Falls Wayfinding 
Signage Project. 
 
Resolution #21,826, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special 
Promissory Note for property located at 921 West 11th Street relative to the 
Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 
 
Resolution #21,827, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special 

8

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Promissory Note for property located at 912 West 14th Street relative to the 
Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 
 
Resolution #21,828, approving two occupancy permits prior to the acceptance of 
the public improvements in Sands Addition. 
 
Resolution #21,829, receiving and filing, and setting January 6, 2020 as the date 
of public hearing on, the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project. 

 
Resolution #21,830, setting January 6, 2020 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed rezoning from R-1, Residential District to C-1, Commercial District, of 
property located at 4911 University Avenue. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,804 through #21,830 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52601 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse that the bills and payroll of 

December 16, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52602 - Public Safety Services Director Olson announced the recent graduation from the 

Iowa Law Enforcement Academy of Public Safety Officers Josh Getz and Morgan 
Hoeft, and recognized Officer Hoeft for serving as class Lieutenant. 

 
 Public Works Director Schrage provided a brief update on the Cedar Heights 

Drive Reconstruction Project and announced that the City received a Traffic 
Safety Improvement grant of $500,000.00 from the Iowa Department of 
Transportation for the project. 

 
 Finance and Business Operations Director Rodenbeck provided an update on 

the parking study implementation in the Downtown District. 
 
52603 - College Hill Partnership Executive Director Kathryn Sogard spoke about the 

‘Holidays’ annual fundraiser event sponsored by the College Hill businesses.  
 
 Corrine Brown, 875 Maucker Road, spoke about accomplishments of the City 

over the past four years. 
 
 Mayor Brown expressed appreciation to City Council, staff and citizens during his 

time as Mayor. 
 

Councilmembers Wieland and Blanford commented on their time spent as 

9

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

Councilmembers and also expressed their appreciation to City Council, staff and 
citizens. 

 
52604 - It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Blanford that the meeting be 

adjourned at 7:38 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     _________________________________ 

  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

10

ITEM 1.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, PE, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: December 31, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction 
  Project No. RC-000-3180 
  Public Hearing 
 
This project involves the removal and replacement of the Main Street parkade brick 
pavers from 1st to 3rd street while incorporating an updated design and additional 
streetscaping components. In conjunction with this update, the two blocks of 2nd and 3rd 
Street between Main and Washington Street will be fully reconstructed, including some 
sanitary and water main reconstruction, while also incorporating various streetscaping 
elements to expand the Main Street design elements further throughout the downtown 
area.  
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $2,481,966, which includes 
$324,500 of brick pavers being purchased in advance by the city. The project will be 
funded utilizing TIF-Downtown, Community Main Street, Black Hawk County Gaming 
Grant, and Cedar Falls Utilities funding sources.  
 

The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Community 
Development Department. 
 
 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

11

ITEM 2.



1 2010-108-C-0 Clearing and Grubbing 1 LS 2,500.00$                2,500.00$                
2 2010-108-D-3 Topsoil, Off-site 80 CY 100.00$                   8,000.00$                
3 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 10 844 CY 20.00$                     16,880.00$              
4 2010-108-E-0 Excavation, Class 13 355 CY 15.00$                     5,325.00$                
5 2010-108-F-0 Below Grade Excavation (Core Out) 1040 CY 5.00$                       5,200.00$                
6 2010-108-G-0 Subgrade Preparation, 12" Depth 3915 SY 5.00$                       18,365.00$              1,210.00$                
7 2010-108-I-0 Subbase, 8" Modified 3915 SY 12.00$                     44,076.00$              2,904.00$                
8 2010-108-I-1 Subbase, 8" 3/4" Road Stone 1586 SY 12.00$                     19,032.00$              
9 2010-108-I-2 Subbase, 2", 3/4" Road Stone 6333 SY 3.00$                       18,999.00$              
10 2010-108-L-0 Compaction Testing 1 LS 2,500.00$                2,500.00$                
11 2010-108-M-0 Sampling and Testing For Petroleum Contamination (Remediation) 5 EA 500.00$                   2,500.00$                
12 2010-108-N-0 Excavation and Disposal of Contaminated Soil 100 CY 100.00$                   10,000.00$              
13 3010-108-C-0 Trench Foundation 245 TON 25.00$                     6,125.00$                
14 3010-108-F-0 Trench Compaction Testing 1 LS 2,500.00$                2,500.00$                
15 4010-108-A-1 Sanitary Sewer, Trenched, Solid Wall PVC SDR 26, 10" 6 LF 170.00$                   1,020.00$                
16 4010-108-A-1 Sanitary Sewer, Trenched, Solid Wall PVC SDR 26, 12" 316 LF 52.00$                     16,432.00$              
17 4010-108-A-1 Sanitary Sewer, Trenched, Solid Wall PVC SDR 26, 15" 6 LF 180.00$                   1,080.00$                
18 4010-108-A-1 Sanitary Sewer, Trenched, Solid Wall PVC (ASTM F 679), 18" 6 LF 190.00$                   1,140.00$                
19 4010-108-A-1 Sanitary Sewer, Trenched, Solid Wall PVC (ASTM F 679), 24" 8 LF 200.00$                   1,600.00$                
20 4010-108-E-0 Sanitary Sewer Service Stub, PVC SDR 23.5, 4" 5 EA 2,750.00$                13,750.00$              
21 4010-108-H-0 Removal of Sanitary Sewer, All Types, All Sizes 342 LF 5.00$                       1,710.00$                
22 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, PVC, 10" 9 LF 120.00$                   1,080.00$                
23 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 15" 417 LF 65.00$                     27,105.00$              
24 4020-108-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 24" 112 LF 75.00$                     8,400.00$                
25 4020-108-C-0 Removal of Storm Sewer, All Types, All Sizes 340 LF 8.00$                       2,720.00$                
26 4040-108-A-0 Subdrain, Type S, Corrugated Exterior and Smooth Interior Polyethylene, 6" 2756 LF 16.00$                     42,368.00$              1,728.00$                
27 4040-108-C-0 Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-1, 6" 10 EA 750.00$                   7,500.00$                
28 4040-108-D-0 Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 8" (Per CF Detail CFD.01) 44 EA 400.00$                   17,600.00$              
29 5010-108-A-1 Watermain, Trenched, Polywrapped DIP Class 52 w/ Tracer Wire, 6" 20 LF 55.00$                     1,100.00$                
30 5010-108-A-1 Watermain, Trenched, Polywrapped DIP Class 52 w/ Tracer Wire, 8" 714 LF 60.00$                     42,840.00$              
31 5010-108-C-2 Fitting, Ductile Iron, All Sizes 1280 LBS 15.00$                     19,200.00$              
32 5010-108-C-3 Fitting, Mechanical Joint Restraint Gland or Gasket, 8" 8 EA 250.00$                   2,000.00$                
33 5010-108-D-0 Water Service, Copper, Type K, 2" with Curb Stop 2 EA 1,800.00$                3,600.00$                
34 5010-108-E-3 Water Service, Copper, Type K, 1" with Curb Stop 4 EA 1,500.00$                6,000.00$                
35 5020-108-A-0 Gate Valve, 8" 3 EA 1,500.00$                4,500.00$                
36 5020-108-A-0 Gate Valve, 12" 1 EA 1,500.00$                1,500.00$                
37 5020-108-D-0 Flushing Device (Blowoff), Temporary, 4" 1 EA 1,800.00$                1,800.00$                
38 5020-108-H-0 Fire Hydrant Adjustment 3 EA 500.00$                   1,500.00$                
39 5020-108-K-0 Valve Box Removal 2 EA 500.00$                   1,000.00$                
40 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, SW-301, Circular Sanitary, 48" 1 EA 6,000.00$                6,000.00$                
41 6010-108-A-0 Manhole, SW-401, Circular Storm, 48" 1 EA 6,000.00$                6,000.00$                
42 6010-108-A-1 Manhole, SW-401, Circular Storm, 48", Special 1 EA 7,500.00$                7,500.00$                
43 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-501, Single Grate 9 EA 4,000.00$                36,000.00$              
44 6010-108-B-0 Intake, SW-511, Rectangular Area Intake 4 EA 4,000.00$                16,000.00$              
45 6010-108-B-0 Intake, Nyoplast Drain, Rectangular Sidewalk Area Intake, 12" 1 EA 1,000.00$                1,000.00$                
46 6010-108-E-0 Manhole or Intake Adjustment, Minor 5 EA 800.00$                   4,000.00$                
47 6010-108-G-0 Connection to Existing Manhole or Intake 8 EA 700.00$                   5,600.00$                
48 6010-108-H-0 Remove Manhole 2 EA 1,200.00$                2,400.00$                
49 6010-108-H-0 Remove Intake 6 EA 1,000.00$                6,000.00$                

11-Dec-19

QUANTITY

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS
RC-000-3180:  Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
CEDAR FALLS, IA

118.1174.08AE

DIVISION 3 
EXTENDED PRICE UNIT PRICEITEM 

NO. ITEM CODE ITEM UNIT DIVISION 1 
EXTENDED PRICE

DIVISION 2 
EXTENDED PRICE

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2018\118.1174.08\Projects\MainStParkade_2nd&3rdSt_Recon\CADD\EstRefInfo_CF2nd3rdMain_CURRENT 12/11/2019

12

ITEM 2.



ITEM 
NO. ITEM CODE ITEM QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE DIVISION 1 

EXTENDED PRICE
DIVISION 2 

EXTENDED PRICE
DIVISION 3 

EXTENDED PRICE 
50 7010-108-A-0 Pavement, PCC,  8" 3528 SY 70.00$                     230,020.00$            16,940.00$              
51 7010-108-E-0 Curb and Gutter, 6" Width, 6" Thickness 480 LF 40.00$                     19,200.00$              
52 7010-108-N-0 PCC Base, 2'x2'x2', Non-reinforced 1.5 CY 50.00$                     75.00$                     
53 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Sidewalk 4720 SY 7.00$                       33,040.00$              
54 7030-108-A-0 Removal of Driveway 95 SY 7.00$                       665.00$                   
55 7030-108-E-0 PCC Sidewalk, 4" 30 SY 50.00$                     1,500.00$                
56 7030-108-F-0 Brick/Paver Sidewalk with 8" Pavement Base 95 SY 215.00$                   20,425.00$              
57 7030-108-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC,7" 95 SY 80.00$                     7,600.00$                
58 7030-108-J-0 Brick/Paver Sidewalk (Install Only) 4639 SY 90.00$                     417,510.00$            
59 7040-108-B-0 Subbase Over-excavation 185 TON 55.00$                     10,175.00$              
60 7040-108-H-0 Pavement Removal 3820 SY 8.00$                       28,624.00$              1,936.00$                
61 8020-108-B-0 Painted Pavement Markings, Solvent/Waterborne 10.65 STA 180.00$                   1,917.00$                
62 8020-108-G-0 Painted Symbols and Legends 4 EA 500.00$                   2,000.00$                
63 8030-108-A-0 Temporary Traffic Control 1 LS 35,000.00$              35,000.00$              
64 8030-108-B-0 Safety Fence With Detectable Edging 3650 LF 1.50$                       5,475.00$                
65 9030-108-C-0 Plants 1 LS 20,000.00$              20,000.00$              
66 9040-108-A-2 SWPPP Management 1 LS 1,000.00$                1,000.00$                
67 9040-108-T-1 Inlet Protection Device 26 EA 150.00$                   3,900.00$                
68 9040-108-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance 12 EA 50.00$                     600.00$                   
69 9071-108-C-0 Granular Backfill Material 395 TON 25.00$                     9,875.00$                
70 9072-108-A-0 Concrete Wall 35 CY 4,250.00$                148,750.00$            
71 10,010-108-A-0 Demolition Work 26 CY 2,500.00$                65,000.00$              
72 11,020-108-A-0 Mobilization 1 LS 150,000.00$            150,000.00$            
73 11,030-108-A-0 Maintenance of Postal Service 1 LS 2,000.00$                2,000.00$                
74 11,030-108-B-0 Maintenance of Solid Waste Collection 1 LS 500.00$                   500.00$                   
75 11,040-108-A-0 Temporary Commercial Access 1 LS 85,000.00$              85,000.00$              
76 11,040-108-A-0 Temporary Commercial Access, Black Hawk Hotel 1 LS 1,500.00$                1,500.00$                
77 11,040-108-A-0 Temporary Commercial Access, US Bank 1 LS 2,500.00$                2,500.00$                
78 11,060-108-A-0 Electrical Outlets 31 EA 250.00$                   7,750.00$                
79 11,060-108-A-1 Light Poles, Installation 26 EA 2,500.00$                65,000.00$              
80 11,060-108-A-2 Light Poles, Removal 23 EA 500.00$                   11,500.00$              
81 11,060-108-A-3 Electrical Circuits 4600 LF 21.00$                     96,600.00$              
82 11,060-108-B-0 Amenities 1 LS 92,000.00$              92,000.00$              
83 11,070-108-A-0 Vibration Monitoring 5 EA 15,000.00$              75,000.00$              

DIV. 1 Subtotal 1,635,733.00$         
DIV. 2 Subtotal (Steam Tunnel) 232,853.00$            
DIV. 3 Subtotal (Watermain) 108,030.00$            
DIV. 3 Subtotal (Electrical) 180,850.00$            
DIV. 3 Total 288,880.00$            

2,157,466.00$         
324,500.00$            

TOTAL 2,481,966.00$         
Brick Pavers (Material Cost) Ordered by City = 
Subtotal (Rounded) = 

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2018\118.1174.08\Projects\MainStParkade_2nd&3rdSt_Recon\CADD\EstRefInfo_CF2nd3rdMain_CURRENT 12/11/2019

13

ITEM 2.



1 
 

    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 
 

 DATE: December 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan 
 
At its December 2, 2019 meeting, City Council set a date of consultation and public 
hearing on the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan.  As 
staff has noted on prior occasions, changes to Urban Renewal legislation (TIF) effective 
July 1, 2012 require that an Urban Renewal Plan Amendment be adopted by City 
Council to address ongoing or new development projects/costs proposed within an 
existing Urban Renewal Area. 
 
The College Hill Urban Renewal Plan was adopted in 2011, and has provided financing 
or partial financing for several projects since its adoption. Since its adoption in 2011, no 
amendments have been made to the original College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. 
 
For the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (copy 
attached as Exhibit 1 to Resolution), the plan is being changed in format to match the 
current format of the other urban renewal plans, which show general or specific projects 
and budget amounts. The project information can be found in Section 1, Future 
Development Agreements, Section 2, Land Acquisitions, Section 3, Capital 
Projects/Public Infrastructure Projects, and Section 4, Fees, Costs, and Expenses. 
These sections identify projects that may be funded through the College Hill Urban 
Renewal Plan Amendment No.1. Several projects within the Plan to note is a visioning 
and zoning code update for the College Hill neighborhood, including that portion 
included in the College Hill Urban Renewal Area; installation of public security cameras; 
wayfinding signage; and parking lot restoration projects for public parking lots within the 
Urban Renewal Area. 
 
With the above information noted, a copy of the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the 
College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (Exhibit 1 to the Resolution) is attached for your review.  
This Amendment No. 1 and related documents were drafted by staff in coordination with 
the Ahlers Law Office in Des Moines. 
 
 
 

14

ITEM 4.



2 
 

It is important to keep in mind that the projects and associated cost estimates are 
maximum expenditures for all potential projects that may occur within the Unified Urban 
Renewal Area over the next 1-5 years.  To the best of our ability, staff is trying to 
identify as many potential future projects to minimize the need for constant plan 
amendments.  However, the reality is that Plan Amendments will likely occur every 
12+/- months to address completed projects and new projects identified through the 
City’s annual CIP process. 
 
Part of the legal requirement for an Urban Renewal Plan Amendment is to notify the 
local taxing entities (in this case Black Hawk County and Cedar Falls School District) 
and conduct a “consultation session” to discuss the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the 
College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. A copy of the Minutes from the December 10, 2019 
consultation session is attached along with the meeting agenda. 
 
Prior to entering into any new Development Agreements or proceeding with future 
projects within the area, it is required that Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban 
Renewal Plan be adopted.  It is recommended that City Council adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution determining an area of the City to be an economic development and 
blighted area, and that the rehabilitation, conservation, redevelopment, 
development, or a combination thereof, of such area is necessary in the interest 
of the public health, safety or welfare of the residents of the City; designating 
such area as appropriate for urban renewal projects; and adopting Amendment 
No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. 

 

 
If you have any questions pertaining to this memorandum, please feel free to let me 
know. 
 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
  
 
 

 
 
 

15

ITEM 4.



 

ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

January 6, 2020 

7:00 P.M. 

 

College Hill Urban Renewal Plan 

 

  Public hearing on the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal 

Plan 

 

  Resolution determining an area of the City to be an economic development and blighted 

area, and that the rehabilitation, conservation, redevelopment, development or a 

combination thereof, of such area is necessary in the interest of the public health, safety 

or welfare of the residents of the City; designating such area as appropriate for urban 

renewal projects; and adopting the Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal 

Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

 

 

1. The above agenda items should be included, along with any other agenda items, in the 

meeting agenda.  The agenda should be posted on a bulletin board or other prominent 

place easily accessible to the public and clearly designated for that purpose at the 

principal office of the body holding the meeting.  If no such office exists, the notice must 

be posted at the building in which the meeting is to be held. 

2. If you do not now have a bulletin board designated as above mentioned, designate one 

and establish a uniform policy of posting your notices of meeting and tentative agenda. 

3. Notice and tentative agenda must be posted at least 24 hours prior to the commencement 

of the meeting. 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 21, 

CODE OF IOWA, AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

 

16

ITEM 4.



i 

January 6, 2020 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in _______________ 

session, in the Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M., on 

the above date.  There were present Mayor _______________, in the chair, and the following 

named Council Members: 

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

* * * * * * * * * 

17

ITEM 4.



ii 

This being the time and place fixed for a public hearing on the matter of the adoption of 

the proposed Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan, the Mayor first asked 

for the report of the Economic Development Coordinator, or his delegate, with respect to the 

consultation held with the affected taxing entities to discuss the proposed Amendment.  The 

Council was informed that the consultation was duly held as ordered by the Council, and that 

__________ written recommendations were received from affected taxing entities.  The report of 

the Economic Development Coordinator, or his delegate, with respect to the consultation was 

placed on file for consideration by the Council. 

The Mayor then asked the City Clerk whether any written objections had been filed with 

respect to the proposed Amendment, and the City Clerk reported that __________ written 

objections thereto had been filed.  The Mayor then called for any oral objections to the adoption 

of the Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan and __________ were made.  

The public hearing was then closed. 

{Attach summary of objections here} 

18

ITEM 4.



iii 

Council Member ____________________ then introduced the following Resolution 

entitled "RESOLUTION DETERMINING AN AREA OF THE CITY TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT AND BLIGHTED AREA, AND THAT THE REHABILITATION, 

CONSERVATION, REDEVELOPMENT, DEVELOPMENT, OR A COMBINATION 

THEREOF, OF SUCH AREA IS NECESSARY IN THE INTEREST OF THE PUBLIC 

HEALTH, SAFETY OR WELFARE OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE CITY; DESIGNATING 

SUCH AREA AS APPROPRIATE FOR URBAN RENEWAL PROJECTS; AND ADOPTING 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE COLLEGE HILL URBAN RENEWAL PLAN" and moved: 

 that the Resolution be adopted. 

 to defer action on the Resolution and the proposal to the meeting to be 

held at __________ _____.M. on the __________ day of __________, 

2020, at this place. 

Council Member ____________________ seconded the motion.  The roll was called, and the 

vote was: 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the measure duly adopted. 

 

19

ITEM 4.



1 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

RESOLUTION DETERMINING AN AREA OF THE CITY TO 

BE AN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND BLIGHTED 

AREA, AND THAT THE REHABILITATION, 

CONSERVATION, REDEVELOPMENT, DEVELOPMENT, OR 

A COMBINATION THEREOF, OF SUCH AREA IS 

NECESSARY IN THE INTEREST OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH, 

SAFETY OR WELFARE OF THE RESIDENTS OF THE CITY; 

DESIGNATING SUCH AREA AS APPROPRIATE FOR 

URBAN RENEWAL PROJECTS; AND ADOPTING 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE COLLEGE HILL URBAN 

RENEWAL PLAN 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17,348, adopted February 14, 2011, this Council found 

and determined that certain areas located within the City are eligible and should be designated as 

an urban renewal area under Iowa law, and approved and adopted the College Hill Urban 

Renewal Plan (the "Plan" or "Urban Renewal Plan") for the College Hill Urban Renewal Area 

(the "Area" or "Urban Renewal Area") described therein, which Plan is on file in the office of the 

Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

WHEREAS, this Urban Renewal Area currently includes and consists of: 

That part of Section 13 and that part of Section 14, Township 89 North, Range 14 

West of the Fifth P.M. in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa 

beginning at the intersection of the West line of College Street with the South line 

of Seerley Boulevard; thence North along said West line of College Street to the 

South line of West Twenty-third Street; thence West along said South line of 

West Twenty-third Street to the Southerly extension of the West line of Campus 

Street; thence North along said West line of Campus Street and its Southerly 

extension to the North line of West Twentieth Street; thence East along said North 

line of West Twentieth Street to the East line of Merner Avenue; thence South 

along said East line of Merner Avenue to the North line of West Twentieth Street; 

thence East along said North line of West Twentieth Street to the West line of 

College Street; thence North along said West line of College Street to the 

Westerly extension of the North line of West Twentieth Street; thence East along 

said North line of West Twentieth Street and its Westerly extension to the East 

line of Olive Street; thence South along said East line of Olive Street to the South 

line of Seerley Boulevard; thence West along said South line of Seerley 

Boulevard to the point of beginning. 

 

WHEREAS, a proposed Amendment No. 1 to the Plan ("Amendment No. 1" or 

"Amendment") for the Urban Renewal Area described above has been prepared, which proposed 

Amendment has been on file in the office of the City Clerk and which is incorporated herein by 

reference, the purpose of which is to update and/or add urban renewal projects to be  undertaken 

within the Urban Renewal Area; and 

20

ITEM 4.



2 

WHEREAS, this proposed Amendment No. 1 adds no new land to the Area; and 

WHEREAS, it is desirable that the Area be redeveloped as part of the activities described 

within the proposed Amendment No. 1; and 

WHEREAS, by resolution adopted on December 2, 2019, this Council directed that a 

consultation be held with the designated representatives of all affected taxing entities to discuss 

the proposed Amendment No. 1 and the division of revenue described therein, and that notice of 

the consultation and a copy of the proposed Amendment No. 1 be sent to all affected taxing 

entities; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to such notice, the consultation was duly held as ordered by the 

City Council and all required responses to the recommendations made by the affected taxing 

entities, if any, have been timely made as set forth in the report of the Economic Development 

Coordinator, or his delegate, filed herewith and incorporated herein by this reference, which 

report is in all respects approved; and 

WHEREAS, by resolution this Council also set a public hearing on the adoption of the 

proposed Amendment No. 1 for this meeting of the Council, and due and proper notice of the 

public hearing was given, as provided by law, by timely publication in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls 

Courier, which notice set forth the time and place for this hearing and the nature and purpose 

thereof; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the notice, all persons or organizations desiring to be 

heard on the proposed Amendment No. 1, both for and against, have been given an opportunity 

to be heard with respect thereto and due consideration has been given to all comments and views 

expressed to this Council in connection therewith and the public hearing has been closed. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

Section 1. That the findings and conclusions set forth or contained in Amendment No. 1 

concerning the area of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, described in the preamble hereof, 

be and the same are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects as the findings of this Council 

for this area. 

Section 2. This Council further finds: 

a) Although relocation is not expected, a feasible method exists for the relocation 

of any families who will be displaced from the Urban Renewal Area into decent, safe and 

sanitary dwelling accommodations within their means and without undue hardship to 

such families; 

b) The Plan, as amended, and Amendment No. 1 conform to the general plan for 

the development of the City as a whole; and 

c) Acquisition by the City is not immediately expected, however, as to any areas 

of open land to be acquired by the City included within the Urban Renewal Area: 

21

ITEM 4.



3 

i.  Residential use is not expected, however, with reference to any portions 

thereof which are to be developed for residential uses, this City Council hereby 

determines that a shortage of housing of sound standards and design with 

decency, safety and sanitation exists within the City; that the acquisition of the 

area for residential uses is an integral part of and essential to the program of the 

municipality; and that one or more of the following conditions exist: 

a. That the need for housing accommodations has been or will be 

increased as a result of the clearance of slums in other areas, including 

other portions of the urban renewal area. 

b. That conditions of blight in the municipality and the shortage of 

decent, safe and sanitary housing cause or contribute to an increase in and 

spread of disease and crime, so as to constitute a menace to the public 

health, safety, morals, or welfare. 

c. That the provision of public improvements related to housing 

and residential development will encourage housing and residential 

development which is necessary to encourage the retention or relocation of 

industrial and commercial enterprises in this state and its municipalities. 

d. The acquisition of the area is necessary to provide for the 

construction of housing for low and moderate income families. 

ii. Non-residential use is expected and with reference to those portions 

thereof which are to be developed for non-residential uses, such non-residential 

uses are necessary and appropriate to facilitate the proper growth and 

development of the City in accordance with sound planning standards and local 

community objectives. 

Section 3. That the Urban Renewal Area, as amended, continues to be an economic 

development and blighted area within the meaning of Chapter 403, Code of Iowa; that such area 

is eligible for designation as an urban renewal area and otherwise meets all requisites under the 

provisions of Chapter 403, Code of Iowa; and that the rehabilitation, conservation, 

redevelopment, development, or a combination thereof, of such area is necessary in the interest 

of the public health, safety or welfare of the residents of this City. 

Section 4. That Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan of the City of 

Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by reference, be 

and the same is hereby approved and adopted as "Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban 

Renewal Plan for the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa"; Amendment No. 1, including all of the 

exhibits attached thereto, is hereby in all respects approved; and the City Clerk is hereby directed 

to file a certified copy of Amendment No. 1 with the proceedings of this meeting. 

Section 5. That, notwithstanding any resolution, ordinance, plan, amendment or any other 

document, Amendment No. 1 shall be in full force and effect from the date of this Resolution 

until the Council amends or repeals the Plan.  The proposed Amendment No. 1 shall be forthwith 

22

ITEM 4.



4 

certified by the City Clerk, along with a copy of this Resolution, to the Recorder for Black Hawk 

County, Iowa, to be filed and recorded in the manner provided by law. 

Section 6. That all other provisions of the Plan not affected or otherwise revised by the 

terms of Amendment No. 1, as well as all resolutions previously adopted by this City Council 

related to the Plan be and the same are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved in all respects. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2020. 

  

 

 

  

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

  

City Clerk 

 

 

Label the Amendment as Exhibit 1 (with all exhibits) and attach it to this Resolution. 

 

23

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 1  
to the 

COLLEGE HILL  
URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 

 
for the 

  
COLLEGE HILL 

URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

College Hill Urban Renewal Plan – 2011 
Amendment No. 1 – 2020  

 
 
 
 
 
 

24

ITEM 4.



AMENDMENT NO. 1  
to the  

COLLEGE HILL URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) adopted the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan 
(“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”) for the College Hill Urban Renewal Area (the “Area” or 
“Urban Renewal Area”) to help promote economic development and redevelopment, 
including blight remediation, in the Area. The City is amending the Plan with the 
adoption of this Amendment No. 1 to the Plan (“Amendment” or “Amendment No. 1”) in 
order to update and add urban renewal projects to be undertaken within the Urban 
Renewal Area. 
 
Except as modified by this Amendment, the provisions of the original Urban Renewal 
Plan are hereby ratified, confirmed, and approved and shall remain in full force and 
effect as provided herein.  In case of any conflict or uncertainty, the terms of this 
Amendment shall control.  
 

AREA DESIGNATION 
 
With the adoption of the original Plan, the City designated the Urban Renewal Area as 
an economic development area appropriate for the promotion of commercial 
development, as well as a blighted area appropriate for blight remediation and 
redevelopment. At the time of adopting the original Plan, the City found that the Urban 
Renewal Area was a blighted area due to vacant properties within the Area posing an 
ongoing safety concern and the age and condition of a substantial number of the 
existing structures in the Area, which were characterized as substandard or obsolete in 
terms of code compliance, aesthetic appearance, and due to deteriorated or 
deteriorating structures. As a whole, the City found that these conditions detracted from 
the functional unity, aesthetic appearance, safety, and economic potential of the Area 
and supported a finding of blight.  
 
This Amendment makes no change to the Area’s designation, and ratifies, confirms, 
and approves the original findings of the City with respect to designating the Area as a 
mixed area suitable for economic development and blight remediation. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
 

This Amendment makes no change to the boundaries of the Urban Renewal Area. For 
the reader’s convenience, the Urban Renewal Area is legally described in Exhibit A and 
is illustrated in Exhibit B.  

 

25

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

BASE VALUE 
 
The Urban Renewal Area has a previously established “base valuation” for the 
purposes of Tax Increment Financing (TIF). This Amendment makes no change to the 
established base values in the Urban Renewal Area. 
 

LAND USE PLAN 
 
The City has a general plan for the physical development of the City, as a whole, 
designated as the “Comprehensive Plan for the City of Cedar Falls,” adopted in May 
2012. The Urban Renewal Plan and this Amendment, including the urban renewal 
projects described herein, are in conformity with the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
The Amendment does not modify the City’s existing zoning policies or designations. 
 
The need, if any, for improved traffic, public transportation, public utilities, recreational 
and community facilities, or other public improvements within the Urban Renewal Area 
is set forth in the Urban Renewal Plan, as amended. As the Area develops, the need for 
public infrastructure extensions and upgrades will be evaluated and planned for by the 
City. 

 
PLAN OBJECTIVES 

 
Renewal activities are designed to provide opportunities, incentives, and sites to 
promote economic development, including new and expanded commercial development 
and to alleviate and remediate blighting conditions. More specific objectives for 
development within this Urban Renewal Area include: 
 

1. To reduce or eliminate blighting influences and to promote revitalization of 
existing retail/commercial properties.  

 
2. To stimulate through public action and commitment, private investment in 

new retail/commercial development. 
 
3. To plan for and provide sufficient land for commercial development in a 

manner that is efficient from the standpoint of providing municipal services 
and that encourages the creation and retention of jobs. 

 
4. To provide for the installation of public infrastructure, including gas, water, 

and communications infrastructure, and public facilities in the Urban 
Renewal Area, which ultimately contribute to the sound development of 
the entire City. 

 
5. To provide a more marketable and attractive investment climate through 

the use of various governmental incentives. 
 

26

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

6. To achieve a diversified, well-balanced economy providing a desirable 
standard of living, creating job opportunities, and strengthening the tax 
base. 

 
7. To encourage the redevelopment of previously blighted properties for 

retail, commercial, or residential purposes. 
 
8. To encourage harmonious growth consistent with the needs of the City, 

including the minimization of effects on neighboring residential properties.  
 
9. To develop a sound economic base that will serve as the foundation for 

future growth and development. 
 
10. To provide reimbursement of City personnel costs and other 

administrative and legal fees associated with the development and 
implementation of urban renewal projects within the Urban Renewal Area. 

 
 

TYPE OF RENEWAL ACTIVITIES 
 
To meet the objectives of this Urban Renewal Plan and to encourage the development 
of the Urban Renewal Area, the City intends to utilize the powers conferred under 
Chapter 403 and Chapter 15A, Code of Iowa. Activities may include: 
 

1. To undertake and carry out urban renewal projects through the execution 
of leases, contracts, and other instruments. 

 
2. To make or have made surveys, studies, and plans necessary for the 

implementation of the Urban Renewal Plan or specific urban renewal 
projects. 

 
3. To arrange for or cause to be provided the construction, relocation, or 

repair of public infrastructure, including but not limited to, streets, water, 
storm sewer, sanitary sewer, public utilities, sidewalks, street lights and 
signs, streetscaping and landscaping, or other related facilities and 
activities in connection with urban renewal projects. 

 
4. To acquire property through a variety of means (purchase, lease, option, 

contract, etc.) and to hold, clear, or prepare the property for 
redevelopment, or to dispose of property. 

 
5. To provide for the construction of specific site improvements such as 

grading and site preparation activities including site/soil reports and 
studies, access roads and parking, fencing, utility connections, and related 
activities. 

 

27

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

6. To make loans, forgivable loans, tax rebate payments, or other types of 
economic development grants or incentives to private persons or 
businesses for economic development or blight remediation purposes on 
such terms as may be determined by the City Council. 

 
7. To use tax increment financing to facilitate urban renewal projects, 

including, but not limited to, financing to achieve a more marketable and 
competitive land offering price and to provide for necessary physical 
improvements and infrastructure. 

 
8. To borrow money and to provide security therefor. 

 
9. To provide contributions and/or incentives for appropriate remediation, 

revitalization, redevelopment, and development projects. 
 
10. To use any or all other powers granted by the Urban Renewal Act to 

develop and provide for improved economic conditions for the City of 
Cedar Falls and the State of Iowa. 

 
Nothing herein shall be construed as a limitation on the power of the City to exercise 
any lawful power granted to the City under Chapter 15, Chapter 15A, Chapter 403, 
Chapter 427B, or any other provision of the Code of Iowa in furtherance in of the 
objectives of this Urban Renewal Plan. 

 
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED URBAN RENEWAL PROJECTS 

 
Various urban renewal projects in the Urban Renewal Area were authorized prior to the 
date of this Amendment, and may be continuing. This Amendment makes no change to 
the previously authorized urban renewal projects.   
 

ELIGIBLE URBAN RENEWAL PROJECTS 
(Amendment No. 1) 

 
1. Future Development Agreements 
 
The City expects to consider requests for development agreements for projects that are 
consistent with this Plan, as amended, in the City’s sole discretion. The City expects to 
consider agreements that would lead to the creation and/or retention of jobs within the 
Area, or that contribute to the remediation and stabilization of blighted properties and 
return previously blighted properties to useful condition for public facilities or private 
development. 
 
Such agreements are unknown at this time, but based on past history, and dependent 
on development opportunities and climate, the City expects to consider a broad range of 
incentives as authorized by this Plan, including but not limited to, land, loans, grants, tax 

28

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

rebates, public infrastructure assistance, and other incentives. The costs of such 
development agreements are estimated not to exceed $2,000,000. 
 
2. Land Acquisitions 
 
The City expects to consider acquiring land in the Urban Renewal Area to 
accommodate future economic development, to promote blight remediation projects, or 
to facilitate the provision of public services in an efficient manner to support 
development in the Urban Renewal Area. These acquisitions are expected to occur over 
the life of the Area as development occurs. The costs of such land acquisitions are 
estimated not to exceed $1,500,000. 
 
 
3. Capital Improvement Projects/Public Infrastructure Projects 
 

Project 
Estimated 

Project Date 

Estimated 
Not to 

Exceed 

 
Rationale 

Sanitary sewer and other necessary 
infrastructure extensions within the 
Urban Renewal Area. 

2019-2039 $2,000,000 Support economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
in the Area 

Construction of current or future 
public infrastructure within the Urban 
Renewal Area to include new and 
reconstructed roadways, alleys, 
sidewalks, parking lots or structures, 
recreation trails, lighting, or other 
public amenities in the Urban 
Renewal Area. 

2019-2039 
 

$4,000,000 Support economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
in the Area 

Other infrastructure tied to 
development and redevelopment, 
including but not limited to water, 
sanitary sewer, storm sewer, gas, 
electric, and communications in the 
Urban Renewal Area. 

2019-2039 $1,500,000 Support economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
in the Area  

Construction, engineering, design, 
inspection costs, and all other 
related costs for potential roadway 
modifications within the Urban 
Renewal Area, including but not 
limited to intersection improvements 
or modifications, new roadways, 

2019-2039 $1,750,000 Support economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
in the Area  

29

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

turning lanes, medians, and other 
road related improvements. 

Streetscape, landscaping and public 
art installation along roadways within 
the Urban Renewal Area. 

2019-2039 $500,000 Promote economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
within the Area 
through 
beautification efforts 

Wayfinding Signage, or other 
appropriate City signage within the 
Urban Renewal Area, along with 
ongoing maintenance, repair, or 
replacement of existing signage 
within the Urban Renewal Area.  

2019-2039 $50,000 Promote economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
within the Area 

Installation of public security 
cameras within the Urban Renewal 
Area. 

2019-2039 $300,000 Promote economic 
development growth 
and redevelopment 
of blighted properties 
within the Area by 
increasing safety for 
business owners, 
employees, and 
patrons within the 
Area. 

College Hill Parking Lot Restoration 
Project – Mill and overlay public 
parking lot G and public parking lot J 
located within the Urban Renewal 
Area. 

2021 $250,000 Remediate blighting 
conditions and 
provide a safe 
parking surface for 
vehicles within the 
Urban Renewal 
Area, in order to 
encourage 
commercial traffic. 

W. 22nd Street Realignment and 
Expansion Project – Realignment of 
the intersection of College Street 
and W. 22nd Street. 

2020-2021 $100,000 Remediate blighting 
conditions by 
aligning the 
intersection and 
providing an 
adequate street for 
functionality, safety 
and aesthetic 
improvements. 

30

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

College Hill Maintenance and 
Improvements Project – 
Improvements to streets, sidewalks, 
benches, landscaping, public art, 
and pedestrian amenities. 

2019-2039 $500,000 Providing a safe 
environment for 
employees, visitors, 
and residents within 
the Urban Renewal 
Area. 

Pavement Markings – This project 
will identify marking driveway edges 
within the Urban Renewal Area. 

2021-2022 $10,000 To improve parking 
conditions within the 
Urban Renewal 
Area, which will 
remediate blighting 
conditions and 
encourage 
commercial traffic. 

Parking Lot Signage Improvements 
– This project will replace parking lot 
signage within the City-owned 
parking lots within the Urban 
Renewal Area. 

2020-2021 $10,000 To improve the 
visibility of public 
parking lots within 
the Urban Renewal 
Area, which will 
remediate blighting 
conditions and 
encourage 
commercial traffic. 

 Total $10,970,000 
(Estimated not 
to exceed) 

 

 
4.  Fees, Costs, and Expenses (for urban renewal projects and planning) 
  

Project 
Estimated 

Project Date 
Estimated Not to 

Exceed 

Legal Fees: 

Legal, consulting, recording, publication, and other 
miscellaneous fees associated with land 
acquisition and economic development projects 
occurring within the Urban Renewal Area. 

2019-2039 $250,000 

Personnel Costs and Other Administrative Expenses to Support Urban Renewal 
Projects and Planning: 

Staffing/Personnel related expenses including but 
not limited to salary and benefits incurred by 
Community Development Department and other 

2019-2039 $500,000 

31

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

City personnel tied to supporting economic 
development and urban renewal projects within the 
Urban Renewal Area. Plan Amendment preparation 
and administration included. 

Engineering, Planning, and Study Costs: 

Visioning and Zoning Code Update for the College 
Hill neighborhood, including the Urban Renewal 
Area. This project will include professional 
services related to developing a detailed vision 
plan for the properties within the Area and an 
associated zoning ordinance for the College Hill 
neighborhood and nearby areas. 

2019-2039 $250,000 
(The portion of the total 
project costs attributable 

to planning time and 
costs associated with 

properties in the Urban 
Renewal Area.)  

Planning, design, studies and associated costs for 
the development of land within the Urban Renewal 
Area.   

2019-2025 $250,000 

Traffic planning and studies tied to any roadway 
improvement projects. 

2019-2039 $250,000 

 Total $1,500,000 
(Estimated not to exceed) 

 
 
5.  Cedar Falls Utilities Projects 
 
The City may consider using TIF funds to help finance various utility relocations and/or 
extensions within the Urban Renewal Area, as the need arises. The City expects that it 
may enter into agreements with Cedar Falls Utilities to provide for the provision of gas, 
water, communication, and electric utilities infrastructure as economic development and 
growth continues in the Urban Renewal Area. The availability of gas, water, 
communication, and electric utilities are important to support economic development 
and private development of commercial, retail, and residential properties. Further, the 
provision of such utilities serves to remediate blighting conditions caused by the lack of 
utilities or utility infrastructure without sufficient capacity to serve the nearby properties. 
The extension of utility services pursuant to such agreements may take place over the 
life of the Area. The cost of these agreements to be reimbursed through tax increment 
financing is estimated not to exceed $4,000,000. 
  

FINANCIAL DATA 
 
Constitutional debt limit (as of July 1, 
2019): 

 $158,346,466 

Current general obligation debt:  $14,085,000 

A specific amount of actual debt to be incurred for the Eligible Urban Renewal Projects 

32

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

has not yet been determined. This document is for planning purposes only. The 
estimated project costs in this Plan are estimates only and will be incurred and spent 
over a number of years. In no event will the City’s constitutional debt limit be exceeded. 
The City Council will consider each project proposal on a case-by-case basis to 
determine if it is in the City’s best interest to participate before approving an urban 
renewal project or expense. It is further expected that such indebtedness, including 
interest on the same, may be financed in whole or in part with tax increment revenues 
from the Urban Renewal Area. 
 
Subject to the foregoing, it is estimated that the cost of the Eligible Urban Renewal 
Projects (Amendment No. 1) as described above will be approximately $19,970,000. 
This amount does not include financing costs, which will be incurred over the life of the 
Area. 
 
 

URBAN RENEWAL FINANCING 
 
The City intends to utilize various financing tools such as those described below to 
successfully undertake the proposed urban renewal actions.  The City has the statutory 
authority to use a variety of tools to finance physical improvements within the Area.  
These include: 
 

A. Tax Increment Financing. 
 

Under Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa, urban renewal areas may 
utilize the tax increment financing mechanism to finance the costs of 
public improvements, economic development incentives, or other urban 
renewal projects.  Upon creation of a tax increment district within the Area, 
by ordinance, the assessment base is frozen and the amount of tax 
revenue available from taxes paid on the difference between the frozen 
base and the increased value, if any, is segregated into a separate fund 
for the use by the City to pay costs of the eligible urban renewal projects.  
Certain increased taxes generated by any new development, above the 
base value, are distributed to the taxing entities, if not requested by the 
City, and in any event upon the expiration of the tax increment district. 
 
The City may also determine to use tax increment financing to provide 
incentives such as cash grants, loans, tax rebates, or other incentives to 
developers or private entities in connection with the urban renewal 
projects identified in the Plan, as amended.  In addition, the City may 
determine to issue general obligation bonds, tax increment revenue bonds 
or such other obligations, or loan agreements for the purpose of making 
loans or grants of public funds to private businesses located in the Area 
for urban renewal projects.  Alternatively, the City may determine to use 
available funds for making such loans or grants or other incentives related 

33

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

to urban renewal projects.  In any event, the City may determine to use tax 
increment financing to reimburse the City for any obligations or advances. 
 

B. General Obligation Bonds. 
 

Under Division III of Chapter 384 and Chapter 403 of the Code of Iowa, 
the City has the authority to issue and sell general obligation bonds for 
specified essential and general corporate purposes, including the 
acquisition and construction of certain public improvements within the 
Area and for other urban renewal projects or incentives for development 
consistent with the Plan, as amended.  Such bonds are payable from the 
levy of unlimited ad valorem taxes on all the taxable property within the 
City of Cedar Falls.  It may be, the City will elect to abate some or all of 
the debt service on these bonds with incremental taxes from this Area. 

 
Nothing herein shall be construed as a limitation on the power of the City to exercise 
any lawful power granted to the City under Chapter 15, Chapter 15A, Chapter 403, 
Chapter 427B, or any other provision of the Code of Iowa in furtherance of the 
objectives of this Urban Renewal Plan. 
 

SEVERABILITY/REPEALER  
 
In the event one or more provisions contained in the Urban Renewal Plan or this 
Amendment shall be held for any reason to be invalid, illegal, unauthorized, or 
unenforceable in any respect, such a holding shall not affect any other provision of the 
Urban Renewal Plan or this Amendment, and the Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, 
shall be construed and implemented as if such provisions had never been contained 
herein.  
 
Any parts of the Plan in conflict with this Amendment are hereby repealed. 
 

URBAN RENEWAL PLAN AMENDMENTS 
 
The Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, may be further amended from time to time for a 
number of reasons, including but not limited to, to change in the area, to add new urban 
renewal projects, to update and/or modify ongoing urban renewal projects, to delete 
completed urban renewal projects, to add or change land use controls and regulations, 
to modify goals or types of renewal activities, or to amend property acquisition and 
disposition provisions. The City Council may amend the Plan pursuant to appropriate 
procedures under Iowa Code Chapter 403. 

 
EFFECTIVE PERIOD 

  
This Amendment will become effective upon its adoption by the Cedar Falls City 
Council. The Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, will remain in effect until it is repealed 
by City Council.  

34

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

 
Because the Urban Renewal Area is based in part on a finding of blight, there is no 
statutory limit, or sunset, on the time period in which the City may implement Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) or the “division of revenue,” as those words are used in Iowa 
Code Chapter 403 (2019), within the Urban Renewal Area. At all times, the use of tax 
increment financing revenues (including the amount of loans, advances, indebtedness 
or bonds which qualify for payment from the division of revenue provided in Iowa Code 
Section 403.19) by the City for activities carried out in the Urban Renewal Area shall be 
limited as deemed appropriate by the City Council and consistent with all applicable 
provisions of law. 
  

35

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE COLLEGE HILL URBAN RENEWAL AREA 

 
That part of Section 13 and that part of Section 14, Township 89 North, Range 14 West 
of the Fifth P.M. in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa beginning at the 

intersection of the West line of College Street with the South line of Seerley Boulevard; 
thence North along said West line of College Street to the South line of West Twenty-

third Street; thence West along said South line of West Twenty-third Street to the 
Southerly extension of the West line of Campus Street; thence North along said West 
line of Campus Street and its Southerly extension to the North line of West Twentieth 
Street; thence East along said North line of West Twentieth Street to the East line of 

Merner Avenue; thence South along said East line of Merner Avenue to the North line of 
West Twentieth Street; thence East along said North line of West Twentieth Street to 
the West line of College Street; thence North along said West line of College Street to 
the Westerly extension of the North line of West Twentieth Street; thence East along 
said North line of West Twentieth Street and its Westerly extension to the East line of 

Olive Street; thence South along said East line of Olive Street to the South line of 
Seerley Boulevard; thence West along said South line of Seerley Boulevard to the point 

of beginning. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 
MAP OF THE COLLEGE URBAN RENEWAL AREA 

 

37

ITEM 4.



 

 

 

CERTIFICATE 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective city offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this __________ day of 

_______________, 2020. 

  

 

 

  

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

(SEAL) 

 
01657877-1\10283-173 

38

ITEM 4.



39

ITEM 4.



40

ITEM 4.



41

ITEM 4.



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria, Planner I 

 DATE: December 31, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request 4911 University Avenue (RZ19-006) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from R-1, Residence District to C-1, Commercial District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Bradley H Jacobson, property owner 
 

LOCATION: 
 

4911 University Avenue 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The petitioner, Bradley Jacobson, has requested to rezone 0.34 acres (15,200SF) of property 
from the R-1, Residence District, to the C-1, Commercial District. This property is located at 
4911 University Avenue, east of the intersection with Veralta Drive. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The petitioner, Mr. Jacobson, owns the property at 4911 University, which is currently zoned R-
1.  There is currently a single family house on the property, which has been used as a 
residential rental since 2003. The residential unit on this property was constructed in 1955 and 
has an attached two-car garage. The property also has a detached accessory building located in 
the southwestern corner of the property, which is used for storage.  
 
Mr. Jacobson also owns the abutting property to the west at 4919 University Avenue, which is 
0.42 acres (18,400SF) and is located at the corner of University Avenue and Veralta Drive. This 
property was purchased by the applicant in 2000 and rezoned from R-1 to C-1 in order to 
convert the existing house into a commercial office for his insurance business. The 2001 
rezoning of the property at 4919 University was subject to a zoning agreement that restricted 
development to the standards of the MPC, Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District. 
Staff notes that the property did not meet the minimum dimensional standards for the MPC 
Zone, so could not be zoned MPC at the time.  Subsequent to that rezoning, the applicant 
acquired the adjacent residential property at 4911 and has been maintaining it as a rental 

42

ITEM 6.



2 
 

property. The most recent tenants have moved out and the applicant finds that due to the 
location along the busy commercial corridor, and the age and configuration of the house, it is no 
longer viable as a residential property. Mr. Jacobson has indicated that he is not ready to 
redevelop the property for commercial use at this time, but does not want to maintain a vacant 
residential structure, so is proposing to demolish the house.  Since the attached garage and 
detached storage building are in good condition and would be useful in the interim for storage, 
he would like to retain these structures on the property. If the petitioner’s request to rezone the 
property to C-1 is approved, his intent is to combine the two lots in order to expand the office 
located at 4919 University Avenue in the future or otherwise redevelop the property for 
commercial use in keeping with the original zoning agreement. The agreement ensures that any  
future development on the property will be in conformance with the standards of MPC Major 
Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District. The applicant is anticipating redevelopment of the 
property in the next three to five years. At that time he will be required to submit a site plan that 
complies with the zoning agreement and the standards of the MPC District.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Existing and Proposed Zoning 
The request is to rezone 0.34 acres of land at 4911 University Avenue from R-1, Residential 
District to C-1, Commercial District. The R-1 Zone is intended for low density residential 
development.  But today, University Avenue is a high traffic commercial corridor and this 
isolated residential property seems out of context with the abutting commercial development.  
 
The C-1 Commercial Zone is a general commercial zone that allows a wide variety of 
commercial uses.  However, it does not have specific standards to address the adjacency of the 
commercial properties along University Avenue with the adjacent lower intensity residential 
uses. In contrast, the MPC Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial Zone has specific 
standards to address this adjacency, but as noted above when the petitioner’s adjacent property 
at 4919 University was rezoned in 2001 it was too small to meet the dimensional standards of 
the MPC District. The solution was to rezone the property to C-1, subject to a zoning agreement 
that requires any redevelopment to comply with the standards of the MPC District.  
 
The MPC Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial district was established in order to ensure 
orderly growth and development of land immediately adjacent to University Avenue. The MPC 
district is intended to permit the development of a mixture of residential, institutional, 
professional office and commercial oriented land use in a manner that will result in minimal 
negative impacts upon adjacent low density residential areas. The MPC zone includes a number 
of standards to ensure that with development or redevelopment there will be adequate 
infrastructure, vehicular access and parking, open space and landscaping to create a buffer to 
any adjacent lower scale residential and enhance the appearance of the commercial corridor.  
 
The major reason for rezoning 4911 University Avenue from R-1 to C-1 is to remain consistent 
with the zoning of the petitioner’s abutting property and align the future development to be 
consistent with the University Avenue commercial corridor in a manner that is in compliance with 
the standards of the MPC District.  Therefore, staff recommends and the petitioner has agreed 
to abide by the same zoning agreement that applies to the adjacent property at 4919 University 
Avenue. Staff also notes that in the short term, the petitioner will not be allowed to retain the 
existing accessory buildings if the house is torn down, unless the property is rezoned to C-1 and 

43

ITEM 6.



3 
 

the lot is combined with the lot at 4919 University, because accessory uses or buildings are not 
allowed on a property that does not have a principal use.  
  
Compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map 
The Future Land Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan indicates that this property and the 
adjacent properties located on University Avenue and Veralta Drive are appropriate for 
Office/Business Park (See image below). This land use category is intended for office and light 
industrial/research uses that do not generate noticeable external effects. It also states that strict 
control over signage, landscaping, and design is necessary for locations nearer to low intensity 
uses.  The corner lot is already zoned C-1, Commercial district, which allows office uses and is 
subject to a zoning agreement that contains standards to address signage, landscaping, and 
design to reduce any negative effects on the adjacent low-scale residential neighborhood. The 
majority of the surrounding district is currently zoned for commercial. This request for rezoning 
the property located at 4911 University Avenue from R-1 Residence District to C-1 Commercial 
District does align with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and future land use map, provided there 
is a zoning agreement that ensures that any future development will be designed according to 
the standards of the MPC District. 

 

 
 
 
 

Future Land use Map (Legends) 
 

Planned development -  
Low Density Residential -  
Office/Business Park –  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Access to Public Services 
The property is located in a developed area of the city and has access to all utilities and public 
services.  
 
Access to Adequate Street Network 
The subject property has access to University Avenue and if combined with the property at 4919 
University Avenue, the property could have cross access to Veralta Drive in the future. This 
access is adequate for commercial development of the property. Staff notes that no additional 
access points to University Avenue or Veralta Drive will be allowed. 
 

 

Site in proposition 
of rezoning from 
R-1 to C-1. 

44

ITEM 6.



4 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
A notice of public hearing was published in the Waterloo Courier on Friday, December 27, 2019.  
 

TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City staff and Cedar Falls Utilities note that when the house is demolished, the existing water 
and sewer service will need to be disconnected and capped off in a manner and location 
approved by the City and Cedar Falls Utilities. The applicant would like to maintain electrical 
service to the remaining garage. These matters will be addressed with the application for 
demolition of the garage. In addition, in order to retain then existing garage, the side wall will 
need to be reconstructed to meet Building Code requirements and sided to match the existing 
garage.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
and Vote  
11/20/2019 

 

The discussion item for Commission was a request to rezone property at 4911 University from 
R-1, Residential to C-1, Commercial. Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided 
background information. He explained that the property is approximately 0.34 acres and 
contains a single family home with an attached two-car garage and a detached accessory 
structure. It has been registered as a rental unit since 2003 and the owner also owns the 
adjacent property at 4919 University Avenue. The property at 4919 University Avenue was 
rezoned from R-1 to C-1 to convert the existing home into a commercial office in 2001. The 
petitioner would like to tear down the house on the property at 4911 and combine the lots of 
4911 and 4919 University to allow for future expansion of the office at 4919 or for other 
commercial use. The residential zoning of the property is inconsistent with the City’s Future 
Land Use Map and is located between two other commercial properties. Staff noted that it would 
make sense to rezone this property to C-1 to be consistent with the adjacent property owned by 
the petitioner. Mr. Atodaria noted that the property at 4919 was rezoned subject to a conditional 
zoning agreement that any development would comply with the standards of the MPC Zoning 
District, which will ensure that there is a good buffer and transition from commercial to the lower-
scale residential neighborhood to the south.  He noted the property currently has access to 
University Avenue, and once combined will also have access from Veralta Drive. Staff notes that 
no new access points to University Avenue or Veralta Drive will be allowed. All public services 
are available to the property. Staff recommends approval of the rezoning request subject to a 
conditional zoning agreement that ensures that future development of the property is in 
accordance with the standards of the MPC District.  

Brad Jacobsen, 806 Latham Place, stated that he is the owner of the properties and that he has 
decided that the property would be better suited to be a commercial property. Chair Holst noted 
that the project is consistent with the Master Plan for the area. The item was approved 
unanimously with respect to the stipulations in the staff report by Planning and Zoning 
Commission. 

Mr. Hartley made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Adkins seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously with 7 ayes and 0 nays. 
 

 

45

ITEM 6.



5 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommends approval of the request to rezone this 
property from R-1 Residence District to C-1 Commercial District, subject to a conditional zoning 
agreement that ensures that future development of the property is in accordance with the 
standards of the MPC District and that no additional access points will be allowed to University 
Avenue or Veralta Drive. Staff recommended approval in a report dated November 12, 2019.  

 

Attachments: Location Map 
  Rezoning Aerial Photo 
  Submittal materials from the Petitioner 
  Copy of the Courtesy Notice to surrounding property owners 

Conditional Zoning Agreement 
Ordinance to Rezone 

46

ITEM 6.



47

ITEM 6.



48

ITEM 6.



 

Letter of Rezoning Request 

 

Date: 10-21-2019 

 

TO: The Planning and Zoning Commission and the  

        City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

FROM:  Bradley H Jacobson 

    806 Latham Place, Cedar Falls, IA 50613  

 

Regarding:  

 

Purpose of Rezoning and Combining 4911 and 4919 University Avenue, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

I respectfully request that the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, rezone the above described real estate as follows: 

 

Rezoning 4911 University to combine with 4919 University and update the current Zoning 

Agreement for 4919 to reflect the combination of the properties.  

 

I purchased 4919 University in 2000 with the intention of moving my Insurance Office to 

this location.  This property was rezoned from R1 to C1 in 2001, restricted with a Zoning 

Agreement to all aspects of the MPC code with the exception of the 150 foot lot width 

requirement.   (At the time or rezoning in 2001, I did not own 4911 University and 4919 

University was only 90 feet wide).  My office opened on this location in October, 2002.  

 

I purchased 4911 University in 2003 and it has been a Rental Property complying with the 

Cedar Falls Rental Property code since that time.   The most recent tenants moved out in 

August 2019, and rather than re-renting, I would rather remove the house and keep the 

attached garage for personal storage.   

 

I am currently applying for Zoning on both properties to eliminate the Zoning Agreement at 

4919 University and to change the zoning at 4911 University from Residential to 

Commercial for future expansion of my office that is located at 4919 University.    

 

I am anticipating expanding my office in the next 3-5 years onto the property at 4911 

University Avenue.    In the meantime, the two garages that will remain on the property will 

be used for personal storage.  

 

Thank you for your consideration.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Bradley H Jacobson 

49

ITEM 6.



50

ITEM 6.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

(319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 26-118,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 26-118 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS 

ORDINANCE (Case #RZ19-006) 

 

WHEREAS, the owner of property located at 4911 University Avenue in Cedar Falls, 

Iowa has requested a rezoning from R-1 to C-1; and 

  

  WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan indicates that this property is appropriate for office 

and business park uses; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Owner does not currently have any specific plans to redevelop the subject 

property and therefore does not have a detailed development site plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the subject property directly abuts a low density residential neighborhood; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that, with appropriate 

conditions with regard to building design, signage, building and parking setbacks, outdoor 

lighting, and open space buffering and landscape screening, the requested zoning would ensure 

an appropriate transition to the low density residential neighborhood and would be consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that since a detailed 

site plan has not be submitted at this time, if the property were to be developed according to the 

minimum site development standards that apply in the Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial 

51

ITEM 6.



(MPC) District, an appropriate transition between the commercial properties and the residential 

neighborhood could be established; and  

 

  WHEREAS, Iowa Code Section 414.5 provides that as a part of an ordinance changing 

land from one zoning district to another zoning district, a city council may impose conditions on a 

property owner which are in addition to existing regulations, if the additional conditions have been 

agreed to in writing by the property owner before the public hearing required by Iowa Code 

Section 414.5, or any adjournment of the hearing, and if the conditions are reasonable, and are 

imposed to satisfy public needs which are directly caused by the requested change; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the owner of the property to be rezoned has agreed that the property shall be 

developed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Conditional Zoning Agreement, 

attached hereto, to ensure appropriate development in this area of the city; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, finds that, as a condition of 

the approval of the rezoning request, certain conditions must be imposed on the property owner 

and on the property which the City Council finds are reasonable and necessary in order to satisfy 

public needs which would be directly caused by the rezoning of the property as described herein; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning, subject however, to the conditional zoning 

agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

LOT NO. 3 IN THIRD ADDITION TO ORCHARD HILL PLAT IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THOSE PARTS THEREOF 

CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF IOWA BY DEEDS RECORDED IN 306 TLD 473 AND 

499 DEED 343 AND ALSO THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; BEGINNING AT 

THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT NO. 3; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG 

THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE TO THE  SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT NO. 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT NO. 3 A DISTANCE OF 32 

FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ON A DIRECT LINE 83.3 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

52

ITEM 6.



 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the R-1 Residential District and added to the C-1 

Commercial District, subject, however, to the conditions set forth in the conditional zoning 

agreement attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated herein as fully as though set out 

word for word in this ordinance, which conditions are hereby imposed upon the property owner, 

his successors and assigns, and upon the above-described real estate, and shall run with the land. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the C-1 

Commercial District, subject to a conditional zoning agreement, and the amended map is hereby 

ordained to be the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-

enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 

include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 
INTRODUCED:        

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

53

ITEM 6.



CONDITIONAL ZONING AGREEMENT 

 

This agreement is made and entered into this ______ day of __________, 2020, by 

and between Bradley H. Jacobson, hereinafter referred to as the “Owner,” and the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter “The City.” 

 

 WHEREAS, Owner owns the real estate located at 4911 University Avenue, Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, and legally described as follows: 

 

LOT NO. 3 IN THIRD ADDITION TO ORCHARD HILL PLAT IN THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THOSE PARTS THEREOF 

CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF IOWA BY DEEDS RECORDED IN 306 TLD 473 AND 

499 DEED 343 AND ALSO THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; BEGINNING AT 

THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT NO. 3; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY 

ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE TO THE  SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

LOT NO. 3; THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT NO. 3 A 

DISTANCE OF 32 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ON A DIRECT LINE 83.3 FEET MORE 

OR LESS TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

 WHEREAS, Owner has submitted a request to rezone the above-described real estate 

from R-1 Residential Zoning District to C-1 Commercial Zoning District under the Zoning 

Ordinance of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (Case #RZ19-006); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Owner does not currently have any specific plans to redevelop the 

subject property and therefore does not have a detailed development site plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the subject property directly abuts a low density residential 

neighborhood; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that, with 

appropriate conditions with regard to building design, signage, building and parking 

setbacks, outdoor lighting, and open space buffering and landscape screening, the requested 

zoning would ensure an appropriate transition to the low density residential neighborhood 

and would be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that since a 

detailed site plan has not been submitted at this time, if the property were to be developed 

according to the minimum site development standards that apply in the Major Thoroughfare 

Planned Commercial (MPC) District, an appropriate transition between the commercial 

properties and the residential neighborhood would be established; and  

  

 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Section 414.5 provides that a City Council may impose 

reasonable conditions on granting a rezoning request, in addition to existing regulations, in 

order to satisfy public needs caused by the requested zoning change; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner acknowledges that the requested rezoning that allows 

commercial development on property directly adjacent to a low density residential 

54

ITEM 6.



neighborhood may result in negative impacts to the aesthetics, privacy and the quiet 

enjoyment of residential property unless future commercial development is carefully 

designed and more intense commercial activities are appropriately set back and buffered 

from the abutting residential properties; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Owner acknowledges that to preserve orderly and efficient traffic 

flow on adjacent streets, no additional access points will be granted to University Avenue, 

but that a cross access drive may be established across the abutting property at 4919 

University Avenue to provide vehicular access to Veralta Drive; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner acknowledges that the certain conditions and restrictions 

outlined herein are reasonable to ensure that the development of the property is consistent 

with the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner agrees to develop this property in accordance with the terms 

and conditions set forth in this conditional Zoning Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the above named parties 

that the following conditions are hereby imposed on the Owner, and his successors and 

assigns and the above described real estate, in addition to the existing regulations governing 

real estate included in the C-1, Commercial Zoning District.  Said conditions are as follows: 

 

1. Owner agrees to abide by all of the legal requirements, regulations and 

restrictions of the MPC Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District under 

Section 26-182, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, with 

the following exceptions:  

a. The above-described real estate need not meet the minimum lot width 

requirement of 150 feet. The above-described real estate has a lot width of 80 

feet along University Avenue and a lot depth of 190 feet; and 

b. A shared cross-access drive may be established across the property at 4919 

University Avenue, including across the required side yard areas; and across 

the side yard area of the subject property at 4911 University Avenue to 

provide for additional traffic circulation to and from the subject property and 

Veralta Drive;  

 

2. Prior to redevelopment or new construction on the site, a detailed development 

site plan that meets the standards and requirements set forth in Section 26-182, 

MPC, Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District, of the City Code, shall 

be submitted for review and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission 

and the City Council; and 

 

3. No additional access drives to University Avenue shall be established. 

 

 FURTHERMORE, it is hereby acknowledged and agreed by and between the Owner 

and the City that: 

 

1. The conditions contained herein are reasonable conditions to impose on the land 

55

ITEM 6.



under Iowa Code §414.5, and that said conditions satisfy public needs that are 

caused by the requested zoning change; and 

2. In the event the Property is transferred, sold, redeveloped, or subdivided, all 

redevelopment will conform with the terms of this Conditional Zoning 

Agreement; and 

3. This Conditional Zoning Agreement shall be deemed to be a covenant running 

with the land and with title to the land, and shall remain in full force and effect as 

a covenant with title to the land, unless or until released of record by the City of 

Cedar Falls; and 

4. This agreement shall inure to the benefit of and bind all successors, 

representatives, and assigns of the Owner; and 

5. Nothing in this Conditional Zoning Agreement shall be construed to relieve the 

Owner from complying with all other applicable local, state, and federal laws and 

regulations; and 

6. This Conditional Zoning Agreement shall be incorporated by reference into the 

ordinance rezoning the Property, and that upon adoption and publication of the 

ordinance, this agreement shall be recorded in the Black Hawk County Recorder's 

Office at the Applicant's expense. 

 

Dated this _____ day of _____________________, 2020. 

 

City of Cedar Falls  

 

_________________________________ _________________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor By: Bradley H. Jacobson, Owner 

 

Attest:  

 

________________________________  

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

   

 

City Of Cedar Falls Acknowledgement: 

 

STATE OF IOWA  ) 

  ) ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of _______________, 2020 by 

Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

    

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

56

ITEM 6.



 

Owner Acknowledgement: 

 

STATE OF IOWA  ) 

  ) ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of __________________, 

2020 by Bradley H. Jacobson, Owner, to me known to be the person named in and who 

executed the foregoing instrument.  

 

    

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

57

ITEM 6.



 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Prepared by:  Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   (319) 273-8600 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2960 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 3, COLLEGE HILL SELF-
SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, OF ARTICLE X, 
MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS, OF CHAPTER 2, 
ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISON 
3, ESTABLISHING A SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT WITHIN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 
 
 Division 3, College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, of Article X, 
Municipal Improvement Districts, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new Division 3, 
College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, is enacted in lieu thereof: 
 
DIVISION 3. COLLEGE HILL SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
Section 2-1085.  Created; purpose. 
 
 There is hereby created in the city a self-supported municipal improvement district as 
defined in Chapter 386 of the 2019 Code of Iowa (referred to in this Article as "the Act"), the 
name of which district shall be the "College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District" 
(sometimes referred to in this article as the "district"), the purposes of which shall include those 
set forth in Section 2-1088. 
 
Section 2-1086.  Boundaries. 
 

(a) The proposed District includes contiguous property wholly within the boundaries of 
the City of Cedar Falls, and is comprised only of real property zoned for commercial 
or industrial uses, and property within any duly designated historic district, 
specifically excluding property zoned as residential property, unless the residential 
property is within a duly designated historic district.  The proposed boundaries of the 
District are as follows: (All references to streets and street intersections refer to the 
center line or center point of the public right-of-way.) 

  
(b) That part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14 and the Southwest Quarter 

of Section 13, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of Fifth P.M. in the City of 
Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. Beginning at the Southeast (SE) 
corner “Campus Addition Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa”, point also 

58

ITEM 8.



 2 

being the intersection of East (E) line of said addition and centerline of West 
Twenty-third Street; thence West along said centerline of West Twenty-third 
Street, to the East line of the West nine inches (9”) of Lot 5, Campus 
Addition, extended South (S) to said centerline of West Twenty-third Street; 
thence North (N) along said extended East (E) to point on South (S) line of 
North 24.75 feet of said Lot 5, point being 57 feet West (W) of East line said 
Lot 5; thence deflect West to Southwest corner Lot 31 said Campus Addition; 
thence deflect North along East line of Lot 31 said Campus Addition to 
Southwest corner of Lot 1 of “Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition Cedar Falls, Black 
Hawk County, Iowa”; thence deflect left to West line of Lot 1 Arthur P. 
Cotton’s Addition; thence deflect North along said West line extended and 
continuing North along the West line of Lot 28 Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition to 
Northwest corner said Lot 28; thence deflect West, along North line of Lot 27 
Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition to point 408.2 feet west of Southeast corner of Lot 
43 of “Auditor Rainbow’s Plat No. 3, Black Hawk County, Iowa”; thence 
deflecting North 86.2 feet as platted in said Auditor Rainbow’s Plat No. 3; 
thence deflecting West 68.8 feet to point lying in Lot 41, which is  7 feet East 
of the West line of Lot 16 in “Sunnyside Addition Black Hawk County, Iowa”; 
thence deflecting North to point on South line Lot 16 Sunnyside Addition, 7 
feet West of West line said Lot 16; thence West 7 feet to Southwest corner 
said lot 16; thence deflect North along West line said Lot 16 to point in said 
West line Lot 16, 100 feet South of Southerly right-of-way of West Twentieth 
Street; thence deflect West 25 feet to point in West line Lot 15, said 
Sunnyside Addition, 100 feet South of Southerly right-of-way of West 
Twentieth Street; thence deflect North 100 feet to Southerly right-of-way of 
West Twentieth Street; thence continue North on West line Lot 15 extended 
to center line of West Twentieth Street; thence deflect East along said 
centerline to its intersection with the centerline of College Street; thence 
deflecting North from said intersection North to intersection with the extended 
center line of West Twentieth Street as established through “Railroad 
Addition Black Hawk County, Iowa” and a portion of the unplatted Southwest 
Quarter of Section 13, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of Fifth P.M. in the 
City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa lying East of the Easterly right-
of-way of College Street; thence East along centerline of said Twentieth 
Street to point where the West line of Lot 8 of Block 13 Railroad Addition 
would intersect if extended North; thence deflect to the right along said 
extended West line of Lot 8 of Block 13 Railroad Addition continuing along 
West lines of Lots 5, 6, and 7, and the extension South of the West line of 
said Lot 5 to its intersection with centerline of Twenty-first Street; thence East 
on said centerline to a point which would intersect with the extension of said 
line, 82.5 feet West of the East line of Lot 1 of Block 36 Railroad Addition if 
extended North, point also being the North line said Block 36; thence 
continue South along said line 66 feet to North line of “Normal Plat Black 
Hawk County, Iowa”; thence deflect West along said North line Normal Plat to 
point 116 feet East of West line said Normal Plat (point also being the East 
right-of-way line of College Street); thence deflect South 132 feet to point on 
North line of Lot 3 Normal Plat which is 115.18 feet East of West line said 
Normal Plat (said West line also being the East right-of-way line of College 
Street); thence deflect East to point 132 feet more or less from West line said 
Normal Plat; thence deflect South to South line of Lot 4 said Normal Plat 
(point also being North line of Twenty-second Street); thence continue South 
33 feet to centerline of said Twenty-second Street; thence deflect East to 

59

ITEM 8.



 3 

centerline of Olive Street as laid out in “Normal Addition Black Hawk County, 
Iowa”; thence deflect South along centerline said Olive Street to point which 
would intersect the South line of vacated West Twenty-third Street, if 
extended East to centerline of Olive Street; thence deflect West along South 
right-of-way line of said Twenty-third Street to West line said Normal Plat 
(point also being the East right-of-way line of College Street); thence continue 
West along said extended right-of-way line to East line of Campus Addition; 
thence deflect South along said East addition line to Southeast corner 
Campus Addition the point of beginning. 

 
Section 2-1087.  Findings. 
 

It is found and determined that the above-described property meets the relationship and 
benefits requirements of Chapter 386.3(1)(c) of the Act.  Specifically, the District is to be 
comprised of property related in some manner, including but not limited to present or potential 
use, physical location, condition, relationship to an area, or relationship to present or potential 
commercial or other activity in an area, so as to be benefited in any manner, including but not 
limited to a benefit from present or potential use of enjoyment of the property, by the condition, 
development or maintenance of the district or of any improvement or self-liquidating 
improvement of the district, or be comprised of property the owners of which have a present or 
potential benefit from the condition, development or maintenance of the district or of any 
improvement or self-liquidating improvement of the district. 
 
Section 2-1088.  Funding; purpose. 
 

The purpose for the creation of the District and the imposition of a tax thereunder is to 
provide funding for the administrative expenses of the District to pay for the services of the 
College Hill Partnership, which develops and encourages retail businesses by way of promotion, 
development, growth, and organization, and which shall serve as an operation tax.  
Administrative expenses include, but are not limited to, administrative personnel salaries, a 
separate administrative office, planning costs including consultation fees, engineering fees, 
architectural fees, legal fees, and all other expenses reasonably associated with the 
administration of the District and the fulfilling of the purposes of the District.  Parcels of property 
which are assessed as residential property for property tax purposes are exempt from the tax 
levied, except residential properties within a duly designated historic district.  
 
Section 2-1089.  Tax levies. 
 

(a) The City is hereby authorized to levy taxes pursuant to Section 386.8 of the Act for 
operations.   

  
(b) The maximum rate of tax to be imposed upon property in the District for operations 

shall be two dollars and seventy-five cents ($2.75) per thousand dollars ($1,000.00) 
of net taxable valuation per year, commencing with the levy for tax collection in the 
fiscal year beginning July 1, 2020, and continuing through fiscal year ending June 
30, 2025.  All monies collected pursuant thereto shall be deposited into the College 
Hill Self Supported Municipal Improvements District Fund, for the purposes outlined 
herein. 

 

60

ITEM 8.



 4 

Section 2-1090.  Copies on file. 
 
 The City Clerk shall cause a copy of the ordinance codified in this article to be filed in the 
Office of the Black Hawk County Recorder and in the Office of the Black Hawk County 
Treasurer. 
 
INTRODUCED:    December 16, 2019    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:  December 16, 2019    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:      
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:      
 
ADOPTED:         
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

61

ITEM 8.



62

ITEM 9.



   ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: January 2, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Designation of Mayor Pro Tempore 

 
 

1. In accordance with Ordinance 2-187(b)(9), I hereby designate Mr. Frank Darrah 
as the mayor pro tempore for the City of Cedar Falls.   

2. In my declared absence, Mr. Darrah shall carry out the duties and responsibilities 
of Mayor, with the exception of actions described in the Code of Ordinances. 

3. Mr. Darrah brings a wealth of knowledge and experience to this role, having 
served in a variety of leadership positions within the city, from the Parks and 
Recreation Commission, to the Planning and Zoning Commission, and since 
2006 as Ward 2’s elected representative on the Cedar Falls City Council. 

4. The people and government of Cedar Falls have benefited tremendously from 
Mr. Darrah’s service over many decades, and I look forward to benefiting from 
his counsel as the mayor pro tempore and as the vice-president of the City 
Council. 

# 

 

63

ITEM 10.



   ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: January 2, 2020 

 SUBJECT: CY2020 Appointment of Standing Committees 

 
 

1. I hereby appoint the following standing committees of the Cedar Falls City 
Council, as required by required by Section 2-68 of the Code of Ordinances. 

a. Administration Committee: Susan deBuhr, Frank Darrah, Simon 
Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, David Sires. 

b. Public Works Committee: Susan deBuhr, Frank Darrah, Simon Harding, 
Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, David Sires. 

c. Community Relations and Planning Committee: Susan deBuhr, Frank 
Darrah, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, David Sires. 

2. In accordance with reference (a), the first person named on each committee shall 
be the chair of that committee.  

3. Standing committees require seven committee members; with the vacant City 
Council (At Large) seat, this requirement cannot be met.  Once the seat is filled, 
a new appointment memorandum will be issued. 

# 

64

ITEM 11.



 1 

  

City of Cedar Falls Goal Setting Report 
2019 
 

Eric Christianson 
ejchr@iastate.edu 
(515) 231-6513 

 

Aimee Viniard-Weideman 
aimeevw@iastate.edu 

319-427-3383 

 

Mayor: 

Jim Brown (outgoing) 

Rob Green (elect) 

 

City Council: 

Mark Miller 

Susan DeBuhr 

Frank Darrah 

Daryl Kruse 

Dave Wieland (outgoing) 

Tom Blanford (outgoing) 

Dave Sires (elect) 

Simon Harding (elect) 

 

Facilitated by: 

65

ITEM 12.



 2 

GOAL SETTING SESSION 

2019 

 

 

Introduction 
 

The City of Cedar Falls requested Iowa State Extension and Outreach (ISUEO) assist the 
city with goal setting. ISUEO agreed to organize and facilitate a process that involved the 
following steps: 
 
 

1. Conduct interviews with the Mayor and City Council Members to discuss 
recent accomplishments, issues/trends/concerns, potential new 
initiatives/programs/policies, and suggestions to improve organizational 
effectiveness. 

 

2. Conduct a preliminary session with department heads. 
 

3. Conduct two goal-setting sessions with the elected officials. 
 

4. Preparation of this final report. 
 
 

Goal Setting Work Sessions 
 

City Council Members held goal setting work sessions conducted by ISUEO on 
December 9 and 10, 2019. In attendance and participating at these meetings were current 
Council Members Mark Miller, Susan DeBuhr, Daryl Kruse, and Frank Darrah, outgoing 
Council Members Dave Wieland and Tom Blanford, current Council Member and 
Mayor-elect, Rob Green, and newly elected Council Members Simon Harding and Dave 
Sires. Tom Blanford served as Mayor Pro Tem. 
 
Also attending were City Administrator, Ron Gaines, Director of Community 
Development Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Public Safety Director/Police Chief Jeff Olson, 
Director of Finance and Business Operations Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Public 
Works, Chase Schrage, City Attorney, Kevin Rogers, Building Official, Jamie Castle, 
Tourism and Cultural Manager, Kim Manning, David Wicke, City Engineer, and 
Communications Specialist, Amanda Huisman. 
 
In addition, the facilitators and City Administrator held individual meetings with the 
Mayor and City Council Members on October 28 and 29. A summary of those interviews 
is included with this report as Exhibit A. 
 
ISUEO held a preliminary session with department heads on November 7. In attendance 
at these sessions were City Administrator Ron Gaines, Director of Community 
Development Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Public Safety Director/Police Chief Jeff Olson, 
Director of Finance and Business Operations Jennifer Rodenbeck, and Director of Public 
Works, Chase Schrage. 
 
 

66

ITEM 12.



 3 

 
 

Policy Agreements  

 
After review and discussion, the group reached general agreement on the following 
policy issues: 

 
 

1. FY 20-21 Budgetary/Financial Goals: 
a. Property Tax Goal – Increase no more than CPI on residential properties 
b. Cash Reserves Goal – Maintain at 20% (15-25% by resolution) 
c. Plan for FY 20-21 budget without state backfill 
d. Continue Bond Replacement Policy 
e. Maintain debt strategy that protects at least 25-30% of capacity 
f. Seek minimum private donation match of 25% of recreation & quality of 

life projects 
g. Maintain fiscal discipline and maintain compliance with Financial Policies 
h. Update timeline to comply with new state property tax law 
 

2. Emergency fund 
a. Maintain balance of at least $1.5 million for emergencies 
 

3. Black Hawk County Gaming Association  
 
Staff provided a timeline of projects requested for funding from Black Hawk County 
Gaming Association. Council was supportive of the project list and timing proposed. 

 
4. River Improvement Project 

a. Council supports staff’s proposed CIP timeline 
b. Council approves proposed changes to funding mix including a private ask 

of $500,000 and $300,000 in Hotel/Motel Tax. 
c. Council requires all the private donations at beginning of project. 

 
5. Code Enforcement policy 

a. Council supports the continuation of current city policy:  
o responding on a complaint basis city wide 
o proactively, grid by grid, in focus areas 

 
6. Visioning – there was agreement to continue the following sequence of visioning 

and code revision projects: 
1) Downtown 
2) College Hill 
3) University Ave corridor 
4) Other areas may follow 

 
 
 
 

67

ITEM 12.



 4 

 
 

7. Economic development policies 
a. Continue to transfer $1.3 million of TIF release per year from the general 

fund into the economic development fund. 
b. Reconsider of TIF policies (Downtown & College Hill) including 

additional incentives for: architectural design, adaptive reuse, and pubic 
parking. 

c. Exploring the establishment of a downtown Urban Revitalization District.  
d. Maintain a balance of approximately $4 million in the Economic 

Development Fund.  
 

8. Parking – Downtown, College Hill 
a. Allow 15 minutes free in public lots if the existing technology allows it. 
b. No senior pass discounts 
c. Businesses may purchase passes for employees at the regular rate.  
d. Allow volunteer parking to be prepaid at the regular rate if possible 
e. Explore allowing businesses to pay parking fees or tickets for clients 

 
9. Washington/2nd St. Project & E. 3rd / State St. Projects 

a. Explore public-private parking agreements in the downtown area. 
 

10. 100 Block parking lot  
a. Reimburse improvements as the lot is deeded to the city 

 
11. Bicycle Plan implementation/complete streets 

a. Continue implementation of the Bicycle Plan  
b. Ask the Bicycle Pedestrian Committee to update the Bicycle Plan. Council 

would like to see a simplified and safer updated version of the plan.  
 

12. Rental to owner conversion program 
a. Continue to fund the rental to owner conversion program and revisit the 

program again in 5 years.  
 

13. Idaho Road Reconstruction 
a. Council is interested in a plan for the vacation of Idaho Rd 

 
14. The following were identified as continuing priorities/ongoing commitments: 

 
a. New hospital and redevelopment of the existing property  
b. Develop Storm water/Grading ordinance 
c. Evaluate additional land acquisition for economic development 
d. Evaluate adding new TIF Districts or re-establishing existing districts  
e. Communicate with Regional Workforce Development Agency to identify 

ways to retain recent graduates from UNI and young workers 
f. Pettersen Plaza redevelopment  
g. Continued expansion in the industrial park 
h. Island Park reconstruction and maintenance 

68

ITEM 12.



 5 

i. Sanitary sewer extensions and tapping fee districts 
j. W 27th St. project 
k. Union Rd. project 
l. Main St Reconstruction 
m. Greenhill/58 Intersection project (City match of $4 million) 
n. City Hall remodel 

 
15. Legislative Priorities: There was general agreement that the council supported the 

list of legislative priorities shared by staff. 
 

16. Marketing grants 
a. The City Administrator has the authority to  approve marketing grants that 

are confidential or time-sensitive. 
 

17. School District Partnerships 
a. Financial contributions for the North Cedar playground and new rubber 

surface 
b. Continued investigation of options for partnerships for providing public 

pools. 
c. Council does not support reducing building permit fees, but does support 

allowing staff to negotiate plan review fees with the School District. 
 

18. Waterloo Regional Airport 
a. Exploring financial contributions to the Waterloo Regional Airport 

 
19. General Personnel Issues 

a. Add the positions proposed by staff in the FYE21 budget. 
b. Fund existing tuition reimbursement program for staff. 
c. Conduct a staff climate survey 
d. City Administrator approves all budgeted hiring requests.  Unbudgeted 

positions will be approved by City Council.  
 

20. The participants agreed that the following policy issues should be discussed at 
future City Council Work Sessions: 

 
a. Wastewater regionalization options 
b. MET Route Restructuring (scheduled for presentation at council meeting 

at Jan 6) 
c. North Cedar drainage study  
d. Bicycle plan update 
e. Presentation on PSO history & current reality – consideration of hiring 

consultant after presentations. 
f. Hearst Center Study 
g. Training and role for Human Rights,  Planning and Zoning Commission, 

Board of Adjustment, and City Council.  
h. Reconsideration of council packet submission deadline 

 
21. New initiatives for the Upcoming 24 Months  

69

ITEM 12.



 6 

a. Move forward on developing a plan for connecting Ashworth. 
b. Restructure goal setting document to avoid using bullet points 
c. Revisit the 2016 urban chicken ordinance 
d. Hire a consultant to develop sustainability plan 

 
 

 

 
 

Final Comments 
 

It was a pleasure to again assist the City of Cedar Falls with this goal setting process. We 
were particularly impressed with the level of cooperation and collaboration between the 
City Council and the staff. 
 
 
 
Eric Christianson 
Aimee Viniard-Weideman 
Iowa State University Extension and Outreach 
 
 
December 11, 2019 

  

70

ITEM 12.



 7 

      EXHIBIT A 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS GOAL SETTING – 2019 

ELECTED OFFICIALS INTERVIEW RESPONSES 

 

 

1.  From your perspective, how is the City of Cedar Falls doing?  

• Doing well (7) 

o Great staff (3) 

o Goal setting process has improved (2) 

o Proud of University Ave award (2) 

o One of top cities in IA 

o Innovative 

o Financially stable 

o Budget passage is generally not contentious 

• PSO issue – lots of tension, misinformation (3) 

• Busy / Possibly doing too much (2) 

• Need to balance growth and economic development 

 
  

71

ITEM 12.



 8 

2. In your opinion, what are the key issues of paramount importance to the City of 

Cedar Falls that need to be addressed in terms of leadership direction, goals, 

programs, policies and resource allocation in order to achieve the city’s strategic 

vision? 

 

• Staff (5) 

o Morale (2) 

o Turnover and retirements (2) 

o Social media abuse policy needed 

o worksite/work culture/morale assessment needed 

o Succession planning – lots of excellent employees retiring 

• Rezoning / Form-based zoning (5) 

o Visioning downtown and college hill and University Ave 

o Current zoning process has developers avoiding Cedar Falls 

• River improvements - White Water project (4) 

• Prioritize infill development, more development in older pts of town (3) 

• Wastewater Treatment Regional discussion (3) 

o Need strong control/oversight if working with other communities 

• Revitalize downtown (3) 

• Parking (downtown and College Hill) (3) 

o Explore resident only parking 

• Sustainability committee / Climate action plan (2) 

• Status of “emergency fund”; appropriate level of fund (2) 

• PSO issue (2) 

o Strategic plan? 

• 1st street (2) 

• Repurpose College Square Mall 

• University Avenue TIF 

• Role of bike task force (makes recommendations, is not the decision 

maker) 

• Recruit new developers 

• UNI metro transportation 

• Streets – repair and replace 

• Availability of housing – esp. for first-time owners and younger workers 

• Retention of UNI graduates in the community 

• Backyard Chickens 

 

 

 

 

72

ITEM 12.



 9 

3. What specific issues or concerns would you like to see addressed at the council 

goal setting session on Nov. 13? 

 

• Whitewater Plan – feasibility of moving up the timeline (2) 

• Emergency fund reserve – what fund balance do we need to maintain? (2) 

• Building code and code enforcement (2) 

o Some buildings not well maintained 

o Similar requirements for owner-occupied and rental units 

• Regional Water Treatment facility 

• Use of health trust fund 

• Hearst Center feasibility study 

• Main Street  

• PSO – need to clarify misunderstandings 

• Communication with community; repair positive image of CF 

• Waterloo Cedar Falls dynamics – human rights (what is our role?) 

• Staff social media policy 

• Stop readdressing old problems without new information or reasons to 

review 

• North Cedar residential development 

• Employee satisfaction 

• Downtown streetscape expansion 

o TIF 

• College hill bar scene – Ames and Iowa City have “no minors after 10 

pm” 

• Creation of student residential zones 

• Rental task force  

• Resident-only parking  

• Work with UNI to help them in student recruitment goals 

 
 
 
 

 
  

73

ITEM 12.



 10 

4. Are there specific major projects that are currently under consideration by the 

City Council that you would like to see completed? If so, please identify them. 

 

• Revitalization of Community Main Street (5) 

o Concerns with narrowing 

• Whitewater feature and river bank improvements (2) 

• North Cedar improvements (2) 

o Repair flood damaged bike trail 

o Drainage study 

• Visioning for Main Street and College Hill 

• Industrial Park – keep inviting new business 

• Parks and bikeways continue improvements 

• Form-based zoning 

• Security on College Hill  

• Complete 1st Street  

• Center Street streetscape project 

• Greenhill and Main (need to address congestion) 

• Tree planting policy (are we planting too many trees?) 

• PSO communication improvements 

• City hall facility renovations 

 
5. What new priority initiatives, programs or policies would you like the council to 

consider as part of this year’s goal setting process?  

 

• No new initiatives / manage workload 

• Increase staff 

• Maintain our reserves 

• Rec Center – visioning discussion 

• Purposeful infill model 

• Study regionalization of Waste Water Treatment 

• Establish University Ave Corridor TIF District 

• Fireworks laws – Revisit idea of matching Waterloo’s law 

• Climate action plan 

• Social media policy 

• Wetland bank 

• Student retention efforts with UNI 

• North Cedar Playground added to CIP 

 

74

ITEM 12.



 11 

6. What should be the city’s top legislative priorities – state and/or federal – for the 
upcoming year?  
 

• Protect Backfill (6) 

• TIF – leave it alone (6) 

• New lobbyist; need more updates (3) 

• Advocate for increased funding for UNI (2) 

• Defend existing tax incentives 

• Address ex parte communication issue on state-wide basis (2) 

• Mental health funding 

• Allow self-lending 

• Clean Water legislation (ensure that cities have access to funds) 

• Pursue state-wide public employee health plan (similar to IPERS) 

• Change fireworks law to allow cities to prohibit sales 

• Support local sales tax on internet purchases 

• Federal lobbying with Army Corps if there are issues with riverfront 

project 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

75

ITEM 12.



 12 

7. Are there any issues regarding organizational effectiveness, decision-making 

processes, teamwork or related issues you would like to have discussed during 

goal setting? 

 

• Staff (5) 

o Doing a great job (2) 

o maintaining/retaining, turnover, rough year 

o Succession planning – transition planning 

o Internal climate assessment survey 

• Pleased with the goalsetting process (2) 

• Create more opportunities for work sessions (2) 

o Must come to clear decisions and direction for staff. 

• PSO Communications to deal with misinformation 

• More opportunities for council socialization – get to know each other, build 

relationships 

• Encourage council to do “ride-alongs” with staff, tours of city facilities, projects 

• UNI student liaison on council – does that position have a purpose? Encourage 

liaison to ask questions, participate in discussions 

• Ex parte communications 

• Pictures of more city staff on the website  

• Look for efficiencies, with tools like LEAN 

• Council members need to promote CF and each other in positive ways 

• How best to review the city administrator; council involved as a whole? 

• Make City’s goal and policy document earlier to read by using numbers instead of 

bullets & move fiscal policy to an addendum 

 
 

 
 

 

76

ITEM 12.



77

ITEM 13.



78

ITEM 13.



79

ITEM 13.



80

ITEM 13.



81

ITEM 13.



82

ITEM 14.



83

ITEM 14.



84

ITEM 14.



85

ITEM 14.



86

ITEM 14.



87

ITEM 14.



88

ITEM 14.



89

ITEM 14.



90

ITEM 14.



91

ITEM 14.



92

ITEM 14.



93

ITEM 14.



94

ITEM 14.



95

ITEM 14.



96

ITEM 14.



97

ITEM 14.



98

ITEM 14.



99

ITEM 14.



100

ITEM 14.



101

ITEM 14.



102

ITEM 14.



103

ITEM 14.



104

ITEM 14.



105

ITEM 14.



106

ITEM 14.



107

ITEM 14.



108

ITEM 14.



109

ITEM 14.



110

ITEM 14.



111

ITEM 14.



112

ITEM 14.



113

ITEM 14.



114

ITEM 14.



115

ITEM 14.



116

ITEM 14.



117

ITEM 14.



118

ITEM 14.



119

ITEM 14.



120

ITEM 14.



121

ITEM 14.



122

ITEM 14.



123

ITEM 14.



124

ITEM 14.



125

ITEM 14.



126

ITEM 14.



127

ITEM 14.



128

ITEM 14.



129

ITEM 14.



130

ITEM 14.



131

ITEM 14.



132

ITEM 14.



133

ITEM 14.



134

ITEM 14.



135

ITEM 14.



136

ITEM 14.



137

ITEM 14.



138

ITEM 14.



139

ITEM 14.



140

ITEM 14.



141

ITEM 14.



142

ITEM 14.



143

ITEM 14.



144

ITEM 14.



145

ITEM 14.



146

ITEM 14.



147

ITEM 14.



148

ITEM 14.



149

ITEM 14.



150

ITEM 14.



151

ITEM 14.



152

ITEM 14.



153

ITEM 14.



154

ITEM 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  January 02, 2020 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 

b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - change in ownership. 

155

ITEM 15.



   CEDAR FALLS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  4600 S. MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Ron Gaines, City Administrator 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  December 26, 2019 

Re: Acting Police Chief Appointment 

As part of the planning process for some time and as we discussed briefly in December’s 
City Council Goal Setting Session I am moving forward with the plan to eliminate the 
Assistant Police Chief position and to appoint a Police Chief separate from the Public Safety 
Director’s position. This change will allow for a smoother administrative organizational 
structure with a Police and Fire Chief separate from the Public Safety Director’s position. 
This change will be fairly seamless for the Department. Pursuant to City Ordinance 2-949(b) 
I recommend appointing Assistant Police Chief Craig Berte to Acting Police Chief effective 
January 6, 2019.  
 
In cooperation with the City of Cedar Falls Civil Service Commission we will begin to 
establish a hiring list according to the Civil Service State Code Chapter 400 rules. This 
process will begin in January.  

156

ITEM 16.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: January 3, 2020 

 SUBJECT:  Proposed changes to Personnel Policies 
 
 

The following contains proposed changes to Personnel Policies for your consideration, 

with explanations for same.  The Policies below are in abbreviated form.  The entirety of 

the affected Policies incorporating the changes is also attached for your information and 

reference. 

 

Most of the changes are either for clarification or else reflect current practice. 

 

Some are the result of changes in the law.  For example, the changes to Policy 203 

reflect federal regulations that take effect on January 1st.  The changes to Policy 220 

relating to the office of the state Ombudsman reflect a 2019 state law change.   

 

One of the more significant policy changes includes Policy 501 terminating health 

coverage for retirees at age 65.  The City’s stop loss insurance does not cover those 

individuals so the City could be liable for catastrophic health claims not covered by the 

health policy if the policy was not changed. 

 

Also, the changes to Policy 504 relating to tuition reimbursement follow Council’s 

direction given at goal setting. 

 

 

    

 

203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 

Policy: 

 

            It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to maintain a workplace that is free from the 

effects of drug and alcohol abuse.  Employees are expected to report to work in a mental and 

157

ITEM 17.



2 

 

physical condition capable of performing their duties. 

 

Within the framework of State and Federal law, it is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to 

conduct drug and alcohol testing of all applicants for full-time positions. The City may, at its 

own discretion, require testing of selected full-time, temporary and part-time positions.  The City 

recognizes that drug and alcohol abuse can pose a serious threat to employees, and others, and 

establishes this policy to help maintain a safe, healthy, injury-free work environment. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

2.  SCOPE 

 

a. This policy applies consistently to all groups of employees unless specified otherwise.  

Some groups of employees (such as DOT drivers and DOT driver-applicants) are subject 

to additional requirements or are exempted from other requirements as regulated by 

Federal, State, local and/or applicable laws.   

  

b. DOT/FMCSA Programs 

 

(1) Employees who hold a Commercial Drivers License (CDL) and who operate a 

commercial motor vehicle (CMV), or prospective drivers referred to as DOT 

driver-applicants, are subject to DOT drug and alcohol testing regulations.  

Participation in the City’s controlled substances and alcohol testing program is a 

requirement of each DOT driver, and therefore is a condition of employment.  DOT 

drivers must be in compliance with all DOT drug and alcohol testing regulations 

while performing DOT safety-sensitive functions.  

 

(2)  Periods of the workday when compliance is required under DOT drug and alcohol 

testing regulations include, but are not limited to, whenever a DOT driver is on 

duty, whenever a DOT driver is performing, or just about to perform a safety-

sensitive function; and whenever a driver is otherwise engaged in City business.  

City business includes, but is not limited to: 

 

(a) Work performed on or in City property including a City vehicle; 

 

(b) Work performed on or in a non-City vehicle being used for conducting City 

business; and 

 

(c) Meal and break times; or 

158

ITEM 17.



3 

 

 

(d) At times otherwise specified in this Policy. 

 

       

 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
5.    FMCSA CDL DRUG AND ALCOHOL CLEARINGHOUSE 
        

       a.     All DOT drivers and DOT driver-applicants are subject to and must comply with 

FMCSA CDL Drug and Alcohol Clearinghouse (“Clearinghouse”) laws, rules, and 

regulations as well as this policy. 

 

       b.     DOT driver-applicants must provide written consent for the City to conduct pre-

employment Clearinghouse queries.  Such applicants must also provide specific consent 

to the Clearinghouse for the City to access all information resulting from a full query.  

Such applicants must also provide written consent for the City to obtain drug and 

alcohol information from previous employers.  Forms for required written consents 

shall be provided by the City.  These requirements are a condition of consideration for 

employment with the City. 

 

              c.     DOT employees must provide written consent for the City to conduct Clearinghouse 

queries on an annual basis.  DOT employees also must, as often as requested by the 

City, provide specific consent to the Clearinghouse for the City to access all 

information resulting from a full query.  Forms for required written consent shall be 

provided by the City.  Failure to provide such consents may result in suspension of all 

of the employee’s safety sensitive functions, or discipline up to and including 

termination of employment, or both. 

 

       d.     The following information collected and maintained by the City shall be reported to the 

Clearinghouse: 

                       

                       (1)  a verified positive, adulterated or substituted drug test result; 

 

                       (2)  an alcohol confirmation test with a concentration of 0.04 or higher; 

  

                       (3)  a refusal to submit to any drug or alcohol test; 

 

                       (4)  actual knowledge on the part of the City of a drug or alcohol violation; 

 

159

ITEM 17.



4 

 

                       (5)  on duty alcohol use; 

 

                       (6)  pre-duty alcohol use in violation of federal regulations; 

 

                       (7)  post-accident alcohol use in violation of federal regulations; 

 

                       (8)  controlled substance use in violation of federal regulations; 

 

                       (9)  a substance abuse professional’s report of the successful completion of a 

return-to-duty test; 

 

                       (10) a negative return-to-duty test; 

 

                       (11) the City’s report of follow-up testing. 

 

       e.     Improper access, use or release of any information accessed in the Clearinghouse may 

result in  civil or criminal penalties and/or may result in discipline up to and including 

termination of employment. 

 

Explanation:  Policy updated to conform to new federal regulations affecting DOT 
drivers employed by the City. 

 

56.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION – CONSEQUENCES FOR VIOLATING THIS POLICY 

 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
        

   

 

205:     MEDICAL PROCEDURES 
 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls that applicants to whom a conditional offer of 

employment has been extended and current employees may be required to undergo medical tests, 

procedures, or examinations whenever Management determines that these are necessary for the 

safe or efficient operation of the City and/or in compliance with Federal mandates. 

 

Comment: 

 

160

ITEM 17.



5 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

 

(7)  The City reserves the right to require acceptable confirmation of the nature and 

extent of any illness or injury that requires an employee to be absent from scheduled work.  

Employees returning from a disability leave or an absence caused by health problems may be 

required to provide a doctor's certification of their disability to perform their regular work 

satisfactorily without endangering themselves or their fellow employees.  (See 701: Attendance 

and Punctuality and 704: Leaves of Absence.) 

 

(8)  Employees who become ill on the job or suffer any work-connected injury, no matter 

how minor, must report to their supervisors who will arrange referral for examination, treatment, 

and recording of the incident.  Time spent by an employee in waiting for and receiving this 

medical attention will be considered hours worked for pay purposes.  Employees who fail to 

report work-related injuries are subject to discipline, up to and including discharge, and may 

jeopardize any right to workers’ compensation benefits.  (See 602:  Employee Safety.) 

 

(9)  Unless deemed medically unnecessary or inappropriate by a health care professional 

designated by the City for such purpose, failure for any reason to successfully complete a City 

required examination or evaluation, including all associated tests and procedures, shall result in 

immediate removal from work duties, or continuation of leave from work duties, until successful 

completion of such evaluation or examination.  Unreasonable failure to submit to such 

examination or evaluation at the time and date scheduled by the City shall be considered an 

unsuccessful completion of such examination or evaluation as of the date and time of the 

scheduled examination or evaluation.  Employees may be allowed to use paid benefit time during 

any absences caused by failure to successfully complete such examination or evaluation, at the 

discretion of the Department Director. 

 

 
Amended  6/1/15 

  3/1/19 

 

Explanation:  Typo 
 

213:     TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to terminate employment because of an 

161

ITEM 17.



6 

 

employee's resignation, discharge, or retirement; the expiration of an employment contract; the 

permanent reduction in the work force; or for disciplinary purposes outlined in other sections of 

these Policies.  Discharge can be for any reason not prohibited by law.  In the absence of a 

specific written agreement, employees are free to resign at any time and for any reason. 

 

Comment: 

 

(1) Employees must give written notice of their intent to resign or retire.  Failure to 

give timely written notice of resignation or retirement may result in forfeiture of non-vested City 

benefits, no payment for accrued vacation, and ineligibility for reemployment.  Notice 

requirements for retiring employees are found in 214: Retirement.  The following notices of 

resignation are required, unless waived or modified in writing by the City Administrator: 

 

(a) Department Directors and Division Managers must give at least four weeks' 

written notice of the last day work duties will be performed; 

 

(b) All other employees must give at least two weeks' notice of the last date that 

work duties will be performed. 

 

(2) Employees who are absent from work for three consecutive days without being 

excused or giving proper notice will be considered as having voluntarily quit.  Consideration 

may be given in unusual circumstances or the employee's incapacitation preventing notification. 

 

(3) In certain circumstances, the City may choose to require that employees leave 

employment immediately upon receipt of notice and employee will receive their pay until 

termination of notice period. 

 

(4) At the time of resignation, employees may be allowed to use all earned and accrued 

vacation time and compensatory time for the current year, in order to extend their effective 

termination date.  This practice will be allowed upon approval of the Department Director (or 

City Administrator if a director position) and Financial Services Division.  Accrued vacation 

time may not be used to extend the effective termination date.  Although vacation which is 

earned between the last date that work duties will be performed and the effective termination 

date may extend the effective termination date, vacation which is accrued during that time may 

not extend the effective termination date, but instead will be paid in a lump sum upon 

termination along with vacation that accrued prior to the last date that work duties were 

performed and earned but unused vacation. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 

162

ITEM 17.



7 

 

(13)     The termination of employment of qualifying veterans shall comply with Iowa 

Code § 35C.6. 

 

(143) Requests for employment references should be made in writing to the Financial 

Services Division and should include an authorization by the employee for the release of the 

requested information.   

 

      (154)   Termination and discharge procedures are only guidelines and do not create a 

legal contract between the City and its employees.  The City reserves the right to implement 

its Policies and Procedures as it sees fit. 

 
 

Explanation:  Clarified use of accrued vacation at termination.  Added a section 
regarding the termination of employment of veterans as a reminder. 
 
 

214:     RETIREMENT 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls that employees are eligible for normal 

retirement when satisfying the requirement of the Iowa Public Employee Retirement System 

(IPERS), or in the case of civil service police officers and firefighters when satisfying the 

requirements of the Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa (MFPRSI). 

 

Comment: 

 
(1) Employees who have been employed for at least five years may elect to vest their 

retirement with the City and may be eligible for retirement benefits upon reaching the age of 

fifty-five. 

 

(2)    Employees who choose to take normal retirement are requested to give the Financial 

Services Division as much advance notice of their intent as possible, but at least 90 days 

advance written notice is required.  Employees who have given notice of either normal or 

early retirement may be called upon to help in the training of their replacements. 

 

(a) The notice required in this policy is notice of the last date that work duties 

163

ITEM 17.



8 

 

will be performed. 

 

(b) Neither paid nor unpaid time off work may be used to satisfy the notice 

requirements set forth in this policy, unless employees are on an approved 

leave, or as approved in advance by the Department Director (or City 

Administrator if a director position). 

 

(c) At the time of retirement, employees may be allowed to use all earned and 

accrued vacation time and compensatory time for the current year, in order to 

extend their effective retirement date.  This practice will be allowed upon 

approval of the Department Director (or City Administrator if a director 

position) and the Financial Services Division.  Accrued vacation time may not 

be used to extend the effective retirement date.  Although vacation which is 

earned between the last date that work duties will be performed and the 

effective retirement date may extend the effective retirement date, vacation 

which is accrued during that time may not extend the effective retirement 

date, but instead will be paid in a lump sum upon retirement along with 

vacation that accrued prior to the last date that work duties were performed 

and earned but unused vacation. 

 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
Explanation:  Clarified use of accrued vacation at time of retirement. 

 
 

 

 

 

220:     OFFICE OF OMBUDSMAN 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls that all employees and officials are encouraged 

to disclose, to the extent not expressly prohibited by law, improper governmental actions.  Every 

employee and official has the right to report to the State Ombudsman information concerning an 

alleged improper governmental action. 

164

ITEM 17.



9 

 

 

Comment: 

 

(1)Improper Government Actions: Improper government action is any action by an 

employee or official in the performance of his/her duties that: 

 

(a) Is in violation of any federal, state or local law or rule; 

(b) Is an abuse of authority; 

(c) Is of substantial and specific danger to the public health or safety; 

(d) Is a gross waste of public funds 

 

Improper government action does not include personnel actions, including, but 

not limited to, employee grievances, complaints, appointments, promotions, transfers, 

assignments, reassignments, reinstatements, restorations, reemployments, performance 

evaluations, reductions in pay, dismissals, suspensions, demotions, violations of applicable 

collective bargaining and civil service laws, alleged labor agreement violations, reprimands, or 

any other personnel action taken under authority of state law. 

 

(2)  It is the purpose of this policy to provide employees and City officials with a means 

by which to report improper governmental action, to protect those employees and officials who 

make good-faith reports to appropriate governmental bodies and to ensure that there will be no 

retaliation for having made such reports.   

 

(3)   Pursuant to the Iowa Ombudsman Act, Iowa Code Chapter 2C, the State 

Ombudsman’s Office has authority to investigate complaints about improper action or inaction 

taken by governmental entities. The State Ombudsman’s Office is a non-partisan agency and can 

be contacted in any of the following ways: 

 

Telephone  Write or Visit 

(515)281-3592 Office of Ombudsman 

(888)426-6283 (toll-free nationwide) Ola Babcock Miller Building 

 1112 East Grand 

Fax: (515)242-6007 Des Moines, Iowa 50319 

  

TTY (Teletypewriter): (515)242-50654 Email: ombudsman@legis.iowa.gov  

 

165

ITEM 17.



10 

 

 
Explanation:  New policy to conform to state statute. 

 
 
307:     OVERTIME 
 
Policy: 

 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to pay overtime to non-exempt hourly employees when 

appropriate and required by the law.  The provisions of any applicable collective bargaining 

agreements shall apply and this policy shall not apply for any bargaining unit employees. 

 

Comment: 

 

 Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

             (10)   Extra Pay for Catastrophic Events, Natural Disasters, and other Exigent 

Circumstances: In the event grants are available, or there is a catastrophic event, natural disaster 

or other exigent circumstances that necessitate exempt employees working extraordinary hours, 

extra pay, which may or may not be computed on a time and a half basis, may be paid to these 

exempt employees, upon City Council approval.  Considerations by City Council will include, 

but are not limited to, whether the expense of the extra pay is reimbursable by the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency or some other governmental reimbursement program as well as 

the nature of the exigent circumstances and the duration of such events or circumstances. 

 

             (11)   Checking E-mail during off work hours.  Employees are not allowed to check 

email during off work hours unless a supervisor has approved such practice in advance and 

agreed to pay overtime. 
 

 

Amended  1/1/05 

 1/1/09 

 1/23/12 

 1/3/19 

 
Explanation:  addresses a concern that the language did not allow extra pay for routine 
duties under a grant program. 

 

166

ITEM 17.



11 

 

 

309:     SEVERANCE PAY 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide severance pay to qualifying 

terminating employees in accordance with the following guidelines: 

 

Comment: 

 

(1) Employees hired on or before July 1, 1983, have the sick leave severance program 

they elected in writing and filed with the Financial Services Division.  Non-union employees 

hired on or before July 1, 1983, have the option to elect the formula set forth in Comment #2 by 

filing a written election with the Financial Services Division no later than June 30, 2004. 

 

(2) Full-time employees hired after July 1, 1983, and before July 1, 1989, will be paid 

for unused sick leave remaining as of their termination date using the following formula: 

 

 0 – 720 hours remaining:  No severance pay 

 

 More than 720 hours but equal to or less than 1440 hours remaining:  100% 

payment for the hours remaining over 720 hours up to a maximum of 1440 

hours 

 

 More than 1440 hours remaining:  50% payment for the remaining hours 

 

 Examples:  400 hours remaining equals No severance pay 

 

1200 hours remaining equals 480 hours of severance pay:  

(1200 - 720 = 480 x 100% = 480) 

 

2000 hours remaining equals 1000 hours of severance pay:  

(50% x 2000 = 1000) 

 

(3) A “day” of unused sick leave for 8-hour work day employees is equal to 8 hours for 

purposes of this policy. 

 

(4) A “day” of unused sick leave for less than 8-hour work day employees is equal to 

167

ITEM 17.



12 

 

the hours normally worked for purposes of this policy. 

 

(5)    A “day” of unused sick leave for more than 8 hour work day employees is equal to 

8 hours for purposes of this policy.  This would include eligible 24 hourfire shift employees. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 

 

Amended 3/22/04 

 6/1/15 

 7/18/16 

 3/1/19 

 

 

Explanation:  Self-explanatory.  
 
 

 

401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE                  

AND DRIVING POLICY 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide vehicles for business use, to allow 

employees and elected and appointed officials to drive on City business, to reimburse employees 

for business use of personal vehicles, and to maintain standards for safety according to the 

guidelines below.  “Vehicles” for purposes of this policy includes “automobile” and 

“equipment.” 

 

Comment: 

 

1.  Vehicle Usage in General: 

 

168

ITEM 17.



13 

 

A. Employees may not drive vehicles for City business without the prior approval of 

their supervisor.  Before approving a driver, the supervisor must check the employee's driving 

record, verify the existence of a valid driver's license, and make sure the employee is eligible for 

coverage under any applicable City insurance. 

 

B. Employees holding jobs designated as requiring regular driving for business as a 

condition of employment must be able to meet the driver approval standards of this policy at all 

times.  In addition, such employees must inform their supervisors of any changes that may affect 

their ability to meet the standards of this policy.  For all other jobs, driving is considered only an 

incidental function of the position. 

 

C. City vehicles will be assigned to those departments which have demonstrated a 

continuing need for them.  Additional vehicles are maintained in a motor pool for use as needed. 

Rental cars also may be used by employees traveling out-of-town on City business, subject to 

supervisory approval. 

 

D. Employees who need transportation in the course of their normal work may be 

assigned a City vehicle for their use.  Employees who may be assigned a City vehicle include: 

City Administrator, Fire Chief, Community Development Director, Police Chief, Assistant 

Police Chief, Public Safety Services Director, Public WorksMunicipal Operations & Programs 

Director, Recreation & Programs Division Manager, Operations and Maintenance 

DivisionPublic Works/Parks Manager, Water Reclamation Division Manager, Sanitation Section 

Supervisor, Street Section Supervisor, Fleet Maintenance Supervisor, Waste Water Treatment 

Plant Supervisor,  Finance & Business Operations Director, Park Section Supervisor, Traffic 

Operations Supervisor and Building Maintenance Supervisor.  All other employees needing 

transportation for City business may use vehicles assigned to their department or those drawn 

from the motor pool.  As a last alternative, when no City vehicles are available, employees may 

use their own vehicles for business purposes, but only with the prior approval of their supervisor. 

 

E. Employees who drive a vehicle on City business must, in addition to meeting the 

approval requirements above, exercise due diligence to drive safely and to maintain security of 

the vehicle and its contents.  Drivers also must make sure that the vehicle meets any City or legal 

standards for insurance, maintenance, and safety.  Employees are responsible for any driving 

infractions or fines as a result of their driving. 

 

F. Employees are not permitted, under any circumstances, to operate a City vehicle, or 

a personal vehicle for City business, when any physical or mental impairment causes the 

employee to be unable to drive safely.  This prohibition includes, but is not limited to, 

circumstances in which the employee is temporarily unable to operate a vehicle safely or legally 

because of illness, medication, or intoxication.   

169

ITEM 17.



14 

 

 

G. To the extent possible, employees should avoid use of cellular phones, mobile 

devices, DVD players, laptops, ear buds, head phones, or other electronic devices, while driving 

and operating City vehicles and equipment.  When a cellular phone or mobile device must be 

used, employees should pull over to the side of the road until the call and/or message is 

completed.  In the alternative, employees should use hands-free cellular phone or mobile devices. 

There shall be no texting or sending electronic messages by employees while driving and 

operating City vehicles and equipment. 

 

H. There shall be no smoking in City vehicles. 

 

I.  Employees may not use City vehicles for non-business purposes except when such 

use is incidental to the business purpose such as when on or near the route of a business purpose, 

or for an authorized break, or and only with prior approval of the Department Director. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

4. Volunteers, Elected and Appointed Officials  Driving for City Business: 

 

A.   A volunteer or elected or appointed official for the City may be granted permission to 

use a City vehicle for City business under the following conditions: 

 

(1) The volunteer or elected or appointed official must be given permission by the 

Department Director or City Administrator, as the case may be. 

 

(2) Prior to driving a City vehicle the volunteer or elected or appointed official 

shall allow the City to make a copy of his/her driver’s license and upon review 

the City determines the volunteer or elected or appointed official has an 

acceptable driving history. 

 

B.   A volunteer or elected or appointed official for the City may be granted permission to 

use his/her personal vehicle for City volunteer dutiesbusiness under the following conditions: 

 

(1) The volunteer or elected or appointed official must be given permission by the 

Department Director or City Administrator, as the case may be. 

 

(2) Prior to driving a personal vehicle for City business the volunteer or elected or 

appointed official must provide the City with a copy of his/her insurance 

coverage; allow the City to make a copy of his/her driver’s license to 

170

ITEM 17.



15 

 

determine if the volunteer or elected or appointed official has an acceptable 

driving history; and sign a liability waiver.  

 

C.   The volunteer or elected or appointed official shall only drive for City business on 

assignments or duties directly authorized by the Department Director or City Administrator, as 

the case may be.  Mileage reimbursement, if applicable, may be paid upon approval by the 

Department Director.  The terms of this Policy 401 referring to employees also apply to 

volunteers and elected and appointed officials unless by their context they obviously do not 

apply. 

 

 
Amended  1/1/05  6/1/15 

  7/1/06  7/18/16 

  1/1/08  3/1/19 

  2/13/12 

  11/12/12   
 
 
Explanation:  Added provisions regarding elected and appointed officials traveling for 
city business.  The Forms will need to be changed accordingly. 
 
 

 
501:     INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 

Policy:   
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide eligible employees with certain 

insurance benefits.  For specific details of benefits, employees are referred to the insurance plan 

documents.   Provisions in plan documents take precedence over any statements in this policy. 

 

 

Comment: 
 

(1)  Health Insurance.  Health insurance is available to all full-time employees and their 

dependents (as defined by plan documents).  The City may pay a portion of the premium and the 

employee will pay, via payroll deduction authorized by the employee in writing, the remainder of 

the premium.  If, for any pay period, there are insufficient wages due and payable to the 

employee to cover the premium to be withheld, the employee must submit to the City, not later 

than the employees’ normal payday, the amount of premium owed by the employee.  If the 

171

ITEM 17.



16 

 

premiums for such health insurance are increased, or decreased, the City reserves the right to 

alter the share of premium cost to be paid by employees.  Prescription drug insurance is offered 

to employees covered by the health insurance plan.  Health and prescription drug dDeductibles 

and co-insurance payments for dependents will be paid by the employee.  Employee’s health and 

prescription drug deductibles and co-insurance payments may be reimbursed pursuant to a §105 

Plan and as determined by City Council and the collective bargaining process. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

 

 

(7)  Retirees Coverage.  Nothing in this Article shall be construed as preventing retired 

employees from voluntarily continuing in force, at their own expense, an existing contract for 

both the employees and their families for which they are qualified and as provided by law.  

Effective July 1, 2020, retirees will no longer be eligible for medical and prescription drug 

insurance and dental insurance coverage on the City’s group plans upon reaching the age of 65 or 

becoming eligible for Medicare, whichever occurs first. 

 

(8)   Scope of City Responsibility.  The City reserves the right to alter, modify or 

discontinue any of these insurance benefits at its sole discretion.  Employees should review 

insurance plan documents for full details concerning participation, coverage, limitations and 

filing of claims.  It is the employee’s responsibility to file claims properly and promptly.  The 

City is not responsible for or liable for the payment of any insurance benefits.  The City’s 

responsibility is limited to the payment of the necessary portion of premiums to purchase the 

insurance described in section (1) through (4).  It has no liability for the failure or refusal of the 

insurance carrier to honor an employee’s claim or to pay benefits and no such action on the part 

of the insurance carrier shall be attributable to the City.  No dispute arising under or relating to 

Insurance Benefits shall be subject to the Grievance Procedures, except an allegation that the 

City has failed to pay any portion of the premium required to purchase the insurance coverage. 

 

(9)   Workers’ Compensation Benefits and City’s Lien Against Third Parties. The 

City shall have the right to a lien or a credit for all workers’ compensation benefits paid to an 

employee that are the result of a third party’s actions. Iowa law provides that the City is entitled 

to a credit or lien for any and all workers’ compensation benefits against any payment received 

by an employee from a third party or its insurance carrier. If an employee receives any payments 

from a third party or their insurance carrier for injuries sustained while in the course of 

employment for the City, the employee must obtain written approval from the City prior to 

settlement of the claim with the third party.  Employees who are contacted by a third party or its 

insurance company in order to negotiate a settlement of their claim must inform their supervisor, 

Department Director (or City Administrator if a director)  and the City Attorney immediately. 

172

ITEM 17.



17 

 

 

 

Amended 1/23/12 

 6/1/15 

 3/1/19 

 

Explanation:  Addresses the fact that the City’s stop loss insurance does not cover 
retirees when they reach age 65. 

 

 

503:     HOLIDAYS 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to designate and observe certain days each year 

as holidays. Eligible employees will be given a day off with pay for each holiday observed. 

 

Comment: 

 

(1) The schedule of holidays the City will observe during each calendar year will be: 

 

 (a) New Year's Day; 

 

 (b) Good Friday; 

 

 (c) Memorial Day; 

 

 (d) Independence Day (July 4); 

 

 (e) Labor Day; 

 

 (f) Thanksgiving Day; 

 

 (g) Friday after Thanksgiving Day; 

 

 (h) Christmas Day; 

 

                  (i)     When Christmas Day falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday or Friday, Christmas 

Eve (December 24) will be observed as a holiday.  When Christmas Day falls on Thursday 

173

ITEM 17.



18 

 

the following Friday (December 26) will be observed as a holiday, and; 

                      (j) Three (3) Floating Holidays (see Comment #9 for eligibility, pro-rating and 

usage). 

 

(2)    Full-time employees are eligible to receive their regular rate of pay for each holiday. 

Part-time employees working on a consistent year-round basis are eligible to receive holiday pay 

only for holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (i) above.  Holiday pay for these part-

time employees will be paid on a pro rata basis, based upon the number of normal hours worked 

in a pay period. Part-time, non-union employees shall also receive three (3) floating holidays. 

Part-time, non-union employees’ floating holiday benefits will be paid on a pro rata basis based 

upon the number of hours actually worked in the prior year computed as of the fiscal year.    

Part-time employees on lay-off are not eligible to receive holiday pay.  Positions listed within the 

"Special Purpose & Seasonal Salary Schedule" and "Workshops/Sessions/Events Pay Plan" are 

not eligible for holiday pay benefits.  In addition, as defined by policy 211: Temporary and 

Part-time Employees, temporary and seasonal employees are not eligible for pro-rated holiday 

pay. 

 

(3) To receive holiday pay, an eligible employee must be at work, or on an authorized 

absence, on the workdays immediately preceding and immediately following the day on which 

the holiday is observed.  If an eligible employee is absent on one or both days because of illness 

or injury, the City reserves the right to verify the reason for the absence before approving holiday 

pay.  (See 205: Medical Procedures) 

 

 (4)   A holiday that occurs on a Saturday or Sunday generally will be observed by the 

City on either the preceding Friday or following Monday. 

 

(5)   The City recognizes that some employees may wish to observe, as periods of 

worship or commemoration, certain days which are not included in the City's regular holiday 

schedule.  Accordingly, employees who would like to take a day off for such reasons may be 

permitted to do so if the employee's absence from work will not result in an undue hardship on 

the conduct of the City's business and if the employee's supervisor approves.  Employees may 

use accumulated days of paid absence or "floating" holidays on such occasions, or they may take 

such time off as an unpaid, excused absence. 

 

(6)   The City may schedule work on an observed holiday as it deems necessary.  

Normally, work on an observed holiday will be paid as if it were a regularly scheduled day.  

Employees scheduled to work on a holiday will be given the option of receiving pay for the 

hours worked for the day plus their holiday pay, or employees may take another "floating" 

holiday equivalent to the hours worked, with the prior approval of their supervisor, at another 

174

ITEM 17.



19 

 

time during the same fiscal year.  See 307: Overtime Policy for holiday rates paid to employees 

not scheduled to work but called in to work on a holiday. 

 

(7)   Non-union police and public safety management shift employees assigned to 6-

3police shifts will not observe the holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (1) (j).  Instead, 

these employees will observe the same number of holidays as "floating" holidays.  However, the 

total number of such “floating” holidays shall not exceed eleven (11) in any fiscal year (90.75 

hours). 

 

(8)   Non-union fire and public safety management shift employees assigned to 24 

hourfire shifts will not observe the holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (1) (j).  

Instead, these employees will observe seven (7) holidays per fiscal year as "floating" holidays 

(168 hours). 

 

(9)   If a nNon-union public safety management shift employees is reassigned to a 

different shift, entitlement to holidays is shall be allowed to observe floating holidays in the 

same number as provided in the applicable collective bargaining agreement, police or fire, to 

union employees assigned to the same shift as the non-union public safety management shift 

employees.  Allowance for floating holidays is calculated or recalculated at the time of shift 

reassignment.  Such employee’s entitlement to holidays for the remainder of the fiscal year after 

reassignment is based upon the ratio that the number of holiday hours not taken prior to 

reassignment bears to the total number of holiday hours available in the fiscal year prior to 

reassignment.   This ratio is applied to the total number of holiday hours available in the same 

fiscal year in the new assignment.  If reassigned to non-shift, named holiday hours remaining in 

the fiscal year after reassignment shall be deducted from the total remaining holiday hours.  For 

example, if a non-union public safety management shift employee was assigned to a 6-3 shift 

and used 33 floating holiday hours, and then was reassigned to a 24 hour shift, such employee 

would have 106.9 hours of floating holiday remaining during the same fiscal year (90.75 - 33 = 

57.75/90.75 = .636 x 168 hours = 106.9 hours after rounding).  The same employee reassigned 

to non-shift on December 1 would have 24 floating holiday hours remaining, plus the remaining 

named holiday hours during the same fiscal year (90.75 – 33 = 57.75/90.75 = .636 x 88 = 

55.968, less 32 named holiday hours remaining in the fiscal year = 24 hours after rounding).  

For those non-union public safety management shift employees assigned to non-shift, total 

named holidays in a fiscal year may be as many as nine (9), depending upon the year as set forth 

in 1 (a) – (i) above.  For purposes of this policy the term “non-union public safety management 

shift employees” includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, police captains, police lieutenants, 

public safety supervisor captains and public safety supervisor lieutenants.  As an example, if a 

public safety supervisor captain is assigned to a fire shift, then the public safety supervisor 

175

ITEM 17.



20 

 

captain is allowed the same number of floating holidays as are provided in the fire collective 

bargaining agreement to union fire shift employees assigned to the same shift.  If the same 

public safety supervisor captain is reassigned to a police shift, then the number of floating 

holidays is recalculated at the time of reassignment to reflect the number of floating holidays 

allowed in the police collective bargaining agreement to union police shift employees assigned 

to the same shift.  Thus, in this example, if the fire collective bargaining agreement allows 7 

tour day floating holidays then the public safety supervisor captain would be allowed 7 tour day 

floating holidays during the fiscal year while assigned to the fire shift, or a pro-rated share 

thereof depending upon the date of assignment.  Upon reassignment to a police shift, assuming 

the police collective bargaining agreement allows for 11 total holidays, then the public safety 

supervisor captain would be allowed to observe 11 total holidays, or a pro-rated share thereof 

depending upon the date of reassignment, less the number of tour day floating holidays 

observed while assigned to the fire sift, during the same fiscal year.  Use of holidays, including 

floating holidays, shall be converted to hours regardless of the police or fire shift which the non-

union public safety management shift employee are assigned. 

  

(10)   Floating holidays may be taken by eligible employees any time after six (6) months 

of employment and after receiving approval of the division manager.   Floating holidays are 

pro-rated for eligible employees hired after the fiscal year begins. Eligible employees must take 

floating holidays on or after the date the fiscal year begins through the last day of the same 

fiscal year.  

Carryover of floating holidays will not be permitted unless otherwise specified by 

union contract or if an employee is hired during the second half of the fiscal year and the 

employee will not meet the six (6) month employment requirement.  In the latter case, the 

employee will be allowed to take their pro-rated floating holiday after he/she becomes eligible 

to take them, but must take them on or before the last day of the fiscal year in which they 

become eligible to take the pro-rated holiday.  If hired during the month of December, floating 

holiday hours may be carried over if approved by the Department Director. 

 

(11)   Veteran’s Day is not a City observed holiday: City will comply with Iowa Code 

91A.5A as follows: 

 

(a) Certain qualified veterans, if they otherwise would have been required to work 

on November 11, may be granted time off for that day unless it would impact 

public health or safety or would cause the City to experience significant 

economic or operational disruption.  Such time off shall be without pay, but the 

qualified veteran may use paid benefit time other than sick leave to cover such 

176

ITEM 17.



21 

 

absence. 

 

(b) The qualified veteran must provide written notice to the veteran’s supervisor of 

intent to take time off work at least 30 days prior to Veteran’s Day.  If 

requested, the veteran must provide to the City a federal certificate of release or 

discharge from active duty, or similar documentation for determining the 

veteran’s eligibility.  

 

(c) The City shall notify the requesting veteran at least 10 days prior to Veteran’s 

Day whether or not the requested time off work will be granted. 

 

 

Amended7/1/06 

1/1/08 

1/23/12 

3/1/19 

 

 

 

 

Explanation:  Eliminated references to “police” and “fire” shifts.  Revised policy for non-
union public safety supervisors. 

 

504:     EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide educational assistance to its 

employees in accordance with the guidelines established below.   

 

Comment: 

 

(1) Funding limitations may preclude the City from offering any educational assistance.  

The City reserves the right to alter, modify or discontinue this program at any time. 

 

(2) Employees, to be eligible for tuition reimbursement educational assistance, must 

177

ITEM 17.



22 

 

have regular full-time status and at least one year of service.  Educational assistance related to 

the employee’s present job and/or work relatedion licensure or certification may be provided to 

any employee even in the first year of employment if approved by employee’s manager and 

director.  Decisions on whether to grant educational assistance will be determined on an 

individual basis. 

 

(3) Eligible employees willmay be reimbursed or the City will directly pay only for 

courses of study which the City determines are directly related to the employee's present job, are 

required to maintain work related licensure or certification, or which will enhance the employee's 

current work performance.  These training and continuing education classes shall be approved by 

the employee’s manager and director prior to attendance.   In addition, the City is offering 

educational assistance that relates to the pursuit of a degree that may allow the employee or 

potential for advancement to a position within the City and to which the individual has a 

reasonable expectation of advancing.  In addition, courses or programs to be eligible for 

reimbursement must be offered by accredited institutions of learning or individuals, groups or 

organizations generally recognized as competent, authoritative and professional in their course 

offerings. 

 

(4) Employees who want tuition related educational assistance shall complete the 

Tuition Assistance Approval Form and must receive a positive recommendation from the 

employee’s managersupervisor and then obtain approval from the City’s educational assistance 

committee Department of Finance & Business Operations before enrollment.  Supervisors must 

note the obtain funding for the assistance before making a positive recommendation. 

 

(5) The City’s educational assistance committeeDepartment of Finance & Business 

Operations and supervisors normally are to consider the following factors in evaluating requests 

for educational assistance: 

 

(a) The nature and purpose of the course of study; 

 

(b) The benefits to be derived by the employee and the City; 

 

(c) The employee's level of responsibility and length of service; 

 

(d) The estimated cost;  

 

(e) Any potential lost time or productivity while the employee participates in the 

program; and 

 

(f) That adequate funding exists. 

178

ITEM 17.



23 

 

 

(6) In order to be reimbursed, the employee must successfully complete the course with  

a “C” or higher grade (or a “Passing” grade if a Pass/Fail class)passing grade, and if the course 

recognizes successful completion with an acknowledgement, certificate, license or diploma, the 

same must be attained by the employee.  In any case the employee shall be required to provide 

proof of successful completion.  The City may choose to make payment directly to the person or 

entity offering the course rather than reimburse the employee. 

 

 

(7) Employees may be required to enter into an agreement with the City which may 

impose conditions on reimbursement different than or in addition to those contained in this 

policy, at the sole discretion of the City. 

 

(8) Employees seeking reimbursement for tuition related educational expenses must 

first submit a Tuition Reimbursement form that has been approved by their manager and director 

submit to the Department of Finance & Business Operations,  a certified transcript of the grades 

and receipts for the expenses incurred.  The City will then reimburse to the employee the 

applicable percentage of the cost of tuition, textbooks, registration, and laboratory and library 

fees.  However, employees who take courses at the specific request or direction of management 

may be reimbursed for all costs in advance. 

 

      (9)  Employees who are terminated during enrollment because of a reduction in force or 

job elimination will be reimbursed for the full amount of the costs incurred up to the date of 

termination.  Employees who, prior to completing an approved course, voluntarily leave the City 

or are terminated for reasons other than those listed above will not be reimbursed for the 

expenses associated with the course. 

 

(10) If, within 48 months of receiving any tuition reimbursement, an employee 

voluntarily terminates his/her employment, or if employment is terminated for any act or failure 

to act that is in contravention of law, City policies, or if in the judgment of the City the employee 

is deemed unsuitable or unfit for employment, then the employee shall repayreimburse the City 

for the tuition reimbursement.  The amount repaidreimbursed to the City will be prorated by 

month based on the 48 months schedule.  For example, if an employee leaves after 24 months 

after receiving the reimbursement, they employee will be required to repayreimburse the City 

50% of the tuition reimbursementtotal cost (24/48months).  The employee shall repayreimburse 

the City through a payroll deduction and/or personal check.  The City may pursue 

repaymentreimbursement after the employee’s employment is terminated. The maximum amount 

of tuition related educational assistance the employee may apply for in a given calendar year is 

$5,250.  This coincides with the maximum non-taxable amount of tuition reimbursement allowed 

179

ITEM 17.



24 

 

under Federal Code.  Employees should refer to their state tax withholding laws for taxability of 

educational assistance. Employees seeking reimbursement for educational expenses must agree 

in writing to repay the City in full if they leave the City voluntarily or are terminated within one 

year from the date of reimbursement. 

 

(11) Employees are expected under normal circumstances to schedule class attendance 

and the completion of study assignments outside of their regular working hours.  (For 

educational leaves of absence, see 704: Leaves of Absence.)  It is expected that educational 

activities will not interfere with the employee's work, and unsatisfactory job performance during 

enrollment may result in forfeiture of educational assistance and termination of employment. 

 

(12) Records of all educational programs completed by each employee will be 

maintained by the Department of Finance & Business Operations. 

 

 

Amended 6/1/15 

  3/1/19 

  10/7/19 

 
 
 

505:     SERVICE AWARDS 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to recognize extended service to the City by 

presenting service awards to eligible employees in accordance with the guidelines set forth 

below. 

 

Comment: 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
(5)    All full-time and part-time employees, excluding special purpose and seasonal 

employees, are eligible to receive a watch upon the completion of fifteen (15) years of 

service.  If an employee waives eligibility for a watch upon completion of fifteen (15) 

years of service, the employee may elect to receive a watch on or before the employee’s 

retirement or resignation from employmentUpon retirement or resignation after at least 

fifteen (15) years of service, employees are eligible to receive a watch. 

 

180

ITEM 17.



25 

 

(6) Police Department employees, upon retirement or resignation after at least fifteen 

(15) years of service, are eligible to receive free their badge mounted on a 

plaque. 

 

(7) Tax consequences may occur with these service awards and are the sole 

responsibility of the employee. 

 

 
Amended  11/12/12 

  6/1/15 

 
 
 
Explanation:  Allows employees to wait to receive their 15 year watch until resignation 
or retirement.   
 

506:     VACATIONS 
 

Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant annual vacations with pay to full-time and 

part-time, non-union employees, excluding seasonal and special purpose employees, 

according to the guidelines below.  The provisions of any applicable collective bargaining 

agreement shall apply in place of the guidelines below. 

 

Comment: 

 

(1) Definitions.  For purposes of this Policy the following terms shall be given the 

meanings ascribed to them as follows: 

 

(a)“accrue” means to accumulate but not yet earn.  Vacation accrues based upon 

the ratio that the number of days since date of hire or the most recent anniversary date bears to 

the total number of days of vacation to be earned on the next anniversary date, calculated on a 

daily basis. 

 

(b)“earn” means to have available for use all accumulated vacation time.  

Vacation time is earned on the first anniversary after the date of hire, and on each anniversary 

date thereafter as provided in the guidelines below. 

 

181

ITEM 17.



26 

 

(2) Vacation Time Earned:  Unless otherwise specified by Union contract, all full-

time employees and part-time, non-union employees (other than seasonal and special purpose 

employees) will be granted vacations with pay on the following basis: 

 

   Completion of one year of service         Two work weeks 

   Completion of six years service             Three work weeks 

   Completion of twelve years service        Four work weeks 

   Completion of eighteen years service     Five work weeks 

 

   The number of weeks of vacation and the availability of those weeks may vary 

from the schedule above if other arrangements are made as a condition of employment as 

approved by the Department Director (or City Administrator if a director position).  For 

employees with any other arrangements made as a condition of employment, the schedule above 

shall be adjusted so that an additional work week of vacation shall be added to the vacation 

already granted at the completion of six years, twelve years and eighteen years of service, up to a 

maximum of five total weeks of vacation.  If a new employee leaves City employment for any 

reason and prior to the employee’s one-year anniversary date, any vacation time taken by the 

employee shall be paid back to the City in the form of a deduction from the employee’s final 

paycheck.  New employees who leave City employment prior to their one-year anniversary shall 

also not receive any accrued vacation benefits on their final paycheck.  

 

   Part-time, non-union employees’ vacation benefits will be earned on a pro rata 

basis based upon the number of hours actually worked in the prior year computed as of their 

anniversary date.  This calculation is as follows: actual hours worked/2080 hours per year.  

However, the maximum hours worked in the above calculation is 1508 even if the actual hours 

worked exceeds that amount. 

 

   Part-time, non-union employees whose status changes to full-time, non-union 

status shall be granted credit for all years of service in their part-time non-union positions for 

purposes of computing vacation time entitlement. Years of service as a part-time, union 

employee or special purpose/seasonal employee shall not be credited for purposes of computing 

vacation time entitlement.  

 

(3) Vacation Time Payment:  Vacation time earned will be figured on the basis of the 

employment year and shall include the total straight paid time the employee has worked for the 

City since the date of last employment anniversary.  Unless otherwise specified in a Union 

contract, when an employee has completed the probationary period and has passed the 

employee’s one year anniversary date, but employment with the City is terminated for any 

reason, said employee shall be compensated for earned but unused vacation time as well as 

accrued vacation time on the basis of the number of vacation days accrued   Military duty will be 

182

ITEM 17.



27 

 

figured as working time for calculating vacation accrual.  (See 707:  Military Leave.)  

Employees may not use accrued, but unearned, vacation time prior to their anniversary date 

except when special circumstances warrant and as approved by the Division Manager and 

Department Director (or City Administrator if a director position).  The City’s Risk Management 

committee may also approve the use of accrued, but unearned vacation time.  

 

(4) Non-union public safety management employees:   
(4)(5)  

(5)(6) (a)  Non-union public safety management shift employees assigned to a 6-3 shift 

shall accrue and earn vacation as follows: in the same manner as provided in the applicable 

collective bargaining agreement, police or fire, to union employees assigned to the same shift as 

the non-union public safety management shift employee.  Vacation accrual and earning is 

calculated or recalculated at the time of shift assignment.  For purposes of this policy the term 

“non-union public safety management shift employees” includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, 

police captains, police lieutenants, public safety supervisor captains and public safety supervisor 

lieutenants.  As an example, if a public safety supervisor captain is assigned to a fire shift, then 

the public safety supervisor captain accrues and earns vacation the same as provided in the fire 

collective bargaining agreement to union fire shift employees assigned to the same shift.  If the 

same public safety supervisor captain is reassigned to a police shift, then vacation is recalculated 

at the time of reassignment to reflect vacation accrued and earned by union police shift 

employees assigned to the same shift.  Thus, in this example, if the fire collective bargaining 

agreement grants 6 tour days of vacation at the completion of 6 years of service then the public 

safety supervisor captain would be granted 6 tour days of vacation upon the completion of 6 

years of service to be used during the employment year while assigned to the fire shift.  Upon 

reassignment to a police shift, assuming the police collective bargaining agreement grants 3 work 

weeks of vacation at the completion of 6 years of service, then the public safety supervisor 

captain would be granted 3 work weeks of vacation, or a pro-rated share thereof depending upon 

the date of reassignment, less the number of tour days of vacation taken while assigned to the fire 

shift, during the same employment year.  Use of vacation shall be converted to hours regardless 

of the police or fire shift to which the non-union public safety management shift employees are 

assigned. 

                         Completion of one year of service                2 work weeks (99 hours) 

                         Completion of six years of service               3 work weeks (148.5 hours) 

                         Completion of twelve years of service         4 work weeks (198 hours) 

                         Completion of eighteen years of service      5 work weeks (247.5 hours) 

 

The only exception to this policy is that for non-union public safety management shift employees 

assigned to a police shift, four work weeks of vacation shall be granted after twelve years of 

service, and not after eleven years of service as provided in the police collective bargaining 

agreement. 

183

ITEM 17.



28 

 

 

                        (b)  Non-union public safety management shift employees assigned to a 24 hour 

shift shall accrue and earn vacation as follows: 

 

                         Completion of one year of service                6 tour days (144 hours) 

                         Completion of seven years of service           9 tour days (216 hours) 

                         Completion of twelve years of service         12 tour days (288 hours) 

                         Completion of twenty years of service         15 tour days (360 hours) 

 

                        (c)  If a non-union public safety management shift employee is reassigned to a 

different shift, entitlement to vacation is recalculated at the time of shift reassignment.  Such 

employee’s entitlement to vacation for the remainder of the year after reassignment is based 

upon the ratio that the hours of vacation remaining prior to reassignment bear to the total number 

of vacation hours available prior to reassignment.  That ratio is applied to the total number of 

vacation hours available for the entire year in the new assignment.  For example, a non-union 

public safety management shift employee assigned to a 6-3 shift who is in his or her 4
th

 year of 

service and who has used 20 hours of vacation and is reassigned to a 24 hour shift is entitled to 

108.9 additional hours of vacation for the remainder of the year (99 – 24 = 75/99 = .756 x 144 = 

108.9 hours after rounding).  For purposes of this policy in the event of reassignment, entitlement 

to vacation shall not be reduced, even if years of completion of service would suggest fewer 

weeks in the employee’s current shift.   

 

 

(5)    Vacation Requests:  Employees will request vacation periods giving a first and 

second choice.  Division Managers or Department Directors will respect wishes of the 

employees insofar as needs of the City and service will permit.  Division seniority shall 

govern in the choice of vacation periods, provided such choice has been exercised 

between January 1
st
 and March 30

th
 annually.  Vacations shall be limited to one-week 

increments unless otherwise approved by the Department Director. 

 

(6)    Vacation Accumulation:  Vacation time shall not accumulate from year to year and 

annual leave must be used by the end of the employment year following the anniversary 

date on which it was earned, unless the application for vacation has been refused or the 

extension is approved as provided in Comment (7). 

 

(7)    Vacation Carryover Guidelines:  Any carryover of vacation shall be administered 

as follows: 

 

(a) City Administrator, Directors, Managers, Police Captains, and  Fire 

Battalion Chiefs:  City Administrator, Department Directors, Division 

184

ITEM 17.



29 

 

Managers, Public Safety Supervisor Captains, Police Captains, and Fire 

Battalion Chiefs may carryover one full year of earned vacation, for one 

year past the employee’s anniversary date.  If the vacation is unused 

following the end of the one-year period, the vacation will be voided.   

 

(b) All Other Employees:  An employee may carryover up to five (5) work 

days or one workweek (49.5 hours if a 6-3 shift; 72 hours if a 24 hour 

shift) of vacation past the employee’s anniversary date.  If vacation is 

unused following the end of the three-month carry-over period, the 

vacation will be voided. Under unusual circumstances, such as certain 

serious medical conditions, and with the prior approval of the City’s Risk 

Management Committee, extensions beyond those set forth in this 

subsection (b) may be allowed. 

 

(8)    Maximum Paid Vacation Periods.  The maximum paid vacation leave an 

employee can take at any time cannot exceed five (5) times the number of workdays in 

the employee’s workweek. 

 

(9)    Minimum Vacation Requirements.  Vacations for periods of less than one-half 

(1/2) hour or as established by department policy, shall not be granted. 

 

(10)   Approval of Vacation.  Requests for vacation days shall be submitted in writing to 

the Department Director or Division Manager and approved at least twenty-four (24) 

hours prior to the beginning of the vacation unless mutual agreement has been reached 

between the employee and the Department Director. 

 

 
Amended  1/1/05 

  7/1/06 

  1/1/08 

  11/25/13 

  6/1/15 

  7/18/16 

  3/1/19 

 
 
 

185

ITEM 17.



30 

 

Explanation:  Specified non-union public safety supervisor vacation and addressed 
transfer of shifts. 
 
 
704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant employees extended leaves of absence under 

certain circumstances.  Except as stated below, employees will not receive compensation during 

a leave of absence.  

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
  
 

FMLA and other leaves of absenceWorkers’ Compensation and Police/Fire Disability:  
Employees who are on any approved leave of absence, whether work related or not, who also 

qualify for FMLA leaveworkers’ compensation leave or police/fire disability leave shall be 

required to use FMLA leave concurrently with such other leave of absence. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 

 

(2) Other Leaves of Absences:  Employees generally are eligible for leaves of absence if they 

have completed at least twelve months of service, or as specified by law.   The granting and 

duration of each leave of absence and the compensation received by the employee, if any, during 

the leave of absence will be determined by the City in conjunction with applicable federal and 

state law and in accordance with the City’s best interest.  The following types of leaves will be 

considered: 

 

(a) Pregnancy not covered under FMLA:  Pregnant employees who are not eligible for 

FMLA leave shall be granted a leave of absence for the period that the employee is 

disabled because of the pregnancy, childbirth or other related medical conditions, or 

for eight weeks as provided by Iowa law, whichever is less.     

   

(b) Other sick leave not covered under FMLA: See Policy 706: Sick Leave 

 

(c) Personal Leave of Absence:  Employees may be granted a leave of absence to attend 

to personal matters in cases in which the City determines that an extended period of 

186

ITEM 17.



31 

 

time away from the job will be in the best interests of the employee and the City. 

 

(d) Military Leave of Absence:  A military leave of absence will be granted if an 

employee is absent in order to serve in the uniformed services of the United States for 

a period of up to five years (not including certain involuntary extensions of service).  

Employees who perform and return from service in the Armed Forces, the Military 

Reserves, the National Guard, or certain Public Health Service positions will retain 

certain legislated rights with respect to reinstatement, seniority, layoffs, 

compensation, and length of service pay increases as required by applicable federal or 

state law.  Employees will be protected against a loss of income as a result of 

participation in annual encampment or training duty in the U.S. Military Reserves or 

the National Guard.  In these circumstances, the City will continue to pay an 

employee their normal straight-time pay on the job, as required and set forth in state 

law.  (See 707: Military Leave) 

  

(e) Educational Leave of Absence:  Employees who want to continue their education in 

preparation for added responsibilities with the City may be granted an educational 

leave of absence, if in accordance with the City’s best interest and at the discretion of 

management. 

 

(f) Public Office Leave of Absence:  Employees who are candidates for municipal, 

county, state, or federal office shall be granted leave upon request for the period from 

30 days or less prior to a contested primary, special or general election, until the day 

after the election.  Employees who are elected or appointed to public office shall be 

granted leave for such public office upon request.  Public office leaves of absence 

shall be without pay. 

 

(g) Bereavement Leave:  Full-time and permanent part-time employees may be allowed 

up to five (5) working days absence with pay in case of the death of a member of the 

employee’s immediate family.  For the purpose of this policy "immediate family" 

includes the employee's spouse, brother, sister, father, mother, children, step parent, 

step children, step brother, step sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, 

daughter-in-law, and any person residing in the employee's household. 

 

In the event of the death of a brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent or grandchild 

of the employee or the employee’s spouse, the employee is allowed up to three (3) 

working days absence with pay. 

 

Bereavement leave absences are intended to include all travel.  However, in 

circumstances involving unusually long traveling distances, department directors may 

187

ITEM 17.



32 

 

extend bereavement absences up to three (3) additional days with pay. 

 

To qualify for bereavement leave pay, an employee must be employed with the City 

for six (6) months preceding the first day of bereavement leave, and be eligible to 

receive regular earnings immediately preceding and following the bereavement 

period. 

 

A Division Manager may approve bereavement leave for employees with less than six 

months of tenure. 

 

Bereavement leave shall not be taken in less than one day increments. 

 

Non-union public safety management shift employees shall be allowed bereavement 

leave as set forth in this policy regardless of the shift to which they are assigned.  For 

purposes of this policy for such employees, the term “working days” means one 

calendar day regardless of the number of hours scheduled.  Transfer of such 

employees while on bereavement leave shall not affect entitlement to such leave.in 

the same number as provided in the applicable collective bargaining agreement, 

police or fire, to union employees assigned to the same shift as the non-union public 

safety management shift employees.  Allowance for bereavement leave is calculated 

at the time of shift assignment.  For purposes of this policy the term “non-union 

public safety management shift employees” includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, 

police captains, police lieutenants, public safety supervisor captains and public safety 

supervisor lieutenants.  As an example, if a public safety supervisor captain is 

assigned to a fire shift, then the public safety supervisor captain is allowed the same 

bereavement leave as provided in the fire collective bargaining agreement to union 

fire shift employees assigned to the same shift.  If the same public safety supervisor 

captain is reassigned to a police shift, then bereavement leave is recalculated at the 

time of reassignment to reflect the bereavement leave granted in the police collective 

bargaining agreement to union police shift employees assigned to the same shift.  

Thus in this example, if the fire collective bargaining agreement allows 5 calendar 

days of bereavement leave for the death of a spouse, then the public safety supervisor 

captain would be allowed 5 calendar days of bereavement leave for the death of  a 

spouse while assigned to the fire shift.  Upon reassignment to a police shift, assuming 

the police collective bargaining agreement allows for one work week of bereavement 

leave for the death of a spouse, then the public safety supervisor captain would be 

granted one work week of bereavement leave for the death of the employee’s spouse, 

less the number of calendar days of bereavement leave taken while assigned to the 

fire shift.  Use of bereavement leave shall be converted to hours regardless of the 

police or fire shift to which the non-union public safety management shift employees 

188

ITEM 17.



33 

 

are assigned. 

 

                  (h)  Workers’ Compensation: Employees who are injured in the course of their 

employment with the City shall receive benefits and leave in accordance with 

Iowa Code Chapter 85 or as allowed under Risk Management Policy 2012-009. 

 

                   (i)   Police/Fire Disability Leave:  Eligible public safety department personnel may 

be granted leave for duty related conditions in accordance with Iowa Code 

Chapter 411. 

 

(3) Requests for a leave of absence or any extension of a leave should be submitted in writing to 

the employee's Department Director thirty days prior to commencement of the leave period, 

or as soon as is practicable.  The final decision concerning the request will be made by the 

Department Director, after consultation with the Finance & Business Operations 

Department.  All employees on approved leave are expected to report any change of status 

in their need for a leave or their intention to return to work to their Department Director.  

 

(4) Employees who are on an approved leave of absence may not perform work for any other 

employer during that leave, except when the leave is for military, public service, or 

otherwise as permitted by law.  

 

(5) Use of paid benefit time and other benefits while on leave: 

 

a. Every employee on a sick leave or family care leave of absence will be required to 

use all floating holidays, vacation, compensatory time, sick leave/casual days, and 

sick days while on leave.  Earned benefit time shall be used until exhausted. prior to 

the use of Use of accrued, but unearned vacation may then be used when special 

circumstances warrant and as approved.  (See 506:  Vacations)  If all benefit time has 

been exhausted, the employee may be subject to termination of employment. 

 

i. Emergency response exception: Employees who require a medical absence for an 

injury arising out of service as a volunteer fire fighter or emergency medical 

responder during a period of an emergency response may choose to take the medical 

leave as unpaid up to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks; and shall not be required to 

use accrued paid leave (sick, vacation or comp time) for medical absence as a result 

of the injury.  After twelve (12) weeks of unpaid leave the employee shall be required 

to take paid benefit time as defined in this section.  The employee shall still be 

required to follow all other policies and rules of the City related to medical leave and 

FMLA.   

 

189

ITEM 17.



34 

 

 

b. Employees who are covered by the City's disability or workers' compensation 

insurance, and are therefore already receiving compensation, may not use any other 

paid leave.   

 

c. Every employee on a personal or educational leave of absence will be required to use 

all compensatory time, floating holidays and vacation days while on leave.  Earned 

benefit time shall be used until exhausted prior to the use of accrued, but unearned 

vacation. 

 

d. Employees who are candidates for public office must use earned paid benefit time 

during the public service leave of absence.  Employees who are elected or appointed 

to a position entitling them to a public service leave of absence may, if they choose, 

use earned paid benefit time during the leave.  If earned paid benefit time is exhausted 

during a public office leave of absence, or if eligible employees choose not to use 

paid benefit time, the leave or remainder of the leave shall be without pay.   

 

e. The City will provide health insurance and other benefits to employees on leave as 

required by law.  No paid benefit time shall accrue during periods of unpaid leave and 

approved paid leave, unless otherwise specified by union contract.  

 

f. Holiday pay (named and floating holidays) will be included for purposes of 

calculating FMLA leave time, unless prohibited by law. 

 

g. Policies related to required use and carry over of paid benefit time shall apply when 

employees are on leaves of absence. 

 

g.h.   Availability of paid benefit time is no guarantee of continued employment. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space.   
 

 
Amended  1/1/05 

  7/1/06 

  1/1/09 

  4/09 

  1/23/12 

  2/13/12 

  11/12/12 

  11/25/13 

  6/1/15 

190

ITEM 17.



35 

 

  3/1/19 

 

Explanation:  Bereavement leave simplified for non-union public safety supervisors.  
The differences between shifts and in comparison to 5-2 or non-shift, is not worth trying 
to differentiate in the opinion of HR.  Also a reference is made to the Vacation policy to 
allow for use of accrued but unearned vacation. 
 
 

706:     SICK LEAVE 
 

Policy: 

 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant its full-time employees and part-time 

non-union employees (excluding seasonal and special purpose) paid sick leave during times of 

incapacitation for work in accordance with the procedures below. 
 

 

Comment: 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
(4)  Non-FMLA Extended Family and Medical Leave.  An employee who is sick or injured and 

unable to work, or who has an immediate family member who is sick or injured and requires 

the care of the employee, or in the event of the birth of a child or placement with the 

employee of a child for adoption or foster care, which will result in absence from work for 

two consecutive weeks or more, may be granted a leave of absence if the employee does not 

qualify for FMLA leave, if work conditions and other circumstances permit.  If the need for 

leave is foreseeable, the employee is required to provide at least thirty (30) days advance 

notice to the employee’s supervisor of the need for leave.  When such long term non-

FMLAsick leave is unforeseeable, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable 

and generally must comply with the City’s normal call-in procedures until extended leave is 

granted.  Approval for such leave must be granted by management and by the City’s Risk 

Management Committee.  An immediate family member for purposes of this policy means 

spouse, child or parent of the employee.  Except for the birth of a child or placement with the 

employee of a child for adoption or foster care, aAn employee on extended family or medical 

leave shall provide as soon as practicable a certification from a health care provider stating 

that the condition prevents the employee from performing the essential functions of the 

employee’s job, or if applicable, supporting the need for leave to care for the immediate 

family member.  The length of any such leave will be governed by individual circumstances, 

but in no event shall such extended leave exceed twelve weeks in any twelve month period.  

191

ITEM 17.



36 

 

At least 72 hours’ notice is required in advance of the employee’s return to work date, unless 

this requirement is waived by the employee’s supervisor and by the Financial Services 

Division. 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
           (6)  Use of Paid Benefits After Sick Leave is Exhausted.  If any earned paid benefit time 

remains after sick leave benefits have been exhausted, such earned paid benefit time shall 

then be used until exhausted.  Accrued but unearned vacation may then be used when 

special circumstances warrant and as approved (See 506:Vacations), then accrued 

vacation benefits may be used until exhausted. 
 

 

(7)  Substantiation of Sick Leave.  At the discretion of the department head, sick leave 

covering a period in excess of two (2) working days must be substantiated by a written 

statement from a member of the medical profession, stating the nature of the sickness or 

injury, and that the employee is again physically able to perform their duties.  (See 701: 

Attendance and Punctuality and 205: Medical Procedures Policies.) 

 

(8)  Injury On-The-Job and Return to Work.  Any employee who is injured on the job 

will not be allowed to return to work until the Legal Services Division is presented with a 

written statement from a member of the medical profession stating that the employee is 

able to perform the essential functions of the job as the same may be temporarily 

modified.  All accidents and injuries must be reported to the employee’s supervisor 

immediately. 

 

(9)  Other Injuries/Illnesses and Return to Work.  Employees who have had a non-

occupational illness or injury will not be allowed to return to work unless the Legal 

Services Division is presented with a written statement from a member of the medical 

profession stating that the employee is able to perform the essential functions of the job 

as the same may be temporarily modified, depending upon the needs of the position and 

the nature and extent of any activity restrictions.  Any temporary assignments under this 

policy must have the prior approval of the City’s Risk Management Committee.  

Employees may be required to complete a fitness for duty exam by the City’s health care 

provider before returning to work in any capacity.  (See also 704: Leaves of Absence). 

 

(10)  Abuse of Sick Leave.  Employees who abuse sick leave shall be subject to 

discipline, up to and including termination. 

 

192

ITEM 17.



37 

 

(11)  Sick Leave Accumulation and Accrual.  (See 309: Severance Pay.)  No lump sum 

payment may be made for unused sick leave, except as provided in 309: Severance Pay, 

to qualifying employees. 

 

(12)  Non-Union Public Safety Personnel.  Non-union public safety management shift 

employees assigned to a 6-3 shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  8.25 hours 

for each month of employment on the shift.  Non-union public safety management shift 

employees assigned to a 24 hour shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  24 

hours for each month of employment on the shift.  Non-union public safety shift 

management employees assigned to non-shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  

8 hours for each month of employment on the non-shift.in the same manner as provided 

in the applicable collective bargaining agreement, police or fire, to union employees 

assigned to the same shift as the non-union public safety management shift employees.  

Sick leave accrual and earning is calculated or recalculated at the time of shift assignment 

and only completed months of employment are included in such calculation or 

recalculation.  For purposes of this policy the term “non-union public safety management 

shift employees” includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, police captains, police 

lieutenants, public safety supervisor captains and public safety supervisor lieutenants.  

Use of sick leave shall be converted to hours regardless of the police or fire shift to which 

the non-union public safety management shift employees are assigned.  Use of sick leave 

shall be as provided in this policy. 

 

 

Amended 3/22/04 

1/1/05 

7/1/06 

6/1/15 

3/1/19 

 

 

Explanation:  Conformed use of accrued but unearned vacation to leave policy and 
referred to Policy 506.  Revised sick leave policy for non-union public safety shift 
supervisors.  No need to recite beginning of employment accruals because these are 
promotional positions.  Also clarified use of non-FMLA leave for the birth, adoption or 
foster placement of a child. 
 

805:     MOBILE DEVICE ALLOWANCES  

 

193

ITEM 17.



38 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide for the use of cellular telephones and other 

mobile devices by certain employees and elected officials. 
 

Comment: 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
 

(1) Monthly Allowance: 

 

(a) The mobile device used will be the personal property of the employee or 

official and therefore the employee or official will be responsible for the 

capital cost of the device and the decision whether to carry insurance on the 

device at the employee or official’s own expense. The employee or official, at 

his or her own expense, may add extra services or equipment features as 

desired. 

 

(b) The monthly allowance shall be in the amount set forth in the Accounting 

Policies & Procedures and Purchasing Manual.$35. This amount includes a $5 

monthly equipment allowance as described below. These employees and 

officials must be on call 24 hours, 7 days a week unless on authorized leave or 

vacation. If an employee or official who is provided a mobile device 

allowance chooses to turn the device off during off-duty hours or chooses to 

not answer the device, he or she may lose the allowance and discipline may 

occur. 

 

(c) Additional specified employees that have been designated by their 

Department Director, that are required to carry a mobile device due to the fact 

that they are heavy daily users, will also receive an allowance. This allowance 

shall be in the amount set forth in the Accounting Policies & Procedures and 

Purchasing Manualmay range from $10 to $35 per month, depending on the 

employee's job requirements. This amount includes the $5 monthly equipment 

allowance as described below. These employees will be required to have the 

device on at all times for City business while at work and if on call, 24 hours, 

7 days a week. If they do not have the device on or choose to not answer the 

device, they may lose their allowance and discipline may occur. 

 

194

ITEM 17.



39 

 

(d) The allowance amount shall not exceed the actual cost the employee or 

official is paying for the employee’s or official’s cellular service. If the cost is 

not over $30, the employee or official will only be reimbursed up to the actual 

amount paid. 

 

(e) The equipment allowance for each employee or official shall be in the amount 

set forth in the Accounting Policies & Procedures and Purchasing Manualwill 

be $5 per month. This equipment allowance can be used by the employee or 

official for the cost of the phone or the cost of accessories (chargers, belts, 

clips, etc.). 

 

(f) Employees and officials receiving the allowance will be allowed to make and 

receive personal calls on the mobile device since it is the employee's or 

official’s personal property. However, these personal calls shall not interfere 

with work, as already provided by city policy. 

 

(g) A cellular telephone authorization form shall be completed by the employee 

and reviewed and signed by the Division Manager (if applicable) and 

Department Director. The completed form shall then be forwarded to the 

Controller/City Treasurer. 

 

(h) The allowance shall continue until the Controller/City Treasurer is notified in 

writing by the Department Director to discontinue the allowance or until the 

time that the employee’s employment with the City is terminated. 

 

(i) The employees and officials receiving the monthly allowance must notify his 

or her own supervisor and the Controller/City Treasurer each time the mobile 

device number or mobile device provider is changed. 

 

(j) Initially, the employee or official will be required to submit documentation 

verifying the mobile device number and the cost of the plan to ensure that the 

allowance does not exceed the cost of the plan amount. If an employee or 

official changes the device number, he or she shall be required to notify 

Financial Services immediately and provide the appropriate documentation. 

 

(k) The $35 allowance has been determined to cover the cost of a basic plan. On a 

periodic basis, the Financial Services Division will review the allowance 

amount to ensure that it is a reasonable. The allowance will be added to the 

second payroll of each month. 

 

195

ITEM 17.



40 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
 
Adopted: 6/1/15 

Amended: 7/18/16 

 3/1/19 

 

Explanation:  Removed specific amounts and instead referred to the Purchasing manual 
in order to allow flexibility in payments. 

 

 

901:     PERSONNEL RECORDS 

 

Policy: 
 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
(8)  For purposes of health insurance, employees must notify the Financial Services 
Division in writing within 30 days of any changes in at least the following: 
     (a)  birth, adoption or placement for adoption of a child 
     (b)  divorce, legal separation, or annulment 
     (c)  employee’s dependent child loses eligibility for health insurance coverage 
     (d)  employee loses eligibility for coverage under Medicaid or the CHIP program 

(hawk-I plan) 
     (e)  employee becomes eligible for premium assistance under Medicaid or CHIP  
 
 
Explanation:  Added notification requirements for purposes of health insurance.   
  
 
 

903:     GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls that employees should have an opportunity to 

present their work-related complaints and to appeal management decisions through a dispute 

resolution or grievance procedure.  The City will attempt to resolve promptly all grievances that 

are appropriate for handling under this policy. 

196

ITEM 17.



41 

 

 

Comment: 

 
(1)  An appropriate grievance is defined as an employee's expressed dissatisfaction 

concerning any interpretation or application of a work-related policy by management, 

supervisors, or other employees.  Examples of matters that may be considered appropriate 

grievances under this policy include: 

 

(a) A belief that City policies, practices, rules, regulations, or procedures have 

been applied in a manner arbitrarily detrimental to an employee; 

 

(b) Treatment considered unfair by an employee, such a coercion, reprisal, 

harassment, or intimidation; 

 

(c) Alleged discrimination because of race, color, sex, age, religion, national 

origin, military status, or disability; and 

 

(d) Improper or unfair administration of employee benefits or conditions of 

employment such as scheduling, vacations, fringe benefits, promotions, 

holidays,  job classification, pay band assignment, or seniority. 

 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
              (3)    Employees should notify the City, in a timely fashion, of any grievance considered 

appropriate for handling under this policy.  The grievance procedure is the exclusive remedy for 

employees with appropriate grievances.  However, if an employee files a claim with the civil 

service commission based upon the same facts and circumstances, any grievance brought under 

this policy shall be immediately dismissed with no further action taken by the City.  

 
 Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
                   

                   (c)      Step Three – Within five working days of receipt of the Department 

Director’s response, the employee may appeal the decision to the Grievance 

Panel.  The Grievance Panel shall consist of the Mayor, the City 

Administrator, and all Department Directors, or the Department Director’s 

designated alternate, with the exception of the Department Director involved 

in the grievance.  The Grievance Panel shallwill hold a hearing within 10 

business days of receipt of the appeal, unless the time period is extended by 

the Grievance Panel for good causeon a date at the earliest convenience of all 

197

ITEM 17.



42 

 

parties.  The Grievance Panel will take the necessary steps to review and 

investigate the grievance and will issue a written, final and binding decision 

based upon the majority vote of those Panel members who heard the appeal.  

If the grievance is filed by the City Administrator, it shall move directly to 

Step 4. 

 

(c) Step Four – Within five working days of receipt of the Grievance Panel’s 

response, the employee may appeal the decision to the Administration 

Committee of the City Council.  The Administration Committee shallwill hold 

a hearing within fifteen business days of receipt of the appeal, unless the time 

period is extended by the Administration Committee Chair for good causeon a 

date at the earliest convenience of all parties.  The Administration Committee 

will take the necessary steps to review and investigate the grievance and will 

issue a written, final, and binding decision. 

 

 

 

Provisions not included in the interest of space. 
 
                    (f)     Closed Session:  The grievance hearings in Step Three and Step Four may be 

closed pursuant to Iowa Code § 21.5(1)(i).  The closed session will only be 

held upon an affirmative public vote of either two-thirds of the members of the 

body or all the members present at a meeting.  A closed session may be held 

only to the extent it is necessary to evaluate the professional competency of an 

individual whose appointment, hiring, performance or discharge is being 

considered when necessary to prevent needless and irreparable injury to that 

individual’s reputation and that individual requests a closed session. 

 

 
Provisions not included in the interest of space. 

 

Amended 7/1/06 

6/1/15 

3/1/19 

Explanation:  Step Three of the grievance process does not involve a meeting subject to 

198

ITEM 17.



43 

 

Chapter 21 of the Iowa Code, and in fact the meeting should remain confidential under 
the City’s Personnel Policies, so the reference to Step Three was eliminated.  Also 
clarified what happens if a civil service claim is made. 
 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  

199

ITEM 17.



203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
Policy: 
 
 It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to maintain a workplace that is free from the 
effects of drug and alcohol abuse.  Employees are expected to report to work in a mental and 
physical condition capable of performing their duties. 
 
 Within the framework of State and Federal law, it is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls 
to conduct drug and alcohol testing of all applicants for full-time positions. The City may, at its 
own discretion, require testing of selected full-time, temporary and part-time positions.  The City 
recognizes that drug and alcohol abuse can pose a serious threat to employees, and others, and 
establishes this policy to help maintain a safe, healthy, injury-free work environment. 
 
Comments: 
 
1. PURPOSE 
 

a. The purpose of this policy is to institute and maintain a program for achieving the 
objective of a drug-free work force and to provide a workplace that is free from the 
illegal manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, sale, and use of illegal drugs 
(with the exception of legitimate police activities such as properly maintaining evidence 
on City premises). 

 
The City of Cedar Falls values its employees and recognizes their need for a safe and 
healthy work environment.  Establishment of a drug-free policy is consistent with the 
City’s desired culture and is in the best interest of the City of Cedar Falls.  The use of 
illegal drugs and controlled substance abuse, on or off duty, is inconsistent with the law-
abiding behavior expected of all citizens.  In addition, illegal drug use and controlled 
substance abuse inflicts a terrible toll on the Nation’s productive resources and the health 
and well being of workers.  Employees who use illegal drugs or are engaged with 
controlled substances on or off duty tend to be less safe, less productive, less reliable, and 
are prone to greater absenteeism, resulting in the potential for increased cost, delay, and 
risk in the City’s business.  Employees of the City of Cedar Falls have the right to work 
in a drug-free environment.  For these reasons, the City of Cedar Falls will not tolerate 
illegal drug use, sale, or possession, or controlled substance abuse by its employees. 

 
b. The City of Cedar Falls is committed to maintaining a safe workplace free from the 

influence of illegal drugs and controlled substance abuse.  In addition, the City will 
comply with the requirements of the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988, the drug-free 
work force rules promulgated by the U.S. Department of Defense, U.S. Department of 
Transportation, and all other Federal agencies as well as all other Federal, State, and 
local laws and regulations. 

 
c. In the event that Federal, State, local and/or applicable regulations are amended, this 

Policy shall be deemed to have been amended automatically at that time, without the 

200

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 2 

need for redrafting, in order to reflect and be consistent with Federal, State, local and/or 
applicable regulations.  In such case, the City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to apply 
the amended requirements immediately, and without giving prior notice to individuals 
covered by this policy, unless such notice is required by Federal, State, local and/or 
applicable regulations. 

 
d. The Department of Transportation (DOT)/Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration 

(FMCSA) drug and alcohol testing requirements were established to help prevent 
accidents and injuries resulting from the misuse of alcohol or use of controlled 
substances by drivers of commercial motor vehicles. 

 
The City of Cedar Falls recognizes that the use and abuse of drugs and alcohol pose a 
very serious threat to the health, safety, and well being of the organization and our 
community.  Substance abuse jeopardizes the safety of our roadways and workplaces 
causing serious accidents and casualties.  The DOT/FMCSA has issued regulations that 
govern the use of drugs and alcohol by commercial motor vehicle drivers, and which also 
require the City to conduct mandatory drug and alcohol testing of driver/driver applicant 
at the times and under the conditions described in this Policy. 

 
It is the City’s intention to comply fully with the DOT/FMCSA’s regulations as set forth 
in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Parts 382 and 40 governing drug and alcohol 
use and testing.  The requirements of DOT/FMCSA’s regulations have been incorporated 
into this Policy. 

 
e. No part of this Policy or any of the procedures hereunder, is however, intended to limit 

the City’s right to manage its workplace or discipline its employees.  Nor is it a guarantee 
of employment, continued employment, or of terms or conditions of employment. 
 

2. SCOPE 
 
a. This policy applies consistently to all groups of employees unless specified otherwise.  

Some groups of employees (such as DOT drivers and DOT driver-applicants) are subject 
to additional requirements or are exempted from other requirements as regulated by 
Federal, State, local and/or applicable laws.   

  
b. DOT/FMCSA Programs 

 
(1) Employees who hold a Commercial Drivers License (CDL) and who operate a 

commercial motor vehicle (CMV), or prospective drivers referred to as DOT 
driver-applicants, are subject to DOT drug and alcohol testing regulations.  
Participation in the City’s controlled substances and alcohol testing program is a 
requirement of each DOT driver, and therefore is a condition of employment.  DOT 
drivers must be in compliance with all DOT drug and alcohol testing regulations 
while performing DOT safety-sensitive functions.  

 

201

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 3 

(2)  Periods of the workday when compliance is required under DOT drug and alcohol 
testing regulations include, but are not limited to, whenever a DOT driver is on 
duty, whenever a DOT driver is performing, or just about to perform a safety-
sensitive function; and whenever a driver is otherwise engaged in City business.  
City business includes, but is not limited to: 

 
(a) Work performed on or in City property including a City vehicle; 
 
(b) Work performed on or in a non-City vehicle being used for conducting City 

business; and 
 

(c) Meal and break times; or 
 

(d) At times otherwise specified in this Policy. 
 

3.  DEFINITIONS 
 

a. “Abuse” of alcohol, a legal, or an illegal drug:  Any use of alcohol, substances, a legal, 
or an illegal drug, which impairs an individual’s faculties (other than use of a legal drug 
for appropriate purposes in accordance with applicable medical directions). 

 
b. “Alcohol”:  Ethanol, isopropanol, or methanol. 

 
c. “Commercial Motor Vehicle”:  means a motor vehicle or combination of motor vehicles 

used in commerce to transport passengers or property if the motor vehicle: 
 

(1) Has a gross combination weight rating of 26,001 or more pounds inclusive of a towed 
unit with a gross vehicle weight rating of more than 10,000 pounds or: 

 
(2) Has a gross vehicle weight rating of 26,001 or more pounds; or 

 
(3) Is designed to transport 16 or more passengers including the driver; or 

 
(4) Is of any size and is used in the transportation of materials found to be hazardous for 

the purposes of the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act and which require the 
motor vehicle to be placarded under the Hazardous Materials Regulations (49 CFR 
§72, subpart F). 
 

d. “DOT Driver”:  means any person who operates a commercial motor vehicle and any 
person who is required to possess and maintain a CDL for their job classification.  This 
includes, but is not limited to:  full time, regularly employed drivers; casual; intermittent 
or occasional drivers; leased drivers and independent; owner-operator contractors who 
are either directly employed by or under lease to the City of Cedar Falls or who operate a 
commercial motor vehicle at the direction of or with the consent of the City of Cedar 
Falls. 

202

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 4 

 
e. “Drug”:  Any drug or substance defined as a controlled substance and included in 

schedule I, II, III, IV, or V under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. 801 et 
seq.  Also, an over-the-counter medication that is being abused.  

 
f. “Employee”:  means a person in the service of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
g. “Good Faith”:  means reasonable reliance on facts, or that which is held out to be 

factual, without the intent to be deceived, and without reckless, malicious, or negligent 
disregard for the truth. 

 
h. “Legal Drug”:  A drug for which the employee has a valid prescription, or over-the-

counter drug. 
 

i. “Licensed Medical Practitioner”:  means a person who is licensed, certified, and/or 
registered, in accordance with applicable Federal, State, local, or foreign laws and 
regulations, to prescribe controlled substances and other drugs. 

 
j. “Medical Review Officer”:  means a licensed physician, osteopathic physician, 

chiropractor, nurse practitioner, or physician assistant authorized to practice in any state 
of the United States, who is responsible for receiving laboratory results generated by an 
employer’s drug or alcohol testing program, and who has knowledge of substance abuse 
disorders and has appropriate medical training to interpret and evaluate an individual’s 
confirmed positive test result together with the individual’s medical history and any other 
relevant biomedical information. 

 
k. “Prospective Employee/Applicant”:  A person who has made application, whether 

written or oral, to the City of Cedar Falls to become an employee; or a current employee 
transferring to a DOT position from a Non-DOT position. 

 
l. “Reasonable Suspicion Drug or Alcohol Testing”: means drug or alcohol testing based 

upon evidence that an employee is using or has used alcohol or other drugs in violation of 
the employer’s written policy drawn from specific objective and articulable facts and 
reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in light of experience.  For purposes of this 
paragraph, facts and inferences may be based upon, but not limited to, any of the 
following:   

 
(1) Observable phenomena while at work such as direct observation of alcohol or drug 

use or abuse of the physical symptoms or manifestations of being impaired due to 
alcohol or other drug use. 

 
(2) Abnormal conduct or erratic behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in 

work performance. 
 
(3) A report of alcohol or other drug use provided by a reliable and credible source. 

203

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 5 

 
(4) Evidence that an individual has tampered with any drug or alcohol test during the 

individual’s employment with the current employer. 
 
(5) Evidence that an employee has caused an accident while at work which resulted in 

an injury to a person for which injury, if suffered by an employee, a record or 
report could be required under Chapter 88, or resulted in damage to property, 
including to equipment, in an amount reasonably estimated at the time of the 
accident to exceed one thousand dollars. 

 
(6) Evidence that an employee has manufactured, sold, distributed, solicited, 

possessed, used, or transferred drugs while working or while on the employer’s 
premises or while operating the employer’s vehicle, machinery, or equipment. 

 
m. “Safety-Sensitive Position”:  means a job wherein an accident could cause loss of 

human life, serious bodily injury, or significant property or environmental damage, 
including a job with duties that include immediate supervision of a person in a job that 
meets the requirements of this paragraph. 

 
n. “Safety-Sensitive Function”:  means all the time from the time a DOT driver begins to 

work or is required to be in readiness to work until the time he/she is relieved from work 
and all responsibility for performing work.  DOT safety sensitive functions shall include:   

 
(1) All time at an employer location, terminal, facility, or other property, or on any 

other public property, waiting to be dispatched, unless the driver has been relieved 
from duty by the employer; 

 
(2) All time inspecting equipment as required by 49 CFR §392.7 and §392.8 or 

otherwise inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any commercial motor vehicle at 
any time; 

 
(3) All time spent at the driving controls of a commercial motor vehicle in operation; 

 
(4) All time, other than driving time, in or upon any commercial motor vehicle except 

time spent resting in a sleeper berth (a berth conforming to the requirements of 49 
CFR §393.76); 

 
(5) All time loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising or assisting in the loading or 

unloading, attending a vehicle being loaded or unloaded, remaining in readiness to 
operate the vehicle, or in giving or receiving receipts for shipments loaded or 
unloaded; and 

 
(6) All time repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled 

vehicle. 
 

204

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 6 

o. “Refuse to Submit”: means that after an individual has been notified to provide a 
specimen for drug and/or alcohol testing, the individual does, but is not limited to the 
following: 

 
(1) Fails to provide a sufficient test specimen of breath, saliva or urine without a valid 

medical explanation; 
 

(2) Tampers with or attempts to adulterate the specimen; 
 

(3) Interferes with the collection procedure; 
 

(4) Does not immediately report to the collection site; 
 

(5) Does not remain readily available for testing in post-accident testing situations; 
and/or  

 
(6) Refuses to complete and sign a chain of custody form during the specimen 

collection process. 
 
(7) Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete. 

 
(8) Fails to permit a directly observed or monitored collection if required. 

 
p. “Sample”:  A sample from the human body capable of revealing metabolites, such as 

urine or saliva.  “Sample” does not include blood, except in situations where a blood test 
was made on an employee involved in a workplace accident if the test was administered 
by or at the discretion of a person providing treatment to the employee and the test was 
not made at the request of or by the suggestion of the employer. 

 
q. “Unannounced Drug or Alcohol Testing”: means testing for the purposes of detecting 

drugs or alcohol which is conducted on a periodic basis, without advance notice of the 
test to employee, other than employees whose duties include responsibility for 
administration of the employer’s drug or alcohol testing program, subject to testing prior 
to the day of testing, and without individualized suspicion.  The selection of employees to 
be tested from the pool of employees subject to testing shall be done based on a neutral 
and objective selection process and shall be made by a computer-based random number 
generator that is matched with employees’ social security numbers, payroll identification 
numbers, or other comparable identifying numbers in which each member of the 
employee population subject to testing has an equal chance of selection for initial testing, 
regardless of whether the employee has been selected or tested previously.  The random 
selection process shall be conducted through a computer program that records each 
selection attempt by date, time, and employee number. 

 
 
 

205

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 7 

4. WORK RULES 
 

a. Use of a Legal Drug 
 

(1) Prescription Drugs.  An employee may bring to work and take a prescription drug 
during work hours only if the drug has been prescribed for the employee by a 
physician or other authorized prescriber (such as a dentist) and only if the drug is 
taken in accordance with the prescriber’s directions.  All prescription drugs must be 
kept in the container in which they were received from the pharmacy or other 
dispenser.  Use of a legal drug, in which the prescription is not in the name of the 
user (prescribed for another individual), is considered “abuse” of a legal drug. 

 
(2) Over-the-Counter Drugs.  An employee may bring to work and take an over-the 

counter drug during work hours only if the drug is used for its intended purposes 
and in accordance with package directions and any supplemental directions of the 
employee’s physician. 

 
(3) Notification.  An employee must notify their supervisor whenever he or she is 

using a prescription or over-the-counter drug, which potentially may affect safety 
or work performance.  In making this determination, the employee should rely on 
the warnings or cautions that are received with the particular lawful drug.  The City 
of Cedar Falls does not seek information on all drugs that an individual may be 
taking, but only those where there is an indication that the drug may affect 
performance, or there is a caution that one should not engage in certain activities 
which are part of the employee’s job duties while taking the drug.  The City of 
Cedar Falls reserves the right to take appropriate action including relieving an 
employee from work if the use of the drug is impairing or is deemed likely to 
impair the employee’s faculties or work performance. 

 
(4) Abuse.  Abuse of legal drugs or illegal drug use will not be tolerated. 

 
b. Impairment during Work Hours 

 
(1) An employee whose faculties appear to be impaired during work hours will not be 

allowed to work, regardless of the cause. 
 

An employee whose faculties are impaired during work hours due to 
the effects of the use of alcohol or illegal use of a controlled substance 
(including the abuse of a legal drug) is subject to discipline.   

 
c. Prohibited Conduct: 

 
(1) An employee, including elected officials, bringing or attempting to bring onto City 

premises, property, or work site, having possession of, using, consuming, selling, 
transferring, or attempting to sell or transfer, any alcoholic beverage while on City 

206

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 8 

business or at any time during the hours between the beginning and ending of the 
employee’s work day, whether or not on duty, and whether or not on City business 
or property. 

     
(2)    The use, possession, consumption, manufacture, distribution, transfer, attempting to 

transfer, sale or attempting to sell illegal drugs while on City business or at any 
time during the hours between the beginning and ending of the employee’s work 
day, whether or not on duty and whether or not on City business or property.   

 
(3) Controlled substance abuse while on City business or at any time during the hours 

between the beginning and ending of the employee’s work day, whether or not on 
duty and whether or not on City business or property. 

 
(4) Storing any illegal drug in a locker, desk, automobile, or other repository on City 

premises. 
 

(5) Being under the influence of an illegal drug or engaging in controlled substance 
abuse on City premises, or in City-supplied vehicles, or while on City business, or 
during working hours. 

 
(6) Testing positive for controlled substances without a reasonable medical explanation 

or legal basis for use. 
 

(7) Switching or adulterating any urine sample submitted for testing, or submitting a 
false sample for testing. 

 
(8) The use, possession, sale, or distribution of alcohol, or being under the influence of 

alcohol on City premises, or in City-supplied vehicles, or on City business, whether 
during working or nonworking hours. 

 
(9) Refusing consent to testing or refusing to submit a urine sample for testing when 

required by a City representative. 
 

(10) Failing, when requested by the City, to enroll in any alcohol or other drug 
treatment or counseling program and failing to adhere to the requirements of the 
program. 

 
(11) Being convicted under any criminal drug statute for a violation occurring in the 

workplace or outside of the workplace while conducting employer business. 
 

(12) Failing to notify City of any conviction under any criminal drug statute within five 
days of the event. 

 
(13) Failing to comply with rules and regulations promulgated under any testing 

programs maintained by the City pursuant to such rules and regulations. 

207

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 9 

 
(14) A DOT driver reporting for duty or remaining on duty requiring the performance 

of safety-sensitive functions while having an alcohol concentration of .02 or 
higher. 

 
(15) A DOT driver using alcohol while performing safety-sensitive functions. 

 
(16) A DOT driver performing safety-sensitive functions within four hours after using 

alcohol. 
 

(17) A DOT driver using alcohol for eight (8) hours following a DOT accident, or until 
he/she undergoes a post-accident alcohol test, whichever occurs first. 

 
(18) A DOT driver refusing to submit to a required drug and/or alcohol test. 

 
(19) A DOT driver reporting for duty or remaining on duty which requires the 

performance of safety-sensitive functions when the DOT driver uses any controlled 
substance, except when the use is pursuant to the instructions of a licensed medical 
practitioner who has advised the driver that the substance will not adversely affect 
the driver’s ability to safely operate a commercial motor vehicle. 

 
(20) A DOT driver reporting for duty, remaining on duty or performing safety-sensitive 

functions, if the driver tests positive for controlled substances. 
 
5. FMCSA CDL DRUG AND ALCOHOL CLEARINGHOUSE 
        
       a.     All DOT drivers and DOT driver-applicants are subject to and must comply with 

FMCSA CDL Drug and Alcohol Clearinghouse (“Clearinghouse”) laws, rules, and 
regulations as well as this policy. 

 
       b.     DOT driver-applicants must provide written consent for the City to conduct pre-

employment Clearinghouse queries.  Such applicants must also provide specific consent 
to the Clearinghouse for the City to access all information resulting from a full query.  
Such applicants must also provide written consent for the City to obtain drug and 
alcohol information from previous employers.  Forms for required written consents 
shall be provided by the City.  These requirements are a condition of consideration for 
employment with the City. 

 
              c.     DOT employees must provide written consent for the City to conduct Clearinghouse 

queries on an annual basis.  DOT employees also must, as often as requested by the 
City, provide specific consent to the Clearinghouse for the City to access all 
information resulting from a full query.  Forms for required written consent shall be 
provided by the City.  Failure to provide such consents may result in suspension of all 
of the employee’s safety sensitive functions, or discipline up to and including 
termination of employment, or both. 

208

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 10 

 
       d.     The following information collected and maintained by the City shall be reported to the 

Clearinghouse: 
                       
                       (1)  a verified positive, adulterated or substituted drug test result; 
 
                       (2)  an alcohol confirmation test with a concentration of 0.04 or higher; 
  
                       (3)  a refusal to submit to any drug or alcohol test; 
 
                       (4)  actual knowledge on the part of the City of a drug or alcohol violation; 
 
                       (5)  on duty alcohol use; 
 
                       (6)  pre-duty alcohol use in violation of federal regulations; 
 
                       (7)  post-accident alcohol use in violation of federal regulations; 
 
                       (8)  controlled substance use in violation of federal regulations; 
 
                       (9)  a substance abuse professional’s report of the successful completion of a 

return-to-duty test; 
 
                       (10) a negative return-to-duty test; 
 
                       (11) the City’s report of follow-up testing. 
 
       e.     Improper access, use or release of any information accessed in the Clearinghouse may 

result in  civil or criminal penalties and/or may result in discipline up to and including 
termination of employment. 

 
6. DISCIPLINARY ACTION – CONSEQUENCES FOR VIOLATING THIS POLICY 
 

a. Prospective Employee or DOT Driver-Applicant Discipline in Connection With a Drug 
or Alcohol Test:   

 
Prospective employees or DOT Driver-Applicants are required to undergo a drug 
screen.  A prospective employee or DOT driver-applicant’s positive drug test result or 
the refusal to submit to testing will result in the City’s refusal to hire the prospective 
employee or DOT driver-applicant.  Prospective employees or DOT Driver-applicants 
must receive a negative drug test result without any integrity flaws as a condition of 
employment.  Prospective employees or DOT Driver-applicants receiving a negative 
drug test result with the integrity flaw “low specific gravity and creatinine level”, will 
be provided the opportunity to retest one time.  The City’s refusal to hire does not 

209

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 11 

prevent the prospective employee or DOT driver-applicant from later initiating another 
inquiry with the City. 

 
b. Current Employee Discipline in Connection with Drug and/or Alcohol Possession, 

Transfer or Use, Other Than Use Detected by a Drug Test: 
 

Except as provided under Work Rules-Legal Use, an employee bringing or attempting 
to bring onto City premises, property, or work site, having possession of, using, 
consuming, selling, transferring, or attempting to sell or transfer, any alcoholic 
beverage, or any prescription drug or any form of controlled substance while on City 
business or at any time during the hours between the beginning and ending of the 
employee’s work day, whether or not on duty, and whether or not on City business or 
property, is guilty of misconduct and is subject to discipline including discharge or 
suspension without pay, even for the first offense. 

 
c. Current Employee Discipline in Connection With a Drug and/or Alcohol Test: 

 
Employees may be required to undergo a drug and/or alcohol test under certain 
circumstances.  The following is a list of uniform requirements for what action the 
City will take against the employee upon receipt of a confirmed positive drug and/or 
alcohol test result, or upon the employee’s refusal to submit to such testing.  Any 
action taken against the employee is based only on the results of the drug and/or 
alcohol test. 

 
(1) Refusal to Submit to Alcohol Test (non-DOT employees other than post-

accident  testing): 
 

An employee’s first refusal to submit to an alcohol test when requested to do so, 
will result in being immediately removed from a safety-sensitive position and 
result in a one-day suspension without pay and/or until a SAP evaluation and 
return to duty with negative results are completed.  The employee must submit to 
an employer-approved substance evaluation and comply with the 
recommendations, which may include but is not limited to rehabilitation, 
treatment or counseling through EAP.  The program may require additional 
alcohol testing.  An employee’s refusal to submit to an alcohol test, when 
requested to do so a second time, will result in termination. 
 

(2) Refusal to Submit to Alcohol Test (DOT employees other than post-accident  
testing): 

 
A DOT driver’s refusal to submit to an alcohol test when requested to do so, will 
result in the employee being immediately removed from performing safety-
sensitive functions and result in a one-day suspension without pay and/or until a 
SAP evaluation and return to duty with negative results are completed.  An 
evaluation by a Substance Abuse Professional is required and the employee must 

210

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 12 

comply with the treatment prescribed by the Substance Abuse Professional.  Prior 
to the employee participating in a safety sensitive function, the employee shall 
undergo a return to duty test with a result indicating an alcohol concentration of 
less than 0.02.  The DOT employee will be subject to (6) six unannounced follow 
up tests in the first 12 months of safety sensitive duty following their return.  A 
DOT driver’s refusal to submit to an alcohol test, when requested to do so a 
second time, will result in termination. 

 
 
 
 

(3) First Positive Alcohol Test (non-DOT drivers): 
                    

An employee’s first confirmed positive alcohol test (of .04 or higher) will result in 
the employee being immediately suspended without pay for a period of 24 hours 
and will result in being immediately removed from a safety-sensitive position.  If 
the employee performs in a safety-sensitive position, the employee must 
successfully pass a return to work test with a reading under .04 prior to being 
allowed to return to duty. 
 

(4) Second Positive Alcohol Test (non-DOT drivers): 
 

If an employee tests positive for alcohol on a second occasion, the employee will 
be suspended for five (5) days without pay and will be immediately removed from 
a safety-sensitive position.  If the employee performs in a safety-sensitive 
position, the employee must successfully pass a return to work test with a reading 
under .04 prior to being allowed to return to duty. Subsequent offenses will result 
in termination. 
 

(5) Alcohol Test with Results of .02-.039 (DOT drivers only): 
 
 A DOT driver’s first alcohol result of .02-.039 will result in the immediate 

suspension of the employee without pay for a period of 24 hours and will result in 
the employee being immediately removed from performing safety-sensitive 
functions. 

 
A DOT driver’s second confirmed alcohol test of .02-.039 will result in 
suspension without pay for two (2) days; the third offense will result in a five (5) 
day suspension without pay; and any subsequent offenses will result in 
termination. 

 
 
(6) Positive Alcohol Test with Results of .04 or higher (DOT drivers): 

 

211

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 13 

A DOT driver’s confirmed positive alcohol test of .04 or higher will result in the 
employee being immediately removed from performing safety-sensitive 
functions.  An evaluation by a Substance Abuse Professional is required and the 
employee must comply with the treatment prescribed by the Substance Abuse 
Professional.  Prior to the employee participating in a safety sensitive function, 
the employee shall undergo a return to duty test with a result indicating an 
alcohol concentration of less than 0.02.  The DOT employee will be subject to six 
(6) unannounced follow up tests in the first 12 months of safety sensitive duty 
following their return.  All DOT driver’s will be suspended for two (2) days 
without pay and/or until a SAP evaluation and return to duty with negative results 
are completed for the first offense; suspended without pay for five (5) days 
and/or until a SAP evaluation and return to duty with negative results are 
completed for the second offense; and the third offense will result in termination. 

 
(7) Refusal to Submit to Drug Test (All non-DOT employees other than post-

accident testing): 
 

An employee’s refusal to submit to a drug test when requested to do so, will result 
in being immediately removed from a safety-sensitive position and will result in a 
suspension without pay for five (5) days and/or until a SAP evaluation and return 
to duty with negative results are completed.  Prior to returning to work the 
employee must complete a substance abuse evaluation through an employer 
approved program.  An employee’s refusal to submit to a drug test, when 
requested to do so a second time, will result in termination. 
 

(8) Refusal to Submit to Drug Test (All DOT employees other than post-accident 
testing): 

 
A DOT driver’s refusal to submit to a drug test when requested to do so, will 
result in the employee being immediately removed from performing safety-
sensitive functions and will result in a suspension without pay for five (5) days 
and/or until a SAP evaluation and return to duty with negative results are 
completed.  An evaluation by a Substance Abuse Professional is required and 
the employee must comply with the treatment prescribed by the Substance 
Abuse Professional.  Prior to the employee participating in a safety sensitive 
function, the employee shall undergo a return to duty test with a negative result.  
The DOT employee will be subject to (6) six unannounced follow up tests in 
the first 12 months of safety sensitive duty following their return.  A DOT 
driver’s refusal to submit to a drug test, when requested to do so a second time, 
will result in termination. 

 
(9) Positive Drug Test:  

 
A non-DOT employee’s first confirmed positive drug test will result in the 
employee being removed from a safety-sensitive position and will be suspended 

212

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 14 

for five (5) days without pay and/or until a SAP evaluation and return to duty with 
negative results are completed.  The employee will be required to undergo a 
substance abuse evaluation through an employer approved program and comply 
with all treatment recommendations. 
 
A DOT employee’s first confirmed positive drug test will result in the employee 
being removed from safety-sensitive functions, and will be suspended for five (5) 
days without pay and/or until a SAP evaluation and return to duty with negative 
results are completed.  An evaluation by a Substance Abuse Professional is 
required and the employee must comply with the treatment prescribed by the 
Substance Abuse Professional.  Prior to the employee participating in a safety 
sensitive function, the employee shall undergo a return to duty test with a negative 
result.  The DOT employee will be subject to (6) six unannounced follow up tests 
in the first 12 months of safety sensitive duty following their return.   
 
All employees will be immediately terminated for the second offense positive 
drug test. 
 

(10) Refusal to Submit to Alcohol and/or Drug Testing (Post-accident): 
 

An employee’s refusal to submit to alcohol and/or drug testing post-accident will 
result in immediate termination. 
 
Following termination, DOT employees must comply with DOT regulations to 
maintain the employee’s CDL.  
 

(11) Pre-result Suspension under Reasonable Suspension Circumstances: 
 

Prior to the City receiving the results of an alcohol or drug test conducted under 
Reasonable Suspicion Circumstances, the employee will be placed on immediate 
administrative leave without pay.  If the result of the test does not violate the 
terms of this written policy, the employee will be reinstated, with back pay and 
interest, as provided in Iowa Code. 
 
 

7. DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 
 

a. Substances to be Tested and Type of Specimen: 
 

(1) Drugs – The City has determined to conduct controlled substance, or “drug” 
testing, in an attempt to discourage and prevent employees from illegally using 
drugs, be it the use of an illegal drug or the abuse of a legal drug.  A urine 
specimen will be collected and tested for the presence of a drug or metabolites of 
the following substances at or above the concentrations set forth by DOT Rule 49 
CFR Part 40:   

213

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 15 

 
• Marijuana 
• Cocaine 
• Opiates - opium and codeine derivatives 
• Phencyclidine - PCP 
• Amphetamines and Methamphetamines 
 

 
(2) Alcohol – The City has determined to conduct alcohol testing in an attempt to 

prevent employees from abusing alcohol.  A breath alcohol and/or saliva specimen 
will be collected and tested for the presence of: 

 
• Alcohol (Ethanol, isopropanol, or methanol) 

 
For current employees a confirmed alcohol concentration level of .04 or higher, 
expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per two hundred ten liters of breath, or its 
equivalent, is considered a positive alcohol test result and violates this policy. 
 
For DOT drivers, a confirmed alcohol concentration level of .02 or higher, 
expressed in terms of grams of alcohol per two hundred ten liters of breath, or its 
equivalent, violates this policy.  DOT drivers will be immediately removed from 
performing safety-sensitive functions. 
 

b. Scheduling of Tests: 
 

(1) Current Employees – Drug and alcohol testing for current employees shall 
normally occur during, or immediately before or after, a regular work period.  The 
time required for testing, including travel time, is considered work time for 
purposes of the Federal Labor Standards Act (FLSA), compensation and benefits. 

 
(2) DOT Drivers – Alcohol testing for DOT drivers shall normally occur during, or 

immediately before or after, performing safety-sensitive functions. 
 

c. Costs of Tests: 
 

(1) Prospective Employees and DOT driver-applicants – The cost of the initial drug 
test and confirmation will be paid by the City. 

 
(2) Current Employees – The actual costs for testing, other than for a second, 

confirmatory test if one is requested as provided by law, are paid by the City.  If the 
drug and/or alcohol sample collection is conducted at a place other than the 
employee’s normal work site, the City will provide transportation, or pay 
reasonable transportation costs to the employee. 

 

214

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 16 

(3) DOT Drivers – The cost of the initial drug test and confirmation will be paid by the 
City under pre-employment, reasonable suspicion, post-accident, and random 
circumstances.  Split specimen tests and drug or alcohol tests conducted for return-
to-work and/or follow-up circumstances will be paid for by the DOT driver. 

 
d. Communication of Test Results: 

 
(1) Drugs – The laboratory will report the analysis of the initial, confirmatory, and 

second confirmatory or “split specimen” urine drug screen test results directly to 
the medical review officer (MRO).  The MRO shall review and interpret all test 
results, including quantitative and qualitative results, to ensure the chain of custody 
is complete and sufficient.  Prior to reporting positive test results, the MRO will 
provide prospective employees, current employees, DOT driver-applicants, and 
DOT drivers an opportunity to confidentially discuss information which may be 
relevant to the drug test, including identification of prescription or nonprescription 
drugs currently used or any other relevant medical information.  To the extent 
feasible, the testing shall only measure and the records concerning the testing shall 
only make use of information regarding drugs in the body.  The MRO or his 
representative shall report the drug test results directly to the City’s drug testing 
coordinator or designee.  Test results shall remain confidential and will not be 
released unless the donor’s specific permission is obtained or as provided by 
Federal, State, and or local regulations. 

 
(a) Positive drug test results will be communicated to prospective employees in 

writing, and include the name and address of the MRO who made the report 
and the prospective employee’s right to request records. 

 
(b) Positive drug test results will be communicated to current employees by 

certified mail, return receipt requested.  The written notification of a positive 
test result will include the employee’s right to request and obtain a second 
confirmatory test of the previously collected sample at an approved 
laboratory of the employee’s choice at the employee’s expense. 

 
(c) The City will notify DOT drivers and driver-applicants of the result of a 

controlled substance test.  The City will notify DOT drivers which controlled 
substance(s) were verified as positive. 

 
(2) Alcohol – The certified Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT) or Saliva Testing 

Technician (STT) performing the alcohol test shall report the results directly to the 
City’s alcohol testing coordinator or designee.  Test results shall remain 
confidential and will not be released unless the donor’s specific permission is 
obtained or as provided by Federal, State, and/or local regulations. 

 
e. Integrity of the Testing Process. 
 

215

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 17 

 The collection of samples shall be performed under sanitary conditions and with regard 
for the privacy of the individual from whom the specimen is being obtained and in a 
manner reasonably calculated to preclude contamination or substitution of the specimen. 

 
 Urine drug specimens shall be split into two components at the time of the collection in 

the presence of the individual from who the sample or specimen is collected.  One 
portion shall be used for initial laboratory analysis and confirmation of initial positive 
test results and the second portion shall allow for a second, independent confirmatory test 
or “split specimen test” showing presence only of a drug metabolite in the urine at the 
time the collection was performed. 

 
 Sample collection, storage, transportation, and reporting shall follow strict chain of 

custody documentation and procedures to reasonably preclude the possibility of 
misidentification of the person tested in relation to the test result provided. 

 
 An individual submitting to a drug test will be provided the opportunity to record any 

information which may be considered relevant to the test, including identification of 
prescription or nonprescription drugs currently or recently used, or other relevant medical 
information. 

 
 All confirmatory drug testing shall be conducted at a laboratory certified by the United 

States Department of Health and Human Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
Services Administration (SAMHSA). 

 
 Drug or alcohol testing shall include confirmation of any initial positive test results.  

Confirmation shall be by use of a different chemical process than was used in the initial 
screen for drugs.  A medical review officer (MRO) shall, prior to the results being 
reported to an employer, review and interpret any confirmed positive test results, 
including both quantitative and qualitative test results, to ensure that the chain of custody 
is complete and sufficient on its face and that any information provided by the individual 
is taken into consideration. 

 
f. Circumstances under Which a Prospective Employee Will Be Tested: 

 
Pre-employment – The City will conduct a drug test designed to prevent hiring 
individuals who use controlled substances or who abuse legal drugs.  Prospective 
employees and/or DOT driver-applicants may be subject to testing for drugs as a 
condition of hiring.  A prospective employee or DOT driver-applicant’s positive drug test 
result or the refusal to submit to testing will result in the City’s refusal to hire the 
prospective employee or DOT driver-applicant. 
 
Prospective employees and/or DOT driver-applicants must receive a negative drug test 
result without any integrity flaws as a condition of employment.  Prospective employees 
and/or DOT driver-applicants receiving a negative drug test result with the integrity flaw 
“low specific gravity and creatinine level” will be provided the opportunity to retest one 

216

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 18 

time.  The City’s refusal to hire does not prevent the prospective employee or DOT 
driver-applicant from later initiating another inquiry with the City. 
 
 

g. Circumstances under Which a Current Employee Will Be Tested: 
 

(1) Reasonable Suspicion.  A current employee or DOT driver may be required to 
submit to a drug and/or alcohol test if the City has suspicion that the individual is 
using or has used drugs and/or alcohol in violation of the City’s written policy.  
Such observations must be personally observed and documented by at least one 
City supervisor who has received training according to regulation. 

 
(a)  For current employees, this evidence must be drawn from specific objective 

and articulable facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in light 
of experience.  Examples that might support the decision to test current 
employees under reasonable suspicion circumstances include but are not 
limited to:  

 
1. Observations made at work, such as direct observation of alcohol or drug 

use or the physical symptoms of being impaired to alcohol or drug use. 
 
2. Abnormal conduct or erratic behavior while at work or a significant 

deterioration in work performance. 
 

3. A report, by a reliable and credible source, of alcohol and/or drug use. 
 

4. Evidence that an individual has tampered with any alcohol and/or drug 
test during the employee’s employment with the current employer. 

 
5. Evidence that an employee has caused an accident resulting in personal 

injury other than minor injuries requiring only first aid treatment.  
 

6. Evidence that an employee has manufactured, sold, distributed, solicited, 
possessed, used, or transferred drugs while working, or while on the 
employer’s premises or while operating the employer’s vehicle, 
machinery, or equipment. 

 
(b) The City’s determination for reasonable suspicion testing of DOT drivers 

must be based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations 
concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors indicating drug 
and/or alcohol use. 

 
(c) Individuals notified to submit to a reasonable suspicion test will be expected 

to report to the collection site immediately.  Individuals will be escorted to 
the collection site by the City.  In the event of a positive alcohol test, the City 

217

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 19 

may attempt to contact the individual’s spouse, another member of the 
family, or another person designated by the individual, in order to make 
arrangements for transporting the individual to his/her home after the test is 
completed.  In the event that the City is unable to contact the driver’s spouse, 
family member or another designated person, the City may make 
arrangements for transporting the individual home by cab or other suitable 
means.  If the individual rejects the City’s efforts in this regard and instead 
insists on driving his/her personal vehicle, the City reserves the right to take 
whatever means are appropriate to prevent this, including contacting 
appropriate law enforcement personnel and imposing disciplinary action, up 
to and including discharge. 

 
(d) An individual who is required to take a reasonable suspicion drug and/or 

alcohol test will be considered by the City as unqualified to work and placed 
on immediate suspension, pending the results of his/her drug and/or alcohol 
test.   

 
(2) Post-accident – The City may require current employees to submit to drug and/or 

alcohol testing in investigating accidents in the workplace in which the accident 
resulted in an injury to a person for which injury, if suffered by an employee, a 
record or report could be required under Iowa Code Chapter 88, or resulted in 
damage to property, including to equipment, in an amount reasonably estimated 
at the time of the accident to exceed one thousand dollars. 

 
(a) DOT drivers, performing safety-sensitive functions at the time of the 

accident, must submit to a DOT drug and alcohol test as soon as possible 
after the occurrence of an accident that meets one of the following 
conditions: 

 
1. An accident which involves the death of a human being. 
 
2. In conjunction with the accident, the DOT driver receives a citation for a 

moving violation and a person is injured because of the accident and the 
injuries require immediate medical treatment away from the accident 
scene. 

 
3. In conjunction with the accident, the DOT driver receives a citation for a 

moving violation and one or more motor vehicles involved in the accident 
incur disabling damage and must be transported away from the accident 
scene. 

 
(b) DOT drivers are prohibited from using alcohol for eight (8) hours following 

any accident in which they are operating a commercial motor vehicle or until 
undergoing a DOT drug and alcohol test. 

 

218

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 20 

(3) Random Testing for DOT drivers – DOT drivers are subject to periodic, 
unannounced drug and/or alcohol testing.  DOT drivers are entered into a pool of 
individuals required to submit to DOT random testing.  To perform the selection 
of DOT drivers for testing from the pool of individuals subject to such testing, 
the City utilizes a computer-based random number generator that is matched with 
employee identification numbers.  Selection of DOT drivers are reasonably 
spread throughout the calendar year with each DOT driver having an equal 
chance of being selected each time selections are made.  Upon notification, the 
DOT driver must proceed immediately to the collection site for testing.  A DOT 
driver shall only be subject to random testing for alcohol while performing 
safety-sensitive function, just before the DOT driver is to perform, or just after 
the Driver has ceased performing such functions. 

 
(4) Federal Laws/Regulations – The City will conduct any other drug or alcohol 

testing as required by a Federal, State or local law or as required by law 
enforcement. 

 
(5) Rehabilitation Testing – The City may require a current employee to undergo 

drug or alcohol testing at least six times per year, without any prior notice, during 
or following completion of drug or alcohol rehabilitation, without any prior 
notice that such a test will be conducted. 

 
(6) Return-to-Duty Testing – The City may require a DOT driver to submit to a 

return-to-duty test in order to resume safety-sensitive functions.  Return-to-duty 
testing is done after a DOT driver has:  1) engaged in prohibited conduct 
concerning alcohol and/or drug use; 2) has completed an evaluation by a DOT 
qualified Substance Abuse Professional (SAP); 3) is complying with the 
recommended treatment program as prescribed by the SAP; and, 4) is ready to 
return to performing safety-sensitive functions. 

 
(7) Follow-Up Testing – The City may require a DOT driver to submit to follow-up 

testing for drugs and/or alcohol as directed by the Substance Abuse Professional 
(SAP).  Unannounced follow-up testing is required for DOT drivers that have: 1) 
previously been engaged in prohibited conduct concerning alcohol and/or drug 
use; 2) have completed an evaluation by a DOT certified SAP; 3) are complying 
with recommended treatment as prescribed by the SAP; 4) has undergone a 
return-to-duty test; and, 5) has returned to performing safety-sensitive functions.  
A minimum of six drug and/or alcohol tests in a twelve-month period is required. 

 
8. TRAINING 
 

 a. Supervisors designated to make reasonable suspicion determinations for drug or alcohol 
testing under this policy shall attend a minimum of two hours of initial training and to 
attend, on an annual basis thereafter, a minimum of one hour of subsequent training.  The 
training shall include, but not be limited to, information concerning the recognition of 

219

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 21 

evidence of employee alcohol and other drug abuse, the documentation and corroboration 
of employee alcohol and other drug abuse, and the referral of employees who abuse 
alcohol or other drugs to the EAP or to the SAP. 

  

220

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 22 

 
7. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
  

a.  The City is aware that many personal or health problems can and do interfere with an 
employee’s ability to perform on the job.  These problems may include emotional and 
mental disorders, family and marital difficulties, abuse of alcohol or drugs, etc. 

 
Employees whose job performance problems are not related to a lack of skill and who do 
not respond satisfactorily to the usual disciplinary procedures may be in need of the 
attention of professionals. 
 
With proper treatment, many troubled employees can be restored to a satisfactory level of 
job performance.  However, if the underlying problems or situation are ignored, they may 
worsen with time, eventually rendering the person unemployable. 
 
To help avoid this loss of human resources, the City offers an Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) for employees and their dependents as part of its employee services.  The 
EAP provides confidential evaluation, referral and short-term counseling at no cost to 
employees whose personal or health problems are interfering with their job performance. 
 
Confidentiality is assured.  No information regarding the nature of the personal problem 
will be made to supervisors, nor will it be included in the permanent personnel file. 
 
The purposes and practices of the City’s disciplinary rules and the EAP are distinctly 
separate in their applications.  An employee’s decision to seek prior assistance from the 
EAP will not be used as the basis for disciplinary action and will not be used against the 
employee in any disciplinary proceeding.  On the other hand, the fact that an employee 
has been using the EAP will not be a defense to imposition a disciplinary action where 
facts showing a violation of City policy are obtained outside the EAP. 
 
It is the responsibility of each employee to seek assistance from the EAP before 
disciplinary action.  Once a violation of the City’s rules has come to the City’s attention, 
subsequently using the EAP on a voluntary basis will not necessarily lessen disciplinary 
action and may, in fact, have no bearing on the determination of appropriate disciplinary 
action. 
 
Through the EAP, the City will provide appropriate evaluation and referral to treatment, 
if appropriate.  Employees undergoing such treatment will be granted leave with a 
conditional return to work depending on successful completion of the appropriate 
treatment program. 
 
Except as otherwise required by law, the cost of the substance abuse treatment itself is 
the responsibility of the employee. 

221

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 23 

 
b. Referrals 

 
 An employee may obtain access to the EAP through self-referral or a referral by a 

supervisor. 
 

(1) Self-Referral 
 

In a self-referral the employee contacts the EAP counselor directly.  The employee 
is assured that no one in the City will be notified. 
 

(2) Supervisory Referral 
 

It is the responsibility of the City’s supervisors to appropriately confront an 
employee whenever they see changes in performance that suggest an employee 
problem.  Supervisors should not attempt to diagnose the nature of the employee’s 
problems.  However, they should be alert to changes in behavior that may signal a 
problem such as: 
 

• Absenteeism 
• Chronic lateness 
• Personality Change 
• Decline in Work Quality 
• Unusual Behavior 
• Difficult or Uncooperative Employees 
 

The supervisor may suggest that the employee voluntarily seek help (informal 
referral) from the City’s EAP or may decide that the severity of the observed 
problem is such that an involuntary referral to the EAP should be made (formal 
referral). 
 
(a) Informal Referral 
  
 In an informal referral, the supervisor should inform the employee of the 

benefits provided by the EAP and give the employee adequate contact 
information.  In an informal referral, the EAP counselor will not tell the 
supervisor whether the employee used the EAP and will not divulge any 
information to the supervisor about the visit. 

 
(b) Formal Referral 

 
 A formal referral can take place at any time during the disciplinary procedure.  

Through a formal referral, the supervisor directs the employee to make use of 
the EAP.  Failure to use the EAP may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination.  In a formal referral, the supervisor (or another 

222

ITEM 17.



 
203:       DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
 
 

 24 

representative designated by the City) should contact the EAP counselor to 
discuss the problems that led to the referral.  The EAP counselor will ask the 
employee to sign a waiver allowing the counselor to call the supervisor and tell 
him or her whether the employee saw the counselor and followed 
recommendations.  No other information is revealed to the supervisor.  In 
circumstances where termination may occur, the employee may be asked to 
sign an acknowledgement letter indicating that the failure to go to the EAP and 
follow recommendations will result in termination. 

 
(c) Employee Assistance Services 

 
 The City has established a resource file of employee assistance services 

providers, substance abuse programs, mental health providers, and other 
persons, entities or organizations which are available to assist employees with 
personal or behavioral problems including substance abuse issues. 

 
 
Amended: 6/1/15 
 7/18/16 

223

ITEM 17.



205:     MEDICAL PROCEDURES 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls that applicants to whom a conditional offer of 
employment has been extended and current employees may be required to undergo medical tests, 
procedures, or examinations whenever Management determines that these are necessary for the 
safe or efficient operation of the City and/or in compliance with Federal mandates. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1)  Successful applicants for employment may be required, as a condition of 
employment, to pass a medical examination to establish their fitness to perform the jobs for 
which they have applied without endangering the health and safety of themselves or others.  If 
management determines that an examination is appropriate for a particular position, all 
applicants for the job to whom a conditional offer of employment has been made are to be 
examined at City expense. 

 
(2) Employees may be required to have a medical examination on other occasions when 

the examination is job-related and consistent with business necessity.  For example, a medical 
examination may be required when an employee transferred to a new position, is exposed to 
toxic or unhealthful conditions, requests an accommodation for a disability, or has a questionable 
ability to perform job duties. 
 

(3) The City may require job applicants and current employees to take a test to 
determine the presence of drugs, narcotics, or alcohol, in accordance with and as required by 
State and Federal laws.  (See 203: Drug Free Workplace.) 
 

(4)   Employees are encouraged, but not required, to have physical examinations 
periodically during their employment and to participate in wellness programs.  Police and Fire 
employees are required to comply with all physical examinations and wellness programs as 
directed by their Department. 

 
(5) Medical examinations required by the City will be paid for by the City and must be 

performed by a physician or other healthcare provider at a licensed medical facility designated 
or approved by the City.  Records of medical examinations paid for by the City are the property 
of the City, and the examination records are to be treated as confidential and held in separate 
medical files.  However, records of specific examinations, if required by law or regulations, will 
be made available to the employee, relevant insurance companies, and the employee's doctor.  
Nothing in this policy should be construed as impacting coverage or payments under the City’s 
group health insurance plan. 

 
(6)  Employees who need to use prescription drugs or narcotics while at work must report this 

requirement to their supervisor if the use might impair their ability to perform the job safely and 
effectively.  Depending on the circumstances, employees may be reassigned, forbidden to perform 

224

ITEM 17.



205:          MEDICAL PROCEDURES 
 
 

 2 

certain tasks, or even prohibited from working if they are judged unable to perform their jobs safely 
and properly while taking prescribed drugs or narcotics. 
 

(7)  The City reserves the right to require acceptable confirmation of the nature and extent 
of any illness or injury that requires an employee to be absent from scheduled work.  Employees 
returning from a disability leave or an absence caused by health problems may be required to 
provide a doctor's certification of their ability to perform their regular work satisfactorily without 
endangering themselves or their fellow employees.  (See 701: Attendance and Punctuality and 
704: Leaves of Absence.) 
 

(8)  Employees who become ill on the job or suffer any work-connected injury, no matter 
how minor, must report to their supervisors who will arrange referral for examination, treatment, 
and recording of the incident.  Time spent by an employee in waiting for and receiving this 
medical attention will be considered hours worked for pay purposes.  Employees who fail to 
report work-related injuries are subject to discipline, up to and including discharge, and may 
jeopardize any right to workers’ compensation benefits.  (See 602:  Employee Safety.) 

 
(9)  Unless deemed medically unnecessary or inappropriate by a health care professional 

designated by the City for such purpose, failure for any reason to successfully complete a City 
required examination or evaluation, including all associated tests and procedures, shall result in 
immediate removal from work duties, or continuation of leave from work duties, until successful 
completion of such evaluation or examination.  Unreasonable failure to submit to such 
examination or evaluation at the time and date scheduled by the City shall be considered an 
unsuccessful completion of such examination or evaluation as of the date and time of the 
scheduled examination or evaluation.  Employees may be allowed to use paid benefit time during 
any absences caused by failure to successfully complete such examination or evaluation, at the 
discretion of the Department Director. 

 
 

Amended  6/1/15 
  3/1/19 
  1/6/20 

 
  

225

ITEM 17.



213:     TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to terminate employment because of an 
employee's resignation, discharge, or retirement; the expiration of an employment contract; the 
permanent reduction in the work force; or for disciplinary purposes outlined in other sections of 
these Policies.  Discharge can be for any reason not prohibited by law.  In the absence of a 
specific written agreement, employees are free to resign at any time and for any reason. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Employees must give written notice of their intent to resign or retire.  Failure to give 
timely written notice of resignation or retirement may result in forfeiture of non-vested City 
benefits, no payment for accrued vacation, and ineligibility for reemployment.  Notice 
requirements for retiring employees are found in 214: Retirement.  The following notices of 
resignation are required, unless waived or modified in writing by the City Administrator: 
 

(a) Department Directors and Division Managers must give at least four weeks' 
written notice of the last day work duties will be performed; 

 
(b) All other employees must give at least two weeks' notice of the last date that 

work duties will be performed. 
 

(2) Employees who are absent from work for three consecutive days without being 
excused or giving proper notice will be considered as having voluntarily quit.  Consideration may 
be given in unusual circumstances or the employee's incapacitation preventing notification. 

 
(3) In certain circumstances, the City may choose to require that employees leave 

employment immediately upon receipt of notice and employee will receive their pay until 
termination of notice period. 
 

(4) At the time of resignation, employees may be allowed to use all earned vacation 
time and compensatory time for the current year, in order to extend their effective termination 
date.  This practice will be allowed upon approval of the Department Director (or City 
Administrator if a director position) and Financial Services Division.  Accrued vacation time 
may not be used to extend the effective termination date.  Although vacation which is earned 
between the last date that work duties will be performed and the effective termination date may 
extend the effective termination date, vacation which is accrued during that time may not extend 
the effective termination date, but instead will be paid in a lump sum upon termination along 
with vacation that accrued prior to the last date that work duties were performed and earned but 
unused vacation. 

 
(5) Neither paid nor unpaid time off work may be used to satisfy the notice 

requirements set forth in this policy, unless employees are on an approved leave, or as approved 

226

ITEM 17.



213:     TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
 

 

 

2 

in advance by the Department Director (or City Administrator if a director position) and the 
Financial Services Division. 

 
(6) For Policies and Procedures leading up to discharge for disciplinary reasons, see 

809: Disciplinary Procedure. 
 

(7) For Policies and Procedures governing termination as a result of retirement, see 
214: Retirement. 
 

(8) For Policies and Procedures governing termination of an employment contract, see 
215: Employment Agreements. 
 

(9) For Policies and Procedures governing a permanent reduction in force, see 212: 
Layoff and Recall. 
 

(10) The Financial Services Division will attempt to have the final paycheck for the 
terminating employees available on the first payday following the last regular paycheck the 
employee received.  The terminating employee must return all City identification cards, keys, 
tools (where applicable), manuals, or other property belonging to the City.  If the employee owes 
the City any money or is responsible for any lost or damaged property or unused uniform 
allowance, those accounts are to be settled as originally agreed or by deduction from final pay. 
 

(11) For Policies and Procedures governing severance payments, see 309: Severance Pay.   
 

(12) Subject to any collective bargaining agreements and civil service rules and 
regulations, terminating employees may be eligible for future employment if notice is provided 
pursuant to comment (1) and if recommended by their supervisor and approved by the Financial 
Services Division.  Terminating employees who wish to be considered for future employment 
should inform the Financial Services Division.  Terminating employees lose all seniority rights 
upon leaving the City, regardless of the cause for termination, unless the break in service is less 
than thirty days and the employee is reemployed in the same or equivalent position. 

 
 (13)     The termination of employment of qualifying veterans shall comply with Iowa 
Code § 35C.6. 
 

(14) Requests for employment references should be made in writing to the Financial 
Services Division and should include an authorization by the employee for the release of the 
requested information.   
 

(15)   Termination and discharge procedures are only guidelines and do not create a 
legal contract between the City and its employees.  The City reserves the right to implement its 
Policies and Procedures as it sees fit. 
 
 

227

ITEM 17.



 3 

Amended  6/1/15 
  3/1/19 
  1/6/20 
 
 
 
 

228

ITEM 17.



214:     RETIREMENT 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls that employees are eligible for normal retirement 
when satisfying the requirement of the Iowa Public Employee Retirement System (IPERS), or in 
the case of civil service police officers and firefighters when satisfying the requirements of the 
Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa (MFPRSI). 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Employees who have been employed for at least five years may elect to vest their 
retirement with the City and may be eligible for retirement benefits upon reaching the age of 
fifty-five. 
 

(2) Employees who choose to take normal retirement are requested to give the Financial 
Services Division as much advance notice of their intent as possible, but at least 90 days advance 
written notice is required.  Employees who have given notice of either normal or early retirement 
may be called upon to help in the training of their replacements. 

 
(a) The notice required in this policy is notice of the last date that work duties will 

be performed. 
 

(b) Neither paid nor unpaid time off work may be used to satisfy the notice 
requirements set forth in this policy, unless employees are on an approved 
leave, or as approved in advance by the Department Director (or City 
Administrator if a director position). 

 
(c) At the time of retirement, employees may be allowed to use all earned 

vacation time and compensatory time for the current year, in order to extend 
their effective retirement date.  This practice will be allowed upon approval of 
the Department Director (or City Administrator if a director position) and the 
Financial Services Division.  Accrued vacation time may not be used to 
extend the effective retirement date.  Although vacation which is earned 
between the last date that work duties will be performed and the effective 
retirement date may extend the effective retirement date, vacation which is 
accrued during that time may not extend the effective retirement date, but 
instead will be paid in a lump sum upon retirement along with vacation that 
accrued prior to the last date that work duties were performed and earned but 
unused vacation. 

 
(d) Failure to give timely written notice of retirement may result in forfeiture of 

non-vested City benefits and forfeiture of severance pay (See 309: Severance 
Pay) and no payment of accrued vacation benefits (See 506: Vacations). 

 

229

ITEM 17.



214:     RETIREMENT 
 

 

 

2 

(3) The City may, at its discretion, set a mandatory retirement age for certain jobs 
where age is a bona fide occupational qualification and where that qualification is reasonably 
necessary to the normal operation of the City's business.  Employees may extend their 
employment with the City, beyond their normal retirement age, for specific periods, not 
exceeding one year, with the approval of their Department Director, City Administrator, Mayor, 
and City Council.  
 

(4) The City may require mandatory retirement of employees who meet the following 
requirements as outlined in 29 U.S.C. §631(c): 
 

(a) is at least 65 years of age; 
 

(b) is employed in a bona fide executive or high policymaking position for the 
two-year period immediately before retirement; and 

 
(c) is entitled to an immediate non-forfeitable annual retirement benefit from an 

employer pension, savings, or deferred compensation plan, or any 
combination of those plans, which equals in the aggregate at least $44,000 per 
year.  29 U.S.C. §631(c)(1). 

 
The City is not obligated to exercise this option of mandatory retirement for 

qualified employees, and the City may, in its discretion, make retirement decisions based upon 
the best interest of the City.   

 
(5) Employees who qualify for retirement under this policy may be eligible to receive 

pension, health, and various other benefits in accordance with the provisions of the City's 
employee benefit plans.  Retiring employees are eligible to receive pay for unused earned 
vacation and accrued unused vacation on a pro rata basis for the number of days they worked 
during their employment year.  In addition, retiring employees are eligible to receive pay for 
unused accrued compensatory time and floating holidays on a pro rata basis for the number of 
days the retiring employee worked during the fiscal year.  (See 309: Severance Pay.) 
 
 
Amended  1/1/09 
 6/1/15 
 3/1/19 
 1/6/20 

230

ITEM 17.



307:     OVERTIME 
 
Policy: 
 
 It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to pay overtime to non-exempt hourly 
employees when appropriate and required by the law.  The provisions of any applicable 
collective bargaining agreements shall apply and this policy shall not apply for any bargaining 
unit employees. 
 
Comment: 
 
  Overtime rates will be paid to non-exempt employees for time worked as follows: 
 

(1) Holiday Rates:  When an employee, not a shift worker, is called to work on a day 
being observed by the City as a holiday, and the employee is not otherwise scheduled to work, 
they shall be paid time and one-half for the time worked.  Such pay shall be in addition to 
holiday pay.  (See 503: Holidays Policy for employees scheduled to work on a holiday.) 
 

(2) Overtime/Work Week:  Employees shall receive time and one-half for hours 
worked beyond 40 hours in a work week.  Holidays, other than “floating holidays,” shall be 
included as “time worked” for purposes of calculating the 40 hours. Sick leave, workers’ 
compensation time off, vacation, floating holidays, and comp time are not included as “time 
worked” for purposes of calculating the 40 hours.  Employees will not be paid overtime for call 
back, whether prior to or after a shift, until an employee has worked 40 hours in a work week. 
 

(3) Continuous Time Worked:  Employees shall receive double time for continuous 
time worked (including time for meals) after sixteen (16) consecutive hours of work and until 
relieved from duties for at least eight (8) consecutive hours. 
 

(4) Consecutive Time Worked:  Employees having worked sixteen (16) or more 
consecutive hours shall be relieved as early as possible, dependent upon service requirements.  If 
any portion of the relieved period falls within their regular scheduled workday, straight time pay 
shall be rendered for those hours. 
 

(5) Call to Work on Day Off:  When an employee is called to work on a regular day 
off, they shall be paid at the overtime rate of time and one-half for the actual hours worked.  If an 
employee voluntarily postpones a vacation day to work, they shall be paid straight time. If an 
employee is provided at least 12 hours notice prior to a planned vacation day or regular day off 
that they will be required to postpone the vacation day or regular day off in order to report to 
work, they shall be paid straight time.  If an employee is provided with less than 12 hours notice 
prior to a planned vacation day that they will be required to postpone the vacation day in order to 
work, they shall be paid at the overtime rate of time and one-half for the actual hours worked.    
 

(6) Part-time and seasonal employees in Parks and Public Works Divisions shall be 
paid overtime in accordance with this Policy (See §2.2 and 2.3 of Park/Public Works collective 
bargaining agreement). 

231

ITEM 17.



 
 
 
307:     OVERTIME 
 
 

 2 

 
(7)      Exempt Classes:  No overtime, or compensatory time off, will be paid to exempt 

employees, except as provided for in Comment (10). 
 

(8) Equally Distributed Overtime:  Insofar as practical, all overtime work shall be 
distributed equally between regular employees in a classification and approved by the 
employee’s Supervisor consistent with official operations. 
 

(9)       Compensatory Time Off:  In lieu of any paid overtime provision, an employee 
may, at his or her election, choose to apply for compensatory time off.  Compensatory time off 
will be earned at the rate of time and one-half for all hours worked over forty (40) in a week.  
Department Directors may limit the amount of accumulated compensatory time off within their 
respective departments, subject to the restrictions of maximum accumulations set forth in Federal 
law.  Requests for compensatory time leave will be granted within a reasonable time so long as it 
does not unduly disrupt the departments’ operations. 

 
Accrued balances of compensatory time at the termination of employment will be paid at a rate 
not less than the average rate received by the employee over the last three years of employment 
or the final regular rate, whichever is higher. 
 

 (10)    Extra Pay for Catastrophic Events, Natural Disasters, and other Exigent 
Circumstances: In the event grants are available, or there is a catastrophic event, natural disaster 
or other exigent circumstances that necessitate exempt employees working extraordinary hours, 
extra pay, which may or may not be computed on a time and a half basis, may be paid to these 
exempt employees, upon City Council approval.  Considerations by City Council will include, 
but are not limited to, whether the expense of the extra pay is reimbursable by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency or some other governmental reimbursement program as well as 
the nature of the exigent circumstances and the duration of such events or circumstances. 
 
 (11) Checking E-mail during off work hours.  Employees are not allowed to check 
email during off work hours unless a supervisor has approved such practice in advance and 
agreed to pay overtime. 

 
 

Amended  1/1/05 
 1/1/09 
 1/23/12 
 1/3/19 
 1/6/20 

232

ITEM 17.



309:     SEVERANCE PAY 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide severance pay to qualifying 
terminating employees in accordance with the following guidelines: 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Employees hired on or before July 1, 1983, have the sick leave severance program 
they elected in writing and filed with the Financial Services Division.  Non-union employees 
hired on or before July 1, 1983, have the option to elect the formula set forth in Comment #2 by 
filing a written election with the Financial Services Division no later than June 30, 2004. 
 

(2) Full-time employees hired after July 1, 1983, and before July 1, 1989, will be paid 
for unused sick leave remaining as of their termination date using the following formula: 

 
• 0 – 720 hours remaining:  No severance pay 
 
• More than 720 hours but equal to or less than 1440 hours remaining:  100% 

payment for the hours remaining over 720 hours up to a maximum of 1440 
hours 

 
• More than 1440 hours remaining:  50% payment for the remaining hours 

 
• Examples:  400 hours remaining equals No severance pay 

 
1200 hours remaining equals 480 hours of severance pay:  
(1200 - 720 = 480 x 100% = 480) 
 
2000 hours remaining equals 1000 hours of severance pay:  
(50% x 2000 = 1000) 

 
(3) A “day” of unused sick leave for 8-hour work day employees is equal to 8 hours for 

purposes of this policy. 
 

(4) A “day” of unused sick leave for less than 8-hour work day employees is equal to 
the hours normally worked for purposes of this policy. 

 
(5)    A “day” of unused sick leave for more than 8 hour work day employees is equal to 8 

hours for purposes of this policy.  This would include eligible 24 hour shift employees. 
 

(6) Employees hired after July 1, 1989 are not eligible for any sick leave severance 
benefits to be paid to them in cash.  However, effective July 1, 2004, employees hired after     

233

ITEM 17.



309:     SEVERANCE PAY 
 
 

 

 

2 

July 1, 1989 who are non-union, and who have given timely written notice of resignation or 
retirement in accordance with 213: Termination of Employment and 214: Retirement, shall be 
eligible to use any sick leave accruals remaining after application of the formula set forth in 
Comment #2 for future medical insurance premiums for the employee and, if eligible, the 
employee’s spouse and/or children.  For purposes of this policy the term “medical insurance” 
shall include group health and prescription coverage, but not dental, vision, or any other 
coverage.  Also for purposes of this policy, initial and continued eligibility for payment of future 
medical insurance premiums for the employee’s spouse and children is determined in the same 
way as eligibility for coverage is determined according to the terms of the City’s group medical 
insurance policy in effect at the time eligibility is being determined.  Any payments for medical 
insurance premiums shall be made in accordance with any IRS publications and regulations in 
effect at the time of the employee’s severance.  Any payments or reimbursements shall be made 
in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Procedures of the Financial Services Division.  

 
(7) Part-time employees shall be eligible for sick leave severance calculated in 

accordance with the formula set forth in Paragraph 2 above, but such eligible part-time 
employees shall be paid for remaining sick leave in a lump sum cash payment, and not payment 
for medical insurance premiums. 

 
(8) Any sick leave casual day that was earned within one year of termination shall be 

forfeited upon termination.  Employees are not eligible for any sick leave casual day benefits 
effective July 1, 2004.  

 
(9) Employees who have completed the probationary period shall receive their 

accrued vacation time benefits on the basis of the number of days accrued on a pro-rata basis of 
time worked during the fiscal year.  However, new employees will not receive accrued vacation 
benefits if they leave City employment prior to their one-year anniversary. (See 506: Vacations)  
 

(10) Employees who have completed the probationary period shall receive any accrued 
floating holiday pay on the basis of the number of days accrued on a pro-rata basis of time 
worked during the fiscal year. 

 
(11) Non-exempt employees shall receive compensation for any unused, accrued 

compensatory time. 
 

(12) Any benefit time off which is used in excess of that which is earned or accrued at 
the time of termination shall be paid back to the City by deduction from the final paycheck or 
will be billed to the terminating employee and shall be paid back to the City no later than 10 days 
from receipt of final paycheck. 
 

(13) All severance benefits of an employee who dies while employed with the City, 
will be paid to the employee's spouse, or if so directed by the employee in writing to the 
Financial Services Division, to the employee's estate. 

234

ITEM 17.



 

 3 

(14) Employees may elect to split their severance payment between two tax years or 
have it held in escrow for payment of benefits as allowed by Federal law and in accordance with 
any plans which may be implemented by the City. 
 

(15) Benefit plan termination options will be discussed with the Financial Services 
Division during the employee’s pre-departure meeting. 
 

(16) Employees may receive a severance estimate once per calendar year upon request 
to the Financial Services Division. 

 
(17) Employees whose status changes from part-time to full-time shall be credited with 

the sick days earned while part-time.  Employees whose status changes from full-time to part-
time shall be paid in a lump sum under the formula in Paragraph 2 above if eligible, and such 
payment shall include sick days earned while working full-time.  Employees whose status 
changes from union member to non-union member shall be credited with sick days earned while 
a union member. 

 
(18) Employees shall be required to show reasonable proof of medical insurance as 

required by the Financial Services Division in order to be reimbursed. 
 
 

Amended  3/22/04 
 6/1/15 
 7/18/16 
 3/1/19 
 1/6/20 

235

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE      
            AND DRIVING POLICY    
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide vehicles for business use, to allow 
employees and elected and appointed officials to drive on City business, to reimburse for 
business use of personal vehicles, and to maintain standards for safety according to the guidelines 
below.  “Vehicles” for purposes of this policy includes “automobile” and “equipment.” 
 
Comment: 
 
1.  Vehicle Usage in General: 
 

A. Employees may not drive vehicles for City business without the prior approval of 
their supervisor.  Before approving a driver, the supervisor must check the employee's driving 
record, verify the existence of a valid driver's license, and make sure the employee is eligible for 
coverage under any applicable City insurance. 
 

B. Employees holding jobs designated as requiring regular driving for business as a 
condition of employment must be able to meet the driver approval standards of this policy at all 
times.  In addition, such employees must inform their supervisors of any changes that may affect 
their ability to meet the standards of this policy.  For all other jobs, driving is considered only an 
incidental function of the position. 
 

C. City vehicles will be assigned to those departments which have demonstrated a 
continuing need for them.  Additional vehicles are maintained in a motor pool for use as needed. 
Rental cars also may be used by employees traveling out-of-town on City business, subject to 
supervisory approval. 
 

D. Employees who need transportation in the course of their normal work may be 
assigned a City vehicle for their use.  Employees who may be assigned a City vehicle include: 
City Administrator, Fire Chief, Community Development Director, Police Chief, Assistant Police 
Chief, Public Safety Services Director, Public Works Director, Recreation & Programs Division 
Manager, Operations and Maintenance Division Manager, Water Reclamation Division Manager, 
Sanitation Section Supervisor, Street Section Supervisor, Fleet Maintenance Supervisor, Waste 
Water Treatment Plant Supervisor,  Finance & Business Operations Director, Park Section 
Supervisor, Traffic Operations Supervisor and Building Maintenance Supervisor.  All other 
employees needing transportation for City business may use vehicles assigned to their 
department or those drawn from the motor pool.  As a last alternative, when no City vehicles are 
available, employees may use their own vehicles for business purposes, but only with the prior 
approval of their supervisor. 
 

E. Employees who drive a vehicle on City business must, in addition to meeting the 
approval requirements above, exercise due diligence to drive safely and to maintain security of 

236

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

 

2 

the vehicle and its contents.  Drivers also must make sure that the vehicle meets any City or legal 
standards for insurance, maintenance, and safety.  Employees are responsible for any driving 
infractions or fines as a result of their driving. 
 

F. Employees are not permitted, under any circumstances, to operate a City vehicle, or 
a personal vehicle for City business, when any physical or mental impairment causes the 
employee to be unable to drive safely.  This prohibition includes, but is not limited to, 
circumstances in which the employee is temporarily unable to operate a vehicle safely or legally 
because of illness, medication, or intoxication.   
 

G. To the extent possible, employees should avoid use of cellular phones, mobile 
devices, DVD players, laptops, ear buds, head phones, or other electronic devices, while driving 
and operating City vehicles and equipment.  When a cellular phone or mobile device must be 
used, employees should pull over to the side of the road until the call and/or message is 
completed.  In the alternative, employees should use hands-free cellular phone or mobile devices. 
There shall be no texting or sending electronic messages by employees while driving and 
operating City vehicles and equipment. 
 

H. There shall be no smoking in City vehicles. 
 
I. Employees may not use City vehicles for non-business purposes except when such 

use is incidental to the business purpose such as when on or near the route of a business purpose, 
or for an authorized break, or with prior approval of the Department Director. 
 

J. Employees driving on City business may claim reimbursement for parking fees and 
tolls actually incurred.  In addition, employees driving City vehicles may claim reimbursement 
for gasoline, and other expenses directly incurred for business purposes.  These claims shall be 
documented by presenting cash receipts to the Financial Services Division.   
 

K. Employees must obtain approval from their Department Director to use their 
personal vehicles for approved business purposes.  Upon approval, the employee shall be 
required to sign a waiver related to the use of the employee’s personal vehicle for city business.  
Employees may be allowed mileage reimbursement, if applicable, upon approval by the 
Department Director (or City Administrator for directors).  If mileage reimbursement is approved 
it will be equal to the Internal Revenue Service maximum mileage allowance for the use.  If an 
employee is given a mileage allowance, the mileage shall be computed from the point of 
departure or the employee’s work site, whichever is closest to the point of destination.  
Employees will not be reimbursed for any expenses incurred while driving personal vehicles to 
and from work.  Mileage incurred while using the employee’s personal vehicle for health care 
visits in connection with workers compensation, short or long term disability, or police and 
firefighter disability claims, are not considered city business for purposes of this policy. 
 

L. Employees must report any accident, theft, or damage involving a City vehicle or a 

237

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

  

3 

personal vehicle used on City business to their supervisor and the Legal Services Division, 
regardless of the extent of damage or lack of injuries.  Such reports must be made immediately or 
as soon as possible after the incident.  Employees are expected to cooperate fully with authorities 
in the event of an accident.  However, they should not make any statements other than in reply to 
questions of investigating officers.  See Comment #4. 
 

M. Time spent by nonexempt employees (those subject to the wage and hour provisions 
of the Fair Labor Standards Act) in driving a City or personal vehicle on City business during 
normal working hours (excluding traveling to and from work at the beginning and end of the 
workday) is considered hours worked for pay purposes. 
 

N. Non-City employees are not authorized to drive City vehicles.  Non-City employees 
may be a passenger in City vehicles for the purpose of conducting City business and with the 
prior approval of the Department Director.   See also 403: Travel Policy. 
 
2.  Traffic Citations and Operation of City-owned Vehicles: 

 
 Federal, State and local laws control traffic on the public roads.  These laws control what 
drivers are required to do as they relate to moving traffic, safety and weights and measures when 
operating City vehicles.  This policy is intended to ensure compliance with these laws and the safe 
handling and operating of City vehicles and to fix responsibility for the payment of traffic citations.   
    
 A. Management Responsibility: 
 

 1) The Directors of each department whose employees operate City-owned 
vehicles shall provide to their respective employees, who at any time operate City-
owned vehicles, all equipment and training which is necessary to ensure the safe 
and lawful operation of all City-owned vehicles by such employees. 

 
 2) The Director of the Municipal Operations & Programs Department shall 

ensure that each City-owned vehicle which can only be operated by a person with 
a commercial driver's license (CDL) to be clearly marked in the driver’s 
compartment of each vehicle.  The Directors shall ensure that each vehicle subject 
to weight restrictions shall have the weight restrictions clearly marked in the 
driver's compartment of the vehicle and on the outside of the vehicle in a 
conspicuous place.  This posting of the weight restriction shall constitute notice to 
all city employees that the vehicle shall at no time be operated on the public 
streets or highways in excess of the maximum gross weight restrictions marked in 
and on the vehicle.  These Directors shall be responsible to advise all city 
employees in their respective departments that the operator of the vehicle is 
responsible for obeying all laws pertaining to the safe operation of the vehicle, for 
use of all required safety equipment, and for strict compliance with all laws or 
regulations pertaining to weight restrictions with respect to such vehicles. These 

238

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

 

4 

Directors shall be responsible for informing all city employees in their respective 
departments that the operator of a vehicle is responsible for any fines, surcharges 
and court costs which are imposed as a result of any convictions for any traffic 
citations issued to the driver when the driver is operating a City-owned vehicle on 
the public streets or highways in violation of law or the provisions of this policy. 

 
3) The Directors of each department shall ensure that all drivers of City-
owned vehicles subject to gross weight restrictions shall be given the opportunity 
to weigh such vehicles prior to the vehicles being operated on public streets or 
highways.  The weighing of vehicles shall include the use of portable scales, 
transfer station scales, or private scales at quarries or co-ops, prior to the vehicles 
being operated on the public streets or highways. 
 

B. Supervisor & Mechanic Responsibilities:    
 

 1) All supervisors in the Department of Municipal Operations & Programs 
shall be responsible for training all drivers of City-owned vehicles in the proper 
method of weighing vehicles subject to weight restrictions, use of scales, and 
inspection of vehicles for safety and equipment violations. 

 
 2) No supervisor or mechanic shall knowingly allow a City employee to 

operate a City-owned vehicle in violation of the law.  If a supervisor directs a 
driver to operate a City-owned vehicle knowing that such vehicle is in violation of 
the law, the supervisor shall be solely responsible for all fines, surcharges, and 
costs and any applicable legal fees resulting from such citations. 

 
 3) If a mechanic or supervisor knowingly permits a driver to operate a City-

owned vehicle in violation of the law, such supervisor or mechanic shall be 
responsible, along with the driver, for all fines, surcharges, costs and any 
applicable legal fees resulting from such citation. 

 
  C. Driver Responsibilities: 
 

1) Each City employee who operates any City-owned vehicle in the course of 
his or her duties as a City employee shall be properly licensed by the State of Iowa 
for the use of the specific vehicle being operated, including having a valid 
commercial driver's license (CDL), if applicable. 

 
2) Each City employee shall obey all traffic laws and regulations at all times 
when operating any City-owned vehicle. 

 
 3) Each City employee shall conduct daily inspections of any City-owned 

vehicle prior to its use, with such inspection to be documented in accordance with 

239

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

  

5 

applicable departmental policies and procedures. Each City employee is 
responsible for immediately notifying his or her supervisor or mechanic of any 
equipment or safety malfunctions or defects in the vehicle which violate federal, 
state or local laws, prior to the vehicle being operated.  If a city employee fails to 
conduct the required inspection or fails to report any malfunctions or defects, the 
employee shall be responsible for any fines, surcharges and costs, and any 
applicable legal fees, which result from citations issued for any such safety 
malfunctions or defects.  

 
 4) If a City employee is issued a citation for a traffic, over-weight or 

equipment violation, the employee shall immediately notify his or her supervisor 
of the issuance of the citation. The City reserves the right to impose disciplinary 
action, up to and including dismissal, for violations of this policy by any City 
employee. The facts and circumstances of each case shall be reviewed by 
management and the Risk Management Committee, along with the work record of 
the employee, in considering what appropriate disciplinary action should be taken 
with respect to such violation. 

 
 5) No City employee shall operate any City-owned vehicle in violation of 

weight restrictions which are marked in or on any City-owned vehicle. It shall be 
the responsibility of the driver to ensure that the vehicle is not operated on a 
public street or highway in excess of the legal weight limitations.  Each City 
employee who operates a vehicle subject to weight limitations shall be responsible 
for weighing of the vehicle prior to operating the vehicle on a public street or 
highway, in order to ensure full compliance with all applicable laws.  If a City 
employee is cited for a traffic violation or overweight violation, all fines, 
surcharges, court costs, along with any applicable legal fees, if any, shall be the 
responsibility of the operator. 
 

 6) A refusal by a City employee to operate a vehicle contrary to law shall not 
subject the employee to any disciplinary action. 

 
 7) Each City employee who operates City-owned vehicles, each mechanic 

who works on City-owned vehicles, and each supervisor having supervisory 
authority over City employees who operate vehicles, shall be required to 
acknowledge in writing that he or she has been given a copy of this policy, that the 
employee has been trained in conducting safety inspections, and has been given 
training necessary to ensure safe and lawful operation of all City-owned vehicles.  
For new employees, this policy shall be implemented with respect to such 
employee prior to that employee being directed to operate any City-owned 
vehicle. 

     
 

240

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

 

6 

 
3.  Driving Record: 
 
 The City is participating in a self-insured retention program for losses incurred as part of 
daily operations.  One of the biggest areas of loss exposure is in vehicle operations.  Driving City 
vehicles involves considerable responsibility and will be monitored accordingly.  Drivers are 
expected to perform in a safe manner, and to maintain a current license and a good driving record 
that is deemed insurable.  Driving habits off the job reflect an overall approach and a general attitude 
toward driving.  Courts have held public entities liable for damages and injuries to third parties, if the 
jurisdiction knew or should have known that the employee was an unfit driver.  This policy 
establishes both a pre-employment and an annual monitoring program of employee driving records. 
 
 A. Prospective employees who will be required to drive as part of their duties will 
have driving records reviewed as a condition of employment.  Those required to have a chauf-
feur's license or commercial driver's license (CDL) must maintain the license as a condition of 
continued employment. 
 
 B. All employees will have their driving record reviewed on a calendar year basis.  
The review will examine the employee’s driving history and determine insurability in 
conjunction with information provided by the City insurance advisor. 
 
 C. Employee driving records will be kept as part of the personnel file and shall be 
confidential.  Exceptions to this will be in the case where department/division heads must 
counsel and alert employees as to the seriousness of their driving violations.  Driving related 
training will be mandatory and training attendance records will be kept in employee personnel 
files. 
 
 D. Violations recorded during the period under review will be examined as to 
frequency and severity and will be handled as listed under the criteria for discipline section. 
 
 E. Any employee who must be licensed to drive as part of their essential job duties 
shall be subject to immediate discharge for the loss of driving privileges or the loss of 
insurability.  Rulings on work permits will be made by Risk Management Committee.  
Employees must immediately report any loss of driving privileges or pending/potential loss of 
driving privileges to their supervisor.   If it is in the City’s best interest and if work conditions 
permit, employees may be given unpaid administrative leave for a maximum of 90-180 days until 
the employee is able to return to work with driving privileges restored.  Employees on unpaid 
administrative leave for this purpose may use accrued benefit time off (vacation and 
compensatory time). 
 
 

4. Motor Vehicle Accidents Discipline Policy: 
 

241

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

  

7 

Driving City vehicles involves considerable responsibility and will be monitored closely. 
Drivers are expected to perform in a safe manner and to maintain a current license.  Drivers must 
maintain a good driving record that is deemed insurable. 

 
The purpose of this policy is to establish general guidelines for issuing discipline when 

accidents occur while employees are driving in the course of their duties. 
 
A. All accidents, regardless of whether another person or vehicle is involved, must be 

immediately reported by the employee to their immediate supervisor. 
 

B. All accidents that occur while an employee is on City business, regardless of 
whether employee was in a personal vehicle or City vehicle, must be reported by the employee to 
their immediate supervisor.    
 

C. Employees must immediately call the police if: 
 

(1) The accident involves another person, either as a pedestrian, bicyclist, driver 
or passenger in a vehicle, regardless of the extent of the property damaged or 
whether there are any claimed injuries;  

(2) The accident involves damage to another person’s property, regardless of the 
amount of damage; 

(3)  The accident involves damage to City property if the amount of damage 
appears to be in the amount of $1,000 or more. 

 
D. Discipline, up to and including discharge, will be given depending upon the 

circumstances. 
 

E. Factors to be considered include, but are not limited to: 
 

(1) Whether the accident or damage occurred in the normal course of the 
employee’s job duties and is a result of carrying out those duties in a 
reasonable manner. 

 
(2) The extent to which the accident was preventable. 
 

 (3) Whether other persons were placed in danger. 
 

(4) The employee’s disciplinary history and driving record while employed 
with the City. 

 
 (5) Whether safety rules were violated. 
 

(6) The extent to which the employee’s actions constituted negligence, 

242

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

 

8 

recklessness, inattentiveness or carelessness. 
 

(7) Whether a traffic ticket was issued is not a dispositive factor in 
determining whether discipline will be given. 

 
(8) Whether the accident was caused by unavoidable circumstances not under 

the control of the employee. 
 

(9) The above statements are guidelines only when considering appropriate 
discipline.  The City reserves the right to take appropriate action, up to and 
including discharge, when the conduct, behavior or reputation of the 
employee is such that the presence of the employee in the workforce is not in 
the best interest of the City. 

 
5. Volunteers, Elected and Appointed Officials  Driving for City Business: 

 
A.    A volunteer or elected or appointed official for the City may be granted 

permission to use a City vehicle for City business under the following conditions: 
 

(1) The volunteer or elected or appointed official must be given permission by the 
Department Director or City Administrator, as the case may be. 

 
(2) Prior to driving a City vehicle the volunteer or elected or appointed official 

shall allow the City to make a copy of his/her driver’s license and upon review 
the City determines the volunteer or elected or appointed official has an 
acceptable driving history. 

 
B.    A volunteer or elected or appointed official for the City may be granted 

permission to use his/her personal vehicle for City business under the following conditions: 
 

(1) The volunteer or elected or appointed official must be given permission by the 
Department Director or City Administrator, as the case may be. 

 
(2) Prior to driving a personal vehicle for City business the volunteer or elected or 

appointed official must provide the City with a copy of his/her insurance 
coverage; allow the City to make a copy of his/her driver’s license to 
determine if the volunteer or elected or appointed official has an acceptable 
driving history; and sign a liability waiver.  

 
C.    The volunteer or elected or appointed official shall only drive for City business 

on assignments or duties directly authorized by the Department Director or City Administrator, 
as the case may be.  Mileage reimbursement, if applicable, may be paid upon approval.  The 

243

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

  

9 

terms of this Policy 401 referring to employees also apply to volunteers and elected and 
appointed officials unless by their context they obviously do not apply. 
 
 
Amended  1/1/05  6/1/15 
  7/1/06  7/18/16 
  1/1/08  3/1/19 
  2/13/12 
  11/12/12  
  1/6/20    

WAIVER AND INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 
 
 

 I, the undersigned, _____________, an employee of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(hereinafter “the City”), acknowledge that I am attending a convention or meeting at 
________________, ________, on the ______ day of ______________, 201__.  I understand 
that the City is paying for certain of the costs and expenses associated with my attendance at this 
meeting or convention.  I also understand that it is the policy of the City that I should use a City-
owned vehicle for transportation to and from this meeting or convention where at all possible.  I 
further understand that the City is willing to provide a City-owned vehicle to this convention or 
meeting, but that I have requested permission to use my own private automobile for personal 
reasons, and that the City has agreed to reimburse me for the cost of said travel, if applicable.   
 
 In consideration of the City’s agreement to allow me to use my own private automobile 
for transportation, and to reimburse my mileage, I hereby release the City and its agents, officers, 
employees and insurers, from any and all liability to me and any of my passengers, arising out of 
the operation and use by me or my passengers of my private automobile for transportation 
purposes to and from the convention or meeting.  For myself, and for any passengers claiming 
by, through or under me, and our respective assigns, I hereby waive the right to make any such 
claim against the City, its agents, employees, or insurers, for any damages arising out of the 
operation or use of my vehicle during the trip.  I further agree to indemnify and hold the City, its 
agents, officers, employees and insurers, harmless against any claims, demands, costs of action 
and expenses which the City, its agents, officers, employees and insurers, may incur as a result of 
the operation and use of my private automobile for this trip, including, but not limited to, 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
 
 I hereby acknowledge that I have carefully read the foregoing Release and 
Indemnification Agreement, that I am voluntarily signing the same, and I acknowledge receipt of 
a copy hereof. 
 
           Dated this ________ day of ___________________, 20___. 
 
 
    

244

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

 

10 

( Department Director signature) (Employee signature) 
 
 

245

ITEM 17.



401:     AUTOMOBILE, VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT USAGE AND DRIVING POLICY 
 
 

 

  

11 

CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC VOLUNTEER DRIVERS FORM 
 
 

 I, the undersigned, __________________________________________________ (name), 
acknowledge that I have volunteered for the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (hereinafter “the City”).   
 

 I may need to use my own personal vehicle in the course of my volunteer work.  In which 
case, I hereby release the City and its agents, officers, employees and insurers, from any 
and all liability arising out of my use of my personal vehicle for these volunteer activities. 
 I hereby waive the right to make any such claim against the City, its agents, employees, 
or insurers, for any damages arising out of these volunteer activities.  I further agree to 
indemnify and hold the City, its agents, officers, employees and insurers, harmless against 
any claims, demands, costs of action and expenses which the City, its agents, officers, 
employees and insurers, may incur as a result of my volunteer activities with my personal 
vehicle, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees.  

 
 I verify that I am currently a licensed driver in the State of Iowa. I have provided the City 

with a copy of my driver’s license. 
 

 I verify that I have proof of insurance on my vehicle.  I have provided the City with a 
copy of my proof of insurance.    

 
I hereby acknowledge that I have carefully read the foregoing Form, that I am voluntarily signing 
the same, and I acknowledge receipt of a copy hereof. 
 
 
                 Dated this ________ day of ___________________, 20____. 
 
 
_______________________________  _______________________________________ 
(Department Director signature)  (Volunteer signature) 
 
 
  
 

246

ITEM 17.



501:     INSURANCE BENEFITS  
 
Policy:   
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide eligible employees with certain 
insurance benefits.  For specific details of benefits, employees are referred to the insurance plan 
documents.   Provisions in plan documents take precedence over any statements in this policy. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1)   Health Insurance.  Health insurance is available to all full-time employees and 
their dependents (as defined by plan documents).  The City may pay a portion of the premium 
and the employee will pay, via payroll deduction authorized by the employee in writing, the 
remainder of the premium.  If, for any pay period, there are insufficient wages due and payable 
to the employee to cover the premium to be withheld, the employee must submit to the City, not 
later than the employees’ normal payday, the amount of premium owed by the employee.  If the 
premiums for such health insurance are increased, or decreased, the City reserves the right to 
alter the share of premium cost to be paid by employees.  Prescription drug insurance is offered 
to employees covered by the health insurance plan.  Health and prescription drug deductibles and 
co-insurance payments for dependents will be paid by the employee.  Employee’s health and 
prescription drug deductibles and co-insurance payments may be reimbursed pursuant to a §105 
Plan and as determined by City Council and the collective bargaining process. 
 

(2) Life Insurance.  The City will purchase life insurance for eligible full-time 
employees which, in the event of the death of an employee while employed by the City, will 
provide a benefit of one times the employee’s annual base wage.  The City will pay the premium 
for eligible employees; however, the City reserves the right to alter or discontinue this benefit. 
Collective bargaining agreements govern this benefit for employees covered by the bargaining 
unit. 
 

(3) Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance.  The City will purchase 
Accidental Death Insurance and Accidental Dismemberment Insurance for eligible full-time 
employees.  The City will pay the premium for eligible employees; however, the City reserves 
the right to alter or discontinue this benefit. 
 

(4) Long Term Disability Insurance.  The City will purchase long term disability 
insurance for eligible full-time employees which, in the event the employee is disabled from 
working, and otherwise qualifies for benefits, will pay a monthly benefit of a percentage of their 
monthly earnings subject to a maximum monthly benefit as provided for in the plan document.  
The City will pay the premium for eligible employees; however, the City reserves the right to 
alter or discontinue this benefit. 
 

(5) Dental Insurance.  Dental insurance is available to all full-time employees and 
their dependents (as defined by plan documents), when required minimum participation has been 
met.  The employee shall pay the full cost of the premium via payroll deduction authorized by 
the employee in writing.  If, for any pay period, there are insufficient wages due and payable to 

247

ITEM 17.



501:     INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 
 

 2 

the employee to cover the premium to be withheld, the employee must submit to the City, not 
later than the employees’ normal payday, the amount of premium owed by the employee.  If the 
premiums for such dental insurance are increased, or decreased, the employee’s premium will 
change to the new amount.  Deductibles and co-insurance payments for the employee and 
dependents shall be paid by the employee. 

 
(6) Effective Dates of Coverage.  Coverage of an employee under the health 

insurance program shall commence thirty-one (31) days after the employee begins employment 
with the City.  Coverage under life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment 
commences with the date of hire.  Coverage under long-term disability insurance begins the first 
of the month following the date of hire.  Coverage under life insurance, accidental death and 
dismemberment insurance and long-term disability insurance shall terminate upon date of 
termination of employment with the City.  Health insurance coverage terminates upon the last 
day of the month in which employee terminates employment with the City.  Termination within 
the meaning of this section does not terminate any benefit any employees may have under the 
law or as a retiree of the City. 
 

(7)   Retirees Coverage.  Nothing in this Article shall be construed as preventing 
retired employees from voluntarily continuing in force, at their own expense, an existing contract 
for both the employees and their families for which they are qualified by law.  Effective July 1, 
2020, retirees will no longer be eligible for medical and prescription drug insurance and dental 
insurance coverage on the City’s group plans upon reaching the age of 65 or becoming eligible 
for Medicare, whichever occurs first. 
 

(8)   Scope of City Responsibility.  The City reserves the right to alter, modify or 
discontinue any of these insurance benefits at its sole discretion.  Employees should review 
insurance plan documents for full details concerning participation, coverage, limitations and 
filing of claims.  It is the employee’s responsibility to file claims properly and promptly.  The 
City is not responsible for or liable for the payment of any insurance benefits.  The City’s 
responsibility is limited to the payment of the necessary portion of premiums to purchase the 
insurance described in section (1) through (4).  It has no liability for the failure or refusal of the 
insurance carrier to honor an employee’s claim or to pay benefits and no such action on the part 
of the insurance carrier shall be attributable to the City.  No dispute arising under or relating to 
Insurance Benefits shall be subject to the Grievance Procedures, except an allegation that the 
City has failed to pay any portion of the premium required to purchase the insurance coverage. 

 
(9) Workers’ Compensation Benefits and City’s Lien Against Third Parties. The 

City shall have the right to a lien or a credit for all workers’ compensation benefits paid to an 
employee that are the result of a third party’s actions. Iowa law provides that the City is entitled 
to a credit or lien for any and all workers’ compensation benefits against any payment received 
by an employee from a third party or its insurance carrier. If an employee receives any payments 
from a third party or their insurance carrier for injuries sustained while in the course of 
employment for the City, the employee must obtain written approval from the City prior to 

248

ITEM 17.



501:     INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 
 

 3 

settlement of the claim with the third party.  Employees who are contacted by a third party or its 
insurance company in order to negotiate a settlement of their claim must inform their supervisor, 
Department Director (or City Administrator if a director)  and the City Attorney immediately. 

 
 
Amended 1/23/12 
 6/1/15 
 3/1/19 
 1/6/20 

 

249

ITEM 17.



503:     HOLIDAYS 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to designate and observe certain days each year 
as holidays. Eligible employees will be given a day off with pay for each holiday observed. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) The schedule of holidays the City will observe during each calendar year will be: 
 

 (a) New Year's Day; 
 

 (b) Good Friday; 
 

 (c) Memorial Day; 
 

 (d) Independence Day (July 4); 
 

 (e) Labor Day; 
 

 (f) Thanksgiving Day; 
 
 (g) Friday after Thanksgiving Day; 

 
 (h) Christmas Day; 

 
 (i) When Christmas Day falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday or Friday, Christmas Eve 

(December 24) will be observed as a holiday.  When Christmas Day falls on 
Thursday the following Friday (December 26) will be observed as a holiday, 
and; 

 
 (j) Three (3) Floating Holidays (see Comment #9 for eligibility, pro-rating and 

usage). 
 
(2)    Full-time employees are eligible to receive their regular rate of pay for each holiday. 

Part-time employees working on a consistent year-round basis are eligible to receive holiday pay 
only for holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (i) above.  Holiday pay for these part-time 
employees will be paid on a pro rata basis, based upon the number of normal hours worked in a pay 
period. Part-time, non-union employees shall also receive three (3) floating holidays. Part-time, non-
union employees’ floating holiday benefits will be paid on a pro rata basis based upon the number of 
hours actually worked in the prior year computed as of the fiscal year.    Part-time employees on lay-
off are not eligible to receive holiday pay.  Positions listed within the "Special Purpose & Seasonal 
Salary Schedule" and "Workshops/Sessions/Events Pay Plan" are not eligible for holiday pay 
benefits.  In addition, as defined by policy 211: Temporary and Part-time Employees, temporary 

250

ITEM 17.



503:     HOLIDAYS 
 
 

 

 

2 

and seasonal employees are not eligible for pro-rated holiday pay. 
 

(3) To receive holiday pay, an eligible employee must be at work, or on an authorized 
absence, on the workdays immediately preceding and immediately following the day on which 
the holiday is observed.  If an eligible employee is absent on one or both days because of illness 
or injury, the City reserves the right to verify the reason for the absence before approving holiday 
pay.  (See 205: Medical Procedures) 
 
 (4) A holiday that occurs on a Saturday or Sunday generally will be observed by the 
City on either the preceding Friday or following Monday. 
 

(5) The City recognizes that some employees may wish to observe, as periods of 
worship or commemoration, certain days which are not included in the City's regular holiday 
schedule.  Accordingly, employees who would like to take a day off for such reasons may be 
permitted to do so if the employee's absence from work will not result in an undue hardship on 
the conduct of the City's business and if the employee's supervisor approves.  Employees may use 
accumulated days of paid absence or "floating" holidays on such occasions, or they may take 
such time off as an unpaid, excused absence. 
 

(6) The City may schedule work on an observed holiday as it deems necessary.  
Normally, work on an observed holiday will be paid as if it were a regularly scheduled day.  
Employees scheduled to work on a holiday will be given the option of receiving pay for the 
hours worked for the day plus their holiday pay, or employees may take another "floating" 
holiday equivalent to the hours worked, with the prior approval of their supervisor, at another 
time during the same fiscal year.  See 307: Overtime Policy for holiday rates paid to employees 
not scheduled to work but called in to work on a holiday. 

 
(7)    Non-union police and public safety management shift employees assigned to 6-3 

shifts will not observe the holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (1) (j).  Instead, these 
employees will observe the same number of holidays as "floating" holidays.  However, the total 
number of such “floating” holidays shall not exceed eleven (11) in any fiscal year (90.75 hours). 
 

(8)    Non-union fire and public safety management shift employees assigned to 24 hour 
shifts will not observe the holidays outlined in Comments (1) (a) through (1) (j).  Instead, these 
employees will observe seven (7) holidays per fiscal year as "floating" holidays (168 hours). 

 
(9)    If a non-union public safety management shift employee is reassigned to a different 

shift, entitlement to holidays is recalculated at the time of shift reassignment.  Such employee’s 
entitlement to holidays for the remainder of the fiscal year after reassignment is based upon the 
ratio that the number of holiday hours not taken prior to reassignment bears to the total number 
of holiday hours available in the fiscal year prior to reassignment.   This ratio is applied to the 
total number of holiday hours available in the same fiscal year in the new assignment.  If 

251

ITEM 17.



503:     HOLIDAYS 
 
 

 

 

3 

reassigned to non-shift, named holiday hours remaining in the fiscal year after reassignment 
shall be deducted from the total remaining holiday hours.  For example, if a non-union public 
safety management shift employee was assigned to a 6-3 shift and used 33 floating holiday 
hours, and then was reassigned to a 24 hour shift, such employee would have 106.9 hours of 
floating holiday remaining during the same fiscal year (90.75 - 33 = 57.75/90.75 = .636 x 168 
hours = 106.9 hours after rounding).  The same employee reassigned to non-shift on December 
1 would have 24 floating holiday hours remaining, plus the remaining named holiday hours 
during the same fiscal year (90.75 – 33 = 57.75/90.75 = .636 x 88 = 55.968, less 32 named 
holiday hours remaining in the fiscal year = 24 hours after rounding).  For those non-union 
public safety management shift employees assigned to non-shift, total named holidays in a fiscal 
year may be as many as nine (9), depending upon the year as set forth in 1 (a) – (i) above.  For 
purposes of this policy the term “non-union public safety management shift employees” 
includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, police captains, police lieutenants, public safety 
supervisor captains and public safety supervisor lieutenants. 

  
(10)    Floating holidays may be taken by eligible employees any time after six (6) 

months of employment and after receiving approval of the division manager.   Floating holidays 
are pro-rated for eligible employees hired after the fiscal year begins. Eligible employees must 
take floating holidays on or after the date the fiscal year begins through the last day of the same 
fiscal year.   

Carryover of floating holidays will not be permitted unless otherwise specified by 
union contract or if an employee is hired during the second half of the fiscal year and the 
employee will not meet the six (6) month employment requirement.  In the latter case, the 
employee will be allowed to take their pro-rated floating holiday after he/she becomes eligible 
to take them, but must take them on or before the last day of the fiscal year in which they 
become eligible to take the pro-rated holiday.  If hired during the month of December, floating 
holiday hours may be carried over if approved by the Department Director. 

 
(11) Veteran’s Day is not a City observed holiday: City will comply with Iowa Code 

91A.5A as follows: 
 

(a) Certain qualified veterans, if they otherwise would have been required to work 
on November 11, may be granted time off for that day unless it would impact 
public health or safety or would cause the City to experience significant 
economic or operational disruption.  Such time off shall be without pay, but the 
qualified veteran may use paid benefit time other than sick leave to cover such 
absence. 

 
(b) The qualified veteran must provide written notice to the veteran’s supervisor of 

intent to take time off work at least 30 days prior to Veteran’s Day.  If 
requested, the veteran must provide to the City a federal certificate of release or 
discharge from active duty, or similar documentation for determining the 

252

ITEM 17.



503:     HOLIDAYS 
 
 

 

 

4 

veteran’s eligibility.  
 

(c) The City shall notify the requesting veteran at least 10 days prior to Veteran’s 
Day whether or not the requested time off work will be granted. 

 
 

Amended 7/1/06 
 1/1/08 
 1/23/12 
 3/1/19 
 1/6/20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

253

ITEM 17.



504:     EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide educational assistance to its 
employees in accordance with the guidelines established below. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Funding limitations may preclude the City from offering any educational assistance. 
 The City reserves the right to alter, modify or discontinue this program at any time. 
 

(2) Employees, to be eligible for educational assistance, must have regular full-time 
status and at least one year of service.  Educational assistance related to the employee’s present 
job and/or work related licensure or certification may be provided to any employee even in the 
first year of employment if approved by employee’s manager and director.  Decisions on whether 
to grant educational assistance will be determined on an individual basis. 
 

(3) Eligible employees will be reimbursed or the City will directly pay for courses of 
study which the City determines are directly related to the employee's present job, are required to 
maintain work related licensure or certification, or which will enhance the employee's current 
work performance.  These training and continuing education classes shall be approved by the 
employee’s manager and director prior to attendance.   In addition, the City is offering 
educational assistance that relates to the pursuit of a degree that may allow the employee 
potential for advancement to a position within the City and to which the individual has a 
reasonable expectation of advancing.  In addition, courses or programs to be eligible for 
reimbursement must be offered by accredited institutions of learning or individuals, groups or 
organizations generally recognized as competent, authoritative and professional in their course 
offerings. 
 

(4) Employees who want tuition related educational assistance shall complete the 
Tuition Assistance Approval Form and must receive a positive recommendation from the 
employee’s manager and then obtain approval from the City’s educational assistance committee 
before enrollment.  Supervisors must note the funding for the assistance before making a positive 
recommendation. 

 
(5) The City’s educational assistance committee and supervisors normally are to 

consider the following factors in evaluating requests for educational assistance: 
 

(a) The nature and purpose of the course of study; 
 

(b) The benefits to be derived by the employee and the City; 
 

(c) The employee's level of responsibility and length of service; 
 

254

ITEM 17.



504:     EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE 
 
 

 2 

(d) The estimated cost;  
 

(e) Any potential lost time or productivity while the employee participates in the 
program; and 

 
(f) That adequate funding exists. 

 
(6) In order to be reimbursed, the employee must successfully complete the course with 

a “C” or higher grade (or a “Passing” grade if a Pass/Fail class), and if the course recognizes 
successful completion with an acknowledgement, certificate, license or diploma, the same must 
be attained by the employee.  In any case the employee shall be required to provide proof of 
successful completion.  The City may choose to make payment directly to the person or entity 
offering the course rather than reimburse the employee. 
 

(7) Employees may be required to enter into an agreement with the City which may 
impose conditions on reimbursement different than or in addition to those contained in this 
policy, at the sole discretion of the City. 

 
(8) Employees seeking reimbursement for tuition related educational expenses must 

first submit a Tuition Reimbursement form that has been approved by their manager and director 
to the Department of Finance & Business Operations, a certified transcript of the grades and 
receipts for the expenses incurred.  The City will then reimburse to the employee the applicable 
percentage of the cost of tuition, textbooks, registration, and laboratory and library fees.  
However, employees who take courses at the specific request or direction of management may be 
reimbursed for all costs in advance. 
 

      (9)   Employees who are terminated during enrollment because of a reduction in force 
or job elimination will be reimbursed for the full amount of the costs incurred up to the date of 
termination.  Employees who, prior to completing an approved course, voluntarily leave the City 
or are terminated for reasons other than those listed above will not be reimbursed for the 
expenses associated with the course. 
 
 (10) If, within 48 months of receiving any tuition reimbursement, an employee 
voluntarily terminates his/her employment, or if employment is terminated for any act or failure 
to act that is in contravention of law, City policies, or if in the judgment of the City the employee 
is deemed unsuitable or unfit for employment, then the employee shall repay the City for the 
tuition reimbursement.  The amount repaid to the City will be prorated by month based on 48 
months.  For example, if an employee leaves employment 24 months after receiving the 
reimbursement, the employee will be required to repay the City 50% of the tuition reimbursement 
(24/48 months). The employee shall repay the City through a payroll deduction and/or personal 
check.  The City may pursue repayment after the employee’s employment is terminated. The 
maximum amount of tuition related educational assistance the employee may apply for in a given 

255

ITEM 17.



 3 

calendar year is $5,250.  This coincides with the maximum non-taxable amount of tuition 
reimbursement allowed under Federal Code.  Employees should refer to state tax laws for 
taxability of educational assistance. 
 

(11) Employees are expected under normal circumstances to schedule class attendance 
and the completion of study assignments outside of their regular working hours.  (For educational 
leaves of absence, see 704: Leaves of Absence.)  It is expected that educational activities will not 
interfere with the employee's work, and unsatisfactory job performance during enrollment may 
result in forfeiture of educational assistance and termination of employment. 
 

(12) Records of all educational programs completed by each employee will be 
maintained by the Department of Finance & Business Operations. 
 
 
Amended 6/1/15 
  3/1/19 
  10/7/19 
  1/6/20 

256

ITEM 17.



505:     SERVICE AWARDS 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to recognize extended service to the City by 
presenting service awards to eligible employees in accordance with the guidelines set forth 
below. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) All full-time and part-time employees, and year-around special purpose employees 
are eligible to receive a service pin upon completion of five years of service and at the end of 
every five years of service after that. 
 

(2) Service does not have to be continuous to count toward service credit for the award. 
 

(3) The service award generally will be presented to the individual on the anniversary 
date of the employee’s date of employment.  If this date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, 
the award will be presented on the next regularly scheduled workday. 
 

(4) The Financial Services Division will be responsible for identifying those employees 
to be honored, notifying the mayor or other presenter, ordering the awards, and arranging for 
appropriate announcements of awards internally, and when appropriate, externally. 
 

(5)    All full-time and part-time employees, excluding special purpose and seasonal 
employees, are eligible to receive a watch upon the completion of fifteen (15) years of 
service.  If an employee waives eligibility for a watch upon completion of fifteen (15) 
years of service, the employee may elect to receive a watch on or before the employee’s 
retirement or resignation from employment. 

 
(5) Police Department employees, upon retirement or resignation after at least fifteen 

(15) years of service, are eligible to receive free their badge mounted on a plaque. 
 

(6) Tax consequences may occur with these service awards and are the sole 
responsibility of the employee. 

 
 

Amended  11/12/12 
  6/1/15 
  1/6/20 

257

ITEM 17.



506:     VACATIONS 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant annual vacations with pay to full-time and 
part-time, non-union employees, excluding seasonal and special purpose employees, according to 
the guidelines below.  The provisions of any applicable collective bargaining agreement shall 
apply in place of the guidelines below. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Definitions.  For purposes of this Policy the following terms shall be given the 
meanings ascribed to them as follows: 

 
(a) “accrue” means to accumulate but not yet earn.  Vacation accrues based 

upon the ratio that the number of days since date of hire or the most recent anniversary date bears 
to the total number of days of vacation to be earned on the next anniversary date, calculated on a 
daily basis. 

 
(b) “earn” means to have available for use all accumulated vacation time.  

Vacation time is earned on the first anniversary after the date of hire, and on each anniversary 
date thereafter as provided in the guidelines below. 

 
(2) Vacation Time Earned:  Unless otherwise specified by Union contract, all full-

time employees and part-time, non-union employees (other than seasonal and special purpose 
employees) will be granted vacations with pay on the following basis: 
 
   Completion of one year of service   Two work weeks 
   Completion of six years service   Three work weeks 
   Completion of twelve years service   Four work weeks 
   Completion of eighteen years service  Five work weeks 
 
   The number of weeks of vacation and the availability of those weeks may vary from 
the schedule above if other arrangements are made as a condition of employment as approved by the 
Department Director (or City Administrator if a director position).  For employees with any other 
arrangements made as a condition of employment, the schedule above shall be adjusted so that an 
additional work week of vacation shall be added to the vacation already granted at the completion of 
six years, twelve years and eighteen years of service, up to a maximum of five total weeks of 
vacation.  If a new employee leaves City employment for any reason and prior to the employee’s one-
year anniversary date, any vacation time taken by the employee shall be paid back to the City in the 
form of a deduction from the employee’s final paycheck.  New employees who leave City 
employment prior to their one-year anniversary shall also not receive any accrued vacation benefits 
on their final paycheck.  
 
   Part-time, non-union employees’ vacation benefits will be earned on a pro rata basis 

258

ITEM 17.



506:     VACATIONS 
 
 

 2 

based upon the number of hours actually worked in the prior year computed as of their anniversary 
date.  This calculation is as follows: actual hours worked/2080 hours per year.  However, the 
maximum hours worked in the above calculation is 1508 even if the actual hours worked exceeds 
that amount. 
 
   Part-time, non-union employees whose status changes to full-time, non-union status 
shall be granted credit for all years of service in their part-time non-union positions for purposes of 
computing vacation time entitlement. Years of service as a part-time, union employee or special 
purpose/seasonal employee shall not be credited for purposes of computing vacation time 
entitlement.  
 

(3) Vacation Time Payment:  Vacation time earned will be figured on the basis of 
the employment year and shall include the total straight paid time the employee has worked for 
the City since the date of last employment anniversary.  Unless otherwise specified in a Union 
contract, when an employee has completed the probationary period and has passed the 
employee’s one year anniversary date, but employment with the City is terminated for any 
reason, said employee shall be compensated for earned but unused vacation time as well as 
accrued vacation time on the basis of the number of vacation days accrued   Military duty will be 
figured as working time for calculating vacation accrual.  (See 707:  Military Leave.)  Employees 
may not use accrued, but unearned, vacation time prior to their anniversary date except when 
special circumstances warrant and as approved by the Division Manager and Department 
Director (or City Administrator if a director position).  The City’s Risk Management committee 
may also approve the use of accrued, but unearned vacation time.  
 

(4)    Non-union public safety management employees:   
 

    (a)  Non-union public safety management shift employees assigned to a 6-3 shift 
shall accrue and earn vacation as follows: 
 
                         Completion of one year of service                2 work weeks (99 hours) 
                         Completion of six years of service               3 work weeks (148.5 hours) 
                         Completion of twelve years of service         4 work weeks (198 hours) 
                         Completion of eighteen years of service      5 work weeks (247.5 hours) 
 
 
                        (b)  Non-union public safety management shift employees assigned to a 24 hour 
shift shall accrue and earn vacation as follows: 
 
                         Completion of one year of service                6 tour days (144 hours) 
                         Completion of seven years of service           9 tour days (216 hours) 
                         Completion of twelve years of service         12 tour days (288 hours) 
                         Completion of twenty years of service         15 tour days (360 hours) 

259

ITEM 17.



506:     VACATIONS 
 
 

 3 

 
                        (c)  If a non-union public safety management shift employee is reassigned to a 
different shift, entitlement to vacation is recalculated at the time of shift reassignment.  Such 
employee’s entitlement to vacation for the remainder of the year after reassignment is based upon 
the ratio that the hours of vacation remaining prior to reassignment bear to the total number of 
vacation hours available prior to reassignment.  That ratio is applied to the total number of 
vacation hours available for the entire year in the new assignment.  For example, a non-union 
public safety management shift employee assigned to a 6-3 shift who is in his or her 4th year of 
service and who has used 20 hours of vacation and is reassigned to a 24 hour shift is entitled to 
108.9 additional hours of vacation for the remainder of the year (99 – 24 = 75/99 = .756 x 144 = 
108.9 hours after rounding).  For purposes of this policy in the event of reassignment, entitlement 
to vacation shall not be reduced, even if years of completion of service would suggest fewer 
weeks in the employee’s current shift.   

 
(5) Vacation Requests:  Employees will request vacation periods giving a first and 

second choice.  Division Managers or Department Directors will respect wishes of the employees 
insofar as needs of the City and service will permit.  Division seniority shall govern in the choice 
of vacation periods, provided such choice has been exercised between January 1st and March 30th 
annually.  Vacations shall be limited to one-week increments unless otherwise approved by the 
Department Director. 
 

(6) Vacation Accumulation:  Vacation time shall not accumulate from year to year 
and annual leave must be used by the end of the employment year following the anniversary date 
on which it was earned, unless the application for vacation has been refused or the extension is 
approved as provided in Comment (7). 
 

(7) Vacation Carryover Guidelines:  Any carryover of vacation shall be 
administered as follows: 
 

(a) City Administrator, Directors, Managers, Police Captains, and  Fire 
Battalion Chiefs:  City Administrator, Department Directors, Division 
Managers, Public Safety Supervisor Captains, Police Captains, and Fire 
Battalion Chiefs may carryover one full year of earned vacation, for one 
year past the employee’s anniversary date.  If the vacation is unused 
following the end of the one-year period, the vacation will be voided.   

 
(b) All Other Employees:  An employee may carryover up to five (5) work 

days or one workweek (49.5 hours if a 6-3 shift; 72 hours if a 24 hour 
shift) of vacation past the employee’s anniversary date.  If vacation is 
unused following the end of the three-month carry-over period, the 
vacation will be voided. Under unusual circumstances, such as certain 
serious medical conditions, and with the prior approval of the City’s Risk 

260

ITEM 17.



506:     VACATIONS 
 
 

 4 

Management Committee, extensions beyond those set forth in this 
subsection (b) may be allowed. 

 
(8) Maximum Paid Vacation Periods.  The maximum paid vacation leave an 

employee can take at any time cannot exceed five (5) times the number of workdays in the 
employee’s workweek. 
 

(9) Minimum Vacation Requirements.  Vacations for periods of less than one-half 
(1/2) hour or as established by department policy, shall not be granted. 
 

(10) Approval of Vacation.  Requests for vacation days shall be submitted in writing 
to the Department Director or Division Manager and approved at least twenty-four (24) hours 
prior to the beginning of the vacation unless mutual agreement has been reached between the 
employee and the Department Director. 
 
 
Amended  1/1/05 
  7/1/06 
  1/1/08 
  11/25/13 
  6/1/15 
  7/18/16 
  3/1/19 

1/6/20 

261

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
Policy: 
 
It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant employees extended leaves of absence under certain 
circumstances.  Except as stated below, employees will not receive compensation during a leave of 
absence.  
 
Comment:  
 
(1) Family and Medical Leave:   The City will comply with the provisions of the federal Family 
and Medical Leave Act (hereinafter referred to as "FMLA"). The Appendix to this policy outlines the 
FMLA's requirements, including the rights and obligations of employees, notification requirements, 
and the City's obligations. 

 
General Provisions: 
In accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act, the City will grant unpaid family and medical 
leave to eligible employees for up to twelve (12) weeks per twelve (12) month period for any one or 
more of the following reasons: 
 

a. For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care, birth of a child, or to care for 
such child after birth, or placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster 
care; or 

  
b. In order to care for an immediate family member (spouse, child or parent) of the 

employee if such immediate family member has a serious health condition; or 
 
c. The employee’s own serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform 

the functions of his/her position. 
 
Military Family Leave Entitlements: 
Qualifying Exigency - Eligible employees with a spouse, child, or parent on covered active duty or 
call to covered active duty status may use their 12-week entitlement to address certain qualifying 
exigencies.  Qualifying exigencies may include attending certain military events, arranging for 
alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain 
counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings.  
 
Service Member Caregiver – FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that permits eligible 
employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a covered service member during a single     
12-month period.  A covered service member is: (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, 
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who  is undergoing medical treatment, 
recuperation or therapy;  is otherwise in outpatient status; or is otherwise on the temporary disability 
returned list, for a serious injury or illness*; or (2) a veteran who was discharged or released under 
conditions other than dishonorable at any other time during the five-year period prior to the first date 
the eligible employee takes FMLA leave to care for the covered veteran, and who is undergoing 

262

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

2 

medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a serious injury or illness.* 
 
*The FMLA definitions of “serious injury or illness” for current servicemembers and veterans are 
distinct from the FMLA definition of “serious health conditions”. 
 
Eligibility: 
 To be eligible for family/medical leave, an employee must have at least 12 months of service and 
have worked at least 1,250 hours over the previous twelve (12) month period.   Employees applying 
for and granted a family leave of absence are required to meet notification and documentation 
requirements as outlined further in this policy.  Failure to meet these requirements may result in the 
denial or revocation of a family leave. 
 
Definitions: 

a. “Twelve Month Period” will be calculated as the “rolling” twelve (12) month period 
measured backward from the date an employee uses any FMLA leave. 

 
b. “Spouse” includes all individuals in legal marriages as defined or recognized in a state 

where the individual was married (“place of celebration”), and includes individuals in 
same-sex and common law marriages.  A spouse also includes a husband or wife in a 
marriage that was validly entered into outside of the United States if it could have been 
entered into in at least one state.  If both spouses work for the City, and are both eligible 
for FMLA leave, you and your spouse will be limited to a combined total of twelve (12) 
weeks of FMLA leave in a twelve (12) month period for anyone or all of the following 
reasons:  birth of a child or to care for the child immediately after birth; placement of a 
child with you for adoption or foster care, or to care for the child after placement; or to 
care for your parent with a serious health condition.  This limitation does not apply in 
cases of leave to care for the serious health condition of your spouse or child, or because 
of your own serious health condition.  

 
c. “Child” means a child either under 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or older who is 

incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability.  An employee’s “child” 
is one for whom the employee has day-to-day responsibility for care and includes a 
biological, adopted, foster or stepchild.  The age limitation does not apply to employees 
applying for a FMLA military related leave. 

 
d. “Serious Health Condition” means an illness, injury, impairment or a physical or mental 

condition that involves: 
 

1. Inpatient (overnight) care in a medical care facility; or 
 
2. Continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents 

the employee from performing the functions of the employee’s job, or prevents 
the qualified family member from participating in work, school, or regular daily 
activities.  Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement 
may be met by a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar 

263

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 3 

days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider  or one visit and a 
regimen of continuing treatment; or  

 
3. Incapacity (as defined above) due to a chronic condition that requires periodic (at 

least twice per year) visits to a healthcare provider for treatment; or 
 
4. Incapacity (as defined above) due to pregnancy. 
 

Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment. 
 
Intermittent or Reduced Leave: 
An employee may take leave intermittently (a few days or a few hours at a time) or on a reduced 
leave schedule when medically necessary to care for an immediate family member with a serious 
health condition or because of a serious health condition of the employee.  “Medically necessary” 
means that there must be a medical need for the leave and the leave can best be accomplished 
through an intermittent or reduced leave schedule.  The employee may be required to transfer 
temporarily to a position with equivalent pay and benefits that better accommodates recurring 
periods of leave.  The employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule treatment(s) so as not to 
unduly disrupt the City’s operations.  If an employee requests reduced or intermittent leave, once the 
intermittent or reduced leave has been completed, the employee must be transferred back to the same 
position that the employee held prior to taking the FMLA leave or to an equivalent position.  An 
employee may take leave intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule for birth or placement for 
adoption or foster care of a child only with the supervisor’s consent.  Leave due to qualifying 
exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent basis. 
 
Employee Notice Requirement: 
An employee is required to give thirty (30) days notice in the event of a foreseeable leave.  When 30 
days notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and generally 
must comply with the City’s normal call-in procedures.  Employees must provide sufficient 
information for the employer to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the 
anticipated timing and duration of the leave.  Sufficient information may include that the employee is 
unable to perform job functions, the family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for 
hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the 
need for military family leave.  Employees also must inform the employer if the requested leave is 
for a reason for FMLA leave that was previously taken or certified.  Employees also may be required 
to provide a certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave.     
 
An “Application for Family or Medical Leave” form should be obtained from the Financial Services 
Division, completed by the employee, signed by his/her supervisor and Department Director, and 
returned to the Financial Services Division for processing and forwarding of additional forms that 
may be required to complete as explained below.   
 
Medical and Military Certifications and Return To Work Authorization 
The employee must request FMLA leave, and the City may require the request be supported by a 
completed doctor’s/practitioner’s certification no later than fifteen (15) calendar days after applicable 

264

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

4 

Department of Labor form(s) are provided for their own or a qualified family member’s serious 
health condition.  When an employee is on leave and information received by Financial Services 
staff deems it to meet FMLA criteria, the City may designate the leave as FMLA without receiving a 
FMLA leave request from the employee and without requiring the completion of the applicable 
medical certification form.  When applicable, forms are available from and must be returned to 
Financial Services Division staff for review and processing.  Military related leave requests require 
completion of the applicable Department of Labor form available from and returned to Financial 
Services staff. 
 
For an employee’s own medical leave, the City may require a second or third opinion at the City’s 
expense, periodic reports on the employee’s status, and a fitness-for-duty report.  A release to duty 
from the employee’s health care provider must be provided to the Financial Services Division prior 
to returning to work.  If a fitness-for-duty appointment is deemed necessary by the City based on 
position duties, the employee will be asked to have a fitness-for-duty examination by a health care 
provider selected by the City, at the City’s expense.  
 
Response To Employees: 
As a FMLA covered employer, the City will inform employees requesting leave whether they are 
eligible under FMLA.  If they are, the notice will specify any additional information required as well 
as the employees’ rights and responsibilities.  If they are not eligible, the employer will provide 
reason for the ineligibility.  The City will also inform employees if leave will be designated as 
FMLA-protected and the amount of leave counted against the employee’s leave entitlement.  If the 
City determines the leave is not FMLA-protected, the employer will notify the employee.   
 
Effect on Benefits: 
Taking FMLA leave will not result in loss of any employee benefits accrued prior to the date on 
which the leave began.  Vacation, seniority and other accrued benefits will not accrue during an 
unpaid FMLA leave.  Accrual of benefits for employees on intermittent leave or on a reduced work 
schedule may be calculated on a pro-rata basis in proportion to their work schedule. 
 
Continuation of Health Insurance: 
An employee on family/medical leave may remain a participant in the City’s health insurance plan 
throughout the duration of the leave, as if actively employed.  S/he will be required to pay the same 
cost of coverage as if actively at work.  Employee contributions will be required either through 
payroll deduction or by direct payment to the City.  The employee will be informed of the amount 
and method of payment at the beginning of the leave.  Loss of insurance coverage may result if the 
premium amount is paid more than thirty (30) days late.  If the employee misses a premium payment 
and the City pays the employee’s contribution, the employee will be required to reimburse the City 
for the delinquent payment upon return from the leave.   If an employee does not return to work, the 
City may require reimbursement for the share of the premiums it paid during the FMLA leave.    
 
Return to Work: 
An employee returning from leave taken under this provision is entitled to return to the position held 
when the leave began, if that position is vacant.  If the position is not vacant, the employee must be 
returned to an equivalent position with equivalent benefits, pay and other conditions.  Employees are 

265

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 5 

required to provide at least 72 hours advance notice of their return to work after such leave, unless 
this requirement is waived by the employee’s supervisor and by the Financial Services Division. 
 
FMLA and other leaves of absence:  
Employees who are on any approved leave of absence, whether work related or not, who also qualify 
for FMLA leave shall be required to use FMLA leave concurrently with such other leave of absence. 
 
(2) Other Leaves of Absences:  Employees generally are eligible for leaves of absence if they 
have completed at least twelve months of service, or as specified by law.   The granting and duration 
of each leave of absence and the compensation received by the employee, if any, during the leave of 
absence will be determined by the City in conjunction with applicable federal and state law and in 
accordance with the City’s best interest.  The following types of leaves will be considered: 

 
(a) Pregnancy not covered under FMLA:  Pregnant employees who are not eligible for 

FMLA leave shall be granted a leave of absence for the period that the employee is 
disabled because of the pregnancy, childbirth or other related medical conditions, or for 
eight weeks as provided by Iowa law, whichever is less.     

   
(b) Other sick leave not covered under FMLA: See Policy 706: Sick Leave 
 
(c) Personal Leave of Absence:  Employees may be granted a leave of absence to attend to 

personal matters in cases in which the City determines that an extended period of time 
away from the job will be in the best interests of the employee and the City. 

 
(d) Military Leave of Absence:  A military leave of absence will be granted if an employee is 

absent in order to serve in the uniformed services of the United States for a period of up 
to five years (not including certain involuntary extensions of service).  Employees who 
perform and return from service in the Armed Forces, the Military Reserves, the National 
Guard, or certain Public Health Service positions will retain certain legislated rights with 
respect to reinstatement, seniority, layoffs, compensation, and length of service pay 
increases as required by applicable federal or state law.  Employees will be protected 
against a loss of income as a result of participation in annual encampment or training 
duty in the U.S. Military Reserves or the National Guard.  In these circumstances, the 
City will continue to pay an employee their normal straight-time pay on the job, as 
required and set forth in state law.  (See 707: Military Leave) 

  
(e) Educational Leave of Absence:  Employees who want to continue their education in 

preparation for added responsibilities with the City may be granted an educational leave 
of absence, if in accordance with the City’s best interest and at the discretion of 
management. 

 
(f) Public Office Leave of Absence:  Employees who are candidates for municipal, county, 

state, or federal office shall be granted leave upon request for the period from 30 days or 
less prior to a contested primary, special or general election, until the day after the 
election.  Employees who are elected or appointed to public office shall be granted leave 

266

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

6 

for such public office upon request.  Public office leaves of absence shall be without pay. 
 
(g) Bereavement Leave:  Full-time and permanent part-time employees may be allowed up to 

five (5) working days absence with pay in case of the death of a member of the 
employee’s immediate family.  For the purpose of this policy "immediate family" 
includes the employee's spouse, brother, sister, father, mother, children, step parent, step 
children, step brother, step sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-
law, and any person residing in the employee's household. 
 
In the event of the death of a brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent or grandchild of 
the employee or the employee’s spouse, the employee is allowed up to three (3) working 
days absence with pay. 
 
Bereavement leave absences are intended to include all travel.  However, in 
circumstances involving unusually long traveling distances, department directors may 
extend bereavement absences up to three (3) additional days with pay. 
 
To qualify for bereavement leave pay, an employee must be employed with the City for 
six (6) months preceding the first day of bereavement leave, and be eligible to receive 
regular earnings immediately preceding and following the bereavement period. 
 
A Division Manager may approve bereavement leave for employees with less than six 
months of tenure. 
 
Bereavement leave shall not be taken in less than one day increments. 
 
Non-union public safety management shift employees shall be allowed bereavement 
leave as set forth in this policy regardless of the shift to which they are assigned.  For 
purposes of this policy for such employees, the term “working days” means one calendar 
day regardless of the number of hours scheduled.  Transfer of such employees while on 
bereavement leave shall not affect entitlement to such leave.  For purposes of this policy 
the term “non-union public safety management shift employees” includes battalion 
chiefs, fire captains, police captains, police lieutenants, public safety supervisor captains 
and public safety supervisor lieutenants.   

 
(h) Workers’ Compensation: Employees who are injured in the course of their employment 

with the City shall receive benefits and leave in accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 85 
or as allowed under Risk Management Policy 2012-009. 

 
(i) Police/Fire Disability Leave:  Eligible public safety department personnel may be 

granted leave for duty related conditions in accordance with Iowa Code Chapter 411. 
 
(3) Requests for a leave of absence or any extension of a leave should be submitted in writing to the 

employee's Department Director thirty days prior to commencement of the leave period, or as 
soon as is practicable.     The final decision concerning the request will be made by the 

267

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 7 

Department Director, after consultation with the Finance & Business Operations Department.  
All employees on approved leave are expected to report any change of status in their need for a 
leave or their intention to return to work to their Department Director.  

 
(4) Employees who are on an approved leave of absence may not perform work for any other 

employer during that leave, except when the leave is for military, public service, or otherwise as 
permitted by law.  

 
(5) Use of paid benefit time and other benefits while on leave: 

 
a. Every employee on a sick leave or family care leave of absence will be required to use all 

floating holidays, vacation, compensatory time, sick leave/casual days, and sick days 
while on leave.  Earned benefit time shall be used until exhausted. Use of accrued, but 
unearned vacation may then be used when special circumstances warrant and as 
approved.  (See 506:  Vacations)  If all benefit time has been exhausted, the employee 
may be subject to termination of employment. 
 

i. Emergency response exception: Employees who require a medical absence for an injury 
arising out of service as a volunteer fire fighter or emergency medical responder during a 
period of an emergency response may choose to take the medical leave as unpaid up to a 
maximum of twelve (12) weeks; and shall not be required to use accrued paid leave (sick, 
vacation or comp time) for medical absence as a result of the injury.  After twelve (12) 
weeks of unpaid leave the employee shall be required to take paid benefit time as defined 
in this section.  The employee shall still be required to follow all other policies and rules 
of the City related to medical leave and FMLA.   
 
 

b. Employees who are covered by the City's disability or workers' compensation insurance, 
and are therefore already receiving compensation, may not use any other paid leave.   
 

c. Every employee on a personal or educational leave of absence will be required to use all 
compensatory time, floating holidays and vacation days while on leave.  Earned benefit 
time shall be used until exhausted prior to the use of accrued, but unearned vacation. 
 

d. Employees who are candidates for public office must use earned paid benefit time during 
the public service leave of absence.  Employees who are elected or appointed to a 
position entitling them to a public service leave of absence may, if they choose, use 
earned paid benefit time during the leave.  If earned paid benefit time is exhausted during 
a public office leave of absence, or if eligible employees choose not to use paid benefit 
time, the leave or remainder of the leave shall be without pay.   
 

e. The City will provide health insurance and other benefits to employees on leave as 
required by law.  No paid benefit time shall accrue during periods of unpaid leave and 
approved paid leave, unless otherwise specified by union contract.  
 

268

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

8 

f. Holiday pay (named and floating holidays) will be included for purposes of calculating 
FMLA leave time, unless prohibited by law. 
 

g. Policies related to required use and carry over of paid benefit time shall apply when 
employees are on leaves of absence. 

 
h. Availability of paid benefit time is no guarantee of continued employment. 

  
(6) Employees returning from a leave of absence will be reinstated to their same job or to an 

equivalent job with equivalent status and pay, if required by law.  Employees who have taken 
personal, educational or public service leave cannot be guaranteed employment upon 
expiration of leave.  Employees returning from a sick leave may be required to provide 
certification of their ability to perform the essential functions of their job, with or without 
reasonable accommodation and may be required to complete a fitness-for-duty examination or 
evaluation with the City’s physician.  Employees are required to provide at least 72 hours 
advance notice of their return to work after such leaves, unless this requirement is waived by 
the employee’s supervisor and by the Financial Services Division.  Employees returning from a 
military leave must also comply with all of the reinstatement requirements specified by federal 
law.  If the same job or one of equivalent status and pay is not available as a result of a 
reduction in force, the employee will be treated in the same manner as though s/he were not on 
leave at the time of the reduction in force. 

  
(7) Employees who are unable to report for work because of arrest and incarceration will be placed 

on a special personal leave of absence.  If the employee is unable to secure bail, the leave of 
absence will continue until final disposition of the charges.  If the employee is freed on bail, a 
decision whether to allow the resumption of active employment pending disposition of the 
charges will be made by the employee's Department Director and the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations.  They will determine whether reinstatement would be consistent with the 
City's needs and requirements.  Likewise, when an employee is convicted of a crime, the 
employee's Department Director and the Director of Finance & Business Operations will 
determine if it is in the best interests of the City to allow resumption to active employment or 
termination. 

 
 (8) If an employee fails to return to work at the conclusion of an approved leave of absence, 

including any extension of the leave, the employee will be considered to have voluntarily 
terminated employment. 

 
(9) Application forms are provided at the end of this policy for use with leaves of absence longer 

than two consecutive weeks, other than FMLA leave which requires an application form 
regardless of the length of such leave.  These forms also may be obtained from the Financial 
Services Division.  Application forms, other than for FMLA leave, must be completed by the 
employee and returned to the Financial Services Division at least seven (7) calendar days prior 
to commencement of a leave, absent unusual circumstances. 

 
 

269

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 9 

Amended  1/1/05 
  7/1/06 
  1/1/09 
  4/09 
  1/23/12 
  2/13/12 
  11/12/12 
  11/25/13 
  6/1/15 
  3/1/19 

 1/6/20

270

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

10 

APPENDIX: 
EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

UNDER THE FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT 
 

Basic Leave Entitlement  
FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to 
eligible employees for the following reasons: 

- For incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or child birth; 
- To care for the employee’s child after birth, or placement for adoption or foster care; 
- To care for the employee’s spouse, son,  daughter  or parent, who has a serious health 

condition; or 
- For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the 

employee’s job. 
 
Military Family Leave Entitlements  
Eligible employees whose spouse, son, daughter or parent is on covered active duty or call to covered 
active duty status may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies.  
Qualifying exigencies may include attending certain military events, arranging for alternative 
childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain counseling sessions, 
and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings. 
 
FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that permits eligible employees to take up to 26 
weeks of leave to care for a covered servicemember during a single 12-month period.  A covered 
servicemember is: (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National 
Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy, is otherwise in 
outpatient status, or is otherwise on a temporary disability retired list, for  a serious injury or illness*; 
or (2) a veteran who was discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable at any time 
during the five-year period prior to the first date the eligible employee takes FMLA leave  to care for 
the covered veteran, and who is   undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a 
serious injury or illness.* 
 
*The FMLA definition of “serious injury or illness” for current servicemembers and veterans are 
distinct from the FMLA definition of “serious health condition”. 
 
Benefits and Protections  
During FMLA leave, the employer must maintain the employee’s health coverage under any “group 
health plan” on the same terms as if the employee had continued to work.  Upon return from FMLA 
leave, most employees must be restored to their original or equivalent positions with equivalent pay, 
benefits, and other employment terms.  
 
Use of FMLA leave cannot result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start 
of an employee’s leave.  
 
Eligibility Requirements   
Employees are eligible if they have worked for a covered employer for at least 12 months, have  

271

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 11 

1,250 hours of service in  the previous 12 months, and if at least 50 employees are employed by 
the employer within 75 miles. 
 
Definition of Serious Health Condition  
A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that 
involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care 
provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the 
employee’s job, or prevents the qualified family member from participating in school or other daily 
activities.  
 
Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of 
incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health 
care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or 
incapacity due to a chronic condition.  Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing 
treatment.  
 
Use of Leave  
An employee does not need to use this leave entitlement in one block.  Leave can be taken 
intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary.  Employees must make 
reasonable efforts to schedule leave for planned medical treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the 
employer’s operations.  Leave due to qualifying exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent 
basis.  
 
Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave  
Employees may choose or employers may require use of accrued paid leave while taking FMLA 
leave.  In order to use paid leave for FMLA leave, employees must comply with the employer’s 
normal paid leave policies.  
 
Employee Responsibilities  
Employees must provide 30 days advance notice of the need to take FMLA leave when the need is 
foreseeable.  When 30 days notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as 
practicable and generally must comply with an employer’s normal call-in procedures.  
 
Employees must provide sufficient information for the employer to determine if the leave may 
qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave.  Sufficient 
information may include that the employee is unable to perform job functions, the family member is 
unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health 
care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave.  Employees also must 
inform the employer if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously 
taken or certified. Employees also may be required to provide a certification and periodic 
recertification supporting the need for leave.   
 
Employer Responsibilities  
Covered employers must inform employees requesting leave whether they are eligible under FMLA. 
If they are, the notice must specify any additional information required as well as the employees’ 

272

ITEM 17.



704:     LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

 

 

12 

rights and responsibilities.  If they are not eligible, the employer must provide a reason for the 
ineligibility. 
 
Covered employers must inform employees if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and the 
amount of leave counted against the employee’s leave entitlement.  If the employer determines that 
the leave is not FMLA-protected, the employer must notify the employee.  
 
Unlawful Acts by Employers  
FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer to:  
 
• Interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under FMLA; 
• Discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by FMLA or 
for involvement in any proceeding under or relating to FMLA. 
 
Enforcement  
An employee may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit 
against an employer.   
 
FMLA does not affect any Federal or State law prohibiting discrimination, or supersede any State or 
local law or collective bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights.  
 
 
FMLA section 109 (29 U.S.C. § 2619) requires FMLA covered employers to post the text of this 
notice.  Regulations 29 C.F.R. § 825.300(a) may require additional disclosures.  
 
Other Provisions: 
 
Salaried executive, administrative, and professional employees of the City who meet the Fair Labor 
Standards Act ("FLSA") criteria for exemption from minimum wage and overtime do not lose their 
FLSA-exempt status by using any unpaid FMLA leave.  This special exception to the "salary basis" 
requirements for the FLSA's exemptions extends only to eligible employees' use of leave required by 
the FMLA. 
 
Further Information: For more information, employees may contact the Financial Services 
Division. 
 

273

ITEM 17.



706:     SICK LEAVE 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to grant its full-time employees and part-time 
non-union employees (excluding seasonal and special purpose) paid sick leave during times of 
incapacitation for work in accordance with the procedures below. 
 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Sick Leave Credited.  Sick leave shall be earned by the employee as follows: 
 
After first seven (7) days of employment  One (1) day 
After thirty (30) days of employment  One (1) additional day 
After each month of employment   One (1) additional day 
 

At the end of the first year, thirteen (13) days shall have been earned.  After the first year of 
employment, an additional one (1) day shall be earned for each additional month of employment.  
There is no limit on the accumulation of sick leave.  Upon beginning employment, the employee 
shall be credited with the first year’s sick leave of thirteen (13) days.  If employment is 
terminated during the first year, any sick leave used above the amount earned shall be deducted 
from the employee’s last paycheck. 
 
Part-time, non-union employees’ sick leave benefits will be paid on a pro rata basis based upon 
the number of hours actually worked in the prior year computed as of their anniversary date.  
Part-time, non-union employees’ accrual of sick leave benefits will accrue on an annual basis 
rather than a monthly basis. 
 

(2) Use of Sick Leave.  Sick leave shall be used only for personal illness, personal 
injury, medical appointments with members of the medical profession, and an illness or injury of 
a member of the immediate family, which includes the following:  the spouse, children, 
grandchildren, brothers, sisters, parents and grandparents of both the employee and spouse. 
 

(3) Sick Leave/Benefit Notification.  In the event of sickness or injury, the employee 
will receive straight time for each work day that said employee is sick to the extent of earned 
sick leave; but not more sick benefit per week than employee’s pay for a normal work week.  
Sick leave is in no way to be construed as additional vacation time.  Sick leave shall not be 
granted unless the supervisor or other persons as established by each department has been 
notified by not later than the starting time of the particular workday.  Such notification should 
include a reason for the absence and an indication of when the employee is expected to return to 
work.  If the supervisor is unavailable, the employee must contact the Division Manager or 
Department Director.  If the employee is unable to notify the supervisor, Division Manager or 
Department Director, then the employee should contact the Personnel Specialist.  Voice mail 
messages, text messages and emails are initially acceptable when personal contact cannot be 
made with a supervisor, Division Manager, Department Director, or Personnel Specialist, but the 

274

ITEM 17.



706:  SICK LEAVE 
 
 

 2 

employee must continue to contact supervisors, managers and directors until the employee 
personally speaks to someone.  Employees are required to personally notify unless emergency 
prevents personal notification.  Employees are required to provide a telephone number where 
they can be reached when absent from work. 

 
(4) Non-FMLA Extended Family and Medical Leave.  An employee who is sick or 

injured and unable to work, or who has an immediate family member who is sick or injured and 
requires the care of the employee, or in the event of the birth of a child or placement with the 
employee of a child for adoption or foster care, which will result in absence from work for two 
consecutive weeks or more, may be granted a leave of absence if the employee does not qualify 
for FMLA leave, if work conditions and other circumstances permit.  If the need for leave is 
foreseeable, the employee is required to provide at least thirty (30) days advance notice to the 
employee’s supervisor of the need for leave.  When such long term non-FMLA leave is 
unforeseeable, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and generally must 
comply with the City’s normal call-in procedures until extended leave is granted.  Approval for 
such leave must be granted by management and by the City’s Risk Management Committee.  An 
immediate family member for purposes of this policy means spouse, child or parent of the 
employee.  Except for the birth of a child or placement with the employee of a child for adoption 
or foster care, an employee on extended family or medical leave shall provide as soon as 
practicable a certification from a health care provider stating that the condition prevents the 
employee from performing the essential functions of the employee’s job, or if applicable, 
supporting the need for leave to care for the immediate family member.  The length of any such 
leave will be governed by individual circumstances, but in no event shall such extended leave 
exceed twelve weeks in any twelve month period.  At least 72 hours’ notice is required in 
advance of the employee’s return to work date, unless this requirement is waived by the 
employee’s supervisor and by the Financial Services Division. 

 
(5) Vacation and Sick Leave.  If an employee is scheduled for vacation and becomes ill 

or injured to the extent they must seek medical attention, the employee may be allowed to switch 
vacation leave to sick leave, subject to Department Director approval and written documentation 
from a member of the medical profession. 
 

(6) Use of Paid Benefits After Sick Leave is Exhausted.   If any earned paid benefit 
time remains after sick leave benefits have been exhausted, such earned paid benefit time shall 
then be used until exhausted.  Accrued but unearned vacation may then be used when special 
circumstances warrant and as approved (See 506:Vacations). 
 

(7) Substantiation of Sick Leave.  At the discretion of the department head, sick leave 
covering a period in excess of two (2) working days must be substantiated by a written statement 
from a member of the medical profession, stating the nature of the sickness or injury, and that the 
employee is again physically able to perform their duties.  (See 701: Attendance and 
Punctuality and 205: Medical Procedures Policies.) 
 

275

ITEM 17.



706:  SICK LEAVE 
 
 

 3 

(8) Injury On-The-Job and Return to Work.  Any employee who is injured on the job 
will not be allowed to return to work until the Legal Services Division is presented with a written 
statement from a member of the medical profession stating that the employee is able to perform 
the essential functions of the job as the same may be temporarily modified.  All accidents and 
injuries must be reported to the employee’s supervisor immediately. 
 

(9) Other Injuries/Illnesses and Return to Work.  Employees who have had a non-
occupational illness or injury will not be allowed to return to work unless the Legal Services 
Division is presented with a written statement from a member of the medical profession stating 
that the employee is able to perform the essential functions of the job as the same may be 
temporarily modified, depending upon the needs of the position and the nature and extent of any 
activity restrictions.  Any temporary assignments under this policy must have the prior approval 
of the City’s Risk Management Committee.  Employees may be required to complete a fitness 
for duty exam by the City’s health care provider before returning to work in any capacity.  (See 
also 704: Leaves of Absence). 
 

(10) Abuse of Sick Leave.  Employees who abuse sick leave shall be subject to 
discipline, up to and including termination. 
 

(11) Sick Leave Accumulation and Accrual.  (See 309: Severance Pay.)  No lump sum 
payment may be made for unused sick leave, except as provided in 309: Severance Pay, to 
qualifying employees. 

 
(12) Non-Union Public Safety Personnel.  Non-union public safety management shift 

employees assigned to a 6-3 shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  8.25 hours for 
each month of employment on the shift.  Non-union public safety management shift employees 
assigned to a 24 hour shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  24 hours for each month 
of employment on the shift.  Non-union public safety shift management employees assigned to 
non-shift shall accrue and earn sick leave as follows:  8 hours for each month of employment on 
the non-shift.  Sick leave accrual and earning is calculated or recalculated at the time of shift 
assignment and only completed months of employment are included in such calculation or 
recalculation.  For purposes of this policy the term “non-union public safety management shift 
employees” includes battalion chiefs, fire captains, police captains, police lieutenants, public 
safety supervisor captains and public safety supervisor lieutenants.  Use of sick leave shall be 
converted to hours regardless of the police or fire shift to which the non-union public safety 
management shift employees are assigned.  Use of sick leave shall be as provided in this policy. 

 
 
Amended  3/22/04 

1/1/05 
7/1/06 
6/1/15 
3/1/19 
1/6/20 

276

ITEM 17.



805:     MOBILE DEVICE ALLOWANCES  
 
Policy: 
 
It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide for the use of cellular telephones and 
other mobile devices by certain employees and elected officials. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) Cell Phones and Other Mobile Devices: 
 

(a) This policy applies to cellular telephones and other mobile electronic 
devices capable of voice communication (“mobile devices”). 

 
(b) The City recognizes a substantial business reason for the use of mobile 

devices by certain City employees and City officials in the performance of 
their duties.  Department Directors will determine which employees in 
their department require the use of mobile devices.  It will be the 
responsibility of the Director to justify and budget for the use of mobile 
devices.  The City Administrator will determine which City officials will 
be offered the use of mobile devices.  All such devices shall be issued on a 
strictly non-compensatory basis. 

 
(c) The City will supply a City-owned mobile device to designated City 

management employees and City officials or will provide the 
designated employees and officials with a monthly allowance in their 
paycheck to offset the expense of a personal mobile device. The 
determination of which management employees and officials will be 
supplied with mobile devices and which will be provided a monthly 
allowance shall be made by the Department Director in consultation 
with the Financial Services Division. 

 
(d) As a condition of receiving a monthly allowance for use of a personal 

mobile device or for issuance of a City owned mobile device, the 
mobile number for such device shall be made available to the public in 
any manner the City deems necessary or appropriate. 

 
(e) Nothing in this policy shall be interpreted to require or allow non-

exempt employees to monitor or use mobile devices for conducting 
City business while off work, unless permission is granted from the 
employees’ supervisor. 

 
(2) Monthly Allowance: 

 

277

ITEM 17.



805:   PERSONAL MOBILE DEVICE USE 

   
2 

 

(a) The mobile device used will be the personal property of the employee 
or official and therefore the employee or official will be responsible for 
the capital cost of the device and the decision whether to carry 
insurance on the device at the employee or official’s own expense. The 
employee or official, at his or her own expense, may add extra services 
or equipment features as desired. 

 
(b) The monthly allowance shall be in the amount set forth in the 

Accounting Policies & Procedures and Purchasing Manual. These 
employees and officials must be on call 24 hours, 7 days a week unless 
on authorized leave or vacation. If an employee or official who is 
provided a mobile device allowance chooses to turn the device off 
during off-duty hours or chooses to not answer the device, he or she 
may lose the allowance and discipline may occur. 

 
(c) Additional specified employees that have been designated by their 

Department Director, that are required to carry a mobile device due to 
the fact that they are heavy daily users, will also receive an allowance. 
This allowance shall be in the amount set forth in the Accounting 
Policies & Procedures and Purchasing Manual These employees will 
be required to have the device on at all times for City business while at 
work and if on call, 24 hours, 7 days a week. If they do not have the 
device on or choose to not answer the device, they may lose their 
allowance and discipline may occur. 

 
(d) The allowance amount shall not exceed the actual cost the employee or 

official is paying for the employee’s or official’s cellular service. 
 

(e) The equipment allowance for each employee or official shall be in the 
amount set forth in the Accounting Policies & Procedures and 
Purchasing Manual. This equipment allowance can be used by the 
employee or official for the cost of the phone or the cost of accessories 
(chargers, belts, clips, etc.). 

 
(f) Employees and officials receiving the allowance will be allowed to 

make and receive personal calls on the mobile device since it is the 
employee's or official’s personal property. However, these personal 
calls shall not interfere with work, as already provided by city policy. 

 
(g) A cellular telephone authorization form shall be completed by the 

employee and reviewed and signed by the Division Manager (if 
applicable) and Department Director. The completed form shall then 
be forwarded to the Controller/City Treasurer. 

 
(h) The allowance shall continue until the Controller/City Treasurer is 

notified in writing by the Department Director to discontinue the 

278

ITEM 17.



805:   PERSONAL MOBILE DEVICE USE 

   
3 

 

allowance or until the time that the employee’s employment with the 
City is terminated. 

 
(i) The employees and officials receiving the monthly allowance must 

notify his or her own supervisor and the Controller/City Treasurer each 
time the mobile device number or mobile device provider is changed. 

 
(j) Initially, the employee or official will be required to submit 

documentation verifying the mobile device number and the cost of the 
plan to ensure that the allowance does not exceed the cost of the plan 
amount. If an employee or official changes the device number, he or 
she shall be required to notify Financial Services immediately and 
provide the appropriate documentation. 

 
(k) On a periodic basis, the Financial Services Division will review the 

allowance amount to ensure that it is a reasonable. The allowance will 
be added to the second payroll of each month. 

 
(3) Provided Mobile Devices: 

 
(a) Any City owned mobile device issued to City employees or City 

officials shall be used for City business only, and not for personal use 
other than in an emergency. 

 
(b) The City shall retain ownership of the issued mobile device, and the 

device may be subject to inspection, forensic examination, recall, or 
confiscation at any time. There should be no expectation of privacy 
whatsoever regarding any information contained on the device by 
those who are issued a City owned device. In addition, any information 
contained on the device may be subject to an open records request. 

 
(c) The employee or official who is issued the device may be responsible 

to reimburse the City for loss or theft of or damage to the device that 
occurs while issued to the employee or official, depending upon the 
circumstances, at the sole discretion of the Department Director or City 
Administrator. 

 
(d) Use of the device shall be subject to 806:  Technology Resources 

Acceptable Use. 
 

(e) No changes to the operating system, programs, applications, service 
provider or any other changes to the mobile device’s operation are 
allowed to be made to City owned devices without the express 
permission of the Department Director or City Administrator. 
Generally such changes, if any, will be made by or under the 

279

ITEM 17.



805:   PERSONAL MOBILE DEVICE USE 

   
4 

 

supervision of the Information Systems Division of the City of Cedar 
Falls. 

 
(f) Issued mobile devices shall be returned to the Financial Services 

Division upon termination of employment for any reason. 
 
 
Adopted: 6/1/15 
Amended: 7/18/16 
 3/1/19 
 1/6/20 

280

ITEM 17.



901:     PERSONNEL RECORDS  
 
Policy: 
 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to maintain personnel records for applicants, 
employees, and past employees in order to document employment related decisions, evaluate and 
assess policies, and comply with government record keeping and reporting requirements. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1)  The City strives to balance its needs to obtain, use and retain employment 
information with each individual's right to privacy.  To this end, it attempts to restrict the 
personnel information maintained to that which is necessary for the conduct of its business or 
which is required by federal, state or local law. 
 

(2)  The Legal and Financial Services Divisions are responsible for overseeing the record 
keeping for all personnel information and will specify what information should be collected and 
how it should be stored and secured.  
 

(3)   Employees have a responsibility to make sure their personnel records are up to date and 
should notify the Financial Services Division in writing of any changes in at least the following: 
 

(a) Name; 
 

(b) Address; 
 

(c) Telephone Number; 
 

(d) Marital status (for benefit and tax withholding purposes only); 
 

(e) Number of dependents; 
 

(f) Addresses, telephone number, and social security numbers of dependents and 
spouse or former spouse (for insurance purposes only); 

 
(g) Beneficiary designations for any of the City's insurance, disability, and pension 

plans; and 
 

(h) Persons to be notified in case of emergency. 
 
 
In addition, employees who have a change in the number of dependents or marital status must 
complete a new Form W-4 for income tax withholding purposes if the change results in a 
decrease in the number of dependents. 
 

281

ITEM 17.



901:     PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 

 

 

2 

 
(4) Employees may inspect their own personnel records and may copy, but not remove, 

documents in the file.  Such an inspection must be requested in writing to a Personnel Specialist 
and will be scheduled at a mutually convenient time.  Records deemed to contain sensitive or 
confidential management plans or information may be excluded from the inspection, and all 
inspection must be conducted in the presence of a Personnel Specialist.  A reasonable charge, not 
to exceed the actual cost to the City and in accordance with the City’s fee schedule, will be made 
for copies of records made by the employee.  In the alternative, employees may inspect an 
electronic version of their personnel records, and if any pages of the personnel file are printed, 
the employee shall reimburse the City in accordance with the City’s fee schedule for the actual 
costs of pages printed.  
 

(5) Employees who believe that any file material is incomplete, inaccurate, or irrelevant 
may submit a written request to a Personnel Specialist that the files be revised accordingly.  If 
such a request is not granted, the employee may place a written statement of disagreement in the 
file and pursue the matter further using the regular grievance procedure. 
 

(6) Only supervisory and management employees who have an employment-related need-
to-know for information about another employee may inspect the files of that employee.  Such an 
inspection must be approved by a Personnel Specialist and will be recorded in the file inspected. 
 

(7) Employees are to refer all requests from outside the City for personnel information 
concerning applicants, employees, and past employees to the Legal Division.  The Legal Division 
normally will release personnel information only in writing and only after obtaining the written 
consent of the individual involved.  Exceptions may be made to cooperate with legal, safety, and 
medical officials who have a need to know specific employee information.  In addition, 
exceptions may be made to release limited general information, such as the following: 
 

(a) Employment dates; 
 

(b) Position held;  
 

(c) Location of job site; and 
 
(d) Pay rate. 

 
 

(8) For purposes of health insurance, employees must notify the Financial Services 
Division in writing within 30 days of any changes in at least the following: 

(a)  birth, adoption or placement for adoption of a child 
 
(b)  divorce, legal separation, or annulment 
 

282

ITEM 17.



 3 

(c)  employee’s dependent child loses eligibility for health insurance   coverage 
 
(d)  employee loses eligibility for coverage under Medicaid or the CHIP program    

(hawk-I plan) 
 
(e)  employee becomes eligible for premium assistance under Medicaid or CHIP  

 
 

 
Amended 1/1/08 
  6/1/15 
  1/6/20 
 

283

ITEM 17.



903:     GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
Policy: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls that employees should have an opportunity to 
present their work-related complaints and to appeal management decisions through a dispute 
resolution or grievance procedure.  The City will attempt to resolve promptly all grievances that are 
appropriate for handling under this policy. 
 
Comment: 
 

(1) An appropriate grievance is defined as an employee's expressed dissatisfaction 
concerning any interpretation or application of a work-related policy by management, supervisors, or 
other employees.  Examples of matters that may be considered appropriate grievances under this 
policy include: 
 

(a) A belief that City policies, practices, rules, regulations, or procedures have been 
applied in a manner arbitrarily detrimental to an employee; 

 
(b) Treatment considered unfair by an employee, such a coercion, reprisal, 

harassment, or intimidation; 
 

(c) Alleged discrimination because of race, color, sex, age, religion, national origin, 
military status, or disability; and 

 
(d) Improper or unfair administration of employee benefits or conditions of 

employment such as scheduling, vacations, fringe benefits, promotions, holidays, 
 job classification, pay band assignment, or seniority. 

 
(2) Employees covered by a union contract may not utilize this grievance procedure to the 

extent the matter is addressed by the union contract and/or its grievance procedures. 
  
(3) Employees should notify the City, in a timely fashion, of any grievance considered 

appropriate for handling under this policy.  The grievance procedure is the exclusive remedy for 
employees with appropriate grievances.  However, if an employee files a claim with the civil service 
commission based upon the same facts and circumstances, any grievance brought under this policy 
shall be immediately dismissed with no further action taken by the City.  

 
(4)     The grievance procedure has a maximum of four steps, but grievances may be 

resolved at any step in the process.  Grievances are to be fully processed until the employee is 
satisfied, does not file a timely appeal, or exhausts the right to appeal.  A decision becomes binding 
on all parties whenever the employee does not file a timely appeal or when a decision is made in the 
final step and the right to appeal no longer exists. 
 

(5) Employees who believe they have an appropriate grievance shall proceed as follows: 

284

ITEM 17.



903:  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

 

2 

 
(a) Step One – Within five working days of the date of the event giving rise to 

the grievance, employee shall deliver the written grievance to the Division 
Manager.  The written grievance shall explicitly outline the (1) facts and 
background of the grievance; (2) alleged violation by management; (3) denied 
action/resolution.  The Division Manager shall, within five working days of 
receipt of the grievance, meet and discuss the grievance with the employee.  
The Division Manager shall provide a written response to the grievance within 
five working days of the meeting.  (If the grievance is against the Division 
Manager, the grievance may be filed with the Department Director.) 

 
(b) Step Two – If the Division Manager’s decision fails to resolve the grievance, 

the employee may, within five working days of receipt of the Division 
Manager’s decision, file a written appeal with the Department Director.  The 
Department Director shall, within five working days, meet and discuss the 
grievance with the employee. Within five working days of this meeting, the 
Department Director shall provide a written response to the employee.  (If the 
grievance is against the Department Director, or if Step One was handled by 
the Department Director, the grievance shall be filed with the City 
Administrator.) 

 
(c) Step Three – Within five working days of receipt of the Department 

Director’s response, the employee may appeal the decision to the Grievance 
Panel.  The Grievance Panel shall consist of the Mayor, the City 
Administrator, and all Department Directors, or the Department Director’s 
designated alternate, with the exception of the Department Director involved 
in the grievance.  The Grievance Panel shall hold a hearing within 10 business 
days of receipt of the appeal, unless the time period is extended by the 
Grievance Panel for good cause.  The Grievance Panel will take the necessary 
steps to review and investigate the grievance and will issue a written, final and 
binding decision based upon the majority vote of those Panel members who 
heard the appeal.  If the grievance is filed by the City Administrator, it shall 
move directly to Step 4. 

 
(d) Step Four – Within five working days of receipt of the Grievance Panel’s 

response, the employee may appeal the decision to the Administration 
Committee of the City Council.  The Administration Committee shall hold a 
hearing within fifteen business days of receipt of the appeal, unless the time 
period is extended by the Administration Committee Chair for good cause.  
The Administration Committee will take the necessary steps to review and 
investigate the grievance and will issue a written, final, and binding decision. 

 

285

ITEM 17.



903:     GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

 

3 

(e) Time frame for City response:  The time frame for the City’s response shall 
normally be five working days unless the City elects to extend the time frame 
in which to respond. The grieving party will be notified of any necessary time 
extensions. 

 
(f) Closed Session:  The grievance hearing in Step Four may be closed pursuant 

to Iowa Code § 21.5(1)(i).  The closed session will only be held upon an 
affirmative public vote of either two-thirds of the members of the body or all 
the members present at a meeting.  A closed session may be held only to the 
extent it is necessary to evaluate the professional competency of an individual 
whose appointment, hiring, performance or discharge is being considered 
when necessary to prevent needless and irreparable injury to that individual’s 
reputation and that individual requests a closed session. 

 
(6) The Finance & Business Operations Department will provide training and support 

to supervisors, managers, and department directors in dealing with employee grievances.  In 
addition, employees should be encouraged to consult with the Finance & Business Operations 
Department, their supervisors, or other members of management, on a less formal basis regarding 
employee complaints or disputes when appropriate. 
 

(7) Final decisions on grievances will not be precedent-setting or binding on future 
grievances unless they are officially stated as City policy.  When appropriate, the decisions will 
be retroactive to the date of the employee's original grievance. 
 

(8) Information concerning an employee grievance is confidential.  Supervisors, 
managers, department directors, and other members of management who investigate a grievance 
are to discuss it only with those individuals who have a need to know about it or who supply 
necessary background information or advice.    
 

(9) Time spent by employees in grievance discussions with management during their 
normal working hours will be considered hours worked for pay purposes. 
 

(10) Employees are not to be penalized for proper use of the grievance procedure.  
However, it is not considered proper procedure if an employee raises grievances in bad faith or 
solely for the purpose of delay or harassment, or repeatedly raises meritless grievances.  
Implementation of the grievance procedure by an employee does not limit the right of the City to 
proceed with any disciplinary action that is not in retaliation for the proper use of the grievance 
procedure. 
 

(11) The City may, at its discretion, refuse to proceed with any complaint it determines is 
improper under this policy. 
 
 

286

ITEM 17.



903:  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

 

4 

Amended 7/1/06 
  6/1/15 
  3/1/19 
   1/6/20 
 

287

ITEM 17.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II   
 
 DATE: January 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Hartman Reserve Educational Partnership   
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, along with several other communities in the area, partner 
annually with Hartman Reserve Nature Center to provide public outreach and education 
programs related to improving water quality and stormwater run-off. These programs 
help students and visitors to Hartman Reserve understand the importance of improving 
water quality in urban areas as it helps to protect the environment and preserve our 
local natural resources for continued public recreational use and enjoyment.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls’ annual contribution for 2020-2021 is $1,626.57, which is paid 
for out of the Stormwater Fund. This program helps the City meet the Public Education 
and Outreach requirement of our National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit.  
 
Attached is the proposed contract. 
 
Engineering requests your approval of this contract.  
 
If there are any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public works 
  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 
 

288

ITEM 18.



289

ITEM 18.



290

ITEM 18.



291

ITEM 18.



292

ITEM 18.



293

ITEM 18.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: January 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Sands Addition 
  Final Acceptance of Improvements 
  Project No. SU – 173 – 3138 
 
Construction work has been completed on the public improvements for Sands Addition. 
The project was designed by VJ Engineering, and has been completed in accordance 
with the project plans and the City of Cedar Falls standard specifications. The project 
was inspected by Clapsaddle Garber Associates. 
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed and approved the project plans and 
specifications, inspected the project through the construction process, and has received 
and reviewed the project reports and certifications. The project documentation is in 
order and the project is complete and ready for City Council acceptance. Attached are 
copies of the maintenance bond from the developer, Jim Sands Construction, LLC, and 
the Sands Addition final plat. 
 
Sands Addition has been constructed in reasonable compliance with the project plans 
and specifications. The Engineering Division recommends that the City Council approve 
and accept the public improvements for Sands Addition. 
 
 
 
            January 2, 2020 

Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II     Date 
 
 
Xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 

294

ITEM 19.



295

ITEM 19.



296

ITEM 19.



297

ITEM 19.



298

ITEM 19.



299

ITEM 19.



300

ITEM 19.



301

ITEM 19.



302

ITEM 20.



303

ITEM 20.



304

ITEM 20.



305

ITEM 20.



306

ITEM 20.



307

ITEM 20.



308

ITEM 20.



309

ITEM 20.



310

ITEM 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Jon Fitch, PE, Principal Engineer  
 
 DATE: December 18, 2019  
 
 SUBJECT: Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer - Phase 2 
  Project No. SA-000-3136 
  Final Out 
 
The Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer - Phase 2 project is complete and ready for final 
acceptance. The project involved the construction of approximately 4,000 lineal feet of 
sanitary sewer ranging from 15-inches to 36-inches in diameter. The project was under 
contract with S.M Hentges & Sons, Inc of Jordan, MN. Attached you will find the 
following final documents: 
 

- Reconciliation of Final Quantities 
- Final Payment Request (releases final retainage) 
- Lien Waivers 
- Copy of Maintenance Bond, S.M. Hentges & Sons, Inc 

 
The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division 
and are on file with the City Clerk: 
 

S.M. Hentges & Sons, Inc: 
Hobas Pipe USA, Inc 
Core & Main LP 
Forterra Pipe & Precast 
L.B. Foster Company 
American Cast Iron Pipe 

S.M. Hentges & Sons, Inc: 
Boulder Contracting 
Engineering Partners Int’l LLC 
Hydro-Vac, Inc 
Iowa Plains Signing 
Lametti & Sons, Inc 
Life Time Fence Company, Inc 
Rice Lake Boring, Inc 
Team Services 
Soil-Tek 
 

 
 
After reconciliation of final quantities, the total project cost including all change orders is 

311

ITEM 21.



$3,788,834.28. This is $64,477.92 under the original contract amount. This project was 
funded with Sewer Revenue Bonds. 
 
I certify that the public improvements for the Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer 
Improvements – Phase 2 project was completed in reasonable compliance with the 
project plans and specifications. 
 

                                        12/30/2019    
        Jon Fitch        Date 
xc: Chase Schrage, P.E., Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

312

ITEM 21.



313

ITEM 21.



314

ITEM 21.



12/12/2019

315

ITEM 21.



316

ITEM 21.



317

ITEM 21.



318

ITEM 21.



319

ITEM 21.



320

ITEM 21.



321

ITEM 21.



322

ITEM 21.



323

ITEM 21.



324

ITEM 21.



325

ITEM 21.



326

ITEM 21.



327

ITEM 21.



328

ITEM 21.



329

ITEM 21.



330

ITEM 21.



331

ITEM 21.



332

ITEM 21.



333

ITEM 21.



334

ITEM 21.



335

ITEM 21.



336

ITEM 21.



337

ITEM 21.



338

ITEM 21.



339

ITEM 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS – Engineering Division 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: December 31, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement 
  AECOM 
  Project No. DR-106-3127 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with AECOM which outlines 
the scope of services and costs for the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project.  
 
Request for proposals were sent out to various engineering firms and ranked by a 
selection committee on specific focuses. AECOM was the firm selected by the selection 
committee. The enclosed agreement with AECOM provides for the design of Olive 
Street Box Culvert Replacement at the existing box culvert on Olive Street along Dry 
Run Creek between W. 20th and W. 21st Streets. The cost of this agreement is hourly 
not to exceed in the amount of $166,500.00.  
 
This project is programmed in the CIP for design in FY 2020 and being constructed in 
FY 2021. The project is currently budgeted at $1,010,000.00 and will utilize the Storm 
Water Fund and General Obligation Bonds to fund the project.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Professional Service Agreement with AECOM for the Olive Street 
Box Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Shrage, Director of Public Works 
  
 

340

ITEM 22.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

 OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 
 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197 
  
  
  
     
 
 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

OLIVE STREET BOX CULVERT REPLACEMENT 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  BR-106-3215 
 

  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between AECOM Technical Services, Inc., a California 
corporation, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 

341

ITEM 22.



 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 
from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 

342

ITEM 22.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed.  Total compensation is a not 
to exceed fee of One Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($166,500.00). 
 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall not be liable for 
any unauthorized reuse of modification of its work product. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 

343

ITEM 22.



CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 
be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 

344

ITEM 22.



CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District Court, 
Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 

any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between 
this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C 
shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 

CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT 

and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits 
limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are 
available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 

By:  By:                           
 
 
Printed Name:      Robert M. Green                 Printed Name:              Douglas W. Schindel  
 
 
Title:                         Mayor  Title:                           Associate Vice President  
 
 
Date:  Date:                              December 30, 2019  
  

345

ITEM 22.



EXHIBIT A 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
OLIVE STREET BOX CULVERT REPLACEMENT 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  BR-106-3215 
 
Project Description 
 
This project involves removing and replacing the existing cast-in-place two-span concrete slab deck bridge 
with a box culvert on Olive Street between W. 20th Street and W. 21st Street and channel stabilization 
between College Street and Olive Street.  The project will involve the development and evaluation of three 
alternatives, preparation of the preliminary plans for the Type, Size and Location (TS&L) Sheet for the 
recommended box culvert alternative, channel stabilization, water main, storm and sanitary sewer, 
roadway improvements and plaza extension.  The three proposed alternatives will be evaluated based on 
survey (provided by the City), hydraulic data and engineering judgment.  Project administration, 
community and stakeholder involvement will be provided.  Final design and construction plans will be 
developed for the recommended box culvert alternative.  Design fees were estimated based on the design 
of a full box culvert extension from College Street to Olive Street with plaza extension.  The estimated 
costs for construction of this alternative is approximately $1.7 million. 
 
Scope of Services 
 
The Scope of Services provided under this work order will include services and personnel necessary to 
provide the conceptual development, preliminary and final design for the reconstruction of the Olive Street 
box culvert.  The design will incorporate Iowa SUDAS and Iowa Department of Transportation standard 
details, procedures and specifications in effect at the time the services are performed.  The Scope of 
Services is further defined as follows: 
 
Data Collection, Field Survey and Base Mapping  
 
This task includes collecting and reviewing as-built plans, city storm sewer maps, previous models and 
associated utility drawings provided by the City.  AECOM will develop the base mapping from the design 
survey provided by the City, which includes project control, property survey, location of existing features 
within project limits, and break lines and spot elevations for the surface model.  AECOM will complete field 
survey for utility locates including storm, sanitary, water main, communications, gas and electric.  In 
addition, AECOM will complete the Iowa One Call ticket for utility locate request.  
 
Task 1 - Data Collection 
Task 2 - File Set-Up and Base Mapping 
Task 3 - Utility Locates Field Survey  
 
Environmental Review  
 
The preliminary design will be reviewed with respect to known environmental conditions within the project 
area.  If the available environmental data identifies major environmental constraints relative to the 
preliminary design, these items will be summarized. 
 
Task 4 - Wetland Boundary Delineation.  This task includes an investigation of wetlands and wetland 
boundary delineation, if necessary, for the University Branch Dry Run Creek from the College Street box 
culvert to approximately 75 feet east of Olive Street right-of-way.  The project wetland scientist will conduct 
an on-site determination of wetland boundaries.  This work will include a field assessment of surface 
hydrology, observations of soil features and a plant community characterization.  Wetland boundaries 
identified in the field will be mapped using a Global Positioning System (GPS).  The GPS data will be 
transferred to aerial photography.  The presence of any other Water of the U.S. located within the project 
corridor will also be determined.  This task will be performed by our subconsultant, Stantec Consulting 

346

ITEM 22.



Services Inc.  
 
Task 5 - Wetland Delineation Report.  A report of the wetland findings will be prepared and will be suitable 
for submittal to the Corps of Engineers as part of a Section 404 Permit application.  This task will be 
performed by our subconsultant, Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
 
Soil Borings and Geotechnical Engineering 
 
Task 6 - Soil Borings.  Soil borings will be obtained to determine the subsurface conditions for the proposed 
structure.  The number and depth of borings, as well as the number and type of samples obtained, will be 
sufficient to complete the geotechnical engineering and recommendations for the project.  It is anticipated 
that two soil borings will be obtained.  This task will be completed by our subconsultant, Terracon 
Consultants.  
 
Task 7 - Geotechnical Engineering, Report and Recommendations.  The geotechnical engineering will 
include the necessary laboratory testing, classifications and geotechnical engineering analysis required to 
develop the final geotechnical engineering recommendations for the project.  This task will be completed 
by our subconsultant, Terracon Consultants.  
 
The purpose of this task is to obtain data regarding the subsurface conditions relating to soil analysis, 
earthwork and subsurface drainage.   
 
In addition to soil borings and laboratory testing, the geotechnical engineering and CADD services under 
this task will include: 
 
• Computer-Generated Boring Logs 
• One Report Summarizing the Information Reviewed, Conditions Encountered, Analyses Performed 

and Recommendations 
 
If safety allows, the boreholes will be left open for approximately one to two days after completion of drilling 
so delayed water levels can be observed.   
 
The City should understand that some settlement of the borehole backfill might occur.  No future 
maintenance or filling of the holes are included in this scope.  This scope is also based on the field 
exploration being performed without the need for personal protective equipment beyond Level D (hard 
hat, steel-toe boots and safety glasses).  If personal protective equipment or special borehole sealing 
procedures become necessary, these tasks will be added by supplemental agreement. 
 
Excluded from this estimate are borrow site selection and borrow design.   
 
Deliverables will consist of a boring layout plan, boring logs and Geotechnical Engineering Report.  The 
final report will be sealed by an Iowa Licensed Professional Engineer. 
 
Conceptual Design 
 
As part of the conceptual design, AECOM will develop three alternatives for the City to review and 
evaluate.  This conceptual design will assist the City in planning for the construction of the project, in 
addition to assisting in possible addition of funding resource opportunities.  The concept design will include 
the following tasks:  
 
Task 8 - Conceptual Design of Reinforced Box Culverts.  This task includes developing three alternatives 
for the Olive Street box culvert. It is anticipated that alternatives will review both cast-in-place and pre-cast 
options.  In addition, a review of extending the culvert length upstream will be completed. Per discussion 
with the City, a pedestrian plaza could be located on top of the proposed box culvert.  The conceptual 
design includes roadway (limits necessary for box culvert construction) on Olive Street between W. 20th 
Street and W. 21st Street and channel improvements from the College Street box culvert to approximately 

347

ITEM 22.



75 feet east of the Olive Street right-of-way.  The concepts will be presented in the form of plan view 
drawings and typical sections.  
 
Task 9 - Hydraulic/Hydrologic Analysis.  This task includes review of the existing Flood Insurance Study 
(FIS) duplicate effective HEC-RAS hydraulic model used for permitting of the Walnut Street box culvert 
replacement.  This model will be provided by the City of Cedar Falls.  If the City is unable to locate the 
hydraulic model, AECOM will request this information from the Iowa DNR.  The HEC-RAS model will be 
reviewed and updated based on the provided survey and as-built information to create the corrected 
effective hydraulic model which will be used as the base model for alternative comparisons.  Three 
separate proposed condition models will be created correlating to each of the three alternatives developed 
as part of the conceptual design.  The HEC-RAS analysis of each alternative will be used to determine 
the sizing based on Iowa DNR freeboard and backwater criteria.  It is anticipated that the chosen 
alternative will meet “no-rise” criteria and a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) will not be required.  If it is 
determined that a LOMR is required based on a review of the hydraulic modeling, this will be included as 
a supplemental agreement. 
 
Task 10 - Concept Construction Cost Opinion.  This task includes the preparation of three estimated 
opinion of construction costs for the three developed alternatives.  
 
Preliminary Design (Selected Alternative) 
 
The following tasks lead to the completion of the preliminary plans for approval by the City of Cedar Falls.  
These plans will include typical sections, plan and profile sheets, detail sheets, TS&L sheets, cross 
sections, and proposed right-of-way limits for the project.  The preliminary plans will be completed as one 
project plan set covering the entire project corridor.  The following tasks are included: 
 
Task 11 - Title and Legend Sheets (A-Series Sheets) 
Task 12 - Typical Sections and Details (B-Series Sheets) 
Task 13 - Plan and Profile Sheets (D-Series Sheets) 
Task 14 - Erosion Control Sheets (EC-Series Sheets) 
Task 15 - Storm Sewer Sheets (M-Series Sheets) 
Task 16 - Sanitary Sewer Sheets (MSA-Series Sheets) 
Task 17 - Water Main Sheets (MSW-Series Sheets) 
Task 18 - Situation Plan/Type, Size and Location Sheets (V-Series Sheets) 
Task 19 - Preliminary Design Cross Section Sheets (W-Series Sheets) 
Task 20 - Construction Cost Opinion 
 
Final Design 
 
The following tasks lead to the completion of the final design and construction plans for approval by the 
City of Cedar Falls: 
 
Task 21 - Final Design of Culvert.  This task includes the final design of the Olive Street culvert.  The 
structure for estimating purposes is anticipated to be a multiple barrel cast-in-place structure extending 
from the College Street box culvert to Olive Street.  
 
Tasks 22-39 - Preparation of Final Design Plans.  Following City approval of the preliminary design 
drawings, work will proceed on the final construction drawings for the project.  The preliminary design 
drawings will be updated as necessary, and final construction details will be added.  The following tasks 
are included:  
 
Task 22 - Title and Legend Sheets (A-Series Sheets) 
Task 23 - Typical Sections and Details (B-Series Sheets) 
Task 24 - General Notes, Quantities, Estimate Reference Information and Tabulations (C-Series Sheets) 
Task 25 - Plan and Profile Sheets (D-Series Sheets) 
Task 26 - Erosion Control Sheets (EC-Series Sheets) 

348

ITEM 22.



Task 27 - Geometric Layout Sheets (G-Series Sheets) 
Task 28 - Right-of-Way Sheets (H-Series Sheets)  
Task 29 - Landscaping Sheets (LS-Series Sheets) 
Task 30 - Storm Sewer Sheets (M-Series Sheets) 
Task 31 - Sanitary Sewer Sheets (MSA-Series Sheets) 
Task 32 - Water Main Sheets (MSW-Series Sheets) 
Task 33 - Removal Sheets (R-Series Sheets) 
Task 34 - ADA Sidewalk Sheets (S-Series Sheets) 
Task 35 - Earthwork Quantities (T-Series Sheets) 
Task 36 - Situation Plan/TS&L, Details and Quantities (V-Series Sheets) 
Task 37 - Cross Section Sheets (W-Series Sheets) 
Task 38 - Printing and Submittals 
Task 39 - Field Review 
 
Task 40 - Quality Control Review.  This task includes the quality control review of the plans by senior staff 
throughout the course of the project including, but not limited to, the significant milestones in the project. 
 
Task 41 - Final Revisions.  This task includes revisions of the final design plans after City review. 
 
Task 42 - Construction Cost Opinion.  This task includes preparation of the estimate of probable 
construction costs for the project.  
 
Task 43 - Project Specifications.  This task includes preparation of the specifications for the project.  The 
document will include technical specifications. 
 
Acquisition Plats 
 
The following tasks include preparation of acquisition plats and descriptions for necessary property 
acquisition of the project.  For the purpose of estimating staff hours, three properties with both permanent 
and temporary easements were included.  
 
Task 44 - Preparation of Acquisition Plats and Legal Descriptions 
Task 45 - Right-of-Way Staking 
 
Public Involvement 
 
These tasks include preparation for and attendance at public informational activities, as needed, for the 
project.  These activities will include two public informational meetings, two presentations at City Council 
meetings or committee meetings, and up to eight individual property owner and/or stakeholder group 
meetings.  The City will arrange the meeting space, complete any advance advertising and will participate 
in the meeting.  The following tasks are included in the scope: 
 
Task 46 - City Council Presentation (2) 
Task 47 - Public Informational Meeting (2) 
Task 48 - Property Owner Meetings (4) 
Task 49 - Stakeholder Coordination and Meetings (4) 
 
Project Administration, Permitting and Meetings 
 
These tasks include project administration, coordination and meetings throughout the project 
development.  Agency coordination with IDNR, Corps of Engineers, and other regulatory agencies is 
included.  Following City approval of the preliminary design drawings, applications will be submitted to the 
IDNR for the Flood Plain and Sovereign Lands Permit and to the Corps of Engineers for a Section 404 
Permit.  These tasks include project administration, meetings, bid letting activities, and coordination during 
the conceptual, preliminary and final design phases of the project. 
 

349

ITEM 22.



Task 50 - Utility Coordination 
Task 51 - Agency Coordination and Permitting 
Task 52 - Subconsultant Coordination 
Task 53 - Bid Letting Activities 
Task 54 - Project Management Team (PMT) Meetings (8) 
Task 55 - Project Administration 
 
Exclusions 
 
Wetland Mitigation and Monitoring (if required) 
Construction-Related Services 
Condemnation Proceedings (if required) 
Asbestos Testing (House Demolition, if required) 
Land Acquisition Services 

350

ITEM 22.



    
EXHIBIT B 

 
OLIVE STREET BOX CULVERT REPLACEMENT 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  BR-106-3215 

 
  Original12/13/11 

Revision 01/31/2017 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work for the City of 
Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this document shall be defined as the general contractor, 
artisan contractor, or design contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under 
contract. 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law to do 
business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of 
A-, VII or better in the current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the Cancellation & Material Change 
Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for the 
coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized representative from an Insurer 
duly authorized to transact business at the location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first 
payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for all subcontractors and 
sub-sub contractors who perform work or services pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of these requirements by the 
City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be considered a material 
breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall constitute a default under this 
Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said 
insurance at Contractor’s expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum coverage/limits or greater, if required 
by law or other legal agreement; as per Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations or 
exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly 
identified and shall be subject to the review and approval of the City.  

351

ITEM 22.



 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years following substantial 

completion of the Work to cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard 
and liability assumed under an insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form attached. 

 
 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, 
employees shall be named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies 
for all classes of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an additional insured including 
ongoing and completed operations coverage equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 
37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or Contractors – 
Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or Contractors – 

Completed Operations”  
 
8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design work or other professional 
services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent 
acts or omissions (except for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions coverage for a period 
commencing no later than the date of the contract, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years 
from the date of completion of all work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of 
liability shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain the standard ISO 
separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not represent that 
coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor and such coverage and limits shall 
not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this 
Contract.  The City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that otherwise 
specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums payable shall be added to the bid 
price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor 
agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including any and all outlay and 
expense connected therewith, and for damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or 
from the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason 
of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any 
way connected or associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, 
omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others working on 
behalf of the Contractor.  It is the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

352

ITEM 22.



shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by 
the Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or property resulting from the work 
and/or services performed by the Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to 
the extent caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries which may result to any 
person or property by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor 
to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions 
or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of 
the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for all damages caused to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out of such 
errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this contract 
will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified personnel, and 
the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, subcontractors and 
others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or otherwise, for 
any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury 
to Contractor’s employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect 
to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work performed under this 
contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or 
endorsement to the effect that such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice 
the right of the Contractor to recover thereunder. 
 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
  

353

ITEM 22.



EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 

  
Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000
 
 
 
                   
 
 
 
   
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if the Umbrella/Excess is 
not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same endorsements as required of the primary 
policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 

 
 

  

354

ITEM 22.



City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, its 
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 
2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance 
or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other available coverage be primary, 
contributing or excess. 

 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and states that the 
purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does 
not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under 
Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of insurance shall cover 
only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 
670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be responsible for 
asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so upon the 
timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the 
carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under this policy and the 
insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction 
has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa agree that the 
above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise change or alter the coverage 
available under the policy. 

cancellation and material changes endorsement 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
  

355

ITEM 22.



 

 

356

ITEM 22.



  

357

ITEM 22.



 

358

ITEM 22.



  

359

ITEM 22.



EXHIBIT C 
 

OLIVE STREET BOX CULVERT REPLACEMENT 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  BR-106-3215 
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors who perform work 
or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, “Contractor,” as used in this document, 
includes an engineer, an architect, and any other design professional providing professional services to 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed by an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services to be 
performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, or employees, shall be 
deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable federal, state and 
local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies available to it at law 
or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or incapable of 
being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining provisions of this Contract shall 
nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no provision shall be deemed dependent upon any 
other provision unless so expressed herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights or obligations 
hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent may be withheld in the sole and 
absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature extend beyond 
the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this Contract. 
 
 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be construed in 
accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws of the State of Iowa, 
excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that the exclusive jurisdiction and venue 
shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall 
not be removed to federal court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to 
submit all disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract shall 
be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for 
the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a default under this Contract. 
 

360

ITEM 22.



 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no circumstances be 
obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than thirty (30) days 
from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within thirty (30) days, the City shall pay 
interest thereon at the rate provided for by Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor documents or 
records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records under the Iowa Open Records 
Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of 
such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the Contractor or any 
other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether consequential, indirect, special, or punitive 
damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be limited to any 
specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by the City to the Contractor 
under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided for in the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any other party shall 
conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by Iowa law, on 
the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the Contractor or other party under 
the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved by the City 
Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor and City Clerk of the City. 
 
 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services furnished to the City 
under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike manner, in accordance with the 
degree of skill and care that is required by current, good and sound practices applicable to the 
Contractor’s industry or profession, and as otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other party for delays 
in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from such delays, that may result from 
acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, extraordinary weather conditions or other natural 
catastrophes, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each 
party will take reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 
 
 
O:\Administration\AGREE\PROF\CF Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement.docx 

361

ITEM 22.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: January 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I 
  Project No. SU-282-1904 
  Temporary Easement Agreement 
  CF Gateway Park Inc. 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls Council approved a Developmental Procedures Agreement with 
CF Gateway Park, Inc. on June 4th, 2018 for the oversizing of the sanitary sewer system 
and upsizing a 5-foot sidewalk to a 10-foot trail. As part of the First Amendment to the 
Development Procedures Agreement with CF Gateway Park, Inc., this development 
requires an updated temporary easement from two properties, CF Gateway Park Inc. 
and Shri Mahaganapati and Hanumanta, Inc., in order to complete the trail along 
Hudson Road.  
 
The Temporary Easement Agreement for CF Gateway Park Inc. is attached for review. 
This easement is part of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, Tract B, in the City of 
Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends that the Temporary Easement Agreement with 
Gateway Park Inc. be accepted by the City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk 
County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 

362

ITEM 23.



363

ITEM 23.



364

ITEM 23.



365

ITEM 23.



366

ITEM 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: January 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I 
  Project No. SU-282-1904 
  Temporary Easement Agreement 
  Shri Mahaganapati and Hanumanta, Inc. 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls Council approved a Developmental Procedures Agreement with 
CF Gateway Park, Inc. on June 4th, 2018 for the oversizing of the sanitary sewer system 
and upsizing a 5-foot sidewalk to a 10-foot trail. As part of the First Amendment to the 
Development Procedures Agreement with CF Gateway Park, Inc., this development 
requires an updated temporary easement from two properties, CF Gateway Park Inc. 
and Shri Mahaganapati and Hanumanta, Inc., in order to complete the trail along 
Hudson Road. 
 
The Temporary Easement Agreement for Shri Mahaganapati and Hanumanta, Inc., is 
attached for review. This easement is part of Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, Lot 
23, in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends that the Temporary Easement Agreement with 
Gateway Park Inc. be accepted by the City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk 
County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 

367

ITEM 24.



368

ITEM 24.



369

ITEM 24.



370

ITEM 24.



371

ITEM 24.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: January 2, 2020 

 SUBJECT: First Amendment to Developmental Procedures Agreement – Gateway Business 
Park at Cedar Falls I 

 
 
On June 4, 2018, City Council approved the final plat of 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, a 2-lot 
subdivision located at the northeast corner of Hudson 
Road and W. Ridgeway Avenue. Lot 1 was developed 
with a new Holiday Inn & Suites Hotel and convention 
center, and DQ Grill & Chill restaurant and BP gas 
station is currently under construction on Lot 2. Also 
part of the plat was a new road (Cyber Lane), which 
runs north to south along the east side of the plat.  
 
In conjunction with the final plat, City Council also 
approved a Developmental Procedures Agreement for 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, which noted 
that certain infrastructure improvements would need to 
be constructed greater in size in order to not only meet 
the needs of the platted area, but also to complete a 
logical and efficient system of infrastructure for the 
surrounding areas, which benefits the entire 
community. In such instances where oversized 
infrastructure is constructed by the developer, the City 
will pay the subdivider the difference in cost between 
the infrastructure necessary to serve the platted area 
and the cost of the oversized infrastructure necessary to serve the larger needs of the 
community. In the instance of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, it was agreed that the 
developer would install a larger 15” diameter sanitary sewer main as opposed to a typical 8” 
diameter sanitary sewer main, as well as a 10-foot wide recreational trail located along Hudson 
Road from Technology Parkway south to W. Ridgeway Avenue, and along W. Ridgeway 
Avenue east to Cyber Lane as opposed to a 5’ wide sidewalk. 
 
The oversized 15” diameter sanitary sewer main has been constructed, and a portion of the 10’ 
wide recreational trail has been constructed. However, a portion of recreational trail between 

372

ITEM 25.



Technology Parkway and Tract B of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I (located just to the 
north of the Holiday Inn & Suites parcel) has not been constructed. There are certain site 
limitations in this area, as there are grade differences and there is a monument sign for the 
Holiday Inn Express (which is also owned by the developer) in this location as well. City staff, 
along with the developer’s engineer, have looked at different options to construct this portion of 
trail, but have found that all of the options are either undesirable or unfeasible at this time.  
 
Therefore, staff and the developer wish to amend the Developmental Procedures Agreement to 
include a payment from the developer to the City for the cost of the 5-foot sidewalk on the 
portion not yet completed, and then the City will complete the improvements when the City 
determines it to be feasible. In addition to the payment, the developer will also provide a 
temporary construction and grading easement to the City in order for the City to complete the 
trail segment in this area. 
 
It should be noted that all other terms of the original Developmental Procedures Agreement will 
still be in effect. This includes the construction of the recreational trail adjacent to Lot 2 in 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. That lot is currently under construction, so that portion 
of the trail will need to be completed by the developer prior to receiving an occupancy permit for 
that lot. 
 
This amendment has been reviewed by the City Attorney, and is acceptable to both parties. 
  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
City staff recommends approving the First Amendment to the Developmental Procedures 
Agreement – Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, with CF Gateway Park, Inc. 
 

373

ITEM 25.



374

ITEM 25.



375

ITEM 25.



376

ITEM 25.



377

ITEM 25.



378

ITEM 25.



379

ITEM 25.



380

ITEM 25.



381

ITEM 25.



382

ITEM 25.



383

ITEM 25.



384

ITEM 25.



385

ITEM 25.



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: January 2, 2020 
 
 SUBJECT: Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I 
  Final Acceptance of Improvements 
  Project No. SU-282-1904 
 
Construction work has been completed on the public improvements for Gateway 
Business Park at Cedar Falls I. The project was designed by Shive-Hattery, Inc., and 
has been completed in accordance with the project plans and the City of Cedar Falls 
standard specifications. The project was inspected by Clapsaddle Garber Associates. 
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed and approved the project plans and 
specifications, inspected the project through the construction process, and has received 
and reviewed the project reports and certifications. The project documentation is in 
order and the project is complete and ready for City Council acceptance contingent 
upon the executed First Amendment to the Developmental Procedures Agreement for 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I related to the trail along Hudson Road. The 
City of Cedar Falls will continue with construction of Cyber Lane after legal proceedings 
have been completed. Attached are copies of the maintenance bond from the 
developer, CF Gateway Park Inc., and the Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I final 
plat. 
 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I has been constructed in reasonable 
compliance with the project plans and specifications. The Engineering Division 
recommends that the City Council approve and accept the public improvements for 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, subject to the First Amendment to the 
Developmental Procedures Agreement for Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 
 
 
 
            January 2, 2020 

Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II     Date 
 
Xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, Civil Engineer 

386

ITEM 26.



387

ITEM 26.



388

ITEM 26.



389

ITEM 26.



390

ITEM 26.



391

ITEM 26.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Phone: 319-273-8600 

Fax: 319-273-8610 

www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: December 31, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Supplemental Agreement for Consultant Services with Ferrell Madden, LLC  
  College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
 
The City Council has recognized the need to update the City’s zoning code to guide future 
development in a manner that is consistent with the community’s vision, to stabilize and 
support existing neighborhoods and business districts, and to keep pace with demand for 
new housing and business opportunities in Cedar Falls. The City contracted with Ferrell 
Madden, LLC in February 2019 to begin the visioning and zoning code update process in 
Downtown Cedar Falls and close-in neighborhoods. It was anticipated that after successful 
adoption of the vision plan for Downtown that the City Council would consider a 
supplemental agreement to continue a similar process for the College Hill Neighborhood, 
with the ultimate goal to update the vision and zoning for all areas of the city over the next 
several years. The Downtown Vision Plan was adopted on November 18, 2019 and while 
the code drafting process for the Downtown study area is still underway, there will be some 
efficiencies realized by kicking off the College Hill visioning in January, including the 
opportunity to consolidate consultant travel dates and on-site meetings. It is also important 
to begin the College Hill visioning process early in the year in order to encourage 
participation of University students, faculty, and staff in the major public outreach events 
while school is in session.     
 
The general scope of services outlined in this supplemental agreement is similar to the 
scope underway for the Downtown Study Area and includes the following components: 
 

 Task 1– Project Organization, Management, and Goal-setting 
This task will include detailed project organization, travel by key members of the 
consultant team to Cedar Falls for initial meetings with City staff, preliminary 
physical site analysis of the College Hill Study Area, and background document 
collection. It will also include a first round of interviews with stakeholders and an 
initial public kick-off workshop.  
 
 
 

392

ITEM 27.



 Task 2 – Documentation, Review and Analysis 
The consultant team will conduct a detailed analysis, completed both on- and off-
site. Such analysis is integral to leading the public design charrette and 
developing the illustrative vision plan; and will provide the framework for the new 
zoning district(s) for the College Hill study area.  This work will overlap with Task 
One and continue through the beginning of Task Three. 
 

 Task 3 – Public Design Charrette and Vision Plan 
This task will include a weeklong public design charrette process.  Building on 
initial analysis and gathering additional input from citizens, stakeholders, staff, 
and elected leaders through the charrette process, the consultant team will 
explore site-specific urban design scenarios addressing a series of questions 
related to character, scale and intensity of development; physical transitions and 
connections to surrounding areas; and potential range of uses.  This information 
will be used to develop an illustrative vision plan and new zoning standards for 
the College Hill study area.  
 

 Task 4 – Development of Zoning Standards to Implement the Vision Plan 
Task will include drafting detailed zoning standards to supersede, in part or in 
whole, the present zoning for the study area. The administrative and 
development review processes will be reviewed and updated as necessary.  

 
The amount of the contract is $165,000.00, all inclusive of expenses. This amount 
includes $6,500 for additional college student engagement activities, which will be 
coordinated with UNI administration and student government.  
 
CIP #101 plans for the costs of this project, utilizing a combination of College Hill Urban 
Renewal Area (TIF) and General Revenue.  
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of the attached supplemental agreement with Ferrell Madden, LLC for consultant 
services for the College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update.  
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me 
at this office. 
 
Attachments:  

 Supplemental Agreement and Scope of Services 

 Exhibit A: Study Area Map 

 
xc: Ronald Gaines, City Administrator 
 Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  
  

393

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

1 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT #1 
 

College Hill Study Area Amendment  
to the Cedar Falls Visioning & Zoning Code Update 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number PZ000-3221 

 
 

WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, hereinafter referred to as “CLIENT” and Community ReCode LLC, dated February 18, 2019 

(Resolution 21,435); and said agreement was later assigned to Ferrell Madden LLC, hereinafter referred 

to as “CONSULTANT,” said assignment approved by Resolution 21,528 on May 6, 2019; and  

 

  WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include 

a Scope of Services and Compensation for additional planning services specific to the College Hill Study 

Area, the boundaries of which are delineated on Exhibit A, attached hereto. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement to 

include the following additional Scope of Services:  

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

This document outlines the scope of services and compensation specific for the College Hill Study Area 

Visioning & Zoning Code Update. The term “CONSULTANT” as used in this document shall be defined 

as the lead consultant (Ferrell Madden) along with all sub-consultants, including but not limited to 

Community Recode, Common Ground, Urban Advantage, and Partners for Economic Solutions, who 

will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract, hereinafter, the “CITY”. The 

CONSULTANT will coordinate all tasks with the City’s designated Project Manager.  

  

I.  Project Description 

The CONSULTANT will assist the CITY in developing a detailed vision plan and associated zoning 

regulations for College Hill and near neighborhoods as illustrated on the study area map, attached 

as Exhibit A. The study area includes the College Hill business district and residential areas 

adjacent to the University of Northern Iowa campus east of Hudson Avenue, including the 

traditional residential neighborhoods to the north and east. It also includes the extended Main 

Street corridor to Seerley Boulevard.  Minor adjustments may be made to the study area based on 

guidance from the CONSULTANT and input from the City Council during goal setting for the 

project.  The project will follow a similar process with similar deliverables as the Downtown Vision 

Plan and Zoning Code Update, as described in Sections II and III, below. 

 

II.  General Scope of Work 

 

Task 1: Project Organization & Management  

This task will include detailed project organization, travel by key CONSULTANT team members to 

Cedar Falls (Trip #1) for initial project meetings with City Staff and preliminary physical site analysis, 

394

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

2 

 

a first round of interviews with stakeholders, an initial public kick-off meeting or workshop, and a 

student engagement activity.  

 

A. Organization & Kick-Off  

CONSULTANT will become familiar with the College Hill study area and the existing planning 

documents. Tasks will include: 

 Attend an initial organizational meeting and tour of the study area; 

 Identify specific issues to be covered in the planning and coding process; 

 Collect any documents, data, and plans associated with the study area not previously 

provided, including, but not limited to: 

- College Hill District Overlay design standards and review process 

- Any additional plans for College Hill and adjacent neighborhoods (current and historic) 

- Any other district-specific land development regulations or guidelines 

- Recent College Hill parking study, traffic counts and/or transportation studies 

- Recent Economic Development Plans or studies 

- GIS data of land use, zoning, lot size, property ownership, building square feet and lot 

coverage 

- Base mapping for target areas in GIS/AutoCAD  

 Finalize the timeline to complete the Scope of Services, with key tasks for CONSULTANT 

and CITY identified; 

 Develop a communication and coordination plan with the CITY’s designated Project 

Manager.  

 

B. Public Kick-Off Event 

CONSULTANT will conduct a public kick-off meeting to explain the nature and scope of the College 

Hill Visioning and Zoning Code Update project, present the basic concepts of place-making and 

form-based development regulations, and engage the public using one or more interactive 

exercises, such as mapping strengths and weakness in the study area and identifying visual 

preferences for future development. (Note: this event can occur during Trip #1 under Task 1 if a 

mutually available date and appropriate location are determined and meeting exercise preparations 

can be completed in advance. If not, the substance of the event can be incorporated into Task 3 

(Trip #2) as part of the Public Hands-On portion of the Design Workshop.) 

 

C. Public Participation – On-going throughout project 

Key points for public involvement and methods of participation are indicated throughout this scope. It 

is important to note, however, that development regulations are more technical in nature than 

comprehensive plans; language and standards must be very clear and precise. Directly engaging 

the public during the initial code drafting task is not practical.  

 

Prior to and during Trip #1, the CONSULTANT will work with the CITY to craft the public 

engagement plan.  

 

During Trip #1, Trip #2, and as otherwise mutually agreed, the CONSULTANT will interview and/or 

hold informational meetings with appropriate stakeholders.  These interviews/meetings may include 

groups and individuals including elected officials, nonprofit organization leaders, and student 

organizations, including the College Hill Partnership, property owners, UNI Student Government, 

neighborhood representatives, local landlords, local design professionals, developers, and business 

owners, and municipal staff, as appropriate for the relevant stage of the project. 

 

395

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

3 

 

D. Media & Website 

Throughout the course of the project, the CONSULTANT will assist with press releases, be available 

to talk with the media (if desired), and maintain the Our Cedar Falls interactive project webpage. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task 1: 

 Trip #1: 3 to 4 people for 3-4 days 

 Finalize public engagement plan in conjunction with City staff 

 Initial stakeholder meetings (input to be incorporated in vision plan) 

 Initial study area analysis (findings to be incorporated in vision plan) 

 Public Project Kick-Off and Student Engagement event (or, as mutually agreed with the CITY, 

this event may partially or wholly be included with Task 3) 

 On-going maintenance of Our Cedar Falls website with project-specific information and updates 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task 1: 

CITY will provide: 

 All plans, reports, base digital information, and maps described in this section;  

 Staff logistical coordination and assistance on engaging with the City Council, commissions, 

stakeholders, working with media and the public (ongoing throughout the project); 

 Provide a location, logistical support, and advertising for Public Kick-Off event(s); 

 Provide any refreshments desired for public meetings; and 

 Provide base maps, aerial photos, etc. (in appropriate digital and hard copy formats) well in 

advance of Trip #1 to prepare for interactive Kick-Off event 

 

Task 2: Documentation, Review & Analysis 

CONSULTANT will conduct a detailed analysis, completed both on- and off-site. Such analysis is 

integral to leading the public design workshop and developing the study area vision plan; and will 

provide the framework for the new character area zoning district(s) for the College Hill study area.  

This work will overlap with Task One and continue through the beginning of Task Three. 

 

A. Review and Evaluation of Existing Documents 

CONSULTANT will review the portions of the existing zoning ordinance that apply to the College Hill 

study area, past studies and plans associated with the study area to gain an understanding of the 

dynamics of the neighborhoods around the UNI campus.  In particular, during this task the 

CONSULTANT will review the College Hill overlay district provisions and related administration and 

development review processes.  

 

B. Leadership and Stakeholder Input (may occur during Trips #1 and #2)  

CONSULTANT will meet with key stakeholders to understand the current context and vision for the 

College Hill study area. These meetings may include, but not be limited to: 

 Meetings with the planning and other key City staff. 

 One-on-one meetings with the City Council. 

 An initial workshop or meeting(s) with stakeholders (including the College Hill Partnership, 

property owners, landlords, business owners, university officials, faculty/staff, student 

organizations, and local developers—participants to be determined in conjunction with staff prior 

to Trip 1), focusing on neighborhood quality of life issues and the existing zoning and 

development review process; what works and what needs to be improved, eliminated, or added. 

396

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

4 

 

 Meeting with development review staff and potentially with Public Works, Engineering, Public 

Safety, and any other departments or agencies involved with development review and approval, 

to be identified by the Client. 

 

C. Site Analysis: Urban Framework and Natural Features 

The CONSULTANT will analyze the urban framework and natural features of College Hill and the 

surrounding area. The existing urban form—the network of streets, blocks and lots, building forms, 

and public areas—will be examined within the study area and adjacent parts of Cedar Falls. This will 

include a review of existing land use, density, open spaces, vacant and underutilized parcels, and 

overall urban design in the study area, including topography, viewsheds, and corridors. The analysis 

will be performed with the livability of College Hill and surrounding neighborhoods in mind.  

 

In conjunction with the document review and analysis, this sub-task will help to define the 

boundaries of the proposed new character district; provide initial thoughts about the district 

regulating plan; and discover the “local DNA” of the College Hill neighborhood environment as a 

foundation for new zoning standards. 

 

D. Transportation & Parking Analysis – 

The CONSULTANT will undertake preliminary review of existing vehicular, pedestrian, and bicycle 

networks and approach to public and private parking management during this task as part of the site 

analysis. The physical layout of the built corridors and street network will be studied in conjunction 

with land uses. Existing traffic and parking information will be provided by the City and the University 

and used to identify “hot spots” in the study area that warrant further attention during Task Three. 

 

Basic circulation, pedestrian, and parking issues will be integrated within the overall planning and 

code writing process, as needed—including evaluation of current conditions, identification of 

alternatives, and strategy recommendations. Mobility options such as pedestrian and bicycle 

facilities, existing amenities, and improved connectivity will also be explored. This work will be 

incorporated in the illustrative Vision Plan and new district code, as appropriate. 

 

E. Understanding the Local Economy and Market – See additional description in Task Three 

Using existing data, knowledge of general market trends, and information gathered during 

stakeholder interviews, the CONSULTANT will gain an understanding of the range of uses and 

housing types that are logical candidates for new infill and/or redevelopment in the College Hill area. 

(This analysis will occur primarily off-site during this task, with follow-up during Task Three.) The 

basic economic and market information will be included in the College Hill Vision Plan and factored 

into the new zoning standards.  

 

The results of Task Two will be presented to the CITY and will be used to form the basis for the 

discussion of issues and opportunities with stakeholders, staff, elected leaders, and the larger 

community during the Design Charrette described in Task Three. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task 2: 

 Informally present results of site and document analysis to City staff either remotely via web-

based meeting at the conclusion of Task Two or in person at the beginning of Task Three prior 

to public design charrette. 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task 2: 

CITY staff will: 

397

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

5 

 

 Create a list of stakeholders and community leaders, including University and student leaders, 

and assist with interview logistics; 

 Identify key departments and staff, and assist with scheduling meetings; 

 Assist with study area tour, if necessary. 

 

Task 3: Public Workshop and Vision Plan (Trip #2)  

This task will include a full public design charrette process and delivery of the College Hill Vision 

Plan.   

 

Building on initial analysis and gathering additional input from residents, the College Hill Partnership, 

UNI stakeholders (students, administration, faculty, staff), businesses, property owners, and other 

stakeholders, City staff, and elected leaders through the charrette process described below, the 

CONSULTANT will explore site-specific urban design scenarios addressing a series of questions 

related to character, scale and intensity of development; physical transitions and connections to 

surrounding areas; and potential range of uses.  This information will be used to develop an 

illustrative vision plan, regulating plan, and draft zoning standards for the College Hill project area.  

 

A. Public Design Charrette 

The CONSULTANT will lead a seven (7) day on-site design charrette, using the following format to 

maximize public involvement:  

Community Kick-off Event. The charrette will begin with a presentation that describes the elements 

of traditional town and neighborhood design and placemaking, and introduces the overall workshop 

process, followed by a general Q & A discussion with audience members. This can occur as a 

standalone evening event or as the beginning of the hands-on session described below. 

Hands-on Public Design Session. Typically held during the day on a weekend. Following an 

introductory presentation, participants gather around tables in small groups with a facilitator to 

complete a series of interactive exercises to identify and address important issues and identify 

community aspirations. At the conclusion of this session, a spokesperson from each table presents 

the table’s ideas before the larger group. These presentations allow participants to share common 

goals, as well as provide an opportunity for in-depth discussion of particular issues or concerns.   

Student Engagement and Visioning Session(s). Working with University and student leadership, 

determine times and locations for bringing students together to hold an interactive event, focusing on 

student perspective on the environment and available activities in the College Hill neighborhood 

center and desires for the future of the area. This activity may include a combination of in-person 

and web-based activities as well as “pop-up” activities to take advantage of popular student hang-

outs, if appropriate.  

Open Design Studio. During the days that follow, the CONSULTANT will set up in an on-site studio 

in a local storefront or other accessible space (preferably within the study area). In the studio, the 

CONSULTANT further analyzes the input and other information from the hands-on session and 

student engagement and begins to synthesize the ideas into urban design concepts for the College 

Hill Vision Plan (that will also provide the foundation for the form standards and district regulating 

plan.) The design studio will be open to the public throughout the week. If appropriate, a mid-week 

evening “open house” may be held.  

Continuing Economic and Market Analysis. More in-depth analysis completed by Partners for 

Economic Solutions (PES), related to socioeconomic demographics and market supply and demand 

for different housing types, retail, and mixed-use development within the study area. PES will follow-

up with members of the real estate and development community about market-related issues 

revealed via data analysis and concerns identified during initial stakeholder interviews. In addition, 

398

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

6 

 

PES will provide the design team with economic information to ensure that urban design scenarios 

being explored are viable in the Cedar Falls market.  

Other Technical Meetings. While working on-site, a series of one-on-one or small group meetings 

will be scheduled as appropriate, including City staff and other government agencies (Public Works 

Department, Public Safety Department, Cedar Falls Utilities, etc.), University faculty/staff, local 

merchants, key property and business owners, real estate brokers, developers, and representatives 

from the College Hill Partnership, neighborhood associations, historic preservation organizations, 

bicycle and pedestrian advocacy groups, local arts groups, and/or other key stakeholders. These 

meetings will assist in the CONSULTANT’S continued understanding of the physical, market, and 

organizational forces that are shaping the College Hill area. 

Work-in-Progress Presentation. At the end of the charrette period, the CONSULTANT will present 

initial sketches, concepts and redevelopment scenarios for the College Hill Vision Plan. This will take 

place in an appropriate publicly accessible setting. The presentation will provide a summary of the 

input gathered during the charrette and a range of illustrated urban design and planning concepts. It 

may include: alternative redevelopment scenarios for targeted College Hill sites; examples of 

“change over time” or phased redevelopment; “before and after” photo-realistic simulations showing 

site-specific redevelopment scenarios; and a draft of a rendered illustrative “build-out” Vision Plan. A 

summary of high-level action strategies may also be presented, highlighting opportunities for 

redevelopment, basic market information, potential parking management strategies; and detailing 

the roles and actions needed to implement the vision and facilitate adoption of the new College Hill 

character area zoning district.  

   

B. Design Charrette Follow-Up (Trip #3 and Trip #4) 

Four to six weeks after the Design Charrette, CONSULTANT will submit an Internal Review Draft of 

the College Hill Vision Plan to the City for internal review. This plan report will incorporate any 

feedback received from the Charrette Work-in-Progress presentation; it will include a brief summary 

of the charrette process, emphasizing how the initial analysis, community and stakeholder input from 

previous meetings, and the community design sessions informed the vision for the College Hill area. 

The report will also include a summary of the economic and market study information and initial 

analysis of the zoning. This work will provide the foundation for new character-based zoning district 

for the study area and related regulating plan. Discussion of the draft plan will occur via web-based 

meeting or conference call.  

 

At the discretion of the CITY’s Project Manager, and on a mutually agreeable date (Trip #3), the 

CONSULTANT will present a public review draft of the College Hill Vision Plan report at a public 

open house meeting coincident with a Planning & Zoning Commission meeting.  This draft will 

include any agreed upon changes resulting from the feedback from the CITY on the Internal Review 

Draft. 

 

Following a period of public feedback, at the discretion of the CITY and on a mutually agreeable date 

(Trip #4), the CONSULTANT will present a final draft of the College Hill Vision Plan Report at a City 

Council Meeting. The final draft will incorporate any Planning & Zoning Commission and public 

feedback received subsequent to the release of the public review draft plan. Adoption of this plan will 

be fundamentally important to the ultimate adoption of new zoning standards for the College Hill 

area. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task 3: 

 Trip #2: 7 to 8 people for 7-8 days 

 Weeklong Public Design Charrette 

399

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

7 

 

 Work-in-Progress Presentation, including graphics prepared during the charrette 

 Internal Review Draft of College Hill Vision Plan. 

 Trip #3: Presentation and public open house to present the College Hill Vision Plan Public 

Review Draft to the Planning & Zoning Commission and the public; 1-2 people for 2 days 

 Trip #4: Presentation and public hearing of College Hill Vision Plan P&Z Recommended Draft to 

City Council; 1-2 people for 2 days 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task 3: 

The CITY will: 

 Provide a location including wifi access as necessary, logistical and staff support, public meeting 

supplies, audio/visual equipment, and advertising for Public Design Charrette; 

 Provide any refreshments desired for public meetings; 

 Assist with student engagement; The level and type of student engagement activities will also be 

dependent on the resources and assistance provided by UNI; 

 Assist with scheduling additional technical and stakeholder meetings, as needed; and 

 Coordinate public review process through the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council 

leading to final adoption of the College Hill Vision Plan.  

 

Task 4: Development of Character Zoning District to Implement the College Hill Vision Plan 

Task will include drafting detailed zoning standards to supersede, in part or in whole, the present 

zoning for the College Hill study area in order to implement the adopted Vision. In addition, the team 

will integrate the new zoning standards into the existing City Code, building on the framework 

established for the [new] Downtown Character Zoning District. Integration of the new zoning into the 

existing City Code will include drafting necessary revisions and updates to the current zoning 

language and identifying required cross-referencing to all generally applicable standards that apply 

across zone districts (e.g. uses, parking, landscaping, lighting), or creation of separate standards, 

tables, or graphics that may be necessary to ensure that the new zoning districts are fully integrated 

into the current regulations. Integration of the new zoning into the current ordinance does not include 

making significant or wholesale revisions to the current regulations to correct existing problems; 

where such changes are potentially necessary to the proper functioning of the new zoning 

regulations, the CONSULTANT will notify the CLIENT about the issues with the current ordinance 

and work together to identify an acceptable approach to resolving the issue. 
 

A. Zoning Code - Internal Review Draft  

The College Hill Character District zoning updates will follow the format established for Downtown. 

The new character area zoning district will include the following parts, while fulfilling the local 

development process and state law: 

A Regulating Plan based on the Vision Plan. Comparable to the zoning map and central to 

implementing the new regulations, it will set site specific parameters for basic urban form with block, 

building form standards, build-to-lines, street tree alignments, community spaces (greens, squares, 

and parks), and other special controls.  

Building Form Standards to govern the three-dimensional form and placement of the buildings as 

well as building and land use parameters. The goal of these standards is to shape the street-space 

(the public realm) with the building frontages. These standards will build on those established for the 

Downtown Character Area zoning district. 

Public Realm Standards direct the placement of street trees and other amenities or street furniture 

(e.g., street lights, benches, signs) within the public realm in order to ensure the coherence and 

400

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

8 

 

beauty of the streetscape.  These standards will include general specifications for (new) public or 

publicly accessible open spaces such as civic greens and squares. 

Street (Thoroughfare) Specifications are typically a sub-section of the Urban Space Standards. They 

include consideration of street trees, street lights and street furniture, sidewalks, on-street parking, 

and appropriate travel lane and curb geometry. The Street Specifications will be in two dimensions 

only and do not deal with the engineering of the street and utilities, but do provide the necessary 

multi-modal configuration and set the framework for further engineering.  

Architectural Standards address a coherent and quality building character that is complementary to 

the best local traditions. (They will not regulate architectural “style”.) These standards will govern 

functional building elements (such as balconies, porches, storefronts, bay windows, awnings, etc.) 

throughout the new zoning districts, regardless of the building form standard, by setting parameters 

for allowable materials, configurations, and construction techniques. 

Use and Parking Standards targeted to the College Hill Character District and sub-areas, if 

appropriate. 

Administration. Using the same review and approval processes established for the Downtown Code, 

project review will be streamlined, to make it easier and more predictable for developers to build to 

the community vision.  

 

B. Code Revisions 

CONSULTANT will present the Internal Review Draft of the proposed regulating plan and zoning 

standards to the appropriate CITY staff in a work session format (Trip #5). The CONSULTANT will 

respond to questions and make one round of revisions, based on verbal and consolidated written 

feedback from the client, to produce a First Public Review Draft of the proposed new standards.  The 

CONSULTANT will present the Public Review Draft to the appropriate public audience, 

stakeholders, planning board, or commission, as determined by the CITY during a trip (#6) to Cedar 

Falls. Working together, the CITY’s Project Manager and CONSULTANT will establish a process for 

receiving, reviewing, and responding to follow-up comments and questions from the Planning & 

Zoning Commission and the general public. Based on direction from the CITY, the CONSULTANT 

will incorporate the feedback from the P&Z commission and general public to create the P&Z 

Recommended Draft.  

 

C. Code Adoption 

The CONSULTANT will present the P&Z Recommended Draft to the City Council (Trip #7) in a 

meeting that fulfills all legal requirements for public notice and public hearing. The CONSULTANT 

will complete a final round of revisions in order to publish the adopted College Hill Character Area 

zoning district. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task 4: 

 Trip #5: 2-3 people for 2 days: Internal Review Draft of College Hill District regulating plan 

and zoning standards 

 Trip #6: 1-2 people for 2 days: First Public Review Draft 

 Trip #7: 2 people for 2 days: P&Z Recommended Draft 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task 4: 

The CITY’s Project Manager will:  

 Ensure that relevant city staff are reachable for questions and discussion throughout the code 

drafting process; 

 Coordinate the public comment period, review and provide consolidated feedback (comments 

and questions) on each draft in a timely fashion; 

401

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

9 

 

 Cover/Handle any additional meetings of the P&Z and City Council that are needed during 

the official adoption process;  

 Ensure that the process fulfills all of the legal notice and public hearing requirements of Iowa 

law. 

 

Estimated Time Table 

Note – in CONSULTANT’s experience, the time required for staff and planning commission to review 

draft code standards, hold hearings, and move through the public adoption process often takes 

longer than anticipated. CONSULTANT will deliver all of the documents requested in a timely 

fashion. The proposed timeline includes a projected target, but provides flexibility if additional time is 

needed by the CITY. 

 

This timeline is based on the above Scope. Specific target dates will be confirmed in conjunction 

with the CITY during Task 1. 

 

Task 1: Project Organization & Management – Month 1 (on-going throughout project) 

Initial site visit and finalizing scope and project calendar should be completed within one month of 

contract signing. 

 

Task 2: Documentation, Review, & Analysis – Month 1-3 

This will overlap with Task 1 and will begin as soon as documents are collected and ready for 

review. Site-analysis will begin during the College Hill kick-off trip to Cedar Falls and primarily be 

completed during the Charrette week. It may continue during each subsequent trip, as needed, 

through code adoption. (Tentative Date for Kick-off trip: January 28-30) 

 

Task 3: Public Workshop & Vision Plan – Month 2-5 

A full public design charrette to be scheduled and planned within 6 to 12 weeks of contract signing, 

once mutually available dates have been determined. The public review draft of the College Hill 

Vision Plan Report will be delivered within 4 to 6 weeks of charrette completion. Presentation of the 

final draft for review and adoption is dependent on the P&Z and City Council schedules, but will take 

place no sooner than one month following delivery of the public review draft. (Tentative Date for 

Design Charrette: March 28-April 3. Tentative Dates for Public Review Process: public open house 

presentation of the public review draft of the vision plan: June 24; presentation to City Council of 

P&Z’s recommended draft: August 17; final adoption: September 8). 

 

Task 4: Zoning Code Drafting – Months 5-12 

The initial Internal Review Draft code standards will be available between 30 and 60 days after the 

adoption of the Vision Plan.  

 

Following the submission of the Internal Review Draft, and each subsequent draft, the time required 

for Code revisions will be dependent on 1) the time needed by the CITY (and the public) to review 

the draft and provide consolidated written comments and feedback, and 2) the number and 

complexity of requested revisions.   

 

Adoption Process – Months 10-15+ 

Any legally required public notice periods will be factored into determining the final public hearing 

schedule and ultimate date at which the new zoning will be ready for adoption.  

 

402

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

10 

 

III.  CONSULTANT – Project Team
At a minimum, the following firms and individuals shall serve as the consultant team, with Ferrell 

Madden serving as lead consultant, with all other listed firms and individuals as sub-consultants to 

Ferrell Madden. Any substitutions to the listed consultants and individuals must be approved by the 

CITY.  

 

Ferrell Madden will serve as the lead consultant and primary code-writing firm.  

 Mary Madden, AICP, will serve as overall project manager, working close with the City’s 

Project Manager to ensure that the project is responsive to the City’s needs and is 

completed on time and within budget. She will oversee all project deliverables.  

 R. Geoffrey Ferrell will serve as the lead urban designer and code writer.  

 

Elizabeth Garvin, of Community ReCode, will provide extensive knowledge and services regarding 

conventional zoning, land use and planning law, along with knowledge of Iowa-specific law in order 

to inform the visioning process and to integrate the new zoning into the existing City Code.  

 

Common Ground will provide urban design and other charrette services. 

 Keith Covington will work as an urban designer and charrette facilitator as well as provide an 

architect’s perspective as an “end-user” on the team.  

 

Steve Price, of Urban Advantage, will create seamless photo montages that realistically show how 

development and landscaping can change the existing environment for the project area.  

 

Anita Morrison and Abby Ferretti, of Partners for Economic Solutions, will conduct the economic 

and market analysis and ensure that the vision plan and new zoning are founded in local market 

realities.  

 

Additional planning, design and graphic support may be added to the team, as needed, based on the 

findings of initial kick-off interviews and site analysis tasks. 

 

VI.   Compensation and Terms of Payment  
 

Total compensation for the preparation of the College Hill Visioning and Zoning Code Update is one 

hundred sixty five thousand dollars ($165,000.00), all inclusive of expenses. This all-inclusive fee 

includes six thousand five hundred dollars ($6500.00) for CONSULTANT services and expenses 

related to UNI student engagement activities. 

 

CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 

agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 

thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 

notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 

CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 

agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 

IV.  Professional Services Agreement 
In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in 

the Professional Services Agreement dated February 18, 2019.  

 

403

ITEM 27.



College Hill Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3221 

11 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written 

below.  

 

APPROVED FOR CLIENT 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 

Printed Name: Robert M. Green 

 

Title: Mayor 

 

Date: _______________________________________ 

 

 

APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 

 

By:  

 

Printed Name: R Geoffrey Ferrell 

 

Title: Principle 

 

Date: December 28
th
, 2019 

 

404

ITEM 27.



D ry
Ru

n
Cre

ek

Dry
Ru n

Cr eek
( S)

Dry Run
Creek (Univ)

Cedar Falls
High School

University of
Northern

Iowa

Rownd Park

Seerley
Park

Fairview
Cemetery

Paw Park

The Falls
Aquatic
Center

Oli
ve 

St

Cla
y S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

W 31st St

C ampusSt

Oh io S t

W 27th St

Brookside Dr

Fra
nk

lin
 St

Tre
mo

nt 
St

E 12th St

E Seerley Blvd

E 9th St

W isco
nsin

St

Co
lleg

e S
t

Div
isio

n S
t

Laverne Ln Pa
nth

er 
Ln

Springbrook Dr

E 17th St

W Seerley Blvd

E 20th St

Redeker Dr

E 14th Ct

Bergstrom Blvd

Hacienda Ct

Laurel Cir

Library Dr

Carol Ct

Columbia Dr

Maucker Cir

Herit
age

Rd

Ridgeway Ln

W 22nd St

Floral Ct

E 13th St

Ind
ian

a S
t

Co
lleg

e S
t

W 25th St

Starview Dr

Sta
te 

St

Bonita Blvd

E 14th St

Ch
ris

kin
 Rd

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Iow
a S

t

Co
tta

ge
 Ln

Blu
ff S

t

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

Clark Dr Utility
 Pkwy

Pe
arl

 St

Misso uri
S t

W 19th St

E 15th St

E 10th St

E 11th St

W 17th St

Four Winds Dr

W 15th St

W 16th St

W 26th St

W 14th St

Dru
ry

Ln

W 9th St

W 10th St

W 13th St

E 16th St

W 20th St

W 11th St

W 21st St

Min
ne

sot
a S

t

Gro
ve 

St

Merner Ave
E 22nd St

E 21st St

W 28th St

Colorado Rd

W 29th St

Co
nva

ir L
n

Dako
ta S

t

W 23rd St

Sp
ruc

e H
ills

 Dr

Gro
ve 

St

Oregon Rd

Ell
en

 St

Summit Dr

Illi
no

isS

t

S tarbeck Cir
S Co urt Dr

Jennings Dr

Hudson Rd
University Ave

Waterloo Rd

E 18th St

Ma
in

St

Co
lleg

e S
t

W 18th St

W 12th St
SMain St

Orchard Dr

®¬27

®¬58

µ184

µ183.5

µ183

IStudy Area Map
Visioning & Zoning Code Update
College Hill Cedar Falls, Iowa
Exhibit A

405

ITEM 27.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

  FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: January 3, 2020 

 SUBJECT: FY2020-2025 Capital Improvements Program (CIP) 

 

Attached is the required notice for the proposed FY2020-2025 Capital Improvements 
Program (CIP) hearing.   The CIP will be presented at committee on January 6th.  
 
The Code of Iowa requires that the City have a public hearing and I would request 
that the hearing be set for January 20, 2020. 
 
If you have any questions about the CIP or the process, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 
 

406

ITEM 28.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR THE  

FY2020-2025 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM (CIP) 

 

Notice is hereby given that the Cedar Falls City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa will conduct a public hearing on the proposed FY2020-2025 Capital 

Improvements Program (CIP) at 7:00 p.m. on the 20th day of January 2020, said 

meeting to be held in the Council Chamber in City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

 

Copies of the foregoing described document are on file in the office of the City 

Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa and may be inspected by any persons 

interested.  Written objections to said proposed Capital Improvements Program may be 

filed with the City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa on or before the date of hearing, 

and all objections will be heard at the time of said hearing. 

 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

By: Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 

407

ITEM 28.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: December 30, 2019 

SUBJECT:      Agreement for Private Development with SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. – 
1225 Rail Way 

    
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for January 20, 2020 for 
the above referenced project in accordance with the attached legal proceedings. This 
Agreement is in reference to a recent 54,000 square foot addition that was constructed 
at 1225 Rail Way in the Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park. Additional information 
pertaining to the proposed Agreement for Private Development with SDC Real Estate, 
L.L.C. will be provided to City Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 
 
Xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 
         
        
 
 
 

408

ITEM 29.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ENTERING 

INTO A PROPOSED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from SDC 

Real Estate, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed 

Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 

Standard Distribution Co. on terms which include: 

 

(1) Developer has constructed certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the 

Agreement) on certain real property located within the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Area as defined and legally described in the Agreement and 

consisting of an Industrial-Use Warehouse Facility Addition totaling at least 54,000 

square feet of finished space, as outlined in the proposed Agreement; and 

(2) Developer will employ employees in the Minimum Improvements; and  

(3) Under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Agreement, 

the City will make up to four (4) consecutive annual payments of Economic 

Development Grants to Developer equivalent to a declining percentage of the tax 

increments that would be generated by the construction of the Minimum Improvements 

under Iowa Code Section 403.19, the aggregate amount of said Grants not to exceed 

$65,600.  

 

 WHEREAS, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to 

consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development pursuant to the terms of said 

Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 20th day of January, 2020, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

to consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development between the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, and SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. A copy of the proposed agreement is on file in the Office of 

the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of said public hearing. 

 

409

ITEM 29.



ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2020. 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

410

ITEM 29.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

411

ITEM 29.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: December 30, 2019 

SUBJECT:      Second Agreement for Private Development with Standard Distribution 
Co. – 317 Savannah Park Road 

    
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for January 20, 2020 for 
the above referenced project in accordance with the attached legal proceedings. This 
Agreement is in reference to a recent 53,000 square foot addition that was constructed 
at 317 Savannah Park Road in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. Additional information 
pertaining to the proposed Second Agreement for Private Development with Standard 
Distribution Co. will be provided to City Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 
 
Xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 
         
        
 
 
 

412

ITEM 30.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ENTERING 

INTO A PROPOSED SECOND AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND STANDARD 

DISTRIBUTION CO. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from 

Standard Distribution Co., an Iowa company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed Second 

Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 

Standard Distribution Co. on terms which include: 

 

(1) Developer has constructed certain Additional Minimum Improvements (as defined in the 

Agreement) on certain real property located within the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Area as defined and legally described in the Agreement and 

consisting of an Industrial-Use Warehouse Facility Addition totaling at least 53,200 

square feet of finished space, as outlined in the proposed Agreement; and 

(2) Developer will employ employees in the Additional Minimum Improvements; and  

(3) Under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Agreement, 

the City will make up to four (4) consecutive annual payments of Economic 

Development Grants to Developer equivalent to a declining percentage of the tax 

increments generated by the construction of the Additional Minimum Improvements 

(improvement value only) under Iowa Code Section 403.19, the aggregate amount of said 

Grants not to exceed $89,700.  

 

 WHEREAS, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to 

consider entering into the proposed Second Agreement for Private Development pursuant to the terms of 

said Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 20th day of January, 2020, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

to consider entering into a proposed Second Agreement for Private Development between the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Standard Distribution Co.  A copy of the proposed Second Agreement is on file 

413

ITEM 30.



in the Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of said 

public hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2020. 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

414

ITEM 30.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

415

ITEM 30.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: December 30, 2019 

SUBJECT:      Proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and Owen 5, L.L.C. 

    
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for January 20, 2020 to 
address the proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls and Owen 5, L.L.C. The project consists of a 10,000 sf. 
industrial use shop/office facility, which is currently under construction at 1325 Rail Way 
in the Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park. Additional information pertaining to the 
Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development will be provided to City 
Council prior to the public hearing. 
 
If you have any questions about this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
      Joe Owen, Owen 5, L.L.C. 
        
 
 
 

416

ITEM 31.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ENTERING 

INTO A PROPOSED AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OWEN 5, 

L.L.C. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from Owen 

5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed Amended and 

Restated Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

and Owen 5, L.L.C. on terms which include: 

 

 (1) Entering into an Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement whereby the minimum 

actual taxable value of the land and improvements to be constructed on the Development 

Property would be established at an amount not less than $1,450,000.00 for a period through 

December 31, 2031; and 

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development that includes a 

Partial Property Tax Exemption pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 20th day of January, 2020, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

to consider entering into a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 

between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Owen 5, L.L.C. A copy of the proposed amended and 

restated agreement is on file in the Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby 

directed to publish said notice of said public hearing. 

 

417

ITEM 31.



ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2020. 

 

   

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

418

ITEM 31.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

419

ITEM 31.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: December 31, 2019 

 SUBJECT:  Amendments to Code of Ordinances, Chapter 23, Parking 
 
Attached to this Memorandum please find a red-lined version of proposed changes to 

Chapter 23 of the Code of Ordinances.  The proposed Ordinance as amended in final 

form is also attached for your consideration. 

 

The purpose of these amendments is to further implement the downtown parking study 

recommendations and also to implement the college hill parking study 

recommendations. 

 

Primarily these amendments address the introduction of pay stations, the renaming of 

municipal parking lots, and a few general language clarifications.   

 

Staff recommends that Council adopt the proposed Ordinance amendment. 

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  

420

ITEM 32.



CHAPTER 23 – TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

ARTICLE IV. - STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING[3]  

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY  
 
Section 1. Repeal and replace this Section 
Sec. 23-359. - Impoundment or immobilization of vehicles.  

(a)  Impoundment of vehicles. Parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to impound, that 
is, to remove, or have removed, a vehicle from a street, public alley, bridge, highway, municipally 
owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in the event of a violation of section 
23-3879, from private property, to a place of safety designated by the city whenever any such 
vehicle is parked in violation of this article.  

(b)  Immobilization of vehicles. As an alternative to impoundment under subsection (a) of this section, 
parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to immobilize a vehicle on a street, public 
alley, bridge, highway, municipally owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in 
the event of a violation of section 23-3879, on private property, whenever any such vehicle is 
parked in violation of this article.  

(c)  Payment. In addition to the penalty provided in this chapter, the owner or operator of any vehicle 
impounded or immobilized for violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be required to 
pay for all outstanding penalties, fines and fees owed for all parking citations, plus either all towing, 
storage and impoundment fees, or all immobilization fees, together with all administrative fees.  

(d)  Impoundment or immobilization for accumulated parking violations.  

(1)  Whenever it is determined that any vehicle has accumulated unpaid parking violations with 
fines totaling $30.00 or more, as defined in this Code, then, until such time as all fines for such 
accumulated parking violations have been paid, such vehicle may be either impounded, or, in 
the alternative, immobilized by installing a device which clamps and locks onto the wheel and 
impedes vehicle movement, subject to the following conditions:  

a.  Impoundment or immobilization shall occur only after notice and opportunity for an 
administrative hearing is sent to the last known registered owner of such motor vehicle.  

b.  Notice shall consist of the following: Written notification by first class mail to the last 
known address of the registered owner, stating the license number of the vehicle; the 
owner's name; and a brief description of the parking tickets issued to such vehicle. Said 
notice shall also state that the registered owner has the right to request an administrative 
hearing before impoundment or immobilization, if such request is made within ten days 
of the date of mailing of the notice; that the hearing shall determine the merits of 
whether to impound or immobilize such motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations; that 
failure to request a hearing in a timely manner, or failure to appear at such hearing, shall 
constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing; and that the owner shall be responsible for 
all charges and costs incurred in impounding or immobilizing such vehicle.  

c.  A request for an administrative hearing must be made in writing to the city clerk or the 
city clerk's designee. The request shall be reviewed to determine whether to impound or 
immobilize, as the case may be, the motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations.  

d.  The hearing shall be conducted before the police chief of the city or the police chief's 
designee, and shall be limited to a determination of whether such vehicle should be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, for unpaid parking tickets. The owner 
may at that time pay for all outstanding fines for parking tickets.  

421

ITEM 32.



e.  Should the police chief or the police chief's designee determine that the vehicle shall be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, said police chief or designee shall notify 
the owner, either orally at the conclusion of the hearing or by letter; however, no such 
notice need be given should the owner or a designated representative of the owner fail to 
appear at such hearing.  

f.  After the vehicle has been impounded or immobilized, the city shall notify the last known 
registered owner of such vehicle thereof, by certified mail if the name and address of 
such owner can be ascertained with reasonable diligence, unless the owner or operator 
has appeared and has made claim to the seized vehicle.  

(2)  Any vehicle that remains immobilized for a consecutive period of 48 hours or more, shall be 
subject to towing and impoundment as provided in this section.  

(3)  Any vehicle that is immobilized pursuant to this section shall not be issued any parking 
citations for the period during which the vehicle remains immobilized.  

(4)  It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or attempt to remove an immobilization device 
which has been attached to any vehicle as provided in this section, to damage the device, or to 
move the vehicle with the device attached. No person other than a member of the police 
operations division, a parking meter attendant, or their designees, shall remove the 
immobilization device.  

(5)  No vehicle shall be impounded by towing or immobilized, unless such vehicle is on a public 
street or other publicly owned or leased property, or in the event of a violation of section 23-
3879, is on private property.  

a.  Entrance into impounded or immobilized vehicles. If it is necessary to enter a locked or 
unlocked vehicle in order to impound or immobilize such vehicle, such entrance must be 
made in the presence of a police officer. The police officer shall conduct such search of 
such vehicle as said officer deems necessary to protect the contents thereof. However, 
such search need not be a complete inventory of the contents of the vehicle.  

b.  Release of impounded or immobilized vehicles.  

1.  The registered owner or operator may reclaim any vehicle impounded or 
immobilized pursuant to the provisions herein by appearing before the police chief 
or the police chief's designee. At such time, the owner or the operator shall sign a 
certificate that he is the registered owner or operator of the impounded or 
immobilized vehicle, and at that time shall pay for all outstanding parking tickets, 
together with all costs of towing, storage and impoundment, or of immobilization, as 
the case may be. All charges and costs incurred in impounding the vehicle will be 
paid by the registered owner or operator to the towing service.  

2.  It shall be unlawful for any person to reclaim any vehicle impounded or immobilized 
pursuant to the provisions herein, contrary to the procedure set forth in this section.  

(e)  Charges. The charges for impoundment and immobilization shall be established by resolution 
adopted by the city council from time to time.  

(f)  Penalty for violations. Any violation of the provisions of this section shall constitute a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

 
Section 2. Repeal and replace this Section 

422

ITEM 32.



Sec. 23-373. - Parking prohibited on city property located adjacent to city hall and city hall annex.  

(1) No person shall stand or park a vehicle, except a vehicle authorized by the city, in the 
municipally owned area lying adjacent to the city hall and city hall annex, such area being 
legally described as follows: Lots 3, and 4, 5, 6, 7 and the east half of lot 8, all in block 9 in the 
Ooriginal town Pplat of the city.  

(1)(2) Exemption. The city may at its discretion, designate certain parking spaces within this area as 
public parking spaces and identify those spaces by posting applicable signs. 

 
Section 3. Repeal and replace this Section 
Sec. 23-379. - Limited parking on specific streets.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets 
or portions of streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Third Street 
(West)  

On the south side, beginning at a point 35 feet west of the west curb line of Franklin Street, then 
west 20 feet to the west curb line of Franklin Street, parking shall be marked off into stalls and shall 

be limited to a 30-minute period.  

23rd Street 
(West)  

On the north side, between the east line of Merner Avenue and the west side of Campus Street, 
parking shall be marked off in parking stalls and limited to a one-hour period.  

Clay Street  
On the east side, from the south line of West Second Street to a point 147 feet south of the south 

line of West Second Street, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and parking shall be 
limited to a 30-minute period.  

 
On the east side from the intersection of Clay Street and West 3rd Street a distance of 102 feet 

north, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and limited to a 30-minute period.  

College 
Street  

On the east side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north curb line of 21st 
Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

College 
Street 

(South)  

On the east side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north curb line of West 
22nd Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

 
On the west side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street to a point 40 feet north of the north 

curb line of West 22nd Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

 

Section 4. Repeal this entire Section 

Sec. 23-381. - Angle parking zones.  

No person shall park a vehicle on the following streets or portions of streets, which have been 
signed or marked for angle parking, other than within the lines so marked:  

Street  Portion Zoned  

Second Street 
(West)  

On the north side from State Street to Clay Street.  

 On both sides between Franklin Street and Clay Street.  

Third Street  On the south side between Washington Street to the west line of the Washington Street and 

423

ITEM 32.



Main Street alley.  

 
On the north side between the east line of the Washington Street and Main Street alley to the 

west line of Main Street.  

 
On the south side between the east line of Main Street to the west line of the Main Street and 

State Street alley.  

Fourth Street 
(East)  

On the south side from the east curb line of State Street east to the end of the street.  

Eighth Street 
(West)  

On the north side between College Street and Pearl Street.  

11th Street 
(West)  

On both sides from Division Street west to a point 400 feet west of the west line of Division 
Street.  

Clay Street  On both sides between Second Street and Third Street.  

Division Street  On both sides between Eighth Street and 12th Street.  

Main Street  On both sides between First Street and Sixth Street.  

Pearl Street  On both sides between Seventh Street and Eighth Street.  

Rownd Street  
On the west side from a point 185 feet north from the north curb line of Valley High Drive to a 

point 307 feet north of the north curb line of Valley High Drive.  

State Street  
On the east side from the north curb line of Fourth Street north to the south curb line of Second 

Street.  

 

CHAPTER 23 – TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

ARTICLE IV. - STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING[3]  

DIVISION 2. - PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES  

Section 5. Repeal and Replace this entire Division 

Sec. 23-407. - Definitions.  

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Municipal parking lot means any parking area, not including streets or highways, designated as a 
public parking lot.  

Operator means every individual who operates a vehicle as the owner thereof, or as the agent, 
employee or permittee of the owner, or who is in actual physical control of a vehicle.  

Park or parking means the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, upon a street or 
municipal parking lot, other than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in receiving 
or discharging passengers or loading or unloading merchandise, or in obedience to traffic regulations, 
signs or signals, and other than an involuntary stopping of a vehicle by reason of causes beyond the 
control of the operator of such vehicle.  

Parking enforcement district means a defined district comprised of restricted street parking and 
regulated municipal parking lots and facilities where parking is enforced.  

424

ITEM 32.



Parking meter/pay station means any mechanical device or meter not inconsistent with this 
division that is placed or erected for the regulation of parking by authority of this division. Parking 
meters/pay stations installed shall indicate the legal parking time and pay for parking rate established by 
the city, and at the expiration of such period shall indicate illegal or overtime parking.  

Parking space means any space within a parking enforcement district, which is duly designated for 
the parking of a single vehicle by lines painted or otherwise durably marked on the curb or on the 
surface of the street or municipal parking lot.  

Person means any individual, firm, copartnership, association or corporation.  

Street means any public street, avenue, road, alley, highway, lane, path or other public place 
located in the city and established for the use of vehicles.  

Vehicle means any device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported 
upon a highway, except a device which is operated upon rails or tracks.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-408. - Rights reserved by city.  

Nothing contained in this division shall be construed as prohibiting the city from providing for bus 
stops and for other matters of a similar nature, including the loading or unloading of trucks, vans or 
other commercial vehicles.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-409. - Supervision of parking operations.  

The council shall be responsible for the regulation, control, operation, maintenance and use of 
parking operations in the city.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-410. - Use of parking enforcement district for loading and unloading.  

Commercial trucks may park on the street or in municipal parking lots in parking enforcement 
districts to load and unload merchandise where no facilities are available to load or unload in alleys or 
loading/unloading zones. Such parking shall not exceed 15 minutes, and parking beyond such time limit 
shall be considered a violation of this division.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-411. - Parking enforcement districts described.  

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, shall 
constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1)  Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-189, 
Central Business District (CBD) overlay zoning district.  

(2)  College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-181, 
College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

425

ITEM 32.



Sec. 23-412. - Drop off/pick up zones on specific streets in a parking enforcement district.  

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be drop off/pick up zones. Nno vehicle shall park or stand in a drop off/pick up zone other 
than while actually engaged in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials. Iin no event shall any 
vehicle be parked or stand in a drop off/pick up zone for more than 15 minutes.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Second Street 
(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 55 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 65 feet 
east of the Main Street line.  

Second Street 
(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 30 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 40 feet 
west of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 
(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 35 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 55 feet 
east of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 
(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 65 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 75 feet 
west of the Main Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 20 feet west of the Washington Street line to a point 40 

feet west of the Washington Street line.  

Fourth Street 
(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 70 feet 
east of the Main Street line.  

Fourth Street 
(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 40 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 50 feet 
west of the Main Street line.  

Fifth Street 
(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 70 feet 
west of the Main Street line.  

Sixth Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side from the east line of Clay Street to the east 150 feet to 

the west line of the Alley.  

Clay Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the east side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a point 120 

feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a point 

120 feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

Main Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 25 feet south of the south line of First Street to a point 

90 feet south of the south line of First Street.  

State Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side from a point 20 feet south of the south line of Second 

Street to 40 feet south of the south line of Second Street.  

  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-413. - Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts.  
(1)  GenerallyDowntown parking enforcement district.Central Business District 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, pParking is prohibited Unrestricted parking is 
allowed in a municipal lot unless a sign is posted by the City advising that the lot is a paid parking 
lot. If posted as a paid parking lot, parking is prohibited unless an appropriate city issued permit is 
purchased, or unless legal parking time is purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or 

426

ITEM 32.



mobile application.the operator of the vehicle is permitted to do so when signs are erected giving 
notice; by purchasing a city- issued permit or by purchasing pays for the legal parking time at the 
and pay for parking rates established by the city by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile 
application. parking at or by means of a parking meter/pay station.  

(b)  Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed on a public street in a 
parking enforcement district unless a sign is posted by the City advising that a parking space is a 
paid parking space.  If posted as a paid parking space, parking is prohibited unless legal parking time 
is purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.When signs are 
erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking space shall be 
limited and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday. The 
provisions of this section shall not apply on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  

(bc)  Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution ofby the 
city council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(cd)   The schedule of fines for violations ofdescribed in this subsection (a) of this sectiondivision shall be 
in the same amountfines as stated in section 23-356.23-421(a)  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019)  

2. Enforcement times – Downtown parking enforcement district 
When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid parking space shall be 
restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday.  The provisions 
of this subsection shall not apply on the following named holidays:  New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence 
Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 
3.  Enforcement times -- College Hill parking enforcement dDistrict  

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, pParking is prohibited in a municipal lot unless the 
operator of the vehicle is permitted to do so when signs are erected giving notice; by purchasing a 
city- issued permit or by purchasingpays for the legal parking time at the and pay for parking rates 
established by the city by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(b)  When signs are postederected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
paiddesignated parking space shall be restrictedlimited and enforced between the hours of 9:00 
a.m. and 65:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the 
following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 
Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  

(c)  Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(d)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-356.421(a)  

Sec. 23-414. - Use of funds collected from parking operations and enforcement.  

(a)  Funds derived from the operation and enforcement of parking shall be used for the following 
purposes and none other:  

(1)  Payment of the cost of acquisition, installation, maintenance, repair and operation of 
equipment, signs and other devices to regulate and enforce parking laws.  

427

ITEM 32.



(2)  Payment of the cost of acquiring, by purchase, lease or similar arrangement, parking lots, 
facilities or other off-street parking areas, including operation, enlargement or improvement 
thereof or the facilities thereof, and widening or altering the streets to provide additional 
parking facilities.  

(3)  Retirement of revenue bonds.  

(b)  All revenues derived from parking enforcement operations not required for the payment of costs 
under subsection (a) of this section shall be expended for the improvement of existing facilities or 
the acquisition and improvement of additional off-street parking areas, provided that such funds 
may be retained and accumulated for such purpose for such length of time and in such amount as 
may be reasonably necessary to effectuate such program of acquisition of parking lots or other off-
street parking areas.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-415. - Parking violations.  

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1)  Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by such 
person to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time established or 
purchased.  

(2)  Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period prescribed for 
such parking space.  Moving a vehicle to another parking space within the same hundred block 
of the same street that results in total cumulative parking time beyond the period prescribed 
for such parking space, shall be a violation. 

(3)  Permit any vehicle to park beyond the period prescribed for such parking area by moving the 
vehicle to a different parking space within the same block.  

(3)  Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position that the 
vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or markings. Where angle or 
straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked entirely between the lines or 
markings with one of the front wheels of the vehicle touching the bumper block or curb, if one 
exists.  

(4)  Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the usefulness of any 
parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of this division. Violation of this 
provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor as provided for in section 23-23.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-416. - Notice of parking violation.  

Parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this division a 
notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked in violation of this 
division and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, how the fine may be paid, and 
the penalty for failure to pay the fine.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-417. - Report of parking violations.  

428

ITEM 32.



It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement personnel of the city, acting in accordance with 
instructions issued by the city clerk and as approved by the council, to report the following:  

(1)  The location of the vehicle that is or has been parking in violation of any of the provisions of 
this division.  

(2)  The state license number of such vehicle.  

(3)  The time during which such vehicle is parking in violation of any of the provisions of this 
division.  

(4)  Any other facts which are necessary to a thorough understanding of the circumstances 
attending such violation.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

 Sec. 23-418. - Fines for parking violations.  

Except as otherwise provided in this article or by state law, the fine for a violation of this article 
shall be $10.00, payable to the city. If said fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of 
violation, the fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-4189. - Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities.  

Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for use in the off-
street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be assigned to a specific parking lot or 
facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees shall be established from time to time by resolution of 
the city council. The parking permit is to be displayed in the lower left-hand corner of the windshield of 
the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has properly registered the license plate of the 
vehicle with the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. The purchase and proper 
display/registration of a parking permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to 
be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 
consecutive hours without penalty for overtime parking.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-41920. - Two-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  
1. Downtown parking enforcement district.Central Business District 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(1a)  Main Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(b)  Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked 
in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. 
The first offense shall terminate two hours after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, 
which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each 
two-hour period thereafter.  

429

ITEM 32.



(c)   Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(d)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-356.421(a) The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of 
this section shall be the fines as stated in section 23-421(a).  

2. College Hill parking enforcement dDistrict 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 
p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, 
Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets or 
portions of streets within the city:  

(1a)  College Street from 20th Street to 22nd Street  

(2a)  23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street west to 
Merner   Avenue. 

(3)  Anywhere within the 22nd Street East-North and 20th Street West-Plaza municipal parking lots. 

(b)  Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked 
in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. 
The first offense shall terminate two hours after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, 
which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each 
two-hour period thereafter.  

(c)   Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(d)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-356.421(a)  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-4201. - Three-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  
1. Downtown parking enforcement district.Central Business District 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of three hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Second Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(2)  Third Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(3)  Fourth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(4)  Fifth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(6)  State Street from Second Street to Fourth Street.  

(7)  Washington Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(8)  Sixth Street from Washington Street west to the alley between Clay Street and Washington 
Street.  

430

ITEM 32.



(b) Each consecutive three-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked 
in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. 
The first offense shall terminate three hours after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, 
which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each 
three-hour period thereafter.  

(cb)   Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(d)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-356.421(a) The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of 
this section shall be the fines as stated in section 23-421(a).  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-422. - Two-hour limit on parking in municipal lots G, M and N and on certain portions of College Street and 
23rd Street.  

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of two hours for each vehicle on each weekday between the hours 
of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, in the following places:  

(1)  Anywhere within municipal lots G, M and N.  

(2)  23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street west to Merner 
Avenue.  

Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked in a 
designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. The first 
offense shall terminate two hours after a citation charging the offense is issued, which time shall be 
noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each two-hour period 
thereafter.  

(b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-4213. - One-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces. on certain portions of 23rd Street and College 
Street.  
1. College Hill parking enforcement dDistrict 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle on each weekday between 
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 65:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named 
holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas Day, on the following portions of streets within the city:  

(1a)  23rd Street from College Street west to and including that portion of West 23rd Street 
adjacent to 1009 West 23rd Street.  

(2a)  College Street from 22nd Street to 23rd Street.  

(3a)  Within the 23rd Street East municipal parking lot.Lot O  

431

ITEM 32.



(b)  Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked 
in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. 
The first offense shall terminate one hour after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, 
which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each 
one-hour period thereafter.  

(c)   Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(d)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-356.421(a)  Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a 
vehicle remains illegally parked in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute 
a separate and distinct offense. The first offense shall terminate one hour after the time a citation 
charging the offense is issued, which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new 
offense shall occur during each one-hour period thereafter.  

(b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

 Sec. 23-424. - One-hour limit on parking in municipal lot O.  

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle on each weekday between 
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Anywhere within municipal lot O.  

Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked in a 
designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. The first 
offense shall terminate one-hour after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, which time shall 
be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each one-hour period 
thereafter.  

(b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-4225. - Parking prohibited in portions of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot G  during certain hours.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall be prohibited in 
the 20 angled parking spaces located in the northeast leg of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot G 
on Thursday afternoons only commencing with the first Thursday of June of each year and continuing 
through the last Thursday of October of each year during the hours of 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Secs. 23-4236—23-458. - Reserved

432

ITEM 32.



 

433

ITEM 32.



1 
 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF 

ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR 

VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN 

LIEU THEREOF NEW SECTIONS WITH THE SAME NUMERICAL DESIGNATIONS AND TITLES:  SECTION 

23-359, IMPOUNDMENT OR IMMOBILIZATION OF VEHICLES; SECTION 23-373, PARKING 

PROHIBITED ON CITY PROPERTY LOCATED ADJACENT TO CITY HALL AND CITY HALL ANNEX; 

SECTION 23-379, LIMITED PARKING ON SPECIFIC STREETS; AND (2) REPEALING SECTION 23-381, 

ANGLE PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND 

PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; AND (3) REPEALING DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, 

EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STANDING, STOPPING AND PARKING, 

OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT 

DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, CONSISTING OF SECTION 23-407, 

DEFINITIONS, SECTION 23-408, RIGHTS RESERVED BY THE CITY, SECTION 23-409, SUPERVISION OF 

PARKING OPERATIONS, SECTION 23-410, USE OF PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICT FOR LOADING 

AND UNLOADING, SECTION 23-411, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED, SECTION 23-

412, DROP OFF/PICK UP ZONES ON SPECIFIC STREETS IN A PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICT, 

SECTION 23-413, PARKING TIME LIMITS IN PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, SECTION 23-414, 

USE OF FUNDS COLLECTED FROM PARKING OPERATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT, SECTION 23-415, 

PARKING VIOLATIONS, SECTION 23-416, NOTICE OF PARKING VIOLATION, SECTION 23-417, 

REPORT OF PARKING VIOLATIONS, SECTION 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL LOTS OR 

PARKING FACILITIES, SECTION 23-419, TWO-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN CERTAIN PARKING 

SPACES ON CERTAIN STREETS, SECTION 23-420, THREE-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN CERTAIN 

PARKING SPACES ON CERTAIN STREETS, SECTION 23-421, ONE-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN 

CERTAIN PARKING SPACES, AND SECTION 23-422, PARKING PROHIBITED IN PORTIONS OF THE 22ND 

STREET WEST MUNICIPAL PARKING LOT DURING CERTAIN HOURS; AND (4) CONFORMING TITLES 

TO SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES ACCORDINGLY.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

434

ITEM 32.



2 
 

         Section 1.  Section 23-359, Impoundment or Immobilization of Vehicles, Section 23-373, Parking 

Prohibited on City Property Located Adjacent to City Hall and City Hall Annex, and Section 23-379, 

Limited Parking on Specific Streets, all of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and 

Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety and New Section 23-359, Impoundment or 

Immobilization of Vehicles, New Section 23-373, Parking Prohibited on City Property Located 

Adjacent to City Hall and City Hall Annex, and New Section 23-379, Limited Parking on Specific 

Streets, are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-359. - Impoundment or immobilization of vehicles.  

(a)  Impoundment of vehicles. Parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to impound, that 
is, to remove, or have removed, a vehicle from a street, public alley, bridge, highway, municipally 
owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in the event of a violation of section 
23-387, from private property, to a place of safety designated by the city whenever any such 
vehicle is parked in violation of this article.  

(b)  Immobilization of vehicles. As an alternative to impoundment under subsection (a) of this section, 
parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to immobilize a vehicle on a street, public 
alley, bridge, highway, municipally owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in 
the event of a violation of section 23-387, on private property, whenever any such vehicle is parked 
in violation of this article.  

(c)  Payment. In addition to the penalty provided in this chapter, the owner or operator of any vehicle 
impounded or immobilized for violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be required to 
pay for all outstanding penalties, fines and fees owed for all parking citations, plus either all towing, 
storage and impoundment fees, or all immobilization fees, together with all administrative fees.  

(d)  Impoundment or immobilization for accumulated parking violations.  

(1)  Whenever it is determined that any vehicle has accumulated unpaid parking violations with 
fines totaling $30.00 or more, as defined in this Code, then, until such time as all fines for such 
accumulated parking violations have been paid, such vehicle may be either impounded, or, in 
the alternative, immobilized by installing a device which clamps and locks onto the wheel and 
impedes vehicle movement, subject to the following conditions:  

a.  Impoundment or immobilization shall occur only after notice and opportunity for an 
administrative hearing is sent to the last known registered owner of such motor vehicle.  

b.  Notice shall consist of the following: Written notification by first class mail to the last 
known address of the registered owner, stating the license number of the vehicle; the 
owner's name; and a brief description of the parking tickets issued to such vehicle. Said 
notice shall also state that the registered owner has the right to request an administrative 
hearing before impoundment or immobilization, if such request is made within ten days 
of the date of mailing of the notice; that the hearing shall determine the merits of 
whether to impound or immobilize such motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations; that 
failure to request a hearing in a timely manner, or failure to appear at such hearing, shall 
constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing; and that the owner shall be responsible for 
all charges and costs incurred in impounding or immobilizing such vehicle.  

435

ITEM 32.



3 
 

c.  A request for an administrative hearing must be made in writing to the city clerk or the 
city clerk's designee. The request shall be reviewed to determine whether to impound or 
immobilize, as the case may be, the motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations.  

d.  The hearing shall be conducted before the police chief of the city or the police chief's 
designee, and shall be limited to a determination of whether such vehicle should be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, for unpaid parking tickets. The owner 
may at that time pay for all outstanding fines for parking tickets.  

e.  Should the police chief or the police chief's designee determine that the vehicle shall be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, said police chief or designee shall notify 
the owner, either orally at the conclusion of the hearing or by letter; however, no such 
notice need be given should the owner or a designated representative of the owner fail to 
appear at such hearing.  

f.  After the vehicle has been impounded or immobilized, the city shall notify the last known 
registered owner of such vehicle thereof, by certified mail if the name and address of 
such owner can be ascertained with reasonable diligence, unless the owner or operator 
has appeared and has made claim to the seized vehicle.  

(2)  Any vehicle that remains immobilized for a consecutive period of 48 hours or more, shall be 
subject to towing and impoundment as provided in this section.  

(3)  Any vehicle that is immobilized pursuant to this section shall not be issued any parking 
citations for the period during which the vehicle remains immobilized.  

(4)  It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or attempt to remove an immobilization device 
which has been attached to any vehicle as provided in this section, to damage the device, or to 
move the vehicle with the device attached. No person other than a member of the police 
operations division, a parking meter attendant, or their designees, shall remove the 
immobilization device.  

(5)  No vehicle shall be impounded by towing or immobilized, unless such vehicle is on a public 
street or other publicly owned or leased property, or in the event of a violation of section 23-
387, is on private property.  

a.  Entrance into impounded or immobilized vehicles. If it is necessary to enter a locked or 
unlocked vehicle in order to impound or immobilize such vehicle, such entrance must be 
made in the presence of a police officer. The police officer shall conduct such search of 
such vehicle as said officer deems necessary to protect the contents thereof. However, 
such search need not be a complete inventory of the contents of the vehicle.  

b.  Release of impounded or immobilized vehicles.  

1.  The registered owner or operator may reclaim any vehicle impounded or 
immobilized pursuant to the provisions herein by appearing before the police chief 
or the police chief's designee. At such time, the owner or the operator shall sign a 
certificate that he is the registered owner or operator of the impounded or 
immobilized vehicle, and at that time shall pay for all outstanding parking tickets, 
together with all costs of towing, storage and impoundment, or of immobilization, as 
the case may be. All charges and costs incurred in impounding the vehicle will be 
paid by the registered owner or operator to the towing service.  

436

ITEM 32.



4 
 

2.  It shall be unlawful for any person to reclaim any vehicle impounded or immobilized 
pursuant to the provisions herein, contrary to the procedure set forth in this section.  

(e)  Charges. The charges for impoundment and immobilization shall be established by resolution 
adopted by the city council from time to time.  

(f)  Penalty for violations. Any violation of the provisions of this section shall constitute a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

 

Sec. 23-373. - Parking prohibited on city property located adjacent to city hall and city hall annex.  

(1) No person shall stand or park a vehicle, except a vehicle authorized by the city, in the 
municipally owned area lying adjacent to the city hall and city hall annex, such area being  
described as follows: Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, all in block 9 in the Original  Plat of the city.  

(2) Exemption. The city may at its discretion designate certain parking spaces within this area as 

public parking spaces and identify those spaces by posting applicable signs. 

 

Sec. 23-379. - Limited parking on specific streets.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets 
or portions of streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Third 

Street 

(West)  

On the south side, beginning at a point 35 feet west of the west curb line of Franklin Street, 

then west 20 feet to the west curb line of Franklin Street, parking shall be marked off into 

stalls and shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

Clay Street  

On the east side, from the south line of West Second Street to a point 147 feet south of the 

south line of West Second Street, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and parking 

shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

 
On the east side from the intersection of Clay Street and West 3rd Street a distance of 102 

feet north, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and limited to a 30-minute period.  

 

Section 2.     Section 23-381, Angle Parking Spaces, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, 

Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 

437

ITEM 32.



5 
 

Section 3.     Division 2, Parking Enforcement Districts, Equipment, Operations and Facilities, of 

Article IV, Standing, Stopping and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of The Code 

of Ordinances of The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Division 

2 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:   

 

CHAPTER 23 – TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

ARTICLE IV. - STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING[3]  

DIVISION 2. - PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES 

Sec. 23-407. - Definitions.  

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Municipal parking lot means any parking area, not including streets or highways, designated as a 
public parking lot.  

Operator means every individual who operates a vehicle as the owner thereof, or as the agent, 
employee or permittee of the owner, or who is in actual physical control of a vehicle.  

Park or parking means the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, upon a street or 
municipal parking lot, other than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in receiving 
or discharging passengers or loading or unloading merchandise, or in obedience to traffic regulations, 
signs or signals, and other than an involuntary stopping of a vehicle by reason of causes beyond the 
control of the operator of such vehicle.  

Parking enforcement district means a defined district comprised of restricted street parking and 
regulated municipal parking lots and facilities where parking is enforced.  

Parking meter/pay station means any mechanical device or meter not inconsistent with this 
division that is placed or erected for the regulation of parking by authority of this division. Parking 
meters/pay stations installed shall indicate the legal parking time and pay for parking rate established by 
the city, and at the expiration of such period shall indicate illegal or overtime parking.  

Parking space means any space within a parking enforcement district, which is duly designated for 
the parking of a single vehicle by lines painted or otherwise durably marked on the curb or on the 
surface of the street or municipal parking lot.  

Person means any individual, firm, copartnership, association or corporation.  

Street means any public street, avenue, road, alley, highway, lane, path or other public place 
located in the city and established for the use of vehicles.  

Vehicle means any device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported 
upon a highway, except a device which is operated upon rails or tracks.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-408. - Rights reserved by city.  

438

ITEM 32.



6 
 

Nothing contained in this division shall be construed as prohibiting the city from providing for bus 
stops and for other matters of a similar nature, including the loading or unloading of trucks, vans or 
other commercial vehicles.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-409. - Supervision of parking operations.  

The council shall be responsible for the regulation, control, operation, maintenance and use of 
parking operations in the city.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-410. - Use of parking enforcement district for loading and unloading.  

Commercial trucks may park on the street or in municipal parking lots in parking enforcement 
districts to load and unload merchandise where no facilities are available to load or unload in alleys or 
loading/unloading zones. Such parking shall not exceed 15 minutes, and parking beyond such time limit 
shall be considered a violation of this division.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-411. - Parking enforcement districts described.  

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, shall 
constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1)  Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-189, 
Central Business District (CBD) overlay zoning district.  

(2)  College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-181, 
College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-412. - Drop off/pick up zones on specific streets in a parking enforcement district.  

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be drop off/pick up zones. No vehicle shall park or stand in a drop off/pick up zone other 
than while actually engaged in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials. In no event shall any 
vehicle be parked or stand in a drop off/pick up zone for more than 15 minutes.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Second Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 55 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

65 feet east of the Main Street line.  

439

ITEM 32.



7 
 

Second Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 30 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

40 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 35 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

55 feet east of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 65 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

75 feet west of the Main Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 20 feet west of the Washington Street line to a 

point 40 feet west of the Washington Street line.  

Fourth Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet east of the Main Street line.  

Fourth Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 40 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

50 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Fifth Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Sixth Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side from the east line of Clay Street to the east 

150 feet to the west line of the Alley.  

Clay Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the east side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a 

point 120 feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a 

point 120 feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

Main Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 25 feet south of the south line of First Street to 

a point 90 feet south of the south line of First Street.  

State Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side from a point 20 feet south of the south line of 

Second Street to 40 feet south of the south line of Second Street.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-413. - Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts.  

(a)  Generally. 

440

ITEM 32.



8 
 

(1) Unrestricted parking is allowed in a municipal lot unless a sign is posted by the City advising that 
the lot is a paid parking lot. If posted as a paid parking lot, parking is prohibited unless an 
appropriate city issued permit is purchased, or unless legal parking time is purchased by means of a 
parking meter, pay station or mobile application. 

 (2) Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed on a public street 
in a parking enforcement district unless a sign is posted by the City advising that a parking space is a 
paid parking space.  If posted as a paid parking space, parking is prohibited unless legal parking time 
is purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(3) Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution of the 
city council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(4) The schedule of fines for violations of this division shall be in the same amount as stated in 
section 23-356.  

(b)  Enforcement times – Downtown parking enforcement district. 

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid parking space 

shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday through 

Saturday.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply on the following named holidays:  New 

Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 

(c)  Enforcement times -- College Hill parking enforcement district.  

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid parking space 
shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday through 
Friday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the following named holidays: New Year's 
Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019)  

Sec. 23-414. - Use of funds collected from parking operations and enforcement.  

(a)  Funds derived from the operation and enforcement of parking shall be used for the following 
purposes and none other:  

(1) Payment of the cost of acquisition, installation, maintenance, repair and operation of 
equipment, signs and other devices to regulate and enforce parking laws.  

(2)  Payment of the cost of acquiring, by purchase, lease or similar arrangement, parking lots, 
facilities or other off-street parking areas, including operation, enlargement or improvement 
thereof or the facilities thereof, and widening or altering the streets to provide additional 
parking facilities.  

(3)  Retirement of revenue bonds.  

(b)  All revenues derived from parking enforcement operations not required for the payment of costs 
under subsection (a) of this section shall be expended for the improvement of existing facilities or 
the acquisition and improvement of additional off-street parking areas, provided that such funds 
may be retained and accumulated for such purpose for such length of time and in such amount as 

441

ITEM 32.



9 
 

may be reasonably necessary to effectuate such program of acquisition of parking lots or other off-
street parking areas.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-415. - Parking violations.  

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1)  Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by such 
person to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time established or 
purchased.  

(2)  Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period prescribed for 
such parking space.  Moving a vehicle to another parking space within the same hundred block 
of the same street that results in total cumulative parking time beyond the period prescribed 
for such parking space, shall be a violation. 

(3)  Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position that the 
vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or markings. Where angle or 
straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked entirely between the lines or 
markings with one of the front wheels of the vehicle touching the bumper block or curb, if one 
exists.  

(4)  Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the usefulness of any 
parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of this division. Violation of this 
provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor as provided for in section 23-23.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-416. - Notice of parking violation.  

Parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this division a 
notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked in violation of this 
division and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, how the fine may be paid, and 
the penalty for failure to pay the fine.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-417. - Report of parking violations.  

It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement personnel of the city, acting in accordance with 
instructions issued by the city clerk and as approved by the council, to report the following:  

(1)  The location of the vehicle that is or has been parking in violation of any of the provisions of 
this division.  

(2)  The state license number of such vehicle.  

(3)  The time during which such vehicle is parking in violation of any of the provisions of this 
division.  

442

ITEM 32.



10 
 

(4)  Any other facts which are necessary to a thorough understanding of the circumstances 
attending such violation.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019

Sec. 23-418. - Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities.  

Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for use in the off-
street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be assigned to a specific parking lot or 
facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees shall be established from time to time by resolution of 
the city council. The parking permit is to be displayed in the lower left-hand corner of the windshield of 
the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has properly registered the license plate of the 
vehicle with the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. The purchase and proper 
display/registration of a parking permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to 
be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 
consecutive hours without penalty for overtime parking.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-419. - Two-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  

(a)  Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated 
parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
8:00 p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following streets or portions of streets within the city:  

(a) Main Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked  as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

  

(b)  College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated 
parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(a)  College Street from 20th Street to 22nd Street  

(b)  23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street west to 
Merner   Avenue. 

(c)  Anywhere within the 22nd Street East – North and 20th Street West - Plaza municipal 
parking lots. 

443

ITEM 32.



11 
 

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked  as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.    

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-420. - Three-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  

Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of three hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Second Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(2)  Third Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(3)  Fourth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(4)  Fifth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(6)  State Street from Second Street to Fourth Street.  

(7)  Washington Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(8)  Sixth Street from Washington Street west to the alley between Clay Street and Washington 
Street.  

(b)  Each consecutive three-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked  
as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-421. - One-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces. 

College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle between the hours of 9:00 
a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  23rd Street from College Street west to and including that portion of West 23rd Street 
adjacent to 1009 West 23rd Street.  

(2)  College Street from 22nd Street to 23rd Street.  

(3)  Within the 23rd Street East municipal parking lot. 

(b)  Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked as 
provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

444

ITEM 32.



12 
 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019)   

Sec. 23-422. - Parking prohibited in portions of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot during certain 

hours.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall be prohibited in 
the 20 angled parking spaces located in the northeast leg of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot 
on Thursday afternoons only commencing with the first Thursday of June of each year and continuing 
through the last Thursday of October of each year during the hours of 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

 

Secs. 23-423—23-458. – Reserved 

 

INTRODUCED:     January 6, 2020   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

445

ITEM 32.



 

 

       
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
Phone: (319) 273-8600 
Fax: (319) 268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 
 
For Immediate Release: 
December 30, 2019 
 

Cedar Falls At-Large Council Vacancy Update 
 

Cedar Falls – Cedar Falls Mayor-elect Rob Green will begin his mayoral term on January 2, 2020. 

Mayor-elect Green had previously served in the Cedar Falls City Council At-Large position, with his term 

running from January 1, 2018, to December 31, 2021.  

In order to serve as Mayor, Mayor-elect Green will resign from his At-Large council seat effective at 

noon on January 2, 2020. This resignation creates a vacancy for the position on the council and will leave 

six active council members in Cedar Falls until that position is filled. The individual who succeeds Mayor-

elect Green in the At-Large council position will serve until the end of his original term only. 

On January 6, 2020, during the Cedar Falls City Council meeting beginning at 7:00 PM, the following 

council agenda item will be brought forth to determine how the council will proceed in filling the 

vacancy. This can be done in one of two ways: 

1. Consideration of filling council vacancy by appointment. If passed, then the next agenda item 

will be Resolution approving the filling of the vacancy by appointment, directing the Cedar Falls 

City Clerk to publish notice of same, and establishing the date of appointment.  

 

OR 

 

2. Consideration of Resolution calling for a special election to fill the council vacancy.  If passed, 

the next agenda item would be Resolution calling for special election. If that is passed, a 

Resolution setting the date of the special election would be adopted as soon as a date is 

coordinated with the County Auditor.  

 

In the event of a Council Appointment vote - In order to appoint a new at-large council member, the 

majority of council must vote in favor of the appointment. If Council decides to appoint a 

representative, then it must publish notice of this appointment. The notice must state that the electors 

have the right to file a Petition for a Special Election within 14 days of the notice or appointment. At 

446

ITEM 33.



least 1000 eligible electors must sign the petition in order for a special election to be held under this 

option. 

If the council votes in favor of appointment, any eligible electors that wish to seek the appointment of 

the At-Large council position need to contact Jacque Danielsen, Cedar Falls City Clerk, at (319) 273-8600 

or email Jacque.Danielsen@cedarfalls.com.  Nominees must submit their application by 5:00 PM on 

Wednesday, January 15, 2020, for consideration. The appointment would take place on January 20, 

2020, and the effective start date for the new At-Large council member would begin as soon as the 

person is sworn into office. 

In the event of a Special Election vote - The City of Cedar Falls will coordinate with the County Auditor to 

select a date for the election to be held. This will likely coincide with the Cedar Falls School election on 

March 3, 2020. If there is a special election, any eligible elector that is interested in running for the At-

Large position must contact the Black Hawk County Auditor’s office.  

Tentative Timeline for Filling Council Vacancy 

January 6, 2020: Cedar Falls City Council votes on the agenda item regarding consideration of filling 

council vacancy by appointment OR consideration of Resolution calling for a special election.  

January 13, 2020: If the City Council decides to fill the office by appointment, the City will publish the 

notice of filling vacancy. The notice of filling vacancy by appointment must state that electors have the 

right to file a petition for special election within 14 days of the notice, or of appointment. Such notice 

must be published at least once not less than four days, nor more than 20 days, before the 

appointment.   

January 20, 2020: Cedar Falls City Council will discuss the following Agenda item at the council meeting 

– Resolution appointing council member to vacant council office. The appointment must be made within 

60 days of vacancy.  

February 3, 2020: If a valid petition for a special election is filed within 14 days of the appointment, then 

a special election must be held. A valid petition must include at least 1000 electors’ signatures.  

February 3 or 17, 2020 (depending upon date petition is received): City Council will discuss the following 

agenda item at the council meeting – Receive and file special election petition AND Resolution setting 

the date of the special election.   

March 3, 2020: In the event of a special election vote by City Council on January 6, 2020, the election 

will likely be held on March 3, 2020, alongside the Cedar Falls School election. The City will continue to 

keep the public updated as the process continues.  

All dates may be subject to change. Please contact Ron Gaines, Cedar Falls City Administrator, 

at (319) 268-5171 with any questions regarding this press release.  

 

447

ITEM 33.


	Top
	1. Regular Meeting of December 16, 2019
	191216MINUTES

	2. PH-Downtown Streetscape and Renovation
	PH - Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction
	2. Estimate

	3. Res-approving and adopting plans DT Streetscape & Reconstruction Project
	4. PH-College Hill Urban Renewal Plan Amendment No. 1
	1_Memo To Council Approving Amendment No. 1 on January 6, 2020
	2_Amend No. 1 to College Hill URP - Authorizing Resolution (with Exhibit 1)
	3_Consultation Session Minutes and Agenda 12-10-19

	5. Res-Amendment 1 to CH UR Plan
	6. PH-Rezoning-R1 to C1 at 4911 University Avenue
	1. CC Staff Report on 4911 University Ave Rezoning.final
	2. Zoning Location Map
	3. Rezoning Aerial Photo
	4. Letter Requesting Rezoning 2019
	5. Jacobson Zone Change Plat C1 - Signed
	7. Ord-Rezoning R1 to C1-4911 university
	6. Conditional Zoning Agreement- 4911 University Ave - Final

	7. Ord-Rezoning R-1 to C-1
	8. Ord. 2960-CH SSMID
	2960-Ord-CH SSMID

	9. Receive and file the resignation of Robert Green
	Green resignation

	10. Appointment of the Mayor Pro Tempore
	Mayor Pro Tem

	11. Appointment of the Administration, Public Works and Community Relations and Planning Committees
	CY2020 Appointment of Standing Committees

	12. Receive and file the City Council Goal Setting Report 12/09 & 12/10
	Cedar Falls - Goal Setting Session Rpt  - 2019 - final

	13. Receive and file the Abstract of Votes for 11/05/19 and 12/03/19
	Abstract of Votes-11.05.19
	Abstract of Votes-12.03.19

	14. Monthly Report - November 2019
	Monthly Report - November 2019

	15. Liquor Licenses - 1/06
	Liquor Beer 1-6-20

	16. Acting Police Chief Appointment
	Acting PC

	17. Personnel Policies
	Memo to HR Staff re Personnel Policy Changes
	Revised Personnel Policies-Final

	18. Hartman Reserve Educational Partnership Contract
	1. Hartman Contract
	2. Hartman Reserve Contract

	19. Sands Addition - Final Acceptance
	1. Memo - Final Acceptacne Sands Addtion
	2. Legal Description and Final Plat
	3. Maintenance Bond

	20. 2019 Bridge Maintenance Final Out
	2019 Bridge Maint. Final

	21. Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer Ph 2 Final Out
	1.  Final Out Memo
	2. Reconciliation of Final Quantities
	3. Final Payment Request
	4. Lien Waivers
	5. Bonds

	22. PSA Olive Street Box Culvert
	1. Professional Services Agreement Memo-Olive Street Box Culvert
	2. CF Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement

	23. Temp Easement-CF Gateway Park Inc.
	1. Memo - Temporary Construction Easement
	2. Easement - CF Gateway Park
	Cf Gateway Park Exhibit A

	24. Temp Easement-Shri Mahganapati and Hanumanta
	1. Memo - Temporary Construction Easement
	2. Easement - Shri Mahaganaptai
	3. Easement - Exhibit A

	25. 1st Amendment to DPA-Gateway Business Park
	1. CC Memo for 1st Amend to Dev Agr - 01-06-20
	2. First Amendment to Gateway BP Agreement

	26. Gateway Business Park - Final Out
	1. Memo - Final Acceptacne Gateway BP
	2. Gateway BP Final Plat
	3. Maintenance Bond - Gateway BP

	27. Supplemental Agreement with Ferrell Madden for College Hill Visioning and Zoning Update
	1 -CC memo - Supplemental Agreement - Ferrell Madden College Hill Visioning and Code Update
	FM SIgned final clean -- 12.20.19 College Hill Amendment - Scope of Services_kh
	HillStudyArea (3)

	28. Set Public Hearing - FY2020-FY2025 CIP
	CIP hearing notice council.mem
	PHNOTICE-CIP

	29. Set Public Hearing - SDC Real Estate, LLC Agreement for Private Development
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 01-06-20
	2_Resolution Setting Public Hearing - SDC Real Estate, LLC

	30. Set Public Hearing - Standard Distribution Co. Second Agreement for Private Development
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 01-06-20
	2_Resolution Setting Public Hearing - Standard Dist. Co.

	31. Set Public Hearing - Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development - Owen 5
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 01-06-20
	2_Resolution Setting Hearing - Owen 5, LLC

	32. Parking Ordinance
	1-Memo to Mayor Council-Parking
	2-Chapter_23-Parking Ordinances-Redline (2)
	3-Parking Ordinance Chapter 23-Final combined version

	33. Fill Council Vacancy
	CF At Large Vacancy Options-Timeline 2020

	34. Allow Bills and Payroll of January 6, 2020
	Bottom

